








 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  1     12/8/2020 

  
MINUTES OF MENDOTA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 

Regular Meeting    December 8, 2020 
 
Meeting called to order by City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia at 6:02 p.m.  
 
Roll Call 
 
Council Members Present: Mayor Rolando Castro, Mayor Pro Tem Jesus 

Mendoza, Councilors Jose Alonso (at 6:09 p.m.), 
Joseph Riofrio, and Oscar Rosales 

 
Council Members Absent:    Mayor Pro Tem Victor Martinez 
 
Flag salute led by City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia 
 
FINALIZE THE AGENDA 
 
1. Adjustments to Agenda. 
 
2. Adoption of final Agenda. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Castro to adopt the agenda, seconded by Councilor 
Rosales; unanimously approved (4 ayes, absent: Martinez). 
 
CONFIRMING THE ELECTION 
 
1. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-87, confirming the results of the election 

returns for the consolidated General Election held on November 3, 2020.   
 
City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia introduced the item and summarized the report. 
 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Castro to adopt Resolution No. 20-87, seconded by  
Councilor Rosales; unanimously approved (4 ayes, absent: Martinez). 
 

 



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  2     12/8/2020 

2. City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia to administer the Oath of Office to newly elected Council 
Members Jose Alonso, Oscar Rosales, and Joseph Riofrio. 

 
City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia swore in newly elected Council Members Jose Alonso, Oscar 
Rosales, and Joseph Riofrio. 
 
At 6:09 p.m. Councilor Alonso took a seat on the dais.  
 
Councilor Riofrio commented on the 2020 General Election; various City projects; the 
COVID-19 pandemic; and thanked his family for their support. 
 
Councilor Rosales thanked staff, the community, and various members of the public for 
their support and work. 
 
Councilor Alonso thanked the community for their support.  
 
REORGANIZATION OF COUNCIL 
 
1. City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia to conduct City Council reorganization proceedings and 

accept nominations for the following offices: 
a) Mayor 
b) Mayor Pro Tempore 

 
City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia introduced the item and accepted motions to nominate a Council 
Member for the office of Mayor. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Rosales to nominate Councilor Castro for the office of 
Mayor, seconded by Councilor Riofrio. 
 
Roll Call Vote: 
Councilor Alonso: Yes; Councilor Castro: Yes; Councilor Mendoza: Yes; Councilor 
Riofrio: Yes; and Councilor Rosales: Yes. 
 
Councilor Castro was appointed to the office of Mayor with a unanimous vote of five (5) ayes. 
 
City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia accepted motions to nominate a Council Member for Mayor Pro 
Tempore. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Castro to nominate Councilor Mendoza for the office of Mayor 
Pro Tem, seconded by Councilor Alonso. 
 
Roll Call Vote: 
Councilor Alonso: Yes; Councilor Castro: Yes; Councilor Mendoza: Yes; Councilor 
Riofrio: Yes; and Councilor Rosales: Yes. 
 
Councilor Mendoza was appointed to the office of Mayor Pro Tem with a unanimous vote of  



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  3     12/8/2020 

five (5) ayes. 
 
CITIZENS ORAL AND WRITTEN PRESENTATIONS 
 
None offered. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES AND NOTICE OF WAIVING OF READING 

 
1. Minutes of the regular City Council meeting of November 10, 2020. 

 
2. Notice of waiving of the reading of all resolutions and/or ordinances introduced 

and/or adopted under this agenda. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Riofrio to approve items 1 and 2, seconded by Councilor 
Rosales; unanimously approved (5 ayes). 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR  
 
1. NOVEMBER 06, 2020 THROUGH DECEMBER 01, 2020 

WARRANT LIST CHECKS NO. 47524 THROUGH 47600 
TOTAL FOR COUNCIL APPROVAL    =   $589,264.43 

 
2. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-88, expressing support for actions to 

further strengthen local democracy, authority, and control as related to local zoning 
and housing issues. 
 

3. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-90, approving the Request for Proposals 
for final engineering services for the Citywide Railroad Corridor Crossing 
Improvement project. 

 
4. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-91, authorizing the placement of special 

assessments/direct charges on the tax roll for the Community Facilities District No. 
2006-1 for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 and filing the Community Facilities District No. 
2006-1 Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 

 
5. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-92, approving an amendment to the 

employment contract of the City Manager. 
 
6. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-93, authorizing the execution of a land 

surveying and engineering services agreement for the 2021 Alley Paving project. 
 

Discussion was held on warrant number 47534. 
 
Requests were made to pull items 3, 4, and 6 for discussion. 
 
 



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  4     12/8/2020 

A motion was made by Councilor Riofrio to approve items 1, 2, and 5 of the Consent 
Calendar, seconded by Councilor Rosales; unanimously approved (5 ayes). 
 
3. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-90, approving the Request for Proposals 

for final engineering services for the Citywide Railroad Corridor Crossing 
Improvement project. 

 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
6. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-93, authorizing the execution of a land 

surveying and engineering services agreement for the 2021 Alley Paving project. 
 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
4. Proposed adoption of Resolution No. 20-91, authorizing the placement of special 

assessments/direct charges on the tax roll for the Community Facilities District No. 
2006-1 for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 and filing the Community Facilities District No. 
2006-1 Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 

 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Rosales to approve items 3, 4, and 6 of the Consent 
Calendar, seconded by Councilor Alonso; unanimously approved (5 ayes). 
 
BUSINESS 
 
1. Council discussion and consideration of Resolution No. 20-89, authorizing the 

formation of a City Council Ad Hoc Subcommittee to discuss and provide input on 
the design of the proposed City Hall/Police Station building. 

 
Mayor Castro introduced the item and City Manager Gonzalez summarized the report. 
 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
Mayor Castro left the dais at 6:36 p.m. and returned at 6:38 p.m. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Mendoza to appoint Councilor Rosales and Mayor Castro 
as regular members of the subcommittee and Councilor Mendoza as the alternate member 
and adopt Resolution No. 20-89, seconded by Councilor Riofrio; unanimously approved (5 
ayes). 
 



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  5     12/8/2020 

2.  Council discussion and consideration of Mendota Youth Recreation’s Annual 
 Christmas Parade. 
 
Mayor Castro introduced the item and City Manager Gonzalez reported that Mendota Youth 
Recreation submitted a letter stating that the organization will be cancelling this year’s 
event. 
 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
Sergio Valdez – commented on the item. 
 
Discussion was held on the item. 
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS AND INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 
1. Animal Control, Code Enforcement, and Police Department 

a) Monthly Report 
 
Chief of Police Smith congratulated the newly elected Council Members and provided the 
report for the police department including crime statistics; the status of the attainment and 
upfitting of police equipment; significant cases; and reported that K-9 officer Roud passed 
away. 
 
Chief Smith provided an update for the animal control department including the status of 
purchasing a new animal control truck; and the department’s statistics for the month of 
November. 
 
Discussion was held on the report.  
 
Chief Smith provided an update for the Code Enforcement department including a 
personnel update; the department working with the Public Works department to beautify 
the City; and the department’s statistics for the month of November. 
 
Discussion was held on the department enforcing COVID-19 measures.  
 
Chief Smith reported that the Firebaugh Police Department requested to purchase a 
surplused vehicle and requested that the Council’s support on the item. 
 
2. City Attorney 

a) Update 
 
City Attorney Kinsey congratulated the newly elected Council Members and stated that 
his office is working on a variety of items. 
 
 
 



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  6     12/8/2020 

3. City Manager 
 
City Manager Gonzalez congratulated the newly elected Council Members and provided 
his report including COVID-19 statistics; the status of the Bass & Barboza roundabout; 
City Hall will be closed for a staff training; an update on the rental relief grant program; 
and the status of the utility bill grant program.  
 
Discussion was held on the Bass & Barboza roundabout and the utility bill grant program. 
 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS AND INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 
1. Council Member(s) 
 
Councilor Alonso stated that he is excited to work with staff and the Council. 
 
Councilor Rosales thanked the staff, Council, and community for their work. 
 
Councilor Riofrio commented on grant funding that was received in the past. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza thanked the staff, Council, and the community. 
 
2. Mayor 
 
Mayor Castro thanked the Council and staff for their work.  
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Pursuant to CA Government Code §§ 54954.5(f), 54957.6 
a. Agency Designated Representatives: Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager; 

Jennifer Lekumberry, Director of Administrative Services 
b. Employee Organization: Mendota Police Officers Association 

 
At 7:37 p.m. the Council moved into closed. 
 
At 8:07 p.m. the Council reconvened in open session and City Attorney Kinsey stated that 
in regard to item 1 there was no reportable action. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no more business to be brought before the Council, a motion for adjournment was 
made at 8:07 p.m. by Councilor Alonso, seconded by Councilor Rosales; unanimously 
approved (5 ayes). 
 
_______________________________   
Rolando Castro, Mayor 



 

Minutes of City Council Meeting  7     12/8/2020 

ATTEST: 
  
_______________________________ 
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 



CITY OF MENDOTA

CASH DISBURSEMENTS

12/8/2020-1/5/2021

CHECK# 47601-47714

Date Check # Check Amount Vendor               Department Description                                       

12/8/2020 47601 101,996.00$                          CITY OF MENDOTA PAYROLL       GENERAL

PAYROLL TRANSFER FOR 11/23/2020-12/06/2020        

12/8/2020 47602 11,500.00$                            MENDOTA PENTECOSTAL CHURCH    GENERAL

FOOD PANTRY; COVID-19 HOMELESS CARE PACKAGES 

(REIMBURSABLE)

12/8/2020 47603 10,500.00$                            MENDOTA YOUTH RECREATION      GENERAL

COVID-19 CARE PACKAGES 10K & HOMELESS CARE PACKAGE 

(REIMBURSABLE)

12/8/2020 47604 10,000.00$                            THE BOYS & GIRLS CLUBS OF FRESNO GENERAL

COVID-19 DISTANCE LEARNING (REIMBURSABLE)                     

12/8/2020 47605 11,500.00$                            WESTSIDE YOUTH                GENERAL

COVID-19 HOMELESS CARE PACKAGES, FOOD PANTRY  

(REIMBURSABLE)   

12/10/2020 47606 53,200.00$                            FRESNO AREA HISPANIC FOUNDATION GENERAL

CITY OF MENDOTA SMALL BUSINESS GRANT PROGRAM ROUND 2 

(REIMBURSABLE)

12/10/2020 47607 4,048.71$                              BANKCARD CENTER               GENERAL-WATER

CREDIT CARD EXPENSES FOR 10/27/2020-11/18/2020 CITY COUNCIL 

IPADS, CITY FLAGS, USA FLAGS, DOG FOOD

12/22/2020 47608 11,400.00$                            CITY OF MENDOTA               WATER

(114) $100 UTILITY BILL GRANT ASSISTANCE CARES/COVID-19 

(REIMBURSABLE)

12/22/2020 47609 16.20$                                   ACE TROPHY SHOP               GENERAL 

NAME PLATE FOR JOSE ALONSO                                 

12/22/2020 47610 2,649.12$                              ACME ROTARY BROOM SERVICE     STREETS

(16) E 5TH SCHWARZE TORNADO GUTTER BROOM (STREET 

SWEEPER) 

12/22/2020 47611 2,375.00$                              ADMINISTRATIVE SOLUTIONS - FRESNO GENERAL

MEDICAL CHECK RUN NOTIFICATITON 12/1/2020, (29) MONTHLY 

MEDICAL ADMINISTRATION FEE OCT 2020,

12/22/2020 47612 626.66$                                 ADT SECURITY SERVICES         GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

SECURITY SERVICE 12/11/20-1/12/21 CITYHALL/DMV/EDD, SECURITY 

SERVICES FOR ROJAS PARK 1/1/21-03/31/21   

12/22/2020 47613 15,101.17$                            AETNA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY  GENERAL 

MEDICAL INSURANCE FOR JANUARY 2021                

12/22/2020 47614 669.84$                                 AFLAC                         GENERAL

AFLAC INSURANCE FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2020    

12/22/2020 47615 30.62$                                   AIRGAS USA, LLC               WATER

RENT INDIVIDUAL CYLINDER SMALL CARBON DIOXIDE NOV. 2020       

12/22/2020 47616 212.50$                                 ALERT-0-LITE                  SEWER

STORM PUMP-PRIMED FUEL PUMP REPAIRED WIRES        

12/22/2020 47617 11,169.68$                            AMERITAS GROUP                GENERAL

VISION & DENTAL INSURANCE FOR DECEMBER 2020 , DENTAL & 

VISION INSURANCE FOR JANUARY 2021                

12/22/2020 47618 7,686.86$                              AMERICAN PAVING COMPANY       WATER

MOWRY BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT                  

12/22/2020 47619 452.85$                                 AQUA NATURAL SOLUTIONS        SEWER

(1) MICROBE LIFT IND (1) SLUDE AWAY                 

12/22/2020 47620 288.57$                                 ARAMARK                       GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

PUBLIC WORKS UNIFORM SERVICES 12/3/2020, 12/10/2020, 12/16/2020           

12/22/2020 47621 227.91$                                 AT&T                          GENERAL

POLICE DISPATCH PHONE SERVICES 10/27/2020-11/26/2020   

12/22/2020 47622 580.69$                                 AT&T MOBILITY                 GENERAL

POLICE DEPARTMENT CELL PHONE SERVICES 9/12/20-10/11/20  

12/22/2020 47623 126.95$                                 AUTOZONE, INC.                GENERAL

(1) ARMOR ALL TIRE FOAM, (2) DURALAST RELAY (11) ASSESSOR (PD)                           

12/22/2020 47624 107.95$                                 BATTERIES PLUS BULBS          WATER

(2) 12 VOLT SEALED ACID BATTERY APC. UNIT (WP)       

12/22/2020 47625 364.00$                                 BMI                           GENERAL

MUSIC LICENSE FEE FOR 4/1/2020-3/31/2021          

12/22/2020 47626 546.58$                                 BSK ASSOCIATES                WATER-SEWER

GENERAL EDT WEEKLY TREATMENT & DISTRIBUTION 11/17/20, 

MONTHLY WASTEWATER WW MONTHLY (WEEK 2-5) 

12/22/2020 47627 7,292.00$                              CALIFORNIA STATE LANDS COMMISSION WATER

ANNUAL RENT FOR THE PERIOD OF 6/23/20-6/22/21, 4/1/20-6/30/20 

UNCOLLECTED STAFF/PROJECT CHARGES       

12/22/2020 47628 674.96$                                 CDW GOVERNMENT                GENERAL

(1) PANASONIC DOCKING STATION F/CF-33 (PD)         

12/22/2020 47629 681.00$                                 CENTRAL VALLEY TOXICOLOGY                GENERAL

(1) COMPLETE DRUG SCREEN(1) DRUG CONFIRMATION LEVEL, 

(1)ETHYL ALCOHOL (1) ABUSE SCREEN (1)THC

12/22/2020 47630 1,516.31$                              COMCAST                       GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

CITYWIDE XFINITY PHONE & INTERNET SERV.12/6-1/5/21

12/22/2020 47631 476.25$                                 COMCAST BUSINESS              GENERAL

FRESNO SHERIFF TO MENDOTA PD CIRCUIT DECEMBER 2020    

12/22/2020 47632 159.14$                                 CORELOGIC INFORMATION         GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

REAL QUEST SERVICES FOR NOVEMBER 2020             

12/22/2020 47633 920.60$                                 CORBIN WILLITS SYSTEMS INC. GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

ENHANCEMENT AND SERVICES MOMS FEES FOR JANUARY 2021

12/22/2020 47634 88.80$                                   CROWN SERVICES COMPANY            GENERAL-WATER

TOILET 1XWK 1000 AIRPORT BLVD BLDG #A (PD), TOILET WITH SINK 

1XWK 1300 2ND ST.       

12/22/2020 47635 365.55$                                 EINERSON'S PREPRESS           GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

(1000) SHEETS LETTERHEAD WITH 4% WATERMARK, 500 16 PT MATTE 

BUSINESS CARDS J. MENDOZA & J. ALONZO       



CITY OF MENDOTA

CASH DISBURSEMENTS

12/8/2020-1/5/2021

CHECK# 47601-47714

12/22/2020 47636 250.83$                                 EXCEL SIGN COMPANY                WATER

(2) GRAPHICS FOR SIDE AND FRONT OF BIKE (PD)       

12/22/2020 47637 12,250.00$                            FIREBAUGH POLICE              GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

POLICE DEPARTMENT DISPATCH NOVEMBER 2020          

12/22/2020 47638 143.68$                                 FRESNO COUNTY SHERIFF         GENERAL

RMS JMS ACCESS FEE FOR NOVEMBER 2020 (PD)         

12/22/2020 47639 434.00$                                 FRESNO MOBILE RADIO INCORPORATED   GENREAL

(31) POLICE DEPARTMENT RADIOS FOR NOVEMBER 2020   

12/22/2020 47640 229.53$                                 GUTHRIE PETROLEUM INCORPORATED       GENEREL-WATER-SEWER

(72.29) GALLONS UNLEADED GASOLINE (PD), QTY (9.5) BLK PROPANE            

12/22/2020 47641 360.00$                                 INSYARATH, KHAMPHOU           GENERAL

MONTH OF SEPTEMBER & NOVEMBER STATS FOR POLICE 

DEPARTMENT   (PD)

12/22/2020 47642 3,438.75$                              LAW & ASSOCIATES              GENERAL

ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION-CONFIDENTIAL (PD)    

12/22/2020 47643 300.00$                                 LEXIS NEXIS                   GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

SUBSCRIPTION FOR NOV 2020 SVCS                    

12/22/2020 47644 200.00$                                 ALEJANDRO LOPEZ               GENERAL

UNIFORM ALLOWANCE FOR A. LOPEZ (PD)                

12/22/2020 47645 2,304.02$                              MENDOTA SMOG & REPAIR         

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

2006 FORD LIC#1090042 SMOG INSPECTION, 2009 FORD-CROWN 

VICTORIA SMOG INSPECTION-PASS (PD)

12/22/2020 47646 75.58$                                   METRO UNIFORM                 GENERAL

(20) MENDOTA SHOULDER PATCH FOR CHIEF SMITH (PD)  

12/22/2020 47647 58,650.65$                            MID VALLEY DISPOSAL, INCORPORATED      STREETS-REFUSE

ROLL OFF BIN EXCHANGE 20 YARD (1.77), ROLL OFF BIN EXCHANG 10 

YARD (7.42), ROLL OF BIN EXCHANGE 40 YARD (12.48)                

12/22/2020 47648 6,000.00$                              MOUNTAIN VALLEY ENVIRONMENTAL WATER-SEWER

JAN 2021 CITY WATER/DISTRIBUTION/WWT AND CPO SVCS 

12/22/2020 47649 1,676.12$                              MUTUAL OF OMAHA               GENERAL

LIFE, AD&D, LTD, STD INSURANCE FOR JANUARY 2021   

12/22/2020 47650 161.44$                                 MID-VALLEY DISTRIBUTORS, INCORPORATED WATER

(8) 1X3 FT ANCHOR BOLT HDG W/2 NUTS & 2 F/W       

12/22/2020 47651 2,019.57$                              NORTHSTAR CHEMICAL            WATER

(415) GALLONS SODIUM HYPOCHLORITE -12.5%, (560) GAL SODIUM 

HYPOCLORITE-12.5%        

12/22/2020 47652 398.83$                                 AT&T                          GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

MONTLY SERVICE 559-266-6456 11/26/20-12/25/20     

12/22/2020 47653 14,754.13$                            PG&E                          

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

WATER DEPARTMENT UTILITIES 11/6/2020-12/7/2020, CITYWIDE 

UTILITIES  

12/22/2020 47654 194.36$                                 PITNEY BOWES INCORPORATED            GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

POSTAGE METER REFILL 9/15/20, 10/13/20, 10/14/20,11/9/20, 12/10/20 

12/22/2020 47655 984.99$                                 PLATT ELECTRIC SUPPLY         STREETS

LIGHT EFFICIENT DESIGN SOLAR AREA LIGHT           

12/22/2020 47656 16,500.00$                            PRICE, PAIGE & COMPANY        

WATER-SEWER-STREETS-

REFUSE 

AUDIT OF THE CITY'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS O6/2020  

12/22/2020 47657 28,943.90$                            PROVOST & PRITCHARD           

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

20-20 CARBALLO MIXED-USE PLAN DEV. PASS-THRU, 645 LA COLONIA 

(BASS AVE SUBDIVISION), MOWRY BRIDGE FINAL 

12/22/2020 47658 1,020.99$                              PURCHASE POWER                GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

POSTAGE METER REFILL 12/10/2020 & 12/11/2020      

12/22/2020 47659 1,373.14$                              R&B COMPANY                   WATER

(2)MACRO HP-9.75 8 CPLG EPXY (2)MACRO HP7.60 STOCK, (100) 

1X100' CTS PE TUBING 250 PSI     

12/22/2020 47660 137.12$                                 R.G. EQUIPMENT COMPANY        GENERAL

CHAMPION 12-12.8 CASE OF 2 CYCLE OIL, BLADE RECYCLE

12/22/2020 47661 1,923.87$                              RAMON'S TIRE &  AUTO               

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

(1) USED BIAS TIRE,OTR TUBE,TIRE DISMOUNT JD LOUDER, 

LIC#1317294 (1) LEFT REAR TIRE REPAIR (PD)CAR #86

12/22/2020 47662 554.37$                                 

ROSS RECREATION EQUIPMENT, 

INCORPORATED GENERAL

(1)SLIDEWINDER EXIT SECTION, ETC (ROJAS PARK SLIDE)

12/22/2020 47663 580.00$                                 

SAN JOAQUIN VALLEY AIR POLLUTION 

CONTROL DISTRICT         WATER

21/22 ANNUAL PERMITS FOR B&B RANCH EAST OF SAN JOAQUIN 

RIVER

12/22/2020 47664 194.90$                                 SEBASTIAN                     GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

(1 HR) LOW VOLTAGE LABOR, SECURITY SERVICES FOR 11/21/20-

12/20/20 (PD)                         

12/22/2020 47665 80.17$                                   SIGNMAX                       STREETS

(1) 54"X18" BLK/WHT TRAFFIC SIGN (ONE WAY)-STREETS 

12/22/2020 47666 2,265.15$                              SORENSEN MACHINE WORKS        

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

MULTIPLE DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES FOR NOVEMBER 2020    

12/22/2020 47667 336.35$                                 UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD COMPANY STREETS

PUBLIC ROADWAY ENCROACHMENT JANUARY 2021          

12/22/2020 47668 54.26$                                   SUNNYSIDE TROPHY              GENERAL

(1) 10 1/2 X 13 (1) 8 1/2 X 11 (PD)               

12/22/2020 47669 194.85$                                 TCM INVESTMENTS               GENERAL

MPC3505 RENTAL PAYMENT POLICE DEPARTMENT COPIER   

12/22/2020 47670 VOID

12/22/2020 47671 2,150.00$                              TECH MASTER PEST CONTROL GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

ROJAS PARK SQUIRREL & GOPHERS BAIT STATIONS, PEST CONTROL 

SERVICES FOR CITY HALL/DMV/YOUTH CENTER



CITY OF MENDOTA

CASH DISBURSEMENTS

12/8/2020-1/5/2021

CHECK# 47601-47714

12/22/2020 47672 90.97$                                   THARP'S FARM SUPPLY           SEWER

HYDRO. COUPLER, HOSE FITTING & COUPLING- VACTOR TRUCK 

12/22/2020 47673 356.32$                                 THE SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY  STREETS

(2) 5 PACKS 153-6226-288486 PAINT (STREETS)       

12/22/2020 47674 1,202.66$                              TRIANGLE ROCK PRODUCTS, LLC    STREETS

AGG & ASPHALT QTY:18.67 & 18.52 STREETS STOCKPILE, ST 3/8 CM 

SC3000 AGG & ASPHALT MARIE & NAPLES POTHOLES

12/22/2020 47675 1,600.00$                              UNITED HEALTH CENTERS         GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

PRE EMPLOYMENT SCREENING (J. PLASCENCIA), 7-OFFICE VISIT CITY 

OF MENDOTA       

12/22/2020 47676 1,002.31$                              USA BLUEBOOK                  WATER-SEWER

(1) HORIZONTAL WATER SAMPLER WITH 20 METER LINE, GRAB 

SAMPLER, GENERAL PURPOSE WIDE MOUTH NALGENE

12/22/2020 47677 1,054.47$                              VERIZON WIRELESS              GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

CITYWIDE CELLPHONE SERVICE 11/7/2020-12/6/2020    

12/22/2020 47678 33,721.18$                            WANGER JONES HELSLEY PC ATTORNEYS GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

LEGAL SERVICES FOR BB RANCH THRU 10/15/2020, LEGAL SERVICES: 

SPECIAL LEGAL SERVICESTHRU 10/15/20

12/23/2020 47679 134,225.00$                          CITY OF MENDOTA PAYROLL       GENERAL

PAYROLL TRANSFER FOR 12/7/2020-12/20/2020         

12/23/2020 47680 1,375.36$                              THE HOME DEPOT WATER-SEWER-STREETS 

(6) 2X12 16FT #2 BTR PRIME DOUG FIR, FLEX PASTE, 30IN DIGITAL 

CERAMIC TOWER HEATER HE

12/28/2020 47681 4,500.00$                              JOSE GALLARDO                 GENERAL

(1) AC UNIT FOR DMV SERVER ROOM, WALL MOUNT & PUMP 

1/5/2021 47682 2,649.12$                              ACME ROTARY BROOM SERVICE     STREETS

(16) E-5TH A7 TORNADO GUTTER BROOMS-SWEEPER       

1/5/2021 47683 302.70$                                 ADT SECURITY SERVICES         GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

SECURITY SERVICES 1/11-2/12/2021 CITYHALL/DMV/EDD 

1/5/2021 47684 381.69$                                 THE ADAVANCE GROUP            GENERAL

(1,000) CITATION FORMS (PD)                       

1/5/2021 47685 2,707.69$                              AUTOMATED OFFICE SYSTEMS      GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

MAINTENANCE CONTRACT COPIER DECEMBER 2020 CITYHALL & 

POLICE DEPARTMENT

1/5/2021 47686 656,757.05$                          AMERICAN PAVING COMPANY        WATER

MOWRY BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 11/9/20-11/30/20 

1/5/2021 47687 226.40$                                 ARAMARK                       GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

PUBLIC WORKS UNIFORM SERVICES FOR 12/24/20 & 12/31/20

1/5/2021 47688 754.92$                                 AT&T                          GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

CITYWIDE TELEPHONE SERVICES 11/25/20-12/24/20, POLICE 

DISPATCH PHONE SERVICES 11/27/20-12/26/20 (PD)    

1/5/2021 47689 550.63$                                 BSK ASSOCIATES                WATER-STREETS

BASS AND BARBOZA ROUNDABOUT SERVICES 11/1/20-11/30/20, 

GENERAL EDT WEEKLY TREATMENT & DISTRIBUTION 12/22/20 

1/5/2021 47690 3,328.50$                              CDW GOVERNMENT                GENERAL

(4) PANASONIC DOCKING STATIONS F/CF-33 (PD), (2) PANASONIC 

DESKTOP DOCK F/CF-33 (PD)       

1/5/2021 47691 382.70$                                 COLONIAL LIFE                 GENERAL

LIFE INSURANCE PREMIUMS FOR DECEMBER 2020         

1/5/2021 47692 175.00$                                 COMMUNITY MEDICAL CENTER      GENERAL

LEGAL BLOOD DRAWS FOR NOVEMBER 2020 (PD)          

1/5/2021 47693 88.80$                                   CROWN SERVICES COMPANY          GENERAL-WATER

TOILET 1XWK 1000 AIRPORT BLVD #A (PD), TOILET W/SINK 1XWK 1300 

2ND ST.            

1/5/2021 47694 31,975.00$                            ECS HOUSE INDUSTRIES, INCORPORATED    SEWER

(1) 20HP POWDER-COATED AERATOR SR#22071 & SHIPPING 

1/5/2021 47695 19,971.36$                            GUTHRIE PETROLEUM INCORPORATED     

GENERAL-WATER-SEWER-

STREETS

(5855) GAL DIESEL FUEL NO. 2 CITYWIDE, (2005) GAL UNLEADED 

GASOLINE CITYWIDE,  (9.1) BLK PROPANE,  (9.5) BLK PROPANE                                

1/5/2021 47696 300.00$                                 LEXIS NEXIS                   GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

MONTHLY SUBSCRIPTION FOR DECEMBER 2020            

1/5/2021 47697 601.00$                                 OFFICE DEPOT                  GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

OFFICE SUPPLIES- PAPER, BLK & BLUE PENS, KLEENEX, OFFICE 

SUPPLIES- W-2 TAX FORMS SET, 1099-MISC TAX

1/5/2021 47698 45.00$                                   RAMON'S TIRE & AUTO                GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

FORD F-250 SUPER DUTY XL#1202 TIRE REPAIR INSIDE PATCH, 

LOOSE- TIRE REPAIR (INSIDE PATCH)                 

1/5/2021 47699 10,107.35$                            STATE WATER RESOURCES         WATER

WATER SYSTEM ANNUAL FEES FOR 7/1/2020-6/30/2021   

1/5/2021 47700 201.13$                                 THE WATER CONNECTION          WATER

(4) BACKFLOW TESTS AND 1 REPAIR                   

1/5/2021 47701 126.88$                                 UNIFIRST CORPORATION          GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

JANITORIAL SERVICES FOR 12/2020 TERRY CLOTHS/MATS 

1/5/2021 47702 65.10$                                   WECO                          GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

(6) RENTAL CYL ACETYLENE #4 OXYGEN D & K DEC. 2020

1/5/2021 47703 99.42$                                   LA COLONIA ORIOLE HOMES INC   WATER

MQ CUSTOMER REFUND FOR LAC0067                    

1/5/2021 47704 150.00$                                 ANA L. TAMAYO BANALES         WATER

MQ CUSTOMER REFUND FOR TAM0005                    

1/5/2021 47705 3,300.00$                              ADMINISTRATIVE SOLUTIONS - FRESNO GENERAL

MEDICAL CHECK RUN NOTIFICATION 12/29/2020         

1/5/2021 47706 379.91$                                 APPLIED CONCEPTS, INCORPORATED       GENERAL

(2) STALKER II LOCKING HOLSTER                    

1/5/2021 47707 580.80$                                 AT&T MOBILITY                 GENERAL

POLICE DEPARTMENT CELL SERVICES FOR 11/12-12/11/20



CITY OF MENDOTA

CASH DISBURSEMENTS

12/8/2020-1/5/2021

CHECK# 47601-47714

1/5/2021 47708 586,405.36$                          CAL-VALLEY CONSTRUCTION INC.  STREETS

BASS & BARBOZA ROUNDABOUT FROM 9/26/20-12/23/20   

1/5/2021 47709 60,000.00$                            DIEPENBROCK ELKIN GLEASON LLP GENERAL

WARKENTINE/TANKERSLEY-FINAL INSTALLMENT           

1/5/2021 47710 69.50$                                   PG&E                          WATER

WATER DEPARTMENT UTILITIES FOR 11/10/20-12/09/20  

1/5/2021 47711 19.95$                                   SEBASTIAN                     GENERAL

SECURITY SERVICES THRU 12/21/20-1/20/2021(PD)     

1/5/2021 47712 1,500.00$                              STREET SAVER DEVMECCA.COM LLC STREETS

STREET SAVER ANNUAL SUBS. FROM 2/1/21-1/31/22     

1/5/2021 47713 194.85$                                 TCM INVESTMENTS               GENERAL

MPC3503 RENTAL PAYMENT POLICE DEPARTMENT COPIER   

1/5/2021 47714 10,283.75$                            WANGER JONES HELSLEY PC ATTORN GENERAL-WATER-SEWER

LEGAL SERVICES RE: GENERAL LEGAL SERVICES 12/15/20, LEGAL 

SERVICES RE:COVID-19 RESPONSE 

1,345,063.73$                    



 

 

 
City of Mendota 

Proclamation to the Citizens of 
Mendota, California 

 

Proclamation No. 21-01 
 

Declaring the Week of January 24-January 30, 2021 as “School Choice 
Week” in the City of Mendota 

 

WHEREAS, all children in the City of Mendota should have access to the highest-quality 
education possible; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mendota recognizes the important role that an effective education 
plays in preparing all students in Government Name to be successful adults; and 
 
WHEREAS, quality education is critically important to the economic vitality of the City of 
Mendota; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mendota is home to a multitude of high quality public and 
nonpublic schools from which parents can choose for their children, in addition to families 
who educate their children in the home; and 
 
WHEREAS, educational variety not only helps to diversify our economy, but also enhances 
the vibrancy of our community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mendota has many high-quality teaching professionals in all types 
of school settings who are committed to educating our children; and 
 
WHEREAS, School Choice Week is celebrated across the country by millions of students, 
parents, educators, schools and organizations to raise awareness of the need for effective 
educational options. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, on this 12th day of January that the Mendota 
City Council do hereby recognize January 24 – January 30, 2021 as School Choice Week in 
the City of Mendota, and that we call this observance to the attention of all of our citizens. 

 
 

 
___________________________ 

Rolando Castro, Mayor 



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 

FROM: MICHAEL OSBORN, CITY ENGINEER 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: ATP FUNDING FOR “SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL MASTER PLAN” 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
Shall the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-03, authorizing the City Manager or his designee 
to execute all documents necessary to receive the Active Transportation Program (ATP) grant 
funding programmed for the “Safe Routes to School Master Plan” project? 
 
BACKGROUND 
City staff and the City Engineer, working with former grant writer Granted Solutions, prepared 
an application to the State during the 2018 Cycle 4 competitive statewide call for ATP funded 
projects. The “Safe Routes to School Master Plan” (Project) will include the input of members of 
the community and schools, as well as public safety personnel, Caltrans and City staff working 
with a selected qualified consultant to provide a framework for planned, systematic investments 
to improve the walking and bicycling environment for students and families.  In December 2020 
the California Transportation Commission (CTC) authorized allocation of $110,000 for the 
preparation of the plan. 
 
ANALYSIS 
This is an important project for the City to improve the safety of the pedestrian and bicyclist 
routes to the schools within the City. 
 
As standard process, Caltrans has issued a Program Supplement Agreement (PSA No. V71) to 
the Administering Agency-State Agreement for State Funded Project No. 00392S (with Caltrans) 
which requires that the City Council adopt a resolution that clearly identifies the 
representative(s) who is/are authorized to sign on the City’s behalf. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The project is programmed for FY 20/21 and since all costs associated with the project are 
eligible expenses under the ATP, the City will be reimbursed for 100% of the total project costs. 
There is not anticipated to be any impact to the City’s General Fund. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-03, authorizing the City 
Manager or his designee to execute all documents necessary to receive the Active Transportation 
Program (ATP) grant funding programmed for the “Safe Routes to School Master Plan”. 



2 

 

 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution No. 21-03 
2. Program Supplement No. V71 

 
 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL   RESOLUTION NO. 21-03 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY MANAGER, OR HIS DESIGNEE, 
TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY 
TO RECEIVE THE ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION  
PROGRAM FUNDING FOR THE 
ATPSB1L-5285(022) “SAFE ROUTES TO 
SCHOOL MASTER PLAN” 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Staff working with the City Engineer and Granted Solutions 
submitted an application to the State during the 2018 Cycle 4 Active Transportation 
Program (ATP) statewide call for projects requesting $110,000 to prepare a Safe 
Routes to School Master Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this project was awarded state funding and is programmed for FY 
2020/2021; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City submitted a Funding Authorization Request to the California 
Transportation Commission (CTC) for $110,000.00 for this project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CTC authorized the funding at their December 3, 2020 meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, Caltrans has issued a Program Supplement Agreement (PSA) No. 
V71 to the Administering Agency-State Agreement for State Funded Project No. 
00392S for this project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City will solicit and select a qualified consultant to prepare the 
plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, all of the costs associated with the project are eligible expenses 
under the ATP guidelines and the City will be reimbursed for 100% of the cost of the 
project. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Mendota does hereby authorize the City Manager or his designee to execute all 
documents necessary to receive the ATP funding programmed for this project. 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
 
 



 2 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a 
regular meeting of said Council, held at the Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of 
January, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       ______________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 





00-392S-V71- SERIALProgram Supplement

06-FRE-0-MDA
ATP-5285(022)

SPECIAL COVENANTS OR REMARKS

Page 2 of 4

1. A.  This PROJECT will be administered in accordance with the applicable CTC STIP
guidelines and the Active Transportation Program guidelines as adopted or amended, the
Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM), the Local Assistance Program Guidelines
(LAPG), and this PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT.

B.  This PROJECT is programmed to receive State funds from the Active Transportation
Program (ATP).  Funding may be provided under one or more components. A
component(s) specific fund allocation is required, in addition to other requirements, before
reimbursable work can occur for the component(s) identified.  Each allocation will be
assigned an effective date and identify the amount of funds allocated per component(s).

This PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT has been prepared to allow reimbursement of eligible
PROJECT expenditures for the component(s) allocated.  Unless otherwise determined,
the effective date of the component specific allocation will constitute the start of
reimbursable expenditures.

C.  STATE and ADMINISTERING AGENCY agree that any additional funds made
available by future allocations will be encumbered on this PROJECT by use of a STATE-
approved Allocation Letter and STATE Finance Letter.  ADMINISTERING AGENCY
agrees that STATE funds available for reimbursement will be limited to the amount
allocated by the California Transportation Commission (CTC) and/or the STATE.

D.  Upon ADMINISTERING AGENCY request, the CTC and/or STATE may approve
supplementary allocations, time extensions, and fund transfers between components.
Funds transferred between allocated project components retain their original timely use of
funds deadlines, but an approved time extension will revise the timely use of funds criteria
for the component(s) and allocation(s) requested.  Approved supplementary allocations,
time extensions, and fund transfers between components made after the execution of this
PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT will be documented and considered subject to the terms and
conditions thereof.  Documentation will consist of a STATE approved Allocation Letter,
Fund Transfer Letter, Time Extension Letter, and Finance Letter, as appropriate.

E.  This PROJECT is subject to the timely use of funds provisions enacted by the Active
Transportation Program guidelines, as adopted or amended, and by approved CTC and
State procedures as outlined below.

Funds allocated for the environmental & permits (E&P), plan specifications & estimate
(PS&E), and right-of-way components are available for expenditure until the end of the
second fiscal year following the year in which the funds were allocated.

Funds allocated for the construction component are subject to an award deadline and
contract completion deadline.  ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to award the contract
within 6 months of the construction fund allocation and to complete and accept the
construction within 36 months of award.

F.  Award information shall be submitted by the ADMINISTERING AGENCY to the District



00-392S-V71- SERIALProgram Supplement

06-FRE-0-MDA
ATP-5285(022)

SPECIAL COVENANTS OR REMARKS

Page 3 of 4

Local Assistance Engineer immediately after project contract award and prior to the
submittal of the ADMINISTERING AGENCY'S first invoice for the construction contract.
Failure to do so will cause a delay in the State processing of invoices for the construction
phase.

G.  The ADMINISTERING AGENCY shall invoice STATE for environmental & permits
(E&P), plans specifications & estimate (PS&E), and right-of-way costs no later than 180
days after the end of last eligible fiscal year of expenditure.  For construction costs, the
ADMINISTERING AGENCY has 180 days after project completion or contract acceptance
to make the final payment to the contractor prepare the final Report of Expenditures and
final invoice, and submit to STATE for verification and payment.

H.  ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to submit the final report documents that
collectively constitute a "Report of Expenditures" within one hundred eighty (180) days of
PROJECT completion.  Failure of ADMINISTERING AGENCY to submit a "Final Report
of Expenditures" within 180 days of PROJECT completion will result in STATE imposing
sanctions upon ADMINISTERING AGENCY in accordance with the current LAPM and the
Active Transportation Program (ATP) Guidelines.

I.  ADMINISTERING AGENCY indirect costs, as defined in 2 CFR, Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirement for Federal Awards,
to be claimed must be allocated in accordance with an Indirect Cost Allocation Plan
(ICAP), submitted, reviewed, and approved in accordance with Caltrans Audits and
Investigations requirements which may be accessed at: www.dot.ca.gov/hq/audits/.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to comply with, and require all sub-recipients and
project sponsors to comply with 2 CFR, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles and Audit Requirement for Federal Awards, and all applicable Federal
and State laws and regulations.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees, and will assure that its contractors and
subcontractors will be obligated to agree, that Contract Cost Principles and Procedures,
48 CFR, Federal Acquisition Regulations System, Chapter 1, Part 31, et seq., and all
applicable Federal and State laws and regulations, shall be used to determine the
allowability of individual PROJECT cost items.

Any Fund expenditures for costs for which ADMINISTERING AGENCY has received
payment or credit that are determined by subsequent audit to be unallowable under 2
CFR, Part 200, or 48 CFR, Chapter 1, Part 3, are subject to repayment by
ADMINISTERING AGENCY to STATE.  Should ADMINISTERING AGENCY fail to
reimburse Funds due STATE within 30 days of demand, or within such other period as
may be agreed in writing between the Parties hereto, STATE is authorized to intercept
and withhold future payments due ADMINISTERING AGENCY from STATE or any third-
party source, including, but not limited to, the State Treasurer, the State Controller, and
the California Transportation Commission.



00-392S-V71- SERIALProgram Supplement

06-FRE-0-MDA
ATP-5285(022)

SPECIAL COVENANTS OR REMARKS

Page 4 of 4

2.

J.  By executing this PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT, ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to
comply with all reporting requirements in accordance with the Active Transportation
Program guidelines, as adopted or amended.

K.  This PROJECT has received funds from Active Transportation Program (ATP).  The
ADMINISTERING AGENCY agrees to administer the project in accordance with the CTC
Adopted SB1 Accountability and Transparency Guidelines.

The ADMINISTERING AGENCY shall construct the PROJECT in accordance with the
scope of work presented in the application and approved by the California Transportation
Commission.  Any changes to the approved PROJECT scope without the prior expressed
approval of the California Transportation Commission are ineligible for reimbursement
and may result in the entire PROJECT becoming ineligible for reimbursement.



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 

FROM: NANCY M. DIAZ, FINANCE OFFICER 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION NO. 21-04, AUTHORIZING SUBMITTAL OF AN APPLICATION FOR 
CALRECYCLE’S PAYMENT PROGRAMS AND RELATED AUTHORIZATIONS 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
Shall the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-04, authorizing submittal of an application for 
CalRecycle’s Payment Programs and Related Authorizations? 
 
BACKGROUND 
Pursuant to Public Resources Code section 48000 et seq. the Department of Resources Recycling 
and Recovery (CalRecycle) has established various payment programs to make payments to 
qualifying jurisdictions. CalRecycle is required to establish procedures governing the 
administration of the payment programs. Their procedures for administering payment programs 
require, among other things, an applicant’s governing body to declare by resolution certain 
authorizations related to the administration of the payment program. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The City of Mendota desires to apply for various programs administered by CalRecycle. 
Programs are funded based on completed applications. In order to submit an application, an 
entity must submit an approved resolution that authorizes a representative of the entity to submit 
an application. Resolution No. 21-XX is listing the City Manager or his/her designee to execute 
all documents necessary to implement and secure payment. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-04, authorizing submittal of an 
application for CalRecycle’s Payment Programs and Related Authorizations.  
 
Attachment(s): 

1. Resolution No. 21-04 
 
 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL   RESOLUTION NO. 21-04 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA AUTHORIZING 
THE SUBMITTAL OF AN APPLICATION FOR  
CALRECYLE’S PAYMENT PROGRAMS  
AND RELATED AUTHORIZATIONS 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Resources Code section 48000, et seq., the 
Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle) has established 
various payment programs to make payments to qualifying jurisdictions; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in furtherance of this authority, CalRecycle is required to establish 
procedures governing the administration of the payment programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CalRecycle’s procedures for administering payment programs 
require, among other things, an applicant’s governing body to declare by resolution 
certain authorizations related to the administration of the payment program. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of 
Mendota (“City”) that the City is authorized to submit an application to CalRecycle for 
any and all payment programs offered; and 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager, or his/her designee, is 
hereby authorized as Signature Authority to execute all documents necessary to 
implement and secure payment; and  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this authorization is effective until rescinded 
by the Signature Authority or this Governing Body. 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 

ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a 
regular meeting of said Council, held at the Mendota City Hall on the 12th of January, 
2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       ______________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 

FROM: CELESTE CABRERA-GARCIA, CITY CLERK 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: APPROVING THE SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF FRESNO AND THE 
CITY OF MENDOTA 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
Should the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-05, approving the Second Amendment to the 
Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding Between the County of Fresno and the 
City of Mendota and authorize the City Manager to execute same? 
 
BACKGROUND 
On February 7, 2006, the City of Mendota (“City”) and the County of Fresno (“County”) entered 
into a comprehensive Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) regarding development, the 
City’s sphere of influence, annexation, sales tax, property tax, and other matters impacting both 
parties. On July 8, 2008, the parties executed a First Amendment to the MOU to accommodate 
expansion and development of some of the City’s public facilities (wastewater treatment facility 
and pool park). The term of the MOU is set to expire on February 7, 2021. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The proposed Second Amendment will accommodate an extension of the MOU for one (1) year 
and will expire on February 7, 2022 to provide additional time for both parties to complete 
ongoing negotiations regarding a longer-term extension. The Second Amendment would not 
modify any other provisions of the MOU. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-05, approving the Second 
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding Between the County 
of Fresno and the City of Mendota and authorize the City Manager to execute same. 
 
Attachment(s): 

1. Resolution No. 21-05 
2. Exhibit “A” - Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Memorandum of 

Understanding Between the County of Fresno and the City of Mendota 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL   RESOLUTION NO. 21-05 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPROVING 
THE SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE  
AMENDED AND RESTATED MEMORANDUM 
OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE COUNTY 
OF FRESNO AND THE CITY OF MENDOTA 
AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER  
TO EXECUTE THE SAME 
 
 WHEREAS, on February 7, 2006, the City of Mendota (“City”) and the County of 
Fresno (“County”) entered into a comprehensive Memorandum of Understanding 
(“MOU”) regarding development, the City’s sphere of influence, annexation, sales tax, 
property tax, and other matters impacting both parties; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on July 8, 2008, the parties executed a First Amendment to the 
MOU to accommodate expansion and development of the City’s public facilities 
(wastewater treatment facility and pool park); and   
 

WHEREAS, the term of the MOU would, without the proposed Second 
Amendment, would expire on February 7, 2021; and 

 
WHEREAS, a Second Amendment to the MOU is necessary and desirable to 

accommodate extension of the MOU for one year from the expiration date of February 
7, 2021 to provide additional time for both parties to complete ongoing negotiations 
regarding a longer term extension.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Mendota hereby approves the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated 
Memorandum of Understanding Between the County of Fresno and the City of 
Mendota, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, and authorizes the City Manager to execute 
the same. 
          
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 

ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a 
regular meeting of said Council, held at the Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of 
January, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:      ____________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 



Exhibit A 



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED  
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN 
 

THE COUNTY OF FRESNO AND THE CITY OF MENDOTA 
 
 
 

 This Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding 

(“Second Amendment”), executed on this _____ day of _______________, 2021, (the “Effective Date”), 

amends the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”) executed on February 

7, 2006, by and between the County of Fresno, a political subdivision of the State of California (hereinafter 

referred to as “County”) and the City of Mendota, a municipal corporation of the State of California 

(hereinafter referred to as “City”).  County and City are each a “Party” to this Second Amendment and 

are sometimes collectively referred to as “the Parties” to this Second Amendment. 

RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the Parties previously entered into a comprehensive MOU, dated February 7, 2006, 

regarding development, City’s sphere of influence, annexation, sales tax, property tax, and other matters 

impacting both parties; and 

 WHEREAS, on July 8, 2008, the Parties executed a First Amendment to the MOU to 

accommodate expansion and development of City’s public facilities (wastewater treatment facility and 

pool park); and  

 WHEREAS, the term of the MOU would, without this Second Amendment, expire on February 7, 

2021; and 

 WHEREAS, a Second Amendment to the MOU is necessary and desirable to accommodate 

extension of the MOU for one year from the expiration date of February 7, 2021, to provide additional 

time for both Parties to complete ongoing negotiations regarding a longer-term extension. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, County and City hereby agree to amend the MOU as follows: 

AMENDMENT NO. 1  

1. Section 9.1 “Term of MOU” is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

This RESTATED MOU shall commence as of February 7, 2006 and remain in effect until February 



 

 Page 2 of 3 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

7, 2022, unless terminated prior to that time by mutual agreement of the parties.  

In addition, should all or any portion of this RESTATED MOU be declared invalid or inoperative 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, or should any party to this RESTATED MOU fail to perform any of 

its obligations hereunder, or should any party to this RESTATED MOU take any action to frustrate the 

intentions of the parties as expressed in this RESTATED MOU, then in such event, this entire RESTATED 

MOU, as well as any ancillary documents entered into by the parties in order to fulfill the intent of this 

RESTATED MOU, shall immediately be of no force and effect and, in particular, no property tax exchange 

agreement, as required by Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, shall exist between the CITY 

and COUNTY as to unincorporated property. 

2. The Parties agree that this Second Amendment is sufficient to amend the MOU and that 

upon execution of this Second Amendment, the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding, 

the First Amendment and this Second Amendment together shall be considered the MOU.  

3. The MOU, as hereby amended, is ratified and continued. Unless expressly modified by 

the terms of this Second Amendment, all other terms of the MOU remain in full force and effect. 

(Signature page follows.) 
  



 

 Page 3 of 3 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this SECOND Amendment, on the 

date set forth above. 
COUNTY OF FRESNO, a Political   CITY OF MENDOTA, a Municipal 
Subdivision of the State of California   Corporation of the State of California 
(“County”)      (“City”) 
 
By: _____________________________  By:          
 Steve Brandau, Chairman of the Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 Board of Supervisors of the County City of Mendota 
 of Fresno 
 
ATTEST:      ATTEST: 
Bernice E. Seidel     Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, MPA, 
Clerk of the Board of Supervisors   City Clerk, City of Mendota 
County of Fresno, State of California 
 
       By:        
By: _____________________________ Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, MPA, City Clerk 
 Deputy 
 
       REVIEWED AND RECOMMENDED FOR 
       APPROVAL: 
 
       By:          
   Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager  
 
 
       APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM: 
 
 
       By:        
        John Kinsey, City Attorney 



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 

FROM: CELESTE CABRERA-GARCIA, CITY CLERK 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: APPROVING THE AIR QUALITY MONITORING EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION 
AGREEMENT WITH THE LEAP INSTITUTE 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
Should the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-07, approving the Air Quality Monitoring 
Equipment Installation Agreement with the LEAP Institute and authorize the City Manager to 
execute same? 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City was recently approached by the LEAP Institute (a non-profit organization that is 
focused on helping disadvantaged communities) regarding the possibility of the City housing an 
air quality monitor on a City building or light pole. The monitor will be provided through an air 
quality grant that the LEAP Institute acquired to promote awareness about air quality. Part of the 
grant’s requirements are that the LEAP Institute engage with local community members with the 
goal of finding the best location for the monitor, and they have done so. 
 
ANALYSIS 
In accordance with the agreement, the City will be required to give the monitor access to 
electricity and internet service, but the monitor will be installed and maintained free of charge to 
the City. The term of the agreement is for three (3) years and may be extended, if desired. 
 
Through this project, residents will have access to real time air quality information through an 
online application.  The data may also help the City will attaining future air quality grants, which 
can lead to the acquisition of funds for public improvements that have the goal of reducing 
emissions.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-07, approving the Air Quality 
Monitoring Equipment Installation Agreement with the LEAP Institute and authorize the City 
Manager to execute same. 
 
 
 



2 

 

Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 21-07 
2. Exhibit “A” - Air Quality Monitoring Equipment Installation Agreement 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL   RESOLUTION NO. 21-07 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPROVING 
THE AIR QUALITY MONITORING EQUIPMENT 
INSTALLATION AGREEMENT WITH THE  
LEAP INSTITUTE AND AUTHORIZING  
THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE SAME 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Mendota (“City”) desires to grant permission to the LEAP 
Institute (“LEAP”) to install Dylos Air Quality Monitoring Equipment (“Monitor”) at 
mutually agreed upon locations within the City and establish the AQ Monitoring Project 
(“Project”) in the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the purpose of installing the Monitor is to collect and report air 
quality data to LEAP and its research partners; and   
 

WHEREAS, both parties seek to enter into an agreement to establish the Project 
and such agreement is voluntary for a term of three (3) years and may be extended, if 
desired. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Mendota hereby approves the Air Quality Monitoring Equipment Installation Agreement 
with the LEAP Institute, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, and authorizes the City Manager 
to execute the same. 
          
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a 
regular meeting of said Council, held at the Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of 
January, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:      ____________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 



Exhibit A 











1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 

FROM: CELESTE CABRERA-GARCIA, CITY CLERK 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: APPOINTING COUNCIL MEMBERS TO VARIOUS BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND 
COMMITTEES 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
Shall the City Council adopt Resolution No. 21-06, appointing Council Members to various 
Boards, Commissions, and Committees? 
 
BACKGROUND 
Since the election results have been confirmed and the newly elected Council Members have 
been sworn in, it is time to revisit the assignments made by the City Council to serve on the 
various boards, commissions, and committees that the City has or participates in. 
 
Attached is “Exhibit A” that depicts the assignments as they currently stand (under the column 
“Current or Previous”), as well as the new assignments (under the “New” Column) that have 
been made recently or need to be made. 
 
ANALYSIS 
To facilitate the process, staff has highlighted the positions in “Exhibit A”, under the “New” 
column, that Council needs to take action on. The other positions are included for the Council’s 
information only, due to the fact that the Council does not have authority to appoint those 
positions, or they are positions that will be considered at future meetings (such as the Planning 
and Recreation Commission appointments, which will be considered by Council at its January 
26th meeting). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council discuss and take action on which individuals will serve 
in the capacities highlighted in the attached “Exhibit A”, and, once the assignments are finalized, 
adopt Resolution No. 21-06. 
 
 
Attachment(s): 

1. Resolution No. 21-06 
2. Exhibit “A” – Council Assignments 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE  

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL    RESOLUTION NO. 21-06 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPOINTING  
COUNCIL MEMBERS TO VARIOUS BOARDS, 
COMMISSIONS, AND SUBCOMMITTEES 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council appoints members of the Council to represent the 
City of Mendota on various boards and sub-committees; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Mendota has been reorganized; and 
 
 WHEREAS, terms on various boards and sub-committees have expired or 
otherwise need to be assigned and filled. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of 
Mendota, that the facts contained in the recitals above are true and correct, and that the 
City Council hereby approves the appointment of members of the Council to various 
boards and sub-committees, included herein as Exhibit “A”. 
     
 
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a regular 
meeting of said Council, held at the Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of January, 2021, 
by the following vote:  
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

______________________________ 
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 

 



Exhibit A 



 
 

       1 

City Council Current or Previous New Term 
Mayor Rolando Castro Rolando Castro 12/2022 (12/2022 as Mayor) 
Mayor Pro Tem Victor Martinez Jesus Mendoza 12/2022 (12/2022 as MPT) 
Council Member Jesus Mendoza  Jose Alonso 12/2024 
Council Member Joseph Riofrio Joseph Riofrio 12/2022 (Short term) 
Council Member Oscar Rosales Oscar Rosales 12/2024  
    
Mendota Community 
Corporation 

   

Chairman Oscar Rosales Oscar Rosales 12/2024 (7/2021 as Chair) 
Vice-Chairman Jesus Mendoza Jesus Mendoza 12/2022 (7/2021 as Vice-Chair) 
 Rolando Castro Jose Alonso 12/2024 
 Victor Martinez Rolando Castro 12/2022 
 Joseph Riofrio Joseph Riofrio 12/2022 (Short term) 
    
Mendota Joint Powers 
Financing Authority 

   

Chairman Rolando Castro TBD 1/2023 
Vice-Chairman Victor Martinez TBD 1/2023 
 Jesus Mendoza  1/2023 
 Joseph Riofrio  1/2023 
 Oscar Rosales  1/2023 
  The rest of the MJPFA Board is 

composed of sitting City Council 
 

League of California Cities 
Voting Delegate 

   

Delegate    Joseph Riofrio TBD prior to Annual Conference  2021 
Alternate  Jesus Mendoza and dependent on who attends  2021 
    
    



 
 

       2 

    
Planning Commission    
Chairman Juan Luna Chair TBD at 2/16/21 PC Meeting 1/31/2023 
Vice-Chairman Albert Escobedo Vice Chair TBD at 2/16/21 PC 

Meeting 
1/31/2021 

 Jonathan Leiva TBD at 2/16/21 PC Meeting 1/31/2021 
 Jose Gutierrez TBD at 2/16/21 PC Meeting 1/31/2023 
 Kevin Romero TBD at 2/16/21 PC Meeting 1/31/2021 
Alternate Commissioner VACANT TBD at 1/26/21 CC Meeting Term of alternate is until a 
   vacancy occurs 
    
Recreation Commission    
Chairman Jesus Mendoza* Council Rep. TBD 

(Chair TBD at 2/4/21 RC 
Meeting) 

1/31/2021 

Vice-Chairman Paul Ochoa** Vice Chair TBD at 2/4/21 RC 
Meeting 

1/31/2021 

 Antonio Pizano TBD at 2/4/21 RC Meeting 1/31/2021 
 Kevin Romero TBD at 2/4/21 RC Meeting 1/31/2021 
 Jessica Sanchez TBD at 2/4/21 RC Meeting 1/31/2021 
 Josue Urias TBD at 2/4/21 RC Meeting 1/31/2023 
 VACANT TBD at 2/4/21 RC Meeting 1/31/2023 
    
 *Representative from Council **Representative from MUSD  
    
Council of Fresno County 
Governments Board of 
Directors   

   

Representative Rolando Castro TBD 1/2023 
Alternate Jesus Mendoza TBD 1/2023 
    



 
 

       3 

Fresno County Regional 
Transportation Mitigation Fee 
Member Rolando Castro TBD 1/2023 
Alternate Jesus Mendoza TBD 1/2023 
    
Fresno Westside Mosquito 
Abatement District Board 

   

Member S. Leo Capuchino S. Leo Capuchino 1/2024 
    
San Joaquin Valley Air 
Pollution Control District 
Valley-Wide Special City 
Selection Committee. 

   

 Member Oscar Rosales TBD 1/2023 
Alternate Jesus Mendoza TBD 1/2023 
    
San Joaquin Valley Water 
Infrastructure Authority JPA 

   

Member Robert Silva TBD by SJVWIA JPA  
    
Fresno County Local Agency 
Formation Commission 

   

Member Robert Silva TBD by LAFCo Selection 
Committee 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   

    



 
 

       4 

City of Mendota 
Ad Hoc Committees 

   

    
Public Safety Sub Committee     
Chairman Victor Martinez TBD 1/2023 
Vice-Chairman Oscar Rosales TBD 1/2023 
Community Member Joseph Amador TBD 1/2023 
 



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM: JEFFREY O’NEAL, AICP, CITY PLANNER 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: APPLICATION NO. 20-23, THE VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, LLC COMMERCIAL 
CANNABIS PROJECT 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
In the matter of Application No. 20-23, the Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC Commercial 
Cannabis Project, shall the City Council adopt a mitigated negative declaration, approve a general 
plan amendment, and introduce and waive the first readings of ordinances related to a rezone and 
a development agreement? 
 
BACKGROUND 
The State of California’s Medical and Adult Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act 
(MAUCRSA) is the primary statute that regulates personal, medicinal, and commercial cannabis 
activity in the state.  In addition to MAUCRSA, Chapters 8.37 (Commercial Cannabis Businesses) 
and 17.99 (Commercial Cannabis Overlay District) of the Mendota Municipal Code (MMC) 
provide regulations applicable to non-personal cannabis activities at the local level.  Pursuant to 
these local regulations, an applicant wishing to undertake commercial cannabis activities must 
meet certain location criteria, receive approval of a conditional use permit, and enter into a 
development agreement with the City.  Dating to early 2019, the City has been in discussions with 
various entities regarding development of a commercial cannabis facility on a portion of a City-
owned parcel (APN 013-030-68ST) adjacent to the City’s wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). 
In October 2019, the City entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Valley Agricultural 
Holdings, LLC. 
 
On October 13, 2020 the Planning Department received an application from Valley Agricultural 
Holdings, LLC requesting a variety of entitlements and actions to facilitate the construction and 
operation of a commercial cannabis facility as discussed. The Department accepted the application 
as complete on October 31, 2020 and notified the applicant accordingly. At a special meeting on 
December 29, 2020, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider adoption of a 
mitigated negative declaration pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act and approval 
of a conditional use permit.  The Commission also made a determination related to disposal of real 
property and made recommendations to the City Council regarding the proposed general plan 
amendment, rezone, and development agreement.  
 

Owner:  City of Mendota  
Applicant:  Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC  
Representatives: Dustin Moore, Daniel Pocius, Kevin Schmidt 



2 

 

Location: APN 013-030-68ST (portion) 
 See attached map and photo 
Site Size:  Approximately 59 acres of an existing 114-acre parcel1 
General Plan: Public/Quasi-Public Facility 
Zoning: P-F/CO (Public Facilities with Commercial Cannabis Overlay 

District) 
Existing Use:  Vacant 
Surrounding Uses: North – Wastewater ponds, vacant; P-F (portion with CO) 

East – Vacant; AE-20 (Fresno County) 
South – Inactive biomass plant; M-2/CO 

   West – CalRENEW-1 solar PV facility; P-F/CO 
Street Access:  None.  Proposed access to be via easement to Belmont Avenue 

 
The Project Site is currently vacant, although the northwestern panhandle of the parcel in question 
supports an approximately-15-acre pond occasionally utilized by the City for disposal 
(evaporation) of excess treated effluent from the WWTP. The parcel to the immediate west 
contains an operational solar photovoltaic (PV) electricity generation facility.  All other 
surroundings parcels are vacant, although APN 013-030-61S to the southwest contains the remnant 
infrastructure of the Mendota Biomass (Covanta Energy Corporation) facility, which ceased 
operation in 2015.  The Fresno Slough runs generally south-to-north approximately 2,000 feet to 
the east.  
 
ANALYSIS 
Application No. 20-23 proposes construct and operate a facility for the cultivation, processing, and 
distribution of commercial cannabis. It proposes approximately 39.7 acres (1.7 million square feet 
(SF)) of outdoor cultivation area and approximately 68,000 SF of structures housing employee 
workspaces, offices, and ancillary facilities along with nurseries, and processing areas. To meet 
Fire Department requirements, the Project will likely require installation of a pumping station 
and/or one or more tanks for water storage. Two basins totaling approximately 2.6 acres would 
provide storm drainage retention. The remainder of the Project Site consists of vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation areas, parking, and open area. 
 
Access to the Project Site would be provided via a new 26-foot wide paved or all-weather access 
road that would extend 1,400 feet east from the northwest corner of the Project Site along and 
adjacent to the northern boundary of the neighboring PV facility, then south approximately 1,900 
feet to the current terminus of Belmont Avenue.  Alternately, access could be provided from the 
south via an easement through APNs 013-030-62S and 66S from Belmont Avenue to the 
southwestern corner of the Project Site. The proposed internal circulation, an all-weather-surface 
road, would follow the perimeter of the Project Site to provide access to the structures and outdoor 
cultivation areas and would circle the stormwater and fire pump facilities. The employee parking 
area would provide approximately 64 delineated parking spaces located directly north of the 

 
1 The parcel abutting to the west, APN 013-030-67ST, is not a separate legal parcel, but rather a lease parcel owned by the 
City and leased to CalRENEW-1, LLC for the construction and operation of the solar PV facility. Therefore, APNs 013-
030-67ST & 68ST are simply two portions of an existing legal parcel containing approximately 164.80 acres. For the sake 
of simplicity and since one component of the proposed project consists of the conveyance of the 59-acre Project Site 
within 68ST to the applicant, this report and accompanying documents treat 68ST as a standalone parcel. 



3 

 

employee buildings. An emergency vehicle hammerhead turnaround would be constructed in the 
north-central region of the Project Site. The site would be enclosed by a seven (7)-foot chain-link 
fence. Each of two entrances would have a 15-foot-high double-gate entry with a manned 
guardhouse including cameras and security lighting. 
 
The applicant estimates the Project will use between 100 and 150 acre-feet (AF)2 of water per 
year, or roughly the equivalent of 180-420 residences.3 On September 8, 2020, the City issued a 
Conditional Will-Serve Letter to Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC stating the City’s willingness 
and capability to provide municipal water to the Project subject to certain conditions. There is no 
timeline under which the Project must secure an alternative source of water. The Project will 
connect to the City’s water system via installation of a 6-inch water main extending west 
approximately 1,400 feet from the Project Site along the northern boundary of the PV facility, then 
south approximately 2,300 feet within the Belmont Avenue alignment, where it will connect to the 
end of an existing 10-inch water main.  
 
The Project will connect to the City’s 30-inch South Side Sewer Interceptor, which runs due south-
north within the Belmont Avenue right-of-way and its prolongation, approximately 1,400 feet west 
of the Project Site. 
 
The Project would employ approximately 20 persons on a year-round basis and an additional 40 
persons during planting and harvesting (April through October). Employee commuting would 
comprise the majority of vehicles trips; distribution via van (more likely) or truck (less likely) 
would result in approximately six (6) daily trips. 
 
The City intends to convey the Project Site to the applicant via recordation of a deed and 
accompanying legal description.  That action is not subject to the approval or recommendation of 
the Planning Commission, but rather is entirely within the purview of the City Council. However, 
as described below, the conveyance is subject to a determination by the Planning Commission as 
to whether disposing of the property conforms to the General Plan. 
 
GENERAL PLAN & ZONING 
The site is currently designated for Public/Quasi-Public Facilities (P/QP) by the General Plan and 
is zoned P-F/CO (Public Facilities/Commercial Cannabis Overlay District). While, at the time the 
CO district was created and applied, it may have been the City’s intention to allow cannabis uses 
on land carrying this zoning or any other zoning,4 a reading of General Plan Policy LU-13.1 notes 
that the P/QP designation is intended for land owned by public or institutional agencies (i.e., not 
private entities) and is to be used for educational, governmental, and public safety purposes.  
Because zoning is required to be consistent with the general plan (Gov. Code section 65860; also 
discussed in the Land Use Element of the General Plan), a zoning provision cannot supersede a 

 
2 One acre-foot contains approximately 326,000 gallons. 
3 City of Mendota Water Master Plan. October 2019. Assumes Medium Density Residential range of 3.6-6.0 dwelling per 
acre as stated in the City of Mendota General Plan Update 2005-2025. 
4 Section 17.99.030 of the MMC reads in its entirety: “Where a conflict occurs between the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District and 
any other section of the zoning code, or any provision of the Mendota Municipal Code, the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District regulations 
shall prevail.”  



4 

 

general plan policy, i.e., a privately-owned commercial operation cannot be approved on land 
within the P/QP designation regardless of a zoning regulation that appears to allow it.  
 
To facilitate the Project, the applicant proposes to amend the Land Use Element of the General 
Plan to reflect APN 013-030-68ST as Light Industrial and to concurrently amend the zoning map 
to reflect it as M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing/Commercial Cannabis Overlay District).  General 
Plan Policy LU-8.1, which describes the intent of the Light Industrial land use designation, states 
that “permitted uses generally include industrial or manufacturing uses”, and the corresponding 
M-1 zone expressly allows agriculture and agricultural processing. The Project straddles the 
various definitions, as it is an agricultural use that includes onsite processing, and thus is 
appropriate in an LI/M-1 area. Under Gov. Code section 65358(b), a city may not amend a single 
element of its general plan more than four times per calendar year.  Following an approval action 
by the City Council, the proposed general plan amendment would constitute the first amendment 
to the City’s Land Use Element for Calendar Year 2021. 
 
Senate Bill 18 (SB 18), codified at Gov. Code section 65352.3, requires that prior to approving a 
general plan amendment, the local agency must refer the project to Native American Tribes for 
consultation in order to protect or mitigate impacts to cultural places.  Tribes then have 90 days to 
provide comments or request additional consultation.  This is a distinct process from AB 52 Tribal 
Consultation, which is discussed under the Environmental section below.  Staff contacted the 
Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), which provided a list of Tribes traditionally and 
culturally affiliated with the project area: 
 
Big Sandy Rancheria of Western Mono Indians 
Cold Springs Rancheria 
Dumna Wo-Wah Tribal Government 
Dunlap Band of Mono Indians 
Kings River Choinumni Tribe 
North Fork Mono Tribe 
Santa Rosa Rancheria Tachi Yokut Tribe 
Table Mountain Rancheria 
Traditional Choinumni Tribe 
Wuksache Indian Tribe/Eshorn Valley Band 
 
Staff sent letters notifying these Tribes of the project on January 17, 2020 pursuant to SB 18. The 
only comment received was from Dirk Charley of the Dunlap Band of Mono Indians via telephone 
call to the City Planner.  Mr. Charley expressed goodwill towards the City and the Project but 
stated that the Project Site is far outside his Tribe’s area of concern or interest. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
The Project proposes to be owned and operated by two separate entities, called “operational 
entities” for the purpose of this discussion. To describe the obligations and rights of the operational 
entities and the City, the development agreement (Agreement or Agreements) has been split into 
two similar versions, each of which has the following parties in common: the City of Mendota 
(City) and Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC (Developer).  One Agreement also includes The 



5 

 

Axiom Group, LLC (Axiom) as a party; the other includes Industrial Integrity Solutions (IIS) as a 
party.   There are further subcomponents of the parties, but those are not germane to the discussion. 
 
The Agreements, the draft versions of which are attached, are largely contract documents but also 
contain provisions for site development and use related to project entitlements, operations, and 
allowable cannabis license types, along with discussion of financial considerations. The term of 
the Agreements is 20 years.  Each Agreement states that, prior to close of escrow, the Developer 
shall submit applications to the City to subdivide the Project Site into two parcels to be owned and 
operated by the respective operational entities.  If the process as described in the Agreements is 
pursued, it will require the Developer to prepare a tentative parcel map for consideration by the 
Planning Commission and the City Council, followed by preparation of the (final) parcel map and 
what can be a protracted recordation process. While not provided for in the Agreements, the City 
could instead convey the Project as two parcels in the first place, thus obviating the need for 
additional processes.  The Planning Commission recommended that the City Council revises the 
language of the agreements to account for conveyance as separate parcels. 
 
During the life of the agreements, each operational entity will pay various public benefit fees to 
the City as described in Section 4.2(a).  Due to ambiguity in the original language, the Assistant 
City Attorney suggested that certain language in that section be amended as contained in the 
attached draft development agreements. Each agreement also describes penalties for late payment. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
The first step in complying with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) is to determine 
whether the activity in question constitutes a “project” as defined by CEQA, Public Resources 
Code section 21000, et seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
Chapter 3, section 15000, et seq.  A “project” consists of the whole of an action (i.e., not the 
individual pieces or components) that may have a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect effect 
on the environment.  The second step is to determine whether the project is subject to or exempt 
from the statute.  This proposal qualifies as a project under CEQA because it involves the issuance 
to a person of a “lease, permit, license, certificate, or other entitlement for use” as described in 
CEQA Guidelines section 15378 and will have a direct physical effect on the environment.  
Additionally, section 15378 expressly includes amendments to a general plan or a zoning 
ordinance within the definition of “project.”5 While there are exemptions from CEQA that could 
apply to some of the individual components of the overall project, the “piecemeal” approach to 
analyzing a project does not satisfy the requirements of CEQA. Accordingly, in June 2019 the City 
entered into a contract with Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. (Wood) to prepare 
an initial study consistent with CEQA Guidelines Appendix G intended to examine the potential 
environmental effects of the Project.   
 
Assembly Bill 52 (AB 52), codified at Public Resources Code section 21080.3.1, et seq., requires 
that prior to releasing a CEQA document for public review, a lead agency, in this case the City of 
Mendota, must notify any Native American Tribe that has presented the City with a written request 
for notification.  The City received such a letter from the Santa Rosa Rancheria Tachi Yokut Tribe 

 
5 Recently clarified by the California Supreme Court regarding zoning in Union of Medical Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of 
San Diego (2019) 7 Cal. 5th 1171. 



6 

 

on August 8, 2016.  As a result, the City is obligated to notify Santa Rosa of any project for which 
it intends to prepare a negative declaration, mitigated negative declaration, or environmental 
impact report prior to releasing the document for public review.  This is a separate process from 
the SB 18 process described above under General Plan Amendment. 
  
Tribes have 30 days from receipt of the notice to provide comments or request that the City initiate 
formal consultation.  Within a further 30 days, the City must initiate that consultation, the intention 
of which is to identify potential impacts to tribal cultural resources and any mitigation that can 
reduce or eliminate those impacts.  Once initiated, there is no limit to the duration of the formal 
consultation: either mitigation is agreed upon; the parties agree that no mitigation is needed; or 
one party determines that a good-faith effort has been made to agree, but no agreement is 
forthcoming.  The City mailed notice of the project to Santa Rosa on January 17, 2020 via certified 
mail. A return receipt indicated that the Tribe received notice on January 23, 2020.  No comments 
were received during the 30-day period. 
 
Based on the results of the initial study, the City Planner made a preliminary finding on November 
13, 2020 that, with implementation of mitigation measures, the project would not have a significant 
impact on the environment, and that a mitigated negative declaration would be prepared.  On Also 
on November 13, 2020, a notice of intent to adopt an initial study/ mitigated negative declaration 
(IS/MND) was published in The Business Journal and filed electronically with the State 
Clearinghouse.6 The notice of intent indicated that the combined initial study/ mitigated negative 
declaration (“IS/MND”) would be subject to a public review and comment period starting on 
November 13, 2020 and ending on December 14, 2020.  It further stated that the Mendota Planning 
Commission would consider the CEQA document and other components of the project at a regular 
meeting on December 15, 2020 and that the Mendota City Council would consider the project at a 
to-be-determined date. 
 
SCH, having assigned the unique identifier 2020110237 to the IS/MND, distributed the document 
to numerous State agencies. Additionally, the City provided a digital download link to the County 
of Fresno, the Fresno County Fire Protection District/CAL FIRE, and Mid Valley Disposal. The 
City received two formal comments during the review period: 
 

1. Fresno County Fire Protection District/CAL FIRE dated November 16, 2020. The letter 
was a standard project review letter that did not specifically address CEQA. 

2. California Department of Food & Agriculture dated December 9, 2020.  CDFA has 
jurisdiction over the issuance of certain cannabis-related licensing and is a responsible 
agency under CEQA. The letter contained three comments/requests: 

a. That the IS/MND be modified to acknowledge additional regulatory provisions 
over which CDFA has jurisdiction. 

b. That the IS/MND be modified to address the potential for cumulative impacts. 
c. That the City advise applicants for cannabis licenses to provide all technical 

documents to CFDA as part of their license applications. 

 
6 Pursuant to Governor’s Executive Order N-80-20, which incorporates by reference EO N-54-20, local filing 
requirements pursuant to CEQA are conditionally suspended and may be satisfied by filing with the State Clearinghouse.  



7 

 

The CDFA letter did not suggest that the requested revisions would necessitate 
recirculation of the IS/MND. 

 
Additionally, staff received an email from the California Department of Fish and Wildlife CDFW) 
on December 8, 2020 requesting that it be provided additional time to comment on the IS/MND.  
Typically, the City is not required to accept comments received after the close of the comment 
period. For this type of project, CDFW is both a responsible agency and a trustee agency under 
CEQA: it is responsible for issuance of a Lake or Streambed Alteration (LSA) Agreement or an 
LSA waiver, which is a mandatory element for cannabis-related projects, and it acts as a trustee 
agency for any project with the potential to affect flora and/or fauna. City staff met with CDFW 
staff via video on December 10, 2020 to discuss CDFW concerns and to attempt to establish an 
appropriate extension to the comment period. Specific comments included: 
 

1. Addition of detailed site assessment, including soil types and history of use 
2. Elaborate on proposed mitigation for biological resources, specifically related to: 

a. Burrowing owl 
b. San Joaquin kit fox 
c. Blunt-nosed leopard lizard 
d. Fresno kangaroo rat 

CDFW did not suggest that the requested revisions would necessitate recirculation of the 
IS/MND. 

 
CDFW staff suggested that a comment letter might be forthcoming by December 18, 2020; 
however, email correspondence between the City and CDFW indicated that the letter was under 
review and its exact status was unknown as of that date. The City requested additional information 
via email on December 23 and December 24, 2020 and received a response on December 24 that 
the letter was still under review and no update was available. Since that time, the City has not 
received further correspondence from CDFW. 
 
To this point, Wood has responded to the comments received from FCFPD/CAL FIRE and CDFA 
and has made revisions to the IS/MND and the Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program 
(MMRP) consistent with the formal comments from CDFA and the verbal comments from CDFW. 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopts the IS/MND and MMRP as proposed. On January 
6, 2021, staff filed a notice of determination with the Fresno County Clerk and the State 
Clearinghouse. 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
In addition to the CEQA Notice of Intent published and filed on November 13, 2020, a notice of 
public hearing was published in the January 1, 2021 edition of The Business Journal, was 
individually mailed to property owners within 300 feet of the project site, and was posted at City 
Hall. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVALS 
In addition to forwarding certain recommendations to the City Council, the Planning Commission 
undertook actions as follows: 



8 

 

1. Resolution No. PC 20-06. A determination pursuant to Gov. Code section 65402(a) that 
disposal of real property (i.e., sale of a portion of APN 013-030-68ST) conforms to the 
General Plan. 

2. Resolution No. PC 20-07. Approval of a conditional use permit as required by MMC 
Chapters 8.37 (Commercial Cannabis Businesses) and 17.99 (Commercial Cannabis 
Overlay District). 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Review and processing of the planning applications, engineering plans, and building plans are paid 
for by the applicant, and the project is responsible for payment of development impact fees.  As 
discussed, the project will be responsible for payment of various public benefit fees that can 
amount to hundreds of thousands of dollars or more annually. Building fees will be determined 
when a building permit is requested. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council: 
 

1. Adopts Resolution No. 21-01, adopting a mitigated negative declaration and mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program and determining that, with mitigation incorporated, the 
project will not result in a significant effect on the environment. 

2. Adopts Resolution No. 21-02, amending the General Plan Land Use designation of APN 
013-030-68ST from Public/Quasi-Public Facilities to Light Industrial. 

3. Introduces and waives the first reading of Ordinance No. 21-02, which would amend the 
zone district of APN 013-030-68ST from P-F/CO (Public Facilities/Commercial Cannabis 
Overlay District) to M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing/Commercial Cannabis Overlay 
District), and sets the public hearing for January 26, 2021. 

4. Introduces and waives the first reading of Ordinance No. 21-03, which would enter the 
City into a development agreement with Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC, and sets the 
public hearing for January 26, 2021. 

 
Attachment(s): 

1. Aerial photo and site depiction 
2. General Plan Exhibit 
3. Zoning Exhibit 
4. Assessor’s Parcel Map 
5. Site Plan 
6. Initial Study 
7. Responses to Comments 
8. Resolution No. 21-01 
9. Resolution No. 21-02 
10. Ordinance No. 21-02 
11. Ordinance No. 21-03 

 



AERIAL PHOTO AND SITE DEPICTION 

9 

 



GENERAL PLAN EXHIBIT 

10 

 



ZONING EXHIBIT 

11 

 



ASSESSOR’S PARCEL MAP 

12 

 



SITE PLAN 

13 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

      

CITY OF MENDOTA 

INITIAL STUDY / DRAFT MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

MENDOTA VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS PROJECT 

FINAL DRAFT 

December 2020



 

City of Mendota                                                   Valley Agricultural Holdings Project, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 1 

 

 

Initial Environmental Study 
1. Project Title:  

City of Mendota Application No. 20-23, Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 

2. Lead Agency Name and Address: 
City of Mendota 
643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640 

3. Contact Person and Phone Number: 
Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager 
643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640 
(559)-655-4298 

4. Project Location:  
The Project is located at the end of Belmont Avenue approximately 0.5 mile north of Guillan Park Drive 
on a 59.0-acre portion of Assessor’s Parcel No. (APN) 013-030-68ST within the city limits of the City of 
Mendota. See Figure 1 (Vicinity Map).  

5. Project Applicant’s Name and Address: 
Valley Agriculture Holdings, LLC 
2151 E. Convention Center Way, Ste. 222 
Ontario, CA 91764 

6. General Plan Designation:  
Public/Quasi-Public Facility 

7. Zoning:  
Public Facilities with Commercial Cannabis Overlay District (P-F/CO) 

8. Description of the Project:  
See “Project Description” below 

9. Surrounding Land Uses: 
North: Vacant land and wastewater treatment plant; P-F (portion with CO) 
South:  Vacant land and idle biomass plant; M-2/CO, AE-20 (Fresno County) 
East: Vacant land, Fresno/Kings/Mendota Slough, Agriculture; P-F, AE-20 (Fresno County) 
West: Solar Photovoltaic (“PV”) Facility, William Robert Johnston Municipal Airport; P-F, A-D 

10. Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required:  
The Project may require discretionary actions and approvals by regional and/or State agencies: 
• Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA):  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 2 

 

 

o Provisional Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation (A-License) (until annual license is acquired) 
o Type 3 Outdoor Cultivation Licenses 
o Nursery Licenses 
o Processor Licenses 

• Bureau of Cannabis Control 
o Type 11 Distribution Licenses 

• California Department of Public Health 
o Type 7 Manufacturing License 

• Fresno County Department of Environmental Health 
o On-site waste disposal 

• State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB): 
o National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permits 
o Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

• Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (CVRWQCB): 
o Storm Water Permits 

• Department of Fish and Wildlife 
o Lake & Streambed Alteration Agreement or waiver (FGC Section 1617) 

• San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District 
• Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

11. Other Project Assumptions:  
The Initial Study assumes compliance with all applicable State and local codes and regulations 
including, but not limited to, the City’s Design and Improvement Standards, the California Building 
Standards Code, the Health and Safety Code, and the Public Resources Code. 

12. Required City Approvals: 
The Project requires the following actions and/or approvals by the City: 
• Adoption of the Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) 
• Approval of a General Plan Amendment (Land Use Map: Public/Quasi-Public Facilities to Light 

Industrial at the Project Site) 
• Rezoning (P-F to M-1; CO to be maintained) 
• Conditional Use Permit 
• Development Agreement (Agreement number to be assigned once approved by the City Council) 
• Commercial Cannabis Business Permit 
• Cannabis Business License Tax Certificate 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 3 

 

 

Project Description 
Application No. 20-23, the Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project (Project), would entail purchase 
and development of 59 acres (Project Site) of an existing 114-acre parcel (APN 013-030-68ST) to construct 
and operate a commercial cannabis facility. The City of Mendota, which currently owns the 114-acre parcel, 
would sell the Project Site to the applicant as Parcels 1 and 2 (approximately 35 acres and 24 acres, 
respectively) via deed while retaining ownership of the remaining 55 acres. The proposed Project would 
include approximately 39.7 acres (1.7 million square feet) of open-field cannabis cultivation. Processing of 
harvested cannabis is currently anticipated to occur by hand within two 30,000-sf head houses onsite. The 
cannabis facility would include cultivation activities in compliance with current restrictions on allowable 
cannabis garden canopy (i.e., mature plant coverage). The Project would also include an ancillary nursery 
and processing of harvested cannabis. Distribution of cannabis and development of supporting onsite 
facilities are also proposed.  

Development of the proposed Project would include 
offsite improvements to construct an all-weather 
access road through either the remaining 55-acre 
portion of the original 114-acre parcel to link with  
Belmont Avenue (which is aligned north-south in the 
vicinity of the Project Site) or through abutting 
property to the south, along with connections for 
utilities such as water, sewer, and electricity. Project 
development and operation would proceed in 
accordance with applicable State regulations, 
including the Medicinal and Adult Use Cannabis 
Regulation and Safety Act (MAUCRSA), the Adult 
Use of Marijuana Act (AUMA), the CalCannabis 
Cultivation Licensing Program, and the City’s Commercial Cannabis Business Ordinance. The Project 
would require City approval of a General Plan Amendment in order to change the designation of the 59-
acre Project Site from Public/Quasi-Public Facilities to Light Industrial and a corresponding rezone of the 
site from P-F to M-1. The overall site is also within the City’s Commercial Cannabis Overlay District, which 
would remain in effect.  Associated actions requiring City consideration include conveying the 59-acre 
Project Site to Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings and approval of a conditional use permit (CUP). 
Consistent with the City’s cannabis regulations, the Project includes a request for a development agreement 
between the City and applicant to authorize construction and operation and to finalize financial 
arrangements and responsibility for improvements between the City and Project applicant.  

 
Site access is provided via the terminus of Belmont 
Avenue, adjacent to a photovoltaic energy facility. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 4 

 

 

Project Site and Surrounding Land Uses 

The Project Site includes 59 acres of vacant land 
located at the end of Belmont Avenue, approximately 
0.5 mile north of Guillan Park Drive (Figure 1). The 
Project Site is designated for Public/Quasi-Public 
Facilities land uses under the City’s General Plan; 
adjacent properties are designated for both Multi-
use/Open Space, Heavy Industrial and Public/Quasi-
Public Facilities. The Project Site and adjacent lands 
are currently zoned Public Facilities (P-F) under the 
City’s Zoning Ordinance and are within the 
Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. 

The Project Site is bordered by the City’s wastewater 
treatment plant to the northwest, vacant land to the north and east, fallow agricultural land to the south and 
the idle Covanta Energy Corporation biomass plant to the southwest, and a solar photovoltaic (PV) facility 
to the west. The PV facility is located on 50 acres of land leased from the City (APN 013-030-67ST). The 
parcels adjacent to the east and south are within unincorporated Fresno County and are owned by River 
Ranch LLC, a local agricultural enterprise. While zoned for agricultural use, they are currently idle. The 
nearest residential uses are located approximately 0.5 mile to the west of the Project Site, beyond the PV 
facility and the Airport (Figure 2).  The nearest active agricultural site is approximately 0.5 mile to the south.  

The topography of the Project Site is generally flat and slopes down gently to the northeast, with an average 
elevation of approximately 160 feet above sea level. Existing vehicle access to the Project Site is provided 
off of Belmont Avenue, with direct access provided via informal dirt roads, including a 1,300 foot long dirt 
road spanning east-west along the northern boundary of the Project Site (Figure 2).  Belmont Avenue is a 
44-foot-wide, two-lane north-south paved road within an 80-foot dedicated right-of-way which extends 
roughly 1,600 feet north of Guillan Park Drive and provides access to the Covanta Energy Corporation site, 
the PV facility, the City’s wastewater treatment plant, the Project Site, and the agricultural land to the east. 

 
View of Covanta Energy plant facing southwest from 
the Project Site. 

 
View facing south of existing dirt access road 
extending north from Belmont Avenue and PV facility 
to the west of Project Site. 

 
View facing west from eastern edge of Project Site, 
with Covanta Energy visible to the southwest and the 
PV facility lining the western horizon. 



WastewaterWastewater
Treatment PlantTreatment Plant

Wastewater
Treatment Plant

William Robert
Johnston
Municipal

Airport

MENDOTAMENDOTAMENDOTA

BELMONT AVENUE GUILLAN PARK DRIVEGUILLAN PARK DRIVE

BA
SS

 AV
EN

UE

BA
SS

 AV
EN

UE

DIVISADERO STREETDIVISADERO STREET

MARIE STREET

MARIE STREET

9T
H STREET

9T
H STREET

LOLITA STREET

LOLITA STREET

BELMONT AVENUE GUILLAN PARK DRIVE

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD

W
ES

T 
BE

LM
O

NT
 A

VE
NU

E

DIVISADERO STREET

BA
SS

 AV
EN

UE

MARIE STREET

9T
H STREET

LOLITA STREET

INEZ STREET

180

180

PROJECT
SITE

MAIN LIFT CANAL

MAIN LIFT CANAL

FRESNO

SA
N 

LU
IS

 D
RA

IN

MAIN LIFT CANAL

SLOUGH

SAN     JOAQUIN     

   RIVER

FRESNO

FRESNO
SLOUGH

SLOUGH

SAN     JOAQUIN     

   RIVER

FRESNO
SLOUGH

MENDOTAMENDOTAMENDOTA

180

180

33

33

DERRICK AVENUE
DERRICK AVENUE

O
HIO

 AVENUE
O

HIO
 AVENUE

BELMONT AVENUEBELMONT AVENUE

SAN M
ATEO

 AVENUE
SAN M

ATEO
 AVENU

E
SAN M

ATEO
 AVENUE

BELMONT AVENUE

DERRICK AVENUE

O
HIO

 AVENUE

3A -3A -
    3E    3E

MADERAMADERA
COUNTYCOUNTY

FRESNOFRESNO
COUNTYCOUNTY

MADERA
COUNTY

FRESNO
COUNTY

PROJECTPROJECT
LOCATIONLOCATION
PROJECT
LOCATION

AREA OF DETAILAREA OF DETAILAREA OF DETAIL

0 1

MILES

N

0 300

MILES

N

ProjectProject
LocationLocation
Project

Location

Fresno
County

★★

0 1,500

SCALE IN FEET

Regional Location

N

1
FIGURE



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 6 

 

 

Regulatory Context 

The following timeline summarizes the regulatory actions that the City Council has taken associated with 
cannabis since 2018: 

• June 11, 2019: Adopted Ordinance No. 19-06, amending Chapter 8.37 of the Mendota Municipal 
Code (MMC) to eliminate the ban on cannabis dispensaries and to establish regulations for 
commercial cannabis businesses. The regulations include provisions for development 
agreements, permits, licensing, and requirements related to the location, operation, and design 
of businesses. 

• September 10, 2019: Adopted Ordinance No. 19-09, modifying the location requirements for 
commercial cannabis retail businesses. 

• September 24, 2019: Adopted Ordinance No. 19-08, amending the MCC to permit commercial 
cannabis businesses in the C-3 district subject to a conditional use permit. 

• October 8, 2019: Adopted Resolution No. 19-75, establishing the application submittal period for 
applicants to enter into a development agreement for commercial cannabis businesses. 

• September 22, 2020: Adopted Ordinance No. 20-16, amending MMC Chapter 17.99 to address 
certain cannabis-related performance and development standards and revise language 
regarding development costs for large-scale operations. 

The City currently operates a licensing program under the ordinances for Commercial Cannabis 
Businesses, found under Title 8, Chapter 8.37 of MMC. The Project applicant is seeking to enter into a 
Development Agreement with the City under these provisions.  

 

  

CA Department of Consumer Affairs: Responsible for licensing of transporters, distributors, 
dispensaries, and testing laboratories. 

CA Department of Food and Agricultural (CalCannabis Division): Responsible for licensing of 
cultivation and implementation of the Track-and-Trace System. 

CA Department of Public Health: Responsible for licensing of cannabis manufacturers. 



MENDOTAMENDOTA

WASTEWATERWASTEWATER
TREATMENT PLANTTREATMENT PLANT

SOLARSOLAR
FARMFARM

LITTLE ZIONLITTLE ZION
MISSIONARYMISSIONARY

BAPTIST CHURCHBAPTIST CHURCH
WILLIAM ROBERTWILLIAM ROBERT

JOHNSTONJOHNSTON
MUNICIPALMUNICIPAL
AIRPORTAIRPORT

MENDOTA POLICEMENDOTA POLICE
DEPARTMENTDEPARTMENT

COVANTACOVANTA
ENERGYENERGY

CORPORATIONCORPORATION

GUILLAN PARK DRIVEGUILLAN PARK DRIVEBELMONT AVENUEBELMONT AVENUE

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD

W
ES

T 
BE

LM
O

NT
 A

VE
NU

E
W

ES
T 

BE
LM

O
NT

 A
VE

NU
E

MARIE STREET

MARIE STREET

9T
H STREET

9T
H STREET

LOLITA STREET

LOLITA STREET
I NEZ STREET

I NEZ STREET

PROJECTPROJECT
SITESITE

WASTEWATER
TREATMENT PLANT

SOLAR
FARM

WILLIAM ROBERT
JOHNSTON
MUNICIPAL
AIRPORT

LITTLE ZION
MISSIONARY

BAPTIST CHURCH

MENDOTA POLICE
DEPARTMENT

COVANTA
ENERGY

CORPORATION

MENDOTA

GUILLAN PARK DRIVEBELMONT AVENUE

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD

W
ES

T 
BE

LM
O

NT
 A

VE
NU

E

MARIE STREET

9T
H STREET

LOLITA STREET
I NEZ STREET

180

PROJECT
SITE

FRESNO
FRESNO

SA
N 

LU
IS

 D
RA

IN
SA

N 
LU

IS
 D

RA
IN

SLOUGH

SLOUGH

FRESNO

SA
N 

LU
IS

 D
RA

IN

SLOUGH

0 900

SCALE IN FEET

N

Aerial Source: Google 2019.

LEGEND

Potential Utility Connection Points

Proposed Overhead Utility
Electrical Alignment

Proposed Underground
Water Supply and Wastewater
Pipelines Route

Proposed Utility Extensions
within West Belmont Avenue
City Right-of-Way

Potential Water Supply Pipeline
Route within City Right-of-Way

10-Inch Water Supply
Connection Point

12-Inch Water Supply
Connection Point

30-Inch Wastewater
Connection Point

2
FIGURE

Site Vicinity and Offsite Improvements



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 8 

 

 

Development Summary 

The Applicant is seeking to acquire a State cannabis licenses, which include: Type 3 cultivation licenses 
and Type 11 distribution licenses. Commercial cannabis activities would consist of cultivation and 
processing by hand and would not include any manufacturing or processing machinery. Additional facilities 
would include restrooms, offices, roads, fire tanks and pumps, other appurtenant infrastructure. The Project 
would use standard agricultural operating materials (e.g., fertilizers, nutrient solutions, and small amounts 
of gasoline and/or diesel for machinery), and does not propose the storage of any high-intensity hazardous 
materials or require designation as a hazardous materials storage facility. 

Of the 59 acres, the Project would include approximately 39.7 acres, or 1.7 million square feet, of outdoor 
cultivation 68,000 square feet of support buildings, with the remaining acreage dedicated to parking and 
circulation areas, utilities infrastructure, and undeveloped land. (see Figure 3).  

 Proposed Support Facilities 

The Project Site would support a capacity for up to 1.7 million square feet of total cannabis cultivation. A 
detailed description of each of the proposed support facilities is provided below. 

Buildings 

Several structures would be constructed at the north-central area of the Project Site. Four (4) 2,000-sf 
worker buildings would be constructed to support employees, and would include breakrooms, restrooms, 
offices, and other ancillary facilities within tilt up concrete buildings assembled on concrete building 
footprints (Figure 3). Two (2) single-story, 30,000-sf head houses to support onsite processing would be 
constructed. The buildings would reach a maximum height of 25 feet and face an approximate 30-foot-wide 
all-weather road that would facilitate access for support equipment and personnel (see Figure 3).  

 Parking and Circulation 

Access to the Project Site would be provided via a new 26-foot wide paved or all-weather access road that 
would extend 1,400 feet east from the northwest corner of the Project Site along and adjacent to the 
northern boundary of the neighboring PV facility, then south approximately 1,900 feet to the current 
terminus of Belmont Avenue (Figure 2). The proposed internal circulation, an all-weather-surface road, 
would follow the perimeter of the Project Site to provide access to the head houses, other structures, and 
outdoor cultivation areas and would circle the stormwater and fire pump facilities. The employee parking 
area would provide approximately 64 delineated parking spaces located directly north of the employee 
buildings. An emergency vehicle hammerhead turnaround would be constructed in the north-central region 
of the Project Site (Figure 3). 

  



PARCEL 1
34.3 ACRES

PARCEL 2
25 ACRES

1 5

7

4 4

6

8 8

6

3

9

3

2 2

SOLAR
FARM
AREA

PROPOSED PAVED 24’ ROAD WOULD EXTEND
WEST TO WEST BELMONT AVENUE

LEGEND Proposed Improvements Key#
Development Area Boundary with
7-Foot-High Perimeter Fence

Proposed Lot Split

Access Roads and Parking Stalls

Cultivation Fields –
1.7 Millioin Square Feet Total

New Gravel Access Road

Double Gated Entry

100-Square-Foot Security
Guard Building

Storm Water Retention Catch Basin

1

2

3

4

Fire Tanks and Pumps

Compost Area

Modular/Mobile Office and
Employee Buildings –
Restrooms and Break Rooms;
8,000 Square Feet Each

5

6

7

Processing Buildings –
30,000 Square Feet Each

Water Supply and
Wastewater Lines

8

9

0 250

SCALE IN FEET

Site Plan

N

3
FIGURE



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 10 

 

 

 Security 

The Project Site would be surrounded by a seven-foot-tall chain link fence. Motion-sensor security lighting 
would be installed at the main gates and building entrances, along with pole-mounted lights in the entry and 
parking/loading areas. The main gates would include two 15-foot-tall double gated entries, and would have 
two 100 square foot security guard buildings – one near each access point and each with security cameras 
and motion lighting.  

 Utilities 

Water and Wastewater 

Project water demand for onsite cultivation and domestic uses such as restrooms, hand wash stations, and 
drinking is estimated to range between 100 and 150 acre-feet per year (AFY) and  can initially be supplied 
by the City of Mendota in accordance with the Conditional Will-Serve Letter from the City of Mendota dated 
September 8, 2020. To supply water to the site, the Project would install a 6-inch water main from the 
Project Site approximately 1,400 feet west along and adjacent to the northern boundary of the PV facility, 
then south approximately 2,300 feet to the existing terminus of the City’s 10-inch water main within Belmont 
Avenue (Figure 2).  

Wastewater from onsite restrooms, breakrooms, and offices would be conveyed within a new 6-inch sewer 
line approximately 1,400 feet west along and adjacent to the northern boundary of the PV facility and 
alongside the proposed water main, where it would connect to the City’s existing 30-inch East Side Sewer 
Interceptor pipe.  The Interceptor conveys wastewater from the prison facility south of the City to the City’s 
Wastewater Treatment Plant to the north of the Project Site. (Figure 2). The proposed sewer line would be 
installed alongside the proposed water line, in accordance with Title 22 of California Code of Regulations.  

Stormwater and Drainage 

Stormwater runoff from building roofs and impervious surfaces would be captured and conveyed into two 
stormwater retention basins to be constructed within the northern region of the site, proposed to be 
approximately 1.5 acres in Parcel 1, and 1.1 acres in Parcel 2. Captured stormwater may also potentially 
be utilized to supplement the Project’s water irrigation supplies. Additional runoff from the cultivation 
operation and other onsite stormwater, subject to the state’s Cannabis General Order, would either pond, 
percolate or evaporate within the Project Site. The retention basins will be sized to retain the average annual 
rainfall volume in accordance with the City’s Hydrologic Design Criteria. Emergency overland release from 
the basins will be to the vacant land to the north, following existing topography. 

Energy 

Electricity would be provided to the Project Site via a new connection to the adjacent PG&E utility lines near 
the southwest corner of the site (Figure 2). Standby diesel or gasoline generators would be available for 
use in the case of power outages. The Project would not utilize natural gas nor include solar PV facilities.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 11 

 

 

Solid Waste 

The types of potential solid waste generated from this cultivation operation would include gardening 
materials and wastes (e.g., used plastic seedling pots, plastic fertilizer/pesticide bags), general litter from 
site personnel, and unusable plant (green) wastes and spent soils. Non-usable cannabis plant material 
would be composted onsite, adjacent to the proposed buildings in the northern region of the site (see Figure 
3). All remaining municipal waste would be placed in trash enclosures located near the proposed structures 
and regularly hauled to a local permitted solid waste disposal facility via Mid Valley Disposal.  

 Construction 

Construction of the Project would occur over an estimated six-month period. Construction is anticipated to 
begin in early 2021 and be completed in 2021.  

Project development would require clearing, grubbing, and grading prior to road construction and building 
installation, and leveling for the cultivation areas. Construction equipment, such as backhoes, haul trucks, 
and soil compactors, and associated material deliveries would arrive and leave the site via Belmont Avenue 
and the proposed access road. All construction equipment would be staged onsite. Project construction 
would consist of all land preparation, fencing, employee structures, onsite circulation in compliance with 
CAL FIRE requirements specific to compaction and all-weather access. Construction would also include 
the processing buildings pursuant to the California Building Code and utility improvements (e.g. water, 
wastewater, electricity) within and to the Project Site per City standards. Development would also include 
installation of security perimeter fencing, and utility poles for electric power.  

 Operation and Maintenance 

Cannabis cultivation and overall operations are proposed to occur year-round, with peak activity occurring 
over a seven-month period between April and October. Approximately two harvests are anticipated to occur 
each year, with the first crop between April and June and the second crop between July and October. The 
typical preparation-to-harvesting period would occur between March and October. 

Staffing would consist of 20 full-time employees (year-round) to support overall business operations, with 
an additional 40 part-time workers during planting and harvesting, resulting in an estimate of up to 60 
employees during peak times of the year (April-October). Distribution operations would involve 
delivery/loading of cannabis product up to six (6) times per day using vans.    

 Appendix List 
Appendix A: CalEEMod Air Quality Model 
Outputs 

Appendix B: Biological Study 

Appendix C: Phase I Cultural Resources Report 

Appendix D: Transportation Analysis Memo 

Appendix E: Water Supply Feasibility Study 

Appendix F: Odor Nuisance Review

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 2 

 

 

 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 
The environmental factors checked below could potentially be affected by this Project, involving at least 
one impact that is a “Potentially Significant Impact” (before any proposed mitigation measures have been 
adopted or before any measures have been made or agreed to by the project proponent) as indicated by 
the checked box. 

  

 Aesthetics   Agriculture and Forestry 
Resources   Air Quality 

 Biological Resources  Cultural Resources   Energy 

 Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions  Geology and Soils  Hazards and Hazardous 

Materials 

 Hydrology and Water 
Quality  Land Use and Planning  Mineral Resources 

 Noise  Population and Housing  Public Services 

 Recreation  Transportation  Tribal Cultural 
Resources 

 Utilities and Service 
System  Wildfire  Mandatory Findings of 

Significance 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 3 

 

 

Determination: 
On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will 
not be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed 
to by the project proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 

I find that the proposed project MAY have a "potentially significant impact" or "potentially significant 
unless mitigated" impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed 
in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by 
mitigation measures based on the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets. An 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to 
be addressed. 

 

I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, because 
all potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR or NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant 
to that earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are 
imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is required. 

 
 

  
 
 
 
_______________________________________   _____________________________ 
Signature        Date 

 
______________________________________    
Printed Name/Position   



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 4 

 

 

Purpose of this Initial Study 
This Initial Study has been prepared consistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15063, to determine if the 
project as described herein may have a significant effect upon the environment. 

Evaluation of Environmental Impacts 

1. A brief explanation is required for all answers except “No Impact” answers that are 
adequately supported by the information sources a lead agency cites in the parentheses 
following each question. A “No Impact” answer is adequately supported if the referenced 
information sources show that the impact simply does not apply to projects like the one 
involved (e.g. the project falls outside a fault rupture zone). A “No Impact” answer should be 
explained where it is based on project-specific factors as well as general standards (e.g. the 
project will not expose sensitive receptors to pollutants, based on a project-specific 
screening analysis). 

2. All answers must take account of the whole action involved, including offsite as well as 
onsite, cumulative as well as project-level, indirect as well as direct, and construction as well 
as operational impacts. 

3. Once the lead agency has determined that a particular physical impact may occur, then the 
checklist answers must indicate whether the impact is potentially significant, less than 
significant with mitigation, or less than significant. "Potentially Significant Impact' is 
appropriate if there is substantial evidence that an effect may be significant.  If there are one 
or more "Potentially Significant Impact" entries when the determination is made, an EIR is 
required. 

4. A “Less than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated” determination applies when the 
incorporation of mitigation measures has reduced an effect from a “Potentially Significant 
Impact” to a “Less than Significant Impact”. The lead agency must describe the mitigation 
measures and briefly explain how they reduce the effect to a less-than-significant level.  

5. A determination that a “Less than Significant Impact” would occur is appropriate when the 
project could create some identifiable impact, but the impact would be less than the 
threshold set by a performance standard or adopted policy. The initial study should describe 
the impact and state why it is found to be “less than significant.”  

6. Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA 
process, an effect has been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or negative declaration 
[Section 15063(c)(3)(D) of the California Government Code.  

7. Lead agencies are encouraged to incorporate into the checklist references to information 
sources for potential impacts (e.g., general plans, zoning ordinances). Reference to a 
previously prepared or outside document should, when appropriate, include a reference to 
the page or pages where the statement is substantiated.  

8. Supporting Information Sources: A source list should be attached, and other sources used 
or individuals contacted should be cited in the discussion.   



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 5 

 

 

Environmental Impact Analysis 
 Aesthetics 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Except as provided in Public Resources Code  
Section 21099, would the Project: 

 

a.  Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic 
vista?     

b. Substantially damage scenic resources, 
including, but not limited to, trees, rock 
outcroppings, and historic buildings within a 
state scenic highway?  

    

c. In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade 
the existing visual character or quality of 
public views of the site and its surroundings? 
(Public views are those that are experienced 
from publicly accessible vantage point). If the 
project is in an urbanized area, would the 
project conflict with applicable zoning and 
other regulations governing scenic quality? 

    

d. Create a new source of substantial light or 
glare that would adversely affect day or 
nighttime views in the area? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is generally level and is bordered by wastewater treatment plant ponds to the northwest, 
vacant agricultural land to the east, agricultural operations and Covanta Energy Corporation property to the 
south and southwest, and the PV facility to the west. The Site is located on the lightly developed eastern 
edge of the City adjacent to rural agricultural lands and limited industrial uses. Roadways in the Project 
vicinity carry limited traffic. The Project Site is well removed from most public roads and viewing areas, with 
Belmont Avenue located 1,400 feet to the west of the site and SR-180 located 0.75 mile to the southwest. 
Intervening uses such as the Conventa Energy Plant and adjacent PV facility partially screen the site from 
public roads. The closest residences are located 0.5 mile west of the Project Site beyond the Airport and 
PV facility. Potential views of the Project Site driving northward along SR-180 towards the City are obscured 
by the Covanta Energy Corporation facility to the south of the Project Site. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 6 

 

 

The Project Site and adjacent properties to the north and east consist of agricultural and vacant uses, which 
results in a low level of artificial light in the vicinity. However, Covanta Energy Corporation facility, the 
adjacent PV facility, and City wastewater treatment plant all have basic security lights that are a source of 
existing night lighting. Open Space and Conservation Policy OSC-8.8 in the City’s General Plan requires 
that land uses do not produce glare, the spillage of light off-site, upward illumination, or night glow. 

For purposes of CEQA, a “scenic vista” is generally defined as a viewpoint that provides expansive views 
of a highly valued landscape for the benefit of the general public. There are no officially designated scenic 
vistas near within the City, although the area offers low-lying expansive views of the undeveloped and 
agricultural landscape (City of Mendota 2009). Concerning regulatory compliance, the Project is subject to 
CDFA regulation that address potential impacts on aesthetic resources under California Code of 
Regulations Sections 8304(c) and 8304(g) which generally require shielded and downward facing lighting. 
Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential impacts to aesthetic resources.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site is well 
removed from most public roads and has only 
limited visibility due to level topography and 
intervening uses (e.g., Covanta Energy) between 
the site and the nearest public road, Belmont 
Avenue, located 1,400 feet to the west. The City 
currently has no designated scenic corridors or 
protected vistas, nor does it have any policies 
regulating development in scenic areas. The 
Project Site is located approximately 0.75 mile 
from the nearest public highway, SR-180. The 
Project area would be surrounded by a new 7-foot 
tall chain-link fence that would partially shield views 
of the proposed cannabis operations from nearby 
roadways and residences. Additionally, given the distance from public roads and the intervening uses (e.g., 
PV facility), impacts to existing views would be minimized. Further, while the Project is located in a 
moderately scenic rural area, proposed uses are consistent with surrounding agricultural uses, such as 
farms. Therefore, no scenic vistas would be obstructed by the proposed changes to the property, and 
impacts are considered less than significant. 

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock 
outcroppings, and historic buildings along a scenic highway? 

No Impact. There are no officially designated scenic resources or highways on or near the Project Site. 
The closest officially-designated scenic highway is the eastern end of SR 180 in the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains, beginning approximately 50 miles east of the Project Site. There are no trees, rock 
outcroppings, and historic buildings on the Project Site and no impacts to scenic highways would occur.  

 
View of the Project Site looking northeast from the 

end of Belmont Avenue. The PV facility can be seen 
on the left, and Covanta Energy can be seen on the 

right. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 7 

 

 

c) In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of 
public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced 
from publicly accessible vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the 
project conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site is located in a rural area on the lightly developed urban fringe 
of the City. The visual character of the Project Site would remain agricultural, similar to its surrounding 
setting that is commonly perceived by most viewers in the region. The PV facility to the east and the Covanta 
Energy Corporation facility to the south would diminish the Project’s visibility from nearby roads such as 
Belmont Avenue or SR 180. While the proposed cultivation, head houses, and other structures would be 
intermittently visible in the distance from the south to cars traveling northwest on SR 180, views of the 
structures would be relatively brief and would be distant from approximately 0.75 mile away or greater, and 
would be partially occluded by intervening uses (e.g., Covanta Energy) limiting the visibility of any structures 
on the site. Given the distance of the Project Site from public view corridors towards the Project Site, 
aesthetic impacts are considered less than significant.   

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect daytime or 
nighttime views in the area? 

Less than Significant. Daytime operations would fall within traditional farming hours of 6:00A.M. to 6:00P.M. 
and would not be expected to create light or glare that would impact daytime views in the area. However, 
potential future sources of nighttime lighting associated with the proposed Project would include exterior 
building, outdoor security lighting, and headlights of employee and delivery vehicles. Consistent with Open 
Space and Conservation Policy OSC 8.8, the Project would be conditioned to require that any outdoor 
lighting includes light fixtures that are low-intensity, shielded, and/or directed away from adjacent properties 
to minimize glare and overspill on adjacent parcels, the night sky, and the public right-of-way. Additionally, 
the nearby airport, intervening PV facility and Covanta Energy Corporation facilities also include some 
exterior security lighting and would also provide a buffer between new light generated from Project activities, 
further decreasing the potential of future night lighting to reach viewers from the public roadways and 
residences within the City. Therefore, the impact of new sources of lighting on daytime or nighttime views 
in the area would be considered less than significant. 

 
  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 8 

 

 

 Agricultural and Forestry Resources 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

 
Would the Project: 
a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, 

or Farmland of Statewide Importance 
(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared 
pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California 
Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

    

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural 
use, or a Williamson Act contract?     

c. Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause 
rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 
Resources Code section 12220(g)), 
timberland (as defined by Public Resources 
Code section 4526), or timberland zoned 
Timberland Production (as defined by 
Government Code section 51104(g))? 

    

d. Result in the loss of forest land or conversion 
of forest land to non-forest use?     

e. Involve other changes in the existing 
environment which, due to their location or 
nature, could result in conversion of Farmland 
to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest 
land to non-forest use? 

    

EXISTING SETTING 

The Project Site is located in a semi-rural agricultural region of the City which is zoned P-F but surrounded 
by agricultural, public facilities and industrial properties zoned AG and P-F. The P-F zone is designated for 
public and quasi-public facilities and would allow additional uses (e.g., parks, ponding basins, water 
pumping stations, etc.) under a conditional use permit.  

The City does not have any Williamson Act contracted land within its boundary, and the Project Site is not 
currently enrolled in a Williamson Act land use contract.  

Soils within the Project Site are identified primarily as Tachi clay (hnz2) (USDA Natural Resources 
Conservation Service [NRCS] 2020). The Tachi clay soil is identified as a very poorly drained soil and is 
listed as a “Farmland of Statewide Importance” soil by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) (NRCS 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 9 

 

 

2020). Farmland of Statewide Importance is a designation assigned to land that has the best combination 
of physical and chemical features for maintaining long-term sustainable crop production. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance 
(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

Less than Significant. As discussed above, the Project Site is currently listed as “Farmland of Statewide 
Importance” by the USDA pursuant to the California Resources Agency Farmland Mapping and Monitoring 
Program (FMMP). The Project would develop facilities to cultivate and process an agricultural commodity 
as defined under California Code of Regulations Section 6000. Construction of these facilities would result 
in the development of approximately 68,000 sf (1.6 acres) of farmland of statewide importance with concrete 
floors and an additional approximate 774,924 square feet (17.8 acres) with ancillary or supporting uses and 
open area (e.g., access roads, rain water ponds, storage, unimproved area, etc.). Any soils of statewide 
importance that are converted during development of the Project would remain onsite for subsequent reuse 
as needed or managed in other appropriate ways as identified by the City pursuant to the requirements of 
the City’s permit process. However, because these accessory uses would cover less than five percent of 
the Project Site, and would be constructed in support of agricultural expansion, the Project is not considered 
to result in significant impacts associated with conversion or loss of valuable agricultural resources. The 
Project Site would remain in agricultural production of cannabis for the duration of Project activities. For 
these reasons, the proposed development would result in less than significant impacts to Prime Farmland, 
Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance caused by the conversion of such resources to a 
non-agricultural use.  

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or conflict with a Williamson Act 
contract? 

No Impact. The Project would not conflict with existing zoning or Williamson Act contacts for established 
agricultural land. While the site is not expressly within an “agricultural” zone, the proposed M-1 zoning 
does allow agriculture as a permitted use and the Project would expand and intensify agricultural 
production on the site. The Project Site is not subject to a Williamson Act contract. Therefore, no impact 
to Williamson Act or agricultural use would occur. 

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 
Resources Code section 12220(g)) or timberland (as defined in Public Resources Code 
section 4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government 
Code section 51104(g))? 

 
d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

No Impact. The Project would not conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, or result in the loss 
or conversion of forest or timberland. There are no trees or forestry resources on the Project Site, nor is the 
site zoned for forestry uses. Therefore, no impact to forest land would occur. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 10 

 

 

e) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, 
could result in conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land 
to non-forest use? 

No Impact. As discussed in a) and b), the Project would expand and intensify agricultural production on 
the Project Site, would bring currently nonproductive land into production, and would not convert any 
farmland to non-agricultural use. Therefore, no impact to the conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use 
would occur. 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 11 

 

 

 Air Quality 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the 
applicable air quality plan?     

b. Result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 
project region is in non-attainment under an 
applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard? 

    

c. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations?     

d. Result in other emissions (such as those 
leading to odors) adversely affecting a 
substantial number of people? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is within the western portion of the San Joaquin Valley Air Basin (Air Basin) and the 
jurisdiction of the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD; District), which regulates air 
quality conditions within the region and City. The SJVAPCD also establishes air quality emissions 
thresholds and implements air quality management strategies to attain and maintain Central Valley air 
quality standards. Air quality is affected by stationary sources (e.g., land use and development) and mobile 
sources (e.g., motor vehicles). Air quality at a given location is a function of several factors, including the 
quantity and type of pollutants emitted locally and regionally, and the dispersion rates of pollutants in the 
region. Primary factors affecting pollutant dispersion are wind speed and direction, atmospheric stability, 
temperature, the presence or absence of inversions, and topography. The Air Basin often experiences high 
levels of air pollution that are exacerbated by regional climate and topography. The mountain ranges on 
three sides of the Air Basin trap air within the San Joaquin Valley, creating a zone of high air pollution 
potential. Within the Air Basin, temperature inversions, long hot summers, and stagnant foggy winters are 
conducive to the formation and retention of air pollutants. Fugitive dust (and other particulate matter) and 
ground-level ozone are of particular concern in the area as well. The air quality within the Air Basin is 
influenced by a wide range of emission sources, such as intermittent dense population centers, heavy 
vehicular traffic, industry, and agricultural activities. 

To protect the public health and welfare, the federal and State governments under direction of the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) have identified six criteria air pollutants and a host of air 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 12 

 

 

toxics, and ambient air quality standards. These are established through the federal Clean Air Act and the 
California Clean Air Act. Federal and State criteria air pollutants include carbon monoxide (CO), lead (Pb), 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2), ozone (O3), particulate matter less than 10 microns in diameter (PM10), fine 
particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter (PM2.5), and sulfur dioxide (SO2). Air quality impacts 
are assessed by comparing impacts to baseline air quality levels and applicable ambient air quality 
standards. Standards are levels of air quality considered safe from a regulatory perspective, including an 
adequate margin of safety, to protect public health and welfare. The Air Basin is classified as a non-
attainment area for several air pollutants, including O3 and PM2.5 for both federal and State standards, and 
PM10 for State standards. The Air Basin is classified as an attainment area or is unclassified for all other 
criteria pollutants (SJVAPCD 2020c). 

The SJVAPCD is responsible for preparing attainment plans for each nonattainment criteria pollutant for 
which the SJVAPCD does not meet the federal or state standard, which currently include ozone, PM10 
(State standard only), and PM2.5. The SJVAPCD has developed plans and established strategies to attain 
State and federal ozone and PM standards. To meet federal and State Clean Air Act requirements, the 
SJVAPCD adopted the following plans: 2018 PM2.5 Plan, 2016 Ozone Plan, 2014 8-hour Ozone 
Implementation Plan; 2013 Revoked 1-hour Ozone Plan; 2007 Ozone Plan, and the 2007 PM10 
Maintenance Plan. The SJVAPCD continues to coordinate emission reduction strategies to address 
multiple standards, to maximize efficiency for staff and stakeholders, and to maximize health benefits. 
Building on previous plans, the 2016 Ozone Plan addresses overlapping standards and streamlines the 
SJVAPCD’s approach to reduce ozone precursors while meeting state and federal requirements. In a 
similar manner, the 2018 PM2.5 Plan addresses federal PM2.5 standards for the years 1997, 2006, and 2012. 
Preparing a single plan instead of three separate plans allows for the development of a more robust and 
health-protective plan that incorporates stronger control measures in a short timeframe than may otherwise 
be required. 

To identify ambient concentrations of the criteria pollutants, the SJVAPCD operates air quality monitoring 
stations throughout the Air Basin. These stations are primarily located in central Fresno County. The 
monitoring station located closest to the Project Site is located in Tranquility approximately 10 miles 
southeast. The station monitors O3 and PM2.5 (SJVAPCD 2020a). Traffic-congested roadways and 
intersections have the potential for the generation of localized CO levels (i.e., CO hotspots). As further 
discussed within Section XVII, Transportation, adjacent and nearby intersections to the Project Site consist 
of relatively low-volume agricultural roadways and are not considered substantial enough to generate a CO 
hotspot by local Air District standards. Therefore, no CO hotspots are anticipated to occur on adjacent 
roadways or intersections. 

Surrounding land uses include commercial agriculture (e.g., row crops, orchards), PV facility, the currently 
inoperative Covanta Energy facility, the City’s municipal wastewater treatment plant, the William Robert 
Johnston Municipal Airport, vacant land, and an established rural vehicular network. These uses generate 
particulate emissions during cultivation or plowing of agricultural fields, emissions from aircraft and related 
airport operations, potential emissions from the Covanta Energy facility (when in operation), emissions from 
the City’s adjacent wastewater treatment plant, those from operation of diesel or gasoline powered farm 
equipment and operation of typical residential vehicles and yard maintenance equipment. The nearest 
sensitive receptors to air quality conditions within the Project vicinity include single-family residences within 
neighborhoods situated approximately 0.5 mile to the west of the Project Site.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 13 

 

 

Cannabis cultivation is often accompanied by strong odors. Odors can vary by variety, ranging from pepper, 
balsamic vinegar, pine, citrus, and skunk scents. Most of the pungent aromas of cannabis come from a 
class of chemicals called terpenes. Terpenes are among the most common compounds produced by 
flowering plants; they vary widely between plants and are responsible for the fragrance of nearly all flowers. 
Cannabis contains over 140 different terpenes. These terpenes are found in varying concentrations in 
different cannabis varieties. Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the cannabinoid primarily responsible for 
cannabis' psychoactive effects, has no odor whatsoever. As type and potency of cannabis odors range 
widely across varieties, so do resident receptors’ opinions regarding whether the odor is pleasant or 
objectionable.  

Cannabis odors can spread through the air and potentially be sensed by surrounding sensitive receptors 
such as residential neighborhoods. The predictability and degree to which cannabis odors can travel are 
highly variable depending on climatic and topographic conditions near a cannabis site. Field research by 
Wood on major cannabis operations in Santa Barbara and Santa Cruz counties has indicated that odors 
are typically lower during cooler temperatures, especially during cooler overcast days. As temperatures 
increase, increased odors may occur throughout the Mendota area, particularly due to its flat topography. 
Stagnant air during nighttime hours also has the potential to intensify the concentration of cannabis odors. 
Wind patterns decrease the intensity of cannabis odors due to air diffusion; however, constant breezes in 
a certain direction may result in a somewhat constant, lower-intensity odor in the associated direction if 
there is no suppression. Outdoor cultivation has the greatest potential to expose receptors to odors; 
although, greenhouse and indoor cultivation may occasionally contribute odors to surrounding areas if 
ventilation systems are ineffective, or if indoor spaces are periodically aired out.  

In the City’s specific region of the Central Valley, the prevalent wind direction from March through November 
is northwest, indicating that wind conditions from early spring to late fall generally flow from the northwest 
to the southeast. From December through February, the prevalent wind direction ranges from east to 
southeast, indicating wind in the middle of winter typically flows from the east or southeast to the west or 
northwest (Western Regional Climate Center 2020). 

The City of Mendota is surrounded by active agricultural crop lands that produce a range of products. All of 
the City lies within 1.8 miles of the Project Site. Sensitive receptors to air emissions and odors may include 
residential uses, churches, schools, parks, and hospitals. Residential neighborhoods such as those along 
I Street, J Street, L Street, Inez Avenue, and Airport Boulevard west of the City’s airport are all located 
roughly 0.5 to 0.75 mile west of the Project Site. Additional potential sensitive receptors in this area include 
churches such as the Little Zion Missionary Baptists Church and the Apostolic Assembly of Faith, and the 
City’s Veterans Park. Mendota Elementary School and the United Health Center lie approximately 1.1 miles 
northwest of the Project Site, while Mendota High School lies 1.2 miles to the southwest.  

The SJVAPCD maintains rules and regulations with which typical development projects are required to 
comply (SJVAPCD 2020d). The current rules and regulations are published on the SJVAPCD’s website 
and include regulations regarding generation of dust during construction activities and permitting 
requirements for new and modified stationary sources of air emissions. Listed below are descriptions of 
those rules that would be applicable to a typical development project and which may apply to the Project to 
reduce construction and operational emissions: 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 14 

 

 

• Rule 1080 Stack Monitoring: This rule grants the Air Pollution Control Officer (APCO) the 
authority to request the installation, use maintenance, and inspection of continuous monitoring 
equipment. This rule also specifies the performance standards for the equipment and 
administrative recordkeeping, reporting, and violation and equipment breakdown notification 
requirements. 

• Rule 1100 Equipment Breakdown: This rule defines a breakdown condition and the procedures 
to follow if one occurs. The corrective action, the issuance of an emergency variance, and the 
reporting requirements are also specified. 

• Rule 1160 Emission Statements: The owner or operator of any stationary source operation that 
emits or may emit nitrogen oxides or reactive organic gases (ROG)  shall provide the APCO with 
a written statement in such form that the APCO prescribes, showing actual emissions of nitrogen 
oxides and ROG from that source. At a minimum the Emission Statement shall contain all of the 
information contained in the Air Resources Board's Emission Inventory Turn Around Document 
as described in "Instructions for the Emission Data System Review and Update Report."  

• Rule 2092 Standards for Permits to Operate: The owner or operator of the source has obtained 
an Authority to Construct granted pursuant to Rule 2201 (New and Modified Stationary Source 
Review Rule); and the APCO has determined that the source and any sources which provide 
offsets have been constructed and/or modified to operate, and emit quantities of a ir 
contaminants, consistent with the conditions imposed on their respective Authorities to Construct 
under the applicable sections of Rule 2201 (New and Modified Stationary Source Review Rule); 
and the APCO has determined that any offsets required as a condition of an Authority to 
Construct or a Permit to Operate shall commence not later than the date of initial operation of 
the new or modified source, except that where a new or modified stationary source is, in whole 
or in part, a replacement for an existing stationary source on the same or contiguous property, 
the APCO may allow a maximum of 90 calendar days as a start-up period for simultaneous 
operation of the existing stationary source and the new or replacement source; and the APCO 
has determined that all conditions specified in the Authority to Construct have been or will be 
complied with by any dates specified. 

• Rule 2201: The purpose of this rule is to provide for the following: The review of new and modified 
Stationary Sources of air pollution and to provide mechanisms including emission trade-offs by 
which Authorities to Construct such sources may be granted, without interfering with the 
attainment or maintenance of Ambient Air Quality Standards; and no net increase in emissions 
above specified thresholds from new and modified Stationary Sources of all nonattainment 
pollutants and their precursors. 

• Rule 4001 New Source Performance Standards: This rule incorporates the New Source 
Performance Standards from Part 60, Chapter 1, Title 40, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR).  

• Rule 4002 National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants: This rule incorporates the 
National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants from Part 61, Chapter I, Subchapter 
C, Title 40, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) and the National Emission Standards for 
Hazardous Air Pollutants for Source Categories from Part 63, Chapter I, Subchapter C, Title 40, 
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR). 

• Rule 4101 Visible Emissions: The purpose of this rule is to prohibit the emissions of visible air 
contaminants to the atmosphere. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 15 

 

 

• Rule 4102 Nuisance: A person shall not discharge from any source whatsoever such quantities 
of air contaminants or other materials which cause injury, detriment, nuisance or annoyance to 
any considerable number of persons or to the public or which endanger the comfort, repose, 
health or safety of any such person or the public or which cause or have a natural tendency to 
cause injury or damage to business or property. 

• Rule 4550 Conservation Management Practices (CMP): The purpose of this rule is to limit  fugitive 
dust emissions from agricultural operation sites by requiring agricultural operation sites to submit 
a CMP Plan.  

• Rule 4601 Architectural Coatings: this rule limits volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions for 
architectural coatings to 50 grams per liter (g/l) for flat coatings on residential and non-residential 
interiors and exteriors.  

• Rule 8021 Construction, Demolition, Excavation, Extraction, and Other Earthmoving Activities: 
Limits fugitive dust emissions from construction, demolition, excavation, extraction, and other 
earthmoving activities by requiring measures to reduce visible dust emissions by 20% opacity. 
Required measures include application of water or chemical/organic stabilizers/suppressants on 
unpaved surfaces, limiting the speed of vehicles traveling on uncontrolled unpaved access/haul 
roads within construction sites to a maximum of 15 miles per hour (mph), and implementation of 
an Air Pollution Control Officer (APCO)-approved Dust Control Plan developed by the 
applicant/owner. 

• 8071 Unpaved Vehicle/Equipment Traffic Areas: limits fugitive dust emissions particularly from 
unpaved vehicle and equipment traffic areas by stabilizing unpaved roads to reduce visible dust 
emissions by 20% opacity. Stabilization measures include watering, using chemical/organic dust 
stabilizers, vegetation, and/or implementation of a APCO-approved Dust Control Plan developed 
by the applicant/owner.  

For the evaluation of Project-related criteria pollutant air quality impacts, the SJVAPCD recommends the 
use of the following thresholds of significance in tons per year (tons/yr) for permitted equipment and 
activities (Table 1). The City’s General Plan also adopts the SJVAPCD thresholds by reference. There are 
no specific thresholds for odors.  

Table 1. Air Quality Thresholds of Significance – Criteria Pollutants 

Pollutant Construction Emissions 
(tons/yr) Operational Emissions (tons/yr) 

CO 100  100 
NOx 10 10 
ROG 10 10 
SOx 27 27 
PM10 15 15 
PM2.5 15 15 

Source: SJVAPCD 2015 

In addition, the SJAPCD holds thresholds for toxic air contaminants from the operations of both permitted 
and non-permitted sources (Table 2). 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 16 

 

 

Table 2. Air Quality Thresholds of Significance – Toxic Air Contaminants 
Toxic Air 

Contaminant Threshold of Significance 
Carcinogens Maximally Exposed Individual risk equals or exceeds 20 in one million 

Non-Carcinogens 

Acute: Hazard Index equals or exceeds 1 for the Maximally Exposed 
Individual 
Chronic: Hazard Index equals or exceeds 1 for the Maximally Exposed 
Individual 

Source: SJVAPCD 2020b 

After California voters passed Proposition 64 in 2016, the District published an Advisory on Cannabis 
Operations (SJVAPCD 2020e). This Advisory provides local agencies and potential cannabis business 
operators located in the San Joaquin Valley with guidance regarding the air quality related requirements 
associated with this activity. The Advisory describes the permit requirements for the following: 

• Commercial cannabis growing and harvesting operations: permits required for most diesel 
generators, and for other equipment if cumulative emissions exceed one-half major source 
thresholds 

• Commercial cannabis processing operations: permits required 
• Odor controls associated with commercial cannabis operations (growing, harvesting, storing, 

processing, dispensary): permits required 
• Open burning of cannabis residues: prohibited 

Concerning regulatory compliance, the Project is subject to CDFA regulation that address potential impacts 
from air quality and greenhouse gas emissions under California Code of Regulations Sections 8102(s), 
8304(e), 8305, and 8306, which generally require heating and cooling power identification, requirements 
for generators, adherence to renewable energy requirements, and generator requirements. Compliance 
with these regulations would help reduce potential project impacts to air quality. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 

Less than Significant. The Project would generate short-term construction and long-term operational 
emissions. Short-term emissions would result from construction of approximately 68,000 square feet of new 
buildings, including minor earth moving activities, installation of concrete pads, and construction worker 
vehicle trips and materials delivery trips during an estimated six-month construction period. Operational 
mobile source emissions would be generated from maximum estimated potential to of 140 average daily 
vehicle trips to and from the site (60 maximum employees and up to 10 distribution vehicle trips each day 
during harvest) associated with the Project. Increased stationary source emission would result from 
infrequent use of generators, operation of water pumps and electrical equipment, and application of 
fertilizers and pesticides. 

The use of heavy-duty construction equipment and vehicle trips would generate emissions, such as NOX 
and PM10. Use of certain paints for architectural coatings would similarly increase the amount of associated 
ROG and anthropogenic volatile organic compounds (VOC) emissions. The amount of criteria pollutant 
emissions generated from construction would vary substantially from day to day, depending on the 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 17 

 

 

construction activity. The Project would be required to comply with State and local regulations pertaining to 
air quality, which would substantially limit the generation of construction emissions related to the proposed 
Project. Unmitigated construction emissions estimated for the Project would not exceed annual construction 
emissions thresholds for both NOX and ROC (see Table 3). 

To calculate potential Project construction and operational emissions, the California Emissions Estimator 
Model (CalEEMod) Version 2016.3.2 was used to calculate emissions based on assumptions regarding 
Project construction and operation, as informed by the Project Description section of this Initial Study. 
Results of the CalEEMod for this Project are provided as Appendix A. As demonstrated therein and 
summarized in Table 3 and Table 4 below, unmitigated construction and operation emissions estimated for 
the Project would not exceed daily or annual emission thresholds established by SJVAPCD. Unmitigated 
construction and operation emissions assume that the SJVACPD required rules and regulations will be 
implemented under the Project.  

Table 3. Estimated Unmitigated Construction Emissions from the Proposed Project  

Air 
Pollutant 

 SJVAPCD 
Thresholds 

(tons/yr) 

Estimated Construction 
Emissions without 

Mitigation (2021) (tons/yr)1  

Exceeds 
Threshold? 

CO  100  0.84 No 

NOx  10 0.69 No 

ROG  10 0.27 No 

SOx  27 0.002 No 

PM10  15 0.11 No 

PM2.5  15 0.06 No 
1 Refer to Appendix A for CalEEMod output sheets; overall emissions based on rounded totals and an approximate 6-month 
construction period. 
 

Table 4. Estimated Unmitigated Operational Emissions for the Proposed Project 

Air 
Pollutant 

SJVAPCD 
Thresholds (tons/yr) 

Estimated Operational Emissions 
without Mitigation (tons/yr)1  

Exceeds 
Threshold? 

CO 100  0.65 No 

NOx 10 0.76 No 

ROG 10 0.35 No 

SOx 27 0.003 No 

PM10 15 0.19 No 

PM2.5 15 0.06 No 
1 Refer to Appendix A for CalEEMod output sheets; overall emissions based on rounded totals. 

As demonstrated through development of a CalEEMod model run, the proposed Project would not 
substantially conflict with or obstruct implementation of the SJVAPCD air quality plans, including the 2018 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 18 

 

 

PM2.5 Plan, 2016 Ozone Plan, 2014 8-hour Ozone Implementation Plan; 2013 Revoked 1-hour Ozone Plan; 
2007 Ozone Plan, and the 2007 PM10 Maintenance Plan, or the goals and objectives of the General Plan. 
Implementation of the Project would result in use of the site and construction of agricultural production and 
support facilities compatible with the Project’s proposed General Plan land zoning, in addition to the City’s 
Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. Implementation of the Project would not result in exceedance of 
thresholds adopted for the purpose of ensuring consistency with federal and State ambient air quality 
standards, and impacts would be considered less than significant.  

b) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which 
the project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air 
quality standard? 

Less than Significant. The SJVAPCD does not have specific guidance to determining cumulative impacts 
of criteria pollutants other than greenhouse gases (GHG).  As discussed under Air Quality Impact 
Discussion (a) above, the Project would not result in significant construction or operational emissions, and 
Project construction and operation would not result in exceedance of SJVAPCD adopted thresholds of 
significance for land use development projects. Although the proposed Project would result in short-term 
construction emissions and an increase in daily trips to the Project Site, it would not create a cumulatively 
considerable net increase of any criteria pollutants. Therefore, impacts are less than significant.  

However, in addition to the operational emissions generated by typical equipment and vehicle use and 
impacts of criteria pollutant emissions, cannabis cultivation, as with most typical vegetation growth, can 
result in the generation and release of biogenic VOCs (BVOCs). Similar to anthropogenic VOCs, BVOC 
emissions play a role in atmospheric chemistry, including ozone and photochemical smog formation in the 
stratosphere and troposphere, and they extend the atmospheric lifetime of the key greenhouse gas, 
methane. In general, flowers and fruits release the widest variety of BVOCs, with emission rates peaking 
on maturation, but leaves have the greatest mass emission rates. An emerging research topic involves the 
BVOCs emitted by commercial cannabis operations. Cannabis VOCs are terpenes, which are the source 
of cannabis’ strong and variable odors. Terpenes are a large and diverse class of molecules produced by 
a variety of plants (e.g., rosemary, thyme) that range in volatility and perceptible odor.  

A key factor in BVOC contributions to tropospheric ozone is the concentration of BVOCs and NOx, plus 
sunlight, to result in the photochemical reaction need to create ozone. A recent study in the highly-urbanized 
Denver, Colorado area identified linkages between concentrations of cannabis BVOCs and hourly ozone 
concentrations (Denver Environmental Health 2016). It is understood that BVOCs are ozone precursors, 
just like anthropogenic VOCs. Given the right concentrations of BVOCs and NOx with sunlight, ozone can 
be created. In the absence of urban air pollution (e.g., large concentrations of NOx), BVOCs and natural 
sources of NOx maintain a level of oxidation capacity that effectively removes reactive toxic gas species 
and greenhouse gases (e.g., methane) in the atmosphere. Excess NOx emissions from human activities 
can upset the natural balance and cause secondary photochemical pollution. Therefore, BVOC emission 
from cannabis cultivation under the Project is not considered substantial, given that the Project is located 
in a relatively rural area where large concentrations of NOx do not exist. Impacts of the Project associated 
with release of criteria air pollutants are therefore considered less than significant. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 19 

 

 

c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Less than Significant. The potential for Toxic Air Contaminants (TACs) to have an effect on sensitive 
receptors would occur if the Project is located near an existing significant source of TACs or if it would 
generate TACs in quantities that may have an adverse effect on sensitive receptors. CARB identifies high-
volume freeways and roads as potential sources of TACs. The proposed Project activities are not 
considered uses that would generate substantial amounts of TACs and would not pose a risk to sensitive 
receptors in the Project vicinity. Consistent with the SWRCB Cannabis Cultivation Policy – Principles and 
Guidelines for Cannabis Cultivation (Cannabis Policy), the Project would be prohibited from use of restricted 
pesticides and shall integrate pest management strategies where feasible to limit the need and use of 
pesticides. Project construction would not generate substantial increases in emissions proximate to 
sensitive receptors. The nearest sensitive receptors to the Project consist of residences located 
approximately 0.5 miles to the west, and two churches located 0.6 miles west. Further, construction 
activities would be confined primarily to the undeveloped land, would last up to 6 months, and would include 
limited construction traffic passing along roadways in proximity to residentially developed neighborhoods. 
Therefore, impacts from exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations or TACs 
are considered less than significant.  

d) Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

Less than Significant with Mitigation. Implementation of the Project would result in the handling, 
cultivation, hand processing of cannabis (e.g. using scissors to trim), of cannabis at the Project Site, and 
its distribution from the site. Individuals perceive cannabis odor differently. Cannabis users and some other 
members of the public perceive cannabis odor as pleasant; however, others perceive it as unpleasant, and 
some residents proximate to cannabis cultivation facilities have stated that they have adverse physical 
reactions to the odor. Although the scent of cannabis plants is not widely considered to be harmful to human 
health, in some instances, exposure to cannabis odors has been reported to result in headaches, eye and 
throat irritation, nausea, discomfort, and mental stress (Denver Environmental Health 2016). Similar 
symptoms are also experienced by individuals with specific allergies such as pollen. Primarily, the plants 
can produce a variety of odors, especially during the flowering phase, which are often considered and 
perceived by some individuals as objectionable or offensive. For others, the smell of cannabis may often 
be described as fragrant, aromatic, or pleasant. In effect, perception of odors from cannabis is considered 
to be highly variable between individuals.  

Odors would primarily occur during physical disturbance of the plant at maturation, such as during harvest, 
or during particularly heavy winds that would cause the plants leaves to brush against each other and expel 
additional terpenes that could be carried by the wind. With consideration for the Project’s proposed 
cultivation periods that would occur during the summer and early fall months, the months with the highest 
likelihood for experiencing odor from the Project’s operation would be during the times of year in which the 
prevailing winds in the region stem from the northwest (between March and November). As prevailing wind 
direction in the City stems from the northwest during the periods in which more odorous activity may occur, 
it is anticipated that the majority of potential odors from the Project Site would be carried towards the 
southeast into rural agricultural areas that do not support dense sensitive receptors. Therefore, because 
the Project Site is located on the eastern edge of the City and removed from potential sensitive receptors 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 20 

 

 

outside the City farther to the southeast, frequent odorous plumes are not anticipated to approach the City 
towards existing sensitive receptors which generally lie 0.5 mile or more to the west of the Project Site. 
Sensitive receptors such as individual rural residential structures separated between agricultural areas may 
experience odor from the Project Site to the southeast, and a change in wind direction may result in some 
exposure to sensitive receptors within the City from odorous activity by the Project. For instance, small-
scale downdrafts during low-wind periods that create mild winds blowing to the northwest, while not 
expected to be the primary wind flow, may cause odors from the Project to be periodically blown towards 
the residences. 

Ultimately, as summarized by the Odor Nuisance Review (Appendix F), wind flow is expected to transport 
odor compounds away from the closest residences and sensitive receptors. While grow periods are 
expected to occur in warmer months, which have the potential to increase the dispersion of odor, dispersion 
benefits from seasonal temperatures are not solely expected to reduce odor impacts to below potential 
nuisance levels to those that consider the odor objectionable. The public traveling on Belmont Avenue or 
SR 180 to the southeast could expect to experience cannabis odors due to the proximity of the grow site, 
however it is uncertain if the odorous plumes will remain strong to the southwest for a considerable distance. 
Select property owners to the southeast may experience substantial odor, specifically during the flowering 
periods, and workers at the facilities located at the idle Covanta Energy Corporation biomass plant or solar 
PV facility could experience noticeable odors. Processing activities are not expected to result in as strong 
of an odor plume as the flowering and harvesting of the cannabis plants, and would be minimized due to 
taking place indoors. Due to the potential for nuisance-level offsite odor impacts from implementation of the 
Project, impacts would be potentially significant. However, with the implementation of MM AQ-1, which 
requires the establishment of an Odor Monitoring Plan, and the variability of cannabis odor considered a 
nuisance, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

REQUIRED MITIGATION MEASURE 

MM AQ-1. Odor Monitoring Plan (OMP). To reduce potential effects of nuisance odors to the extent 
feasible, the permit issued for the Project shall have an OMP, subject to approved by the City. The 
requirements of this mitigation are designed to be flexible, to balance the protection of sensitive resources 
with active monitoring. The approved OMP shall include, but not be limited to, the following elements to 
address issues from nuisance odors: 

• The name and telephone number of a designated individual who is responsible for logging in 
and responding to odor complaints, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week; 

• Include an enforceable process to require operational changes to mitigate odors in the case 
that the site generates recurring odor emissions that have been documented to be persistent, 
intrusive, or pervasive by nearby sensitive receptors, such as the installation of odor control 
mechanisms on head houses (e.g., filtration systems, HVAC, etc); 

• Providing property owners and residents of property within a 0.25-mile radius of the cannabis 
facility with the contact information of the individual responsible for responding to odor 
complaints; 

• Policies and procedures describing the actions to be taken when an odor complaint is received, 
including the training provided to the staff on how to respond; 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 21 

 

 

• Description of potential methods for reducing odors; 
• Require the designated individual to report all odor complaints to the appropriate City 

department within a reasonable time frame and to record and report the steps they took to 
resolve the issue, including a record-keeping system to track these actions;  

• Contingency measures to curtail odor emissions in the event of a potential continuous public 
nuisance; and 

• Description of agricultural practices that can be shown to be effective in controlling odors (e.g., 
changes in cultivation practices). 

Requirements and Timing. The applicant shall prepare and submit an OMP to the City. The City shall 
review and approve the OMP prior to permit issuance.  

Monitoring. The City shall determine that the site adheres to MM AQ-1 before issuance of the building 
permit, and ensure compliance with the OMP. 

 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 22 

 

 

 Biological Resources 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Have a substantial adverse effect, 
either directly or through habitat 
modifications, on any species 
identified as a candidate, sensitive, 
or special status species in local or 
regional plans, policies or 
regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

    

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on 
any riparian habitat or other 
sensitive natural community 
identified in local or regional plans, 
policies or regulations, or by the 
California Department of Fish and 
Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service? 

    

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on 
state or federally protected wetlands 
(including, but not limited to, marsh, 
vernal pool, coastal, etc.), through 
direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption or other means? 

    

d. Interfere substantially with the 
movement of any native resident or 
migratory fish or wildlife species or 
with established native resident or 
migratory wildlife corridors, or 
impede the use of native wildlife 
nursery sites? 

    

e. Conflict with any local policies or 
ordinances protecting biological 
resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

    



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 23 

 

 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 
f. Conflict with the provisions of an 

adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, 
Natural Community Conservation 
Plan, or other approved local, 
regional or state habitat 
conservation plan? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The potential for the Project Site to support sensitive biological resources was investigated through a 
literature review, a review of aerial photographs, U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) topographic maps, 
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) soil survey maps, and the National Wetlands Inventory, and a 
site reconnaissance survey. Database sources such as the California Natural Diversity Database 
(CNDDB), U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC), 
Calflora, Consortium of California Herbaria database, and the California Native Plant Society Rare Plant  
Inventory among others were utilized to identify recorded occurrences of sensitive natural  communities, 
plant species, and wildlife species within the region (Appendix B). 

The survey was conducted by qualified biologists 
from Wood in December 2019. The survey area 
includes the proposed Project Site, a 500-foot 
burrowing owl (Athene cunicularia) survey buffer, 
and proposed access routes on the west and north 
side of the adjacent PV facility. Linear transects 
were walked at a maximum width of 30 feet for the 
entire survey area, with closer inspection of 
potential nest trees and shrubs, and scans of the 
surrounding habitat with binoculars. Potential 
nesting trees for Swainson’s hawk (Buteo 
swainsoni) were investigated out to 0.5 miles from 
the Site. 

A review of database records suggests a total of 11 sensitive plant species occur within the region  
around the Project Site (Table 5). Each species has specific habitat or substrate requirements, none of 
which are expected on the Project Site (i.e., at least seasonally wet or flooded conditions, and/or saline 
or alkali soils). Only four (4) of these are known to occur within five (5) miles of the Project Site (Lost 
Hills crownscale [Atriplex coronata var. vallicola], heartscale [A. cordulata var. cordulata], Sanford’s 
arrowhead [Sagittaria sanfordii], and recurved larkspur [Delphinium recurvatum]). The shallow 
freshwater habitat that Sanford’s arrowhead inhabits are not present onsite, though these may be 
present in treatment ponds and canals adjacent to the site. Larkspur, crownscale, and heartscale all 

 
Looking northeast at Project Site from near 
southwest corner. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 24 

 

 

require alkali soils which are not present onsite, though alkali seasonal wetlands preferred by the 
larkspur may be present in the unincorporated area south of the Project. These are only known in the 
immediate area from CNDDB historical records (> 20 years, with no recent observations or collections). 

Table 5. Potential Sensitive Plant Taxa 

Species Name Common Name Federal 
Status 

State 
Status 

CRPR Potential to Occur 

Cordylanthus palmatus 
Palmate-bracted 

bird’s-beak 
E E 1B.1 

Not Expected 

Sagittaria sanfordii Sanford’s arrowhead - - 1B.2 Not Expected 

Layia munzii Munz’s tidy-tips - - 1B.2 Not Expected 

Atriplex cordulata var. 
cordulata 

Heartscale 
- - 1B.2 

Not Expected 

Atriplex coronata var. 
vallicola 

Lost Hills 
crownscale - - 1B.2 

Not Expected 

Atriplex depressa Brittlescale - - 1B.2 Not Expected 

Atriplex subtilis Subtle orache - - 1B.2 Not Expected 

Atriplex minuscula Lesser saltscale - - 1B.1 Not Expected 

Eriastrum hooveri Hoover’s eriastrum - - 4.2 Not Expected 

Delphinium recurvatum Recurved larkspur - - 1B.2 Not Expected 

Monolopia congdonii 
San Joaquin 
woollythread 

E - 1B.2 
Not Expected 

CALIFORNIA RARE PLANT RANK 
1B = Plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California and elsewhere 
4 = Plants of limited distribution 
0.1 = Seriously Threatened in California = Over 80% of occurrences threatened/high degree and immediacy of threat 
0.2 = Fairly Threatened in California = 20%- 80% occurrences threatened/high degree and immediacy of threat 

Wildlife species that may occur in the region around the site area listed in Table 6 and discussed in 
further detail below. 

Table 6. Potential Sensitive Wildlife 

Species Name Common Name Federal 
Status 

State 
Status 

Potential to 
Occur 

Birds 
Riparia riparia Bank swallow - T Low (Foraging) 

Athene cunicularia Burrowing owl - SSC High 
Lanius ludovicianus Loggerhead shrike - SSC Moderate (Forage) 
Falco columbarius Merlin - WL Low 

Charadrius montanus Mountain plover PT SSC Low 
Circus hudsonius Northern harrier - SSC Moderate (Foraging) 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 25 

 

 

Buteo swainsoni Swainson’s hawk - T Moderate 
Agelaius tricolor Tricolored blackbird - SSC Low 

Coccyzus americanus 
occidentalis 

Western yellow-billed 
cuckoo 

C E Not Present 

Plegadis chihi White-faced ibis - WL Not Present 
Herpetofauna 

Gambelia sila Blunt-nosed leopard lizard E E Not Expected 
Phrynosoma blainvillii Coast horned lizard - SSC Not Expected 

Thamnophis gigas Giant garter snake T T Not Expected on site; 
Moderate in buffer 

zone 

Masticophis flagellum 
ruddocki 

San Joaquin whipsnake - SSC Low 

Anniella pulchra pulchra Silvery legless lizard - SSC Not Expected 
Thamnophis hammondii Two-striped garter snake - SSC Low 

Emys marmorata Western pond turtle - SSC Low 

 
Spea hammondii Western spadefoot - SSC Not Expected 

Mammals 
Taxidea taxus American badger - SSC Moderate 

Dipodomys nitratoides exilis Fresno kangaroo rat E E Low 

Ammospermophilus nelsoni Nelson's antelope squirrel - T Not Expected 

Vulpes macrotis mutica San Joaquin kit fox E T Not Expected 
Perognathus 

inornatus 
inornatus 

San Joaquin pocket mouse - SA Not Expected 

Eumops perotis californicus Western mastiff bat - SSC Moderate (Foraging) 

Lasiurus blossevillii Western red bat - SSC Moderate (Foraging) 

Myotis yumanensis Yuma myotis - SA Moderate (Foraging) 

FEDERAL STATUS 
E = Endangered = Danger of extinction throughout range 
T = Threatened = Likely to become endangered in foreseeable future throughout range 
C = Candidate = In process for listing or recommended for listing but currently precluded 
PT = Potentially Threatened = A species or subspecies whose survival may potentially be subject to a threat 

STATE STATUS 
E = Endangered = Applies to a species whose survival and reproduction in the wild are in immediate jeopardy from one or more 
causes, including loss of habitat, change in habitat, overexploitation, predation, competition, disease, or other factors 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 26 

 

 

T = Threatened = Applies to a species that is existing in such small numbers throughout all or a significant portion of its range that it 
may become endangered if its environment worsens 
SSC = CDFW Species of Special Concern = Species with declining population levels, limited ranges, and/or continuing threats 
which have made them vulnerable to extinction 
WL = Watch List = Species that 1) are not on the current Special Concern list but were on previous lists and they have not been 
state listed under CESA; 2) were previously state or federally listed and now are on neither list; or 3) are on the list of “Fully 
Protected” species 
SA = California Special Animal = Species that are uncommon and tracked by the CDFW in the California Natural Diversity 
Database 

While the timing of the survey was not appropriate to determine all potential sensitive plant species, based 
upon known habitat conditions, it is unlikely that any may occur. The Site was observed to provide forage 
space for CDFW Species of Special Concern such as burrowing owls, loggerhead shrikes, and northern 
harriers, and may similarly provide forage space for other raptors and bird species as well as bats. No 
burrowing owls were observed on the Site. Within the survey buffer of the Project Site, a single burrowing 
owl was observed at a burrow in the south buffer area, and a large California ground squirrel population 
exists to the north of the site in a rubble field and to the east along the proposed access route, especially 
on the embankment of the wastewater treatment pond. 

Swainson’s hawk (Buteo swainsoni) is a State-listed Threatened species, which migrates from South or 
Central America, arriving in late February to March and departs for winter range in September. In the Central 
Valley, it nests in trees adjacent to large open forage habitats such as agricultural fields and native 
grasslands. The Swainson’s hawk is known as a regular visitor and nesting species in the area; while the 
Project Site offers no potential nesting habitat, the Project Site is identified as a place that could be utilized 
for foraging habitat. The closest CNDDB record is approximately 0.7 miles southwest of the site along North 
San Benito Avenue, and dates from 2017. The species has a moderate chance of occurrence as a foraging 
species, however trees capable of providing nesting are lacking within the site within 500 feet of the site, 
and therefore the species is not expected on site nor anticipated to use the site for frequent foraging 
Considering the site is surrounded by comparable fallowed agricultural land, the species will likely continue 
to forage in nearby areas. 

Vegetation on the Project Site is a non-native annual grassland, which is remnant from fallow agricultural 
operations and appears to beis mowed or grazed to maintain a short grass aspect of about a foot or less. 
Surrounding unimproved areas to the north and east have dense populations of ruderal herb species such 
as mustard or ox-tongue. The PV facility to the west of the site and the inoperative power plant to the 
southwest represent developed lands, while properties to the east can be classified as disturbed/ruderal 
due to construction disturbance and dense ruderal vegetation (mustard). County lands south of the Project 
appear to be seasonally flooded and hosts a variety of common wetland species such as alkali sacoton, 
California kochia, purselane, and cattail. 

The Project is not located near any riparian habitat. The City General Plan states that there is no Habitat 
Conservation Plan/Natural Communities Conservation Plan (HCP/NCCP) within the City or within a 5-mile 
buffer (City of Mendota 2009). The City General Plan’s record of occurrences of special status species 
indicates that blunt-nosed leopard lizard, giant garter snake, and San Joaquin pocket mouse have occurred 
along the southern edge of the Project Site. The biology report (Appendix B) found that those three species 
were unlikely to occur at the Project Site due to the lack of suitable habitat, although the potential for giant 
garter snakes is moderate in the buffer zones.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 27 

 

 

According to the City’s General Plan, the San Joaquin Valley serves as a major migration corridor and 
wintering ground for millions of migratory birds in the Pacific Flyway, a major north-south route of travel for 
migratory birds in the Americas, extending from Alaska to Patagonia (City of Mendota 2009). Every year, 
migratory birds travel some or all of this distance both in spring and in fall, following food sources, heading 
to breeding grounds, or traveling to over-wintering sites. The City is adjacent to an extensive network of 
waterways and wetlands including the San Joaquin River, Fresno Slough, and several man-made canals, 
a system that provides refuges, or rest stops, for the many species birds on their way to and from breeding 
and wintering grounds along the Flyway. Though this wetland and waterway complex also serves as a 
migratory corridor for numerous resident terrestrial and avian species, there are no trees or associated 
sensitive habitat identified on the Project Site (Appendix B). Finally, the Project is also subject to CDFA 
regulations that address potential impacts on biological resources under California Code of Regulations 
Sections 8102(w), 8102(dd), 8216, 8304(a-c), and 8304(g), which generally include compliance with CDFW 
Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreement conditions, consideration for watersheds that could be 
adversely impacted by cannabis, avoiding impacted watersheds, compliance with section 13149 of the 
Water Code, compliance with conditions of CDFW and SWRCB, outdoor lighting limits, and shielded 
lighting. Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project impacts to biological 
resources to less than significant.  

As discussed in Section II, Agricultural and Forestry Resources, soils within the Project Site are identified 
as the Tachi clay series (hnz2) (NRCS 2019). Soils within this association are considered very poorly 
drained (NRCS 2019). 

DISCUSSION 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any 
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special-status species in local or regional 
plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Less than Significant with Mitigation. The existing 59-acre site has no tree cover and is largely vegetated 
with nonnative grasslands, and thus does not support high-quality nesting bird habitat. However, the 
grasslands on the Project Site provide ideal habitat for burrowing owls, which are a CDFW Species of 
Special Concern (SSC). Burrowing owls are known in the immediate region, and have a high potential to 
occur; one specimen was observed outside of and adjacent to the Project Site. Mountain plover and 
northern harrier are also CDFW SSCs, known in the area, and tend to forage in grassland habitat. 
Swainson’s hawk is a State-listed Threatened species that nests in trees adjacent to large open forage 
habitats such as agricultural fields and native grasslands. Nest trees are lacking both onsite and in the 
nearby vicinity, though has a moderate potential for occurrence as a foraging species at the Project Site, 
along with other hawks, bats, and badger. Similar habitat surrounds the site to the north, east, and 
southeast, while developed area and unsuitable habitat, resides to the west and southwest. The lack of 
habitat or witnessed species (aside from burrowing owl on adjacent site) at the Site reduces the likelihood 
of Project impacts, though the loss of potential foraging habitat would result in some potential impact. While 
the converted area is not suitable nesting habitat for Swainson’s hawks and other birds, the fallowed land 
may provide foraging habitat for these species, or potentially rodent dens suitable for use by burrowing 
owls; however, ongoing regular mowing or discing as well as disturbance by cultivation activities greatly 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 28 

 

 

reduce potential for use of allowed land by burrowing owls. Proposed offsite improvements to connect to 
the Project Site, such as trenching for underground utility lines, pole installation for above ground power 
lines, and road pavement improvements, would be conducted within City right of way and subject to the 
City’s associated requirements, all of which would occur within previously-disturbed areas adjacent to and 
extending from Belmont Avenue, and would not result in any additional biological impact. 

Due to the moderate potential for some species to occur onsite, there is the potential to impact sensitive 
species, which would be reduced via the implementation of MM BIO-1, which requires pre-construction 
surveys prior to Project construction. Compliance with this requirement and regulations would ensure 
impacts to special status species and habitat are less than significant with mitigation. 

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Less than Significant. As the Project is not located near any riparian habitat, is not located within any 
HCP/NCCP, and potential special status species identified by the City’s General Plan are unlikely to occur 
at the Project Site due to the lack of suitable habitat (although the potential for giant garter snakes is 
moderate in the buffer zones), little to no impact is anticipated on sensitive natural communities. There are 
no existing trees located in the Project boundary, and construction and operation activities are not 
anticipated to impact nearby trees. Because there are no riparian habitats or known sensitive natural 
communities on the Project Site, impacts to the natural communities would be less than significant.  

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but 
not limited to, marshes, vernal pools, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, 
hydrological interruption, or other means? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site is not located within proximity to any wetlands, nor would the 
Project impact any wetlands in the region. While the Fresno Slough is located approximately 0.5 mile east 
of the Project Site, stormwater capture onsite would prevent substantial agricultural runoff from traveling to 
the Slough ecosystem. Potential water quality related impacts are further discussed in Section X, Hydrology 
and Water Quality. Therefore, impacts to wetlands would be less than significant.  

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 
species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the 
use of native wildlife nursery sites? 

Less than Significant. Though the Project Site has been identified with areas suitable for foraging for 
several species, including mountain plover, northern harrier, and Swainson’s hawk, there is no identified 
suitable habitat on the Project Site for these species or migratory birds. Therefore, the Project is not 
expected to interfere with the movement of any wildlife species nor impede a wildlife nursery site and 
impacts to migratory species would be less than significant.  

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a 
tree preservation policy or ordinance? 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 29 

 

 

Less than Significant. The proposed Project does not conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources. Impacts to biological resources would be considered less than significant. 

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

No Impact. As there are no HCP/NCCP which cover the Project Site, the proposed Project would not 
conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources in the City General Plan, and 
no impact is anticipated with Project implementation on any adopted conservation plan. 

REQUIRED MITIGATION MEASURE 

BIO-1. Pre-construction Survey, Worker Awareness Training, and Avoidance Measures. The Project 
Site contains habitat that can be used by CDFW Species of Special Concern. Surveys prior to initiation of 
construction-related activities shall be undertaken on the Project Site to determine the presence/ absence 
of the following species according to accepted agency protocols and the types of actions undertaken to 
avoid impacts to CDFW Species of Special Concern consistent with CDFW requirements: 

• Burrowing owl 
o Adhere to Burrowing Owl Survey Protocol and Mitigation Guidelines; if onsite, exclusion 

measures, one-way trap use if relocating outside of nesting season 
• Swainson’s hawk 

o Adhere to Swainson’s Hawk Survey Protocols, Impact Avoidance, and Minimization 
Measures; determine presence onsite, protect foraging habitat, provide habitat 
management land as necessary 

• Giant garter snake 
o Adhere to Standard Avoidance and Minimization Measures During Construction Activities 

for the Giant Garter Snake; determine presence, use silt fencing, protective mats, prevent 
runoff, avoid and/or minimize construction within 200 feet of banks of associated aquatic 
habitat  

• Western pond turtle 
o Determine presence within 100 feet of suitable aquatic habitat; if species is present, contact 

CDFW and cease work within 100 feet of suitable aquatic habitat, determine action within 
14 days, which may include relocation by a qualified biological monitor 

• American badger 
o Identify any badger holes or trails, determine setback from location and determine action 

for avoidance, which may include relocation by a qualified biological monitor and/or refining 
the project schedule 

• San Joaquin kit fox 
o Adhere to Standard Kit Fox CEQA Mitigation Measures; determination of presence or 

evidence of species onsite, include maximum 25 mph speed limit during construction, 
remove food-related trash from project site, cease construction if species discovered onsite 
and contact CDFW, determine action within 14 days, which may include obtaining 
appropriate federal and state permits 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 30 

 

 

• Blunt-nosed leopard lizard 
o Determine evidence onsite, limit construction activities near sensitive habitat for the blunt-

nosed leopard lizard between early November through March; if construction scheduled 
for this time, include additional survey within 7 days of construction to determine presence 
and a qualified biological monitor shall thoroughly search for and capture all individuals 
found in or immediately adjacent to potentially disturbed areas for relocation 

• Fresno kangaroo rat 
o Adhere to CDFW Approved Survey Methodologies for Sensitive Species: Fresno Kangaroo 

Rat; determine evidence onsite, include additional surveys as applicable during active 
period (April through June), establish protection measures, which may include habitat 
management, setbacks, or trapping and relocation as determined by a qualified biological 
monitor 

• Nesting birds 

Surveys shall cover areas of suitable habitat as defined in the Biological Resources Technical Report 
(Appendix H). In the event that special-status species are identified within the proposed basin site, the 
following would occur: 1) the appropriate agencies shall be notified; 2) the construction site shall be 
monitored by a qualified biologist who oversees all construction activities affecting sensitive habitat; 3) the 
site shall be relocated, if necessary; and/or 4) non-disturbance buffers shall be implemented. Pre-
construction surveys shall conform to the appropriate CDFW and/or USFWS-approved survey and 
monitoring protocols and guidelines for protection of threatened and endangered species. Contractor 
education regarding sensitive species that have the potential to occur on and adjacent to the site shall also 
be conducted. Results of these surveys, avoidance measures, and worker awareness training shall be 
reported to the City. As indicated above, coordination with CDFW regarding species-specific mitigation to 
ensure accordance with accepted agency protocols shall continue throughout the Project approval and 
construction process. 

Requirements and Timing: Pre-construction surveys and worker awareness shall be conducted prior to 
the start of Project Site soil disturbance. Avoidance measures determined during the pre-construction 
surveys shall be adhered to during Project implementation. 

Monitoring: The City shall monitor the results of the pre-construction surveys, review the required 
avoidance measures, and obtain evidence of the worker awareness training.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 31 

 

 

 Cultural Resources 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource pursuant 
to in §15064.5? 

    

b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to §15064.5? 

    

c. Disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of formal cemeteries?      

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

Cultural resources in Fresno County reflect the area’s history of settlement by Native Americans, 
Europeans, Mexicans and others, as well as periods of economic and social change such as those 
associated with the Gold Rush and development of agriculture and rail transportation (County of Fresno 
2000a). This region of the San Joaquin Valley, which extends from the forested Sierra Nevada to the 
Coastal Range, has supported an abundance of wildlife, riparian habitats, and marshes. Records indicate 
that at least five Native American tribes resided in the area. The presence of archaeological and historic 
resources would generally be most likely along rivers and streams and in other areas with ground cover or 
other features which could have invited and sustained habitation. Fresno County’s rich history has produced 
a large stock of historically significant homes, public buildings, and landmarks including important ethnic 
historical sites. The physical environment of Fresno County has been greatly altered by human modification 
over the past 150 years, including archaeological resources that may have been buried or displaced 
(County of Fresno 2000a). 

Under CEQA, a historical resource consists of any “object, building, structure, site, area, place, record, or 
manuscript which a lead agency determines to be historically significant or significant in the architectural, 
engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political, military, or cultural annals of 
California” (Guidelines Section 15064.5(a)(3)). The City General Plan states that there are only two known 
cultural resource sites within the City which are recorded historic sites: the Cervantes Property (P-10-
005364) and the Marchini Property (P-10-005365) (City of Mendota 2009). There are no prehistoric or 
historic sites within the City listed as State Historic Landmarks (California State Parks 2020a), California 
Points of Historical Interest or the California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) (California State 
Parks 2020b), or on the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) (National Park Service 2020). 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 32 

 

 

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) was completed by GeoTek, Inc. on November 25, 2019. 
Aerial imagery analyzed for the ESA showed that the Project Site appears to have been vacant from at 
least 1937 to 1946. It was utilized for agricultural cultivation purposes from 1938 to 2006, and then vacant 
again from 2006 to 2012. In 2012, temporary stockpile uses appeared on the northwest portion of the site, 
however the site has otherwise changed little since. No building permits have ever been issued for the 
property.  

Under CEQA, a unique archaeological resource is defined as an artifact, object, or site about which it can 
be clearly demonstrated that, without merely adding to the current body of knowledge, there is a high 
probability that it meets one or more of the following criteria: 

• contains information needed to answer important scientific research questions, and there  is a 
demonstrable public interest in that information;  

• has a special and particular quality, such as being the oldest of its type or the best available 
example of its type; or  

• is directly associated with a scientifically recognized important prehistoric  or historic event or 
person (Public Resources Code 21083.2(g)). 

A Phase I Archaeological Survey (Appendix C) was prepared by cultural resource specialists from Wood 
Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. in January 2020 for the Project Site. An archaeological 
literature and records search was conducted at the California Historical Resources Information System 
(CHRIS) Southern San Joaquin Valley Information Center (SSJVIC) for the Project Site in December 2019. 
Data from the SSJVIC indicates that there are no recorded resources within the 0.5-mile search radius and 
none within the Project Site. A recent archaeological investigation consisting of an intensive ground surface 
survey and systematic, subsurface backhoe trench excavation was completed in 2018 for the Mendota Pool 
Group 20-Year Exchange Program directly north of the Project Site. No archaeological resources were 
discovered during the intensive ground surface survey or subsurface backhoe trench excavation.  

The entire 59-acre Project Site, including all proposed improvement areas, was surveyed using 10- to 15- 
meter (33- to 49-foot) parallel transects in December 2019. This intensive Phase 1 ground surface survey 
provided a reliable opportunity to evaluate the presence of cultural resources on the ground surface as well 
as within the topsoil where cultural resources would be expected. Ground surface visibility was poor to 
excellent (10 to 90 percent). In areas of poor visibility, surface shovel scrapes, the inspection of subsurface 
soil exposures including scattered rodent burrow tailings, and the excavation of shovel probes were 
completed. No cultural resources were identified throughout all proposed improvement areas. 

Finally, the Project is also subject to CDFA regulation that address potential impacts on cultural resources 
under California Code of Regulations Section 8304(d) which generally includes halting cultivation activities 
and implementing section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code if human remains are discovered. 
Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project impacts to cultural resources to less 
than significant.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 33 

 

 

DISCUSSION 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant 
to in Section 15064.5? 

No Impact. As discussed above, there are no potential or designated historic structures identified at the 
Project Site or immediate vicinity to which the Project, either through construction or operation, would 
adversely affect the significance of the resource. Therefore, the Project’s is not considered to have any 
impact on an historic structure. 

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to Section 15064.5? 

Less than Significant. The proposed Project would not have significant impacts on cultural resources and 
no further archaeological measures including construction monitoring are necessary. Nonetheless, it is 
possible that the Project Site contains unrecorded archaeological materials. Per Section 7050.5 of the 
California Health and Safety Code, if human bone is discovered during construction, work is required to 
immediately cease and the procedures described in the section would be required. Section 7050.5 requires 
notification of the coroner, and if the coroner determines that the remains are those of a Native American, 
the Applicant is required to notify the Native American Heritage Commission by phone within 24 hours. 
Following notification of the Native American Heritage Commission, the procedures described in Section 
5097.94 and Section 5097.98 of the California Public Resources Code are required, which continues the 
process to prevent impacts to these culturally sensitive resources. As also required by State law, if 
prehistoric cultural resources are identified during construction, construction is required to cease, and the 
appropriate local tribal representative would be notified. In this case, a mitigation data collection program 
would be undertaken by a qualified archaeologist in consultation with a tribal representative to adequately 
characterize the nature and research value of the resource. This would include a limited excavation, 
analysis, reporting, and curation of artifacts, as well as monitoring construction. With consideration for the 
low potential for onsite resources, adherence to these regulations would be sufficient to protect resources 
that could be discovered during Project development. Therefore, impacts to archaeological resources would 
be avoided and residual impacts are considered less than significant.  

c) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries? 

Less than Significant. No human remains are known or predicted to exist in the Project area and potential 
for disturbance of such resources is considered highly unlikely. Given the potential for extensive grading to 
occur onsite, the potential to disturb undiscovered human remains exists. However, these impacts would 
be avoided by adherence to the above-described California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 
California Public Resources Code Sections 5097.94 and 5079.98, which would address impacts associated 
with inadvertent discoveries of human remains. Therefore, impacts to undiscovered human remains are 
considered less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 34 

 

 

 Energy 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Result in potentially significant environmental 
impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or 
unnecessary consumption of energy 
resources, during project construction or 
operation? 

    

b. Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan 
for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 

 
    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is located on vacant land with no development or energy demands. The City of Mendota 
is supplied power by Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E). Surface PG&E utility access is located approximately 
1,400 ft to the west of the Project Site along Belmont Avenue. PG&E generates electricity at hydroelectric 
(13 percent), nuclear (34 percent), renewable solar, geothermal and biomass (39 percent), and natural gas 
(15 percent) facilities (PG&E 2019).  

The City’s General Plan – Open Space and Conservation Element (2009) provides local policymakers with 
strategies and action items for reducing GHG emissions associated with energy. Supporting measures 
within the General Plan include facilitation of an effective Green Building Program, encouraging building 
owners to maximize energy efficiency, and incentivizing onsite renewable energy generation at residential 
and commercial properties.  

Section 8313 of the CalCannabis Licensing Program prohibits the use of gas- or diesel-powered generators 
except as a backup energy source in the event of a power outage or emergency. Additionally, wattage of 
lights used for cannabis production is limited by the existing City Municipal Code §8.36.050 regarding 
cannabis cultivation. Finally, the Project is also subject to CDFA regulation that address potential impacts 
on energy under California Code of Regulations Sections 8102(s), 8305, and 8306 which generally include 
heating and cooling power considerations, adhering to renewable energy requirements, and compliance 
with generator requirements. Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project 
impacts to biological resources to less than significant.  

a) Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient or 
unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation? 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 35 

 

 

Less than Significant. The Project does not propose to utilize significant natural gas supplies for operation 
of the Project. Outdoor cultivation operations do not require intensive artificial lighting or utilize climate 
control or air circulation systems. Under the Project, outdoor cultivation is proposed, so the Project would 
only require lighting in worker buildings and ancillary facilities.   

While the proposed Project would potentially result in incremental new electricity demands, the Project 
Applicant would be subject to proposed State regulations for such operations, which include requirements 
for the provision of electricity from a combination of the following sources: 1) on-grid power with a mix of at 
least 42 percent provided by renewable sources; 2) onsite renewable energy sources which generate and 
provide at least 42 percent of the Site’s energy demands; and/or 3) the purchase of carbon offsets for any 
portion of power above 58 percent that is not provided by renewable sources (Section 8315 of the CDFA’s 
Proposed Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act [MCRSA] Regulations). These State requirements 
would ensure that electrical demands from the proposed Project would not result in the wasteful, inefficient, 
or unnecessary consumption of electricity supplies.   

Included under the Project’s anticipated approvals is receipt of a PG&E Will Serve Letter. Given regional 
electricity demand, and the lack of lighting required by the Project, increases in demand under the Project 
are considered to be negligible and construction of additional regional electrical generation and/or 
transmission facilities beyond the Project’s proposed tie-in to Belmont Ave would not be required. 

The Project would not constrain local or regional energy supplies, would not require the expansion or 
construction of new regional electrical generation and/or transmission facilities, and would not use large 
amounts of fuel or energy in a wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary manner. The Project would be required 
to comply with all existing energy standards and impacts would be less than significant. 

b) Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 

Less than Significant. The Project would not conflict with the goals and measures of the City’s General 
Plan – Open Space and Conservation Element or applicable State plans for renewable energy or energy 
efficiency. As discussed above, the Project would be required to comply with all standard local and regional 
regulatory requirements. The Project would also comply with any applicable local or State plans for 
renewable energy or energy efficiency, and impacts would be considered less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 36 

 

 

 Geology and Soils 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Directly or indirectly cause potential 
substantial adverse effects, including the risk 
of loss, injury or death, involving: 

    

i. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map 
issued by the State Geologist for the area 
or based on other substantial evidence of 
a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines 
and Geology Special Publication 42. 

    

ii. Strong seismic ground shaking?     

iii. Seismic-related ground failure, including 
liquefaction?     

iv. Landslides?     

b. Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of 
topsoil?     

c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is 
unstable, or that would become unstable as a 
result of the project, and potentially result in 
on- or offsite landslide, lateral spreading, 
subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?  

    

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined in 
Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial risks to life or 
property? 

    

e. Have soils incapable of adequately 
supporting the use of septic tanks or 
alternative wastewater disposal systems 
where sewers are not available for the 
disposal of waste water? 

    



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 37 

 

 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

e. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique 
geologic feature? 

    

EXISTING SETTING 

Earthquakes within the Project vicinity could cause structural damage to buildings, exposing people to 
falling objects and possible building collapse. According to the General Plan, the only fault near the City 
that has been identified by the California Division of Mines and Geology to be subject to surface rupture 
(within an Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone) is the Ortigalita Fault. The Ortigalita Fault is located in 
a sparsely inhabited area of the extreme western corner of Fresno County, approximately 30 miles from the 
Project Site near the community of Panoche (City of Mendota 2009). Most of this fault extends through 
Merced County. Other potentially active faults in Fresno County are the San Joaquin Fault and the O’Neill 
Fault System, which both run parallel to the Ortigalita Fault (California Department of Conservation 2020). 
However, none of these faults are in the vicinity of the Project Site.  

Ground shaking occurs as a result of energy released during faulting, which could potentially result in the 
damage or collapse of buildings and other structures. Although no region in California is immune from 
potential earthquake damage, the Project Site is located in an area which is likely to experience low to 
moderate potential for groundshaking hazards (Branum, Chen, and Wills 2016). Based on historical activity 
and the County’s seismic setting, groundshaking is the primary seismic hazard in Fresno County. Most of 
the already urbanized locations in the East and West Valleys and Sierra Nevada Foothills areas are subject 
to less intense seismic effects than locations in the Coast Range Foothills and Sierra Nevada Mountain 
areas (County of Fresno 2000b). 

Soil liquefaction occurs when ground shaking from an earthquake causes a sediment layer to become 
saturated with groundwater, causing it to lose strength and take on the characteristics of a fluid. In addition 
to structural damage resulting from the rapid loss of bearing capacity of underlying soils, liquefaction 
increases the hazard of fires because of explosions induced when underground gas lines break, and 
because the breakage of water mains substantially reduces fire suppression capability. Since saturated 
soils are a necessary condition for liquefaction, soil layers in areas where the groundwater table is 
near the surface have higher liquefaction potential than those in which the water table is located at 
greater depths. As indicated by the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act Data Viewer, 
groundwater levels at the Project Site are encountered between 40 and 60 feet below ground surface 
(bgs). Although the California Geologic Survey is currently mapping seismic hazard zones for 
susceptible portions of California pursuant to the Seismic Hazard Mapping Act, no map of  liquefaction 
hazard has been prepared for Fresno County (County of Fresno 2000b).  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 38 

 

 

Expansion and contraction of soil volume can occur when expansive soils undergo alternating cycles of 
wetting (swelling) and drying (shrinking). As a consequence of these volume changes, structural damage 
to buildings and infrastructure may occur if the potentially expansive soils were not considered during 
building design and construction. Soils exhibiting a high to moderately high shrink-swell potential generally 
occur in a northwest-trending belt approximately parallel to the Friant-Kern Canal, foothills in Kings Canyon 
National Park in the Sierra Nevada, and along Fresno Slough from Madera County to Kings County. The 
County has also identified areas of expansive soils that roughly parallel the San Luis Drain west of the 
community of Tranquillity and the City of San Joaquin (County of Fresno 2000b). Due to the proximity of 
Mendota to San Joaquin and Madera County, there are likely expansive soils in Mendota.  

Landslides involve the downslope transport of soil, rock, and vegetative material, primarily under the 
influence of gravity. Lateral sliding refers to landslides that form on gentle slopes and that involve a fluid-
like flow movement of materials. These events occur when shear stress (i.e. weight of material) exceeds 
the shear strength of the soil/rock and can be induced by ground shaking from earthquakes or during high 
rainfall periods as materials become saturated. The Project Site has low landslide susceptibility due to its 
relatively flat topography and soil stability characteristics.  

As discussed in Section II, Agricultural and Forestry Resources, soils within the Project Site are identified 
as the Tachi clay series (hnz2) (NRCS 2019). Soils within this association are considered very poorly 
drained with moderate to severe soil limitations for septic tank filter fields (NRCS 2019).  

DISCUSSION 

a) Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, 
injury, or death involving: 

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on 
other substantial evidence of a known fault? 

No Impact. The Project Site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone. No landforms 
are known to be on the Project Site that would indicate the presence of active faults. As discussed above, 
earthquake fault zones are present in the vicinity of the City (City of Mendota 2009). However, surface 
ground rupture along faults is generally limited to a linear zone a few yards wide. Because the Project 
Site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone, the likelihood of ground rupture that 
would cause substantial adverse effects to people or structures at the Project Site is considered low, and 
the Project would require compliance with the California Building Code, the Project would have no impact 
on exacerbating the potential for earthquakes.  

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking? 

Less than Significant. The Project is located nearly 30 miles from the nearest active fault and in an area 
with a low to moderate potential to experience groundshaking hazards (Branum, Chen, and Wills 2016; City 
of Mendota 2009). Any proposed construction would be required to be built in accordance with California 
Building Code requirements that minimize structural damage from groundshaking. Given generally low 
levels of risk for groundshaking, and development in accordance with mandatory regulations, the Project 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 39 

 

 

would not directly or indirectly cause people and structures to be exposed to potentially substantial 
adverse effects involving strong seismic ground shaking, nor exacerbate the potential for such activity. 
Impacts are considered less than significant. 

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 

Less than Significant. Factors determining the liquefaction potential include the level and duration of 
seismic ground motions, the type and consistency of soils, and the depth to groundwater. At the Project 
Site, groundwater levels occur between 40 to 60 feet bgs, and poorly-draining soils present at the Project 
Site can be expected to retain high levels of water. However, threats from seismic-related ground failure 
such as liquefaction are not expected to occur (City of Mendota 2009). Given low levels of risk from seismic-
related ground failure and the lack of potential to exacerbate such issues, and that the Project would require 
compliance with the California Building Code, impacts from seismic-related ground failure are considered 
less than significant. 

iv) Landslides? 

No Impact. Given the soil characteristics and relatively flat slope of the Project Site and surrounding areas, 
the Project would not cause people or structures on the Project Site to be exposed to potentially adverse 
effects of landslides.  

b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Less than Significant. Development of the Project is expected to result in a moderate amount of grading 
associated with construction of the worker buildings, head houses, and site improvements (e.g., building 
construction, site drainage). In addition, secondary development improvements for the Project (e.g., 
development of roads, excavation of topsoil to minimize ground failure hazards) may inadvertently result in 
significant additional grading and subsequent loss of topsoil. Project construction would cause a slight 
increase in runoff by of approximately 1.6 acres of impermeable surfaces, which would increase site runoff 
by 1.6 cubic feet per second (720 gallons per minute) during a 25-year storm event, which may cause 
additional on- and offsite erosion; however, the proposed catch basins would mitigate the potential for 
substantial offsite impacts. Proposed offsite improvements to connect to the Project Site, such as trenching 
for underground utility lines, pole installation for above ground power lines, and road pavement 
improvements, would be conducted within City right-of-way and subject to the City’s associated 
requirements, all of which would occur within previously-disturbed dirt areas adjacent to and extending from 
Belmont Avenue, and would not result in any additional geologic impact. Construction of the Project and 
implementation of identified necessary improvements would be subject to a grading plan, as well as a storm 
water permit from the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (CVRWQCB) as required for 
disturbance of one acre or more. These plans would include requirements for erosion control, stability of 
building sites, building code compliance, and implementation of necessary best management practices 
(BMPs) that would remain in effect for all phases of Project implementation. Implementation of these 
standard development/permit requirements would ensure that the Project would not result in substantial 
adverse impacts caused from soil erosion or loss of topsoil. Impacts are therefore considered less than 
significant.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 40 

 

 

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable 
as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, 
subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse? 

Less than Significant. The Project is not expected to substantially affect the stability of the underlying 
materials such to result in an increase in the potential for on- or offsite landslide, lateral spreading, 
subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse. The Project Site and surrounding area is generally flat, and soil stability 
onsite does not indicate enhanced susceptibility to landslides or lateral spreading. The nearest active fault is 
nearly 30 miles away, and the Project Site is exposed to low to moderate potential for groundshaking activities 
(Branum, Chen, and Wills 2016; City of Mendota 2009). In addition to the low likelihood of groundshaking 
activities, a deep groundwater level and poorly-draining soils onsite suggest low to moderate possibility 
of liquefaction occurring onsite (NRCS 2019). Groundwater resources are not expected to be reduced 
such to increase the potential for subsidence. Given these conditions, Project impacts are considered 
less than significant. 

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property? 

Less than Significant. As identified in the County General Plan, the Project Site may be located on soils 
that have high to very high potential to be expansive. However, all development and construction proposals 
would be reviewed by the City to ensure conformance to applicable building standards. Following adoption 
and implementation of all applicable measures and standards, substantial risks to life or property would be 
minimized and impacts would be considered less than significant.  

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste 
water disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste water? 

No Impact. The proposed Project would be connected to the City’s existing wastewater sewer system via 
a connection at Belmont Avenue, and would avoid soils onsite that have moderate to severe soil limitations 
for septic systems. Therefore, no impact would occur. 

f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

No Impact. Project construction and implementation are not expected to affect any paleontological 
resources known or suspected to occur on the Project Site. No paleontological or geologic resources are 
known to exist on the site or surrounding area, and the excavation or site grading that would under the 
Project is not expected to occur within areas or at depths where paleontological resources may occur. 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 41 

 

 

 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either 
directly or indirectly, that may have a 
significant impact on the environment? 

    

b. Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 
the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

Climate change can be measured by changes in wind patterns, storms, precipitation, and temperature. 
California is already experiencing impacts related to climate change, including a seven-inch rise in the sea 
level along the California coast over the last century; a decrease in the average snowpack in the Sierra 
Nevada region; an increase in the frequency, length, and severity of wildfires; and a shift in precipitation 
rates, with increased precipitation in the north and decreased precipitation in the south. The potential 
impacts of climate change include severe weather patterns, flooding, reduced quality and availability of 
water, sea level rise, and beach erosion. Primary activities associated with GHG emissions include 
transportation, operation of utilities (e.g., power generation and transport), industrial activities, 
manufacturing, agriculture, and residential uses. End-use sector sources of GHG emissions in California 
are as follows: transportation (41 percent), industry (24 percent), electricity generation (15 percent), 
agriculture and forestry (8 percent), residential (7 percent) and commercial (5 percent) (California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) 2020) 

Scientific consensus has identified human-related emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) above natural 
levels as a significant contributor to global climate change. GHGs are emissions that trap heat in the 
atmosphere and regulate the Earth’s temperature, and include water vapor, CO2, methane (CH4), nitrous 
oxide (N2O), ground level ozone, and fluorinated gases, such as chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), hydro 
chlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), and halons.  

Primary anthropologic activities associated with GHG emissions include transportation, operation of utilities 
(e.g., power generation and transport), industrial activities, manufacturing, agriculture, and residential uses. 
End-use sector sources of GHG emissions in California are as follows: transportation (41 percent), industry 
(24 percent), electricity generation (12 percent), agriculture and forestry (8 percent), residential (7 percent) 
and commercial (5 percent) (CARB 2019). Assembly Bill (AB) 32 is a California State Law that establishes 
a comprehensive program to reduce GHG emissions from all sources throughout the state. AB 32 requires 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 42 

 

 

the CARB to develop regulations and market mechanisms to reduce California’s GHG emissions to 1990 
levels by 2020, representing a 25 percent reduction statewide, with mandatory caps beginning in 2012 for 
significant emissions sources (CARB 2014). 

The SJVAPCD, the agency principally responsible for comprehensive air pollution control in the San 
Joaquin Valley Air Basin, adopted the Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) in 2008, which provides 
guidance to assist SJVAPCD staff, valley businesses, land use agencies, and other permitting agencies in 
addressing GHG emissions as part of the CEQA process. In response, the SJVAPCD adopted a policy and 
guidance in December 2009 to provide direction assessing and reducing the impacts of project specific 
GHG emissions on global climate change from stationary sources. The policy is detailed in SJVAPCD Policy 
– Addressing GHG Emission Impacts for Stationary Source Projects Under CEQA When Serving as the 
Lead Agency (SJVAPCD Policy) and guidance regarding this policy is provided in Guidance for Valley 
Land-use Agencies in Addressing GHG Emission Impacts for New Projects under CEQA.  

The SJVAPCD Policy establishes the process to evaluate the significance of action-specific GHG emission 
impacts on global climate change and to establish Best Performance Standards (BPSs) to reduce action-
specific GHG emissions. Use of BPSs is a method of streamlining the CEQA process of determining 
significance and is not a required emission reduction measure. Actions implementing BPSs are determined 
to have a less than cumulatively significant impact. Otherwise, demonstration of a 29-percent reduction in 
GHG emissions, from business-as-usual, is required to determine that an action would have a less than 
cumulatively significant impact. The SJVAPCD has not officially adopted a significance threshold for 
generation of GHGs from water exchanges to assess the level at which an action’s incremental contribution 
is considered cumulatively considerable. 

The SJVAPCD Policy applies to projects for which the SJVAPCD has discretionary approval authority over 
the Project and serves as the lead agency for CEQA purposes. However, land use agencies can refer to it 
as guidance for projects that include stationary sources of emissions. The guidance does not limit a lead 
agency’s authority in establishing its own process and guidance for determining significance of action-
related impacts on global climate change. Concerning regulatory compliance, the Project is also subject to 
CDFA regulation that address potential impacts from greenhouse gas emissions under California Code of 
Regulations Sections 8102(s), 8304(e), 8305, and 8306 which generally include heating and cooling power 
identification, requirements for generators, adherence to renewable energy requirements, and generator 
requirements. Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project impacts of GHG 
emissions.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a 
significant impact on the environment? 

Less than Significant. The proposed Project would generate increased GHG emissions over the short-
term related to operation of construction equipment. The total emissions from Project construction were 
modeled using CalEEMod (Appendix A). As presented in Table 7, the total estimated maximum annual 
unmitigated GHG emissions from construction activities would be 140.86 metric tons (MT) of carbon dioxide 
equivalent per year (CO2e/yr), which would not increase local emissions above the SJVAPCD significance 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 43 

 

 

threshold of 230 MT CO2e/yr. Therefore, impacts related to generation of greenhouse gas emissions would 
be less than significant. 

Table 7. Estimated Unmitigated GHG Emissions from Construction of the Proposed Project  
Construction Year GHG Emissions (MT CO2e) 

2021 140.86 
Amortized Over 30 Years 4.69 

1 Construction GHG emissions for 2020 summed for Phases 1 and 2. 
Source: Appendix A. 

Project operational activities would emit minimal GHGs from cultivation equipment (e.g., irrigation pumps), 
processing and distribution operations (e.g., building lighting, refrigeration, air conditioning and heating), 
and vehicular traffic. The total emissions from Project operations were modeled using CalEEMod (Appendix 
A). As presented in Table 8, emissions from operation of the Project would consist largely of electrical 
energy use and mobile source employee and material delivery vehicles. The total estimated annual 
unmitigated emissions from Project operation are estimated to be 705.97 MT CO2e/yr. However, it is 
important to note that estimated Project operational emissions are a worst case as they are gross emissions 
for total operations and do not reflect the Project’s anticipated net increase in annual emissions above 
existing annual GHG emissions generated by existing onsite cannabis cultivation activities.  

Table 8. Estimated Unmitigated GHG Emissions from Operation of the Proposed Project 
Annual Emissions by Category GHG Emissions (MT CO2e) 

Area 0.002 
Energy 249.69 
Mobile 287.60 
Waste 32.11 
Water 0.06 
Total 569.46 
Total + Amortized Construction Emissions 574.15 

Source: Appendix A. 

The total Project emissions including amortized construction GHG emissions and operation GHG emissions 
are estimated to be 574.15 MT CO2e/yr, which do not exceed the BAAQMD threshold1 of 1,100 MT CO2e/yr 
for commercial land use development projects. Therefore, the Project would not require additional mitigation 
nor result in a significant impact from GHG emissions.  

b) Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 
the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

Less than Significant. The Project would be consistent with BPSs required by the SJVACPD Policy. 
Fresno County does not have specific regulations regarding reducing GHG emissions and the proposed 

 

1 BAAQMD threshold used in this scenario as SJVAPCD has not established a threshold for this metric. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 44 

 

 

Project would not conflict with the CCAP adopted by the SJVAPCD. Therefore, impacts related to GHG 
emissions would be less than significant. 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 45 

 

 

 

 Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 
Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less than 
Significant 
with 
Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through the routine transport, 
use or disposal of hazardous materials? 

    

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable 
upset and accident conditions involving the 
release of hazardous materials into the 
environment? 

    

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle 
hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, 
substances or waste within one-quarter mile 
of an existing or proposed school? 

    

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list 
of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 
65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 
significant hazard to the public or the 
environment? 

    

e) For a project located within an airport land use 
plan area or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 
a public use airport, would the project result in 
a safety hazard or excessive noise for people 
residing or working in the project area? 

    

f) Impair implementation of or physically 
interfere with an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan? 

    

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or 
indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or 
death involving wildland fires?  

    



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 46 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The nearest schools are located in the City approximately 1 mile away from the Project Site. As determined 
through a search of the SWRCB online Geotracker records and the Department of Toxic Substances 
Control’s (DTSC) data management system (EnviroStor), no current hazardous sites exist within a half-mile 
radius of the Project Site.  

The Project is located within an airport land use plan for the William Robert Johnston Municipal Airport, 
and therefore experiences an exceedance of relevant noise level thresholds as a result of aircraft 
operations (Fresno Council of Governments 2018). The Project Site is within a 2-mile radius of a public 
airport, located approximately 0.5 miles to the east of the Airport. While there are several agricultural and 
private airplane landing strips throughout the County, the Project Site is not located within a 2-mile radius 
of a private airstrip. The nearest private air strip is the El Peco Ranch Airport, located approximately 14 
miles to the northeast of the Project Site, outside of proximity to aircraft operations.  

As discussed in Section XVII, Transportation, SR 33 and SR 180 are designated as the primary routes for 
emergency evacuation in the City’s Circulation Element. The nearest segment of SR 180 is located almost 
one mile away by car. Both routes are designated as arterials in the General Plan, which means they 
accommodate a relatively high volume of traffic. The intersection at Belmont Avenue and Oller Street (SR 
180), located 0.8 miles southwest of the Project Site, operates at Level of Service (LOS) B, which means it 
has very light congestion (City of Mendota 2009).  

The Project Site is not located in a designated Fire Hazard Severity Zone (FHSZ). The closest FHSZ is 
16.5 miles southwest of the Project Site at Interstate 5 (CalFire 2020). The site is 3.8 miles north of the 
nearest Federal Responsibility Area (CalFire 2020). Additionally, the Project is located in a predominantly 
agricultural area surrounded by irrigated farmland.  

The City of Mendota Sub-Committee on Public Safety is the emergency management agency responsible 
for the planning, preparing, and coordinating of large-scale emergencies throughout the City. For 
emergency planning purposes, the City follows the evacuation plans of the Fresno County Office of 
Emergency Services (OES) and the Fresno County Fire Protection District/CAL FIRE.  

Finally, the Project is also subject to CDFA regulation addressing potential impacts from hazards and 
hazardous materials under California Code of Regulations Sections 8102(q), 8102(aa), 8216, 8304(a)(3), 
8304(f), and 8307 which generally include establishing a responsible party for the project, including the 
local fire department in review of the project, adhering to conditions requested by CDFW or SWRCB, 
compliance with pesticide laws, regulations, and use requirements. Compliance with these regulations 
would help reduce potential project impacts of hazards and hazardous materials to less than significant.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, 
use, or disposal of hazardous materials? and 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 47 

 

 

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably 
foreseeable upset and/or accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials 
into the environment? 

Less than Significant. Project construction would require the transport, storage, use, handling, and 
disposal of different types of hazardous substances including diesel fuel, oil, lubricants, and solvents. The 
transport, use, and disposal of any construction-related hazardous materials such as tractors and fuel would 
be handled in accordance with all applicable federal, State, and local requirements, including the City of 
Mendota Municipal Code Title 8 – Health and Safety regulations. As discussed in Section III, Air Quality, 
emissions from diesel vehicles and other construction equipment would not be generated at levels that are 
considered hazardous. 

Project operations would require the use of standard agricultural operating materials that are considered 
hazardous, including fertilizers, pesticides, nutrient solutions, and small amounts of gasoline for machinery. 
Per State requirements, the Project would utilize a Nitrogen Management Plan (NMP) to minimize risks 
associated with the utilization and transportation of agricultural additives. The NMP is reviewed and updated 
annually as needed and provides detailed instructions for proper storage of hazardous materials in onsite 
designated Hazardous Materials Storage Facilities, as well as product preparation and crop application. 
The Project would also implement a Safety Plan, which outlines proper procedures and protocols for 
equipment operation, hazard reporting, and other requirements to ensure onsite safety. Both the NMP and 
Safety Plan include required employee training for equipment and product handling to minimize the potential 
for reasonably foreseeable upset and/or accident conditions  

The hazardous materials and management standards proposed by the Project are typical within the 
agricultural industry, and potential impacts to the public or environment would be considered less than 
significant. 

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, 
substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

No Impact. The Project Site is not located within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school 
and as such, no impacts to schools are anticipated. 

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment? 

No Impact. Review of records from the SWRCB and the DTSC identified no current hazardous sites 
existing within a half-mile radius of the Project Site. The Project Site location would not create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment, and impacts would be considered less than significant. 

e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result 
in a safety hazard or excessive noise for people residing or working in the project area?  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 48 

 

 

Less than Significant. The Project is located within an airport land use plan and is approximately 0.5 
miles from the nearest public airport and approximately 14 miles from the nearest private air strip (Fresno 
Council of Governments 2018). However, the Project is not located within noise level contours of any airport 
land use plan, would not place uses in proximity to typical aircraft operations, nor would the Project include 
any uses that would affect air traffic patterns. Therefore, there would be no significant impact to employees, 
residents, or visitors from aircraft activities.  

f) Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan 
or emergency evacuation plan? 

Less than Significant. Project construction and operation employees may utilize SR 180 or SR 33 to 
access the Project Site. SR 180 in this area of the City operates at LOS B throughout the day and night, 
which means traffic conditions in this area are generally quiet (see Section XVII, Transportation). Given this 
relatively minor increase in traffic along SR 180 due to employees entering and existing the Site, the Project 
would not interfere with emergency response, and impacts to emergency evacuation routes would be 
considered less than significant. 

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury, 
or death involving wildland fires? 

No Impact. The Project would not expose people or structures to threats of wildland fires, as the it is not 
located in an area designated by CAL FIRE to be at risk for fires, nor near forested areas that may contain 
the hazard (CAL FIRE 2020).The Project would not lead to offsite effects related to wildland fire hazards; 
therefore, no wildfire impacts are anticipated.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 49 

 

 

 Hydrology and Water Quality 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Violate any water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements or otherwise 
substantially degrade surface or ground water 
quality? 

    

b. Substantially decrease groundwater supplies 
or interfere substantially with groundwater 
recharge such that the project may impede 
sustainable groundwater management of the 
basin?  

    

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage 
pattern of the site or area, including through 
the alteration of the course of a stream or river 
or through the addition of impervious 
surfaces, in a manner which would: 

    

i. Result in substantial erosion or siltation 
on- or off-site;     

ii. Substantially increase the rate or amount 
of surface runoff in a manner which 
would result in flooding on- or offsite;  

    

iii. Create or contribute runoff water which 
would exceed the capacity of existing or 
planned stormwater drainage systems or 
provide substantial additional sources of 
polluted runoff; or 

    

iv. Impede or redirect flood flows?     

d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk 
release of pollutants due to project 
inundation? 

    

e. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a 
water quality control plan or sustainable 
groundwater management plan? 

    



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 50 

 

 

EXISTING SETTING 

The Project Site is located within a 100-year and 500-year flood plain associated with flooding from the 
San Joaquin river and Fresno Slough and is designated as Flood Zone A (Special Flood Hazard Area) by 
the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), Panel 06019C1463H. Flood Zone A (Special Flood Hazard 
Area) is a designation given to areas identified as being subject inundation by the 1-percent-annual-chance 
flood event generally determined using approximate technologies (FEMA 2020). The San Joaquin River and 
Fresno Slough are located approximately 0.5 mile east of the Project Site. The Site is generally level with 
overall drainage conveyed to the east. Belmont Avenue and SR-180 lack curbs or gutters and no developed 
storm drains or other public drainage infrastructure exists on or adjacent to the Project Site. Drainage from 
the site is absorbed into the soil and/or conveyed overland by sheet flow across neighboring properties, 
eventually reaching the Fresno Slough.  

Flooding is a key concern for City residents, particularly in the northwest portion of the City at the intersection 
of SR 33 (Derrick Avenue) and Bass Avenue, approximately 1.35 miles northwest of the Project Site. One 
of the City’s two designated stormwater retention basins is located northeast of this intersection, in the 
Hacienda Gardens development area (approximately 1.2 miles northwest of the Project Site). According to 
the General Plan, this basin which has a maximum storage capacity of 20 acre feet periodically fails (City of 
Mendota 2009).  

The City also experiences flooding due to runoff from Panoche Creek, which lacks an established drainage 
course to the Fresno Slough as it approaches the City from the west. Panoche Creek terminates at Belmont 
Avenue approximately seven miles west of the existing City limits. Flooding along Belmont Avenue within 
the City has been partially alleviated by a storm drain project that involved the construction of a flood wall 
along the northern right-of-way of Belmont Avenue and by raising the elevation of each cross-street 
intersection. The project was designed to channel floodwater from the west along Belmont Avenue and 
prevent flooding in the rest of the City to the north. Stormwater on Belmont Avenue continues eastward to 
the Caltrans right-of-way at SR 180 and then proceeds south towards the Fresno Slough (City of Mendota 
2009). 

The Project Site is not located within an area known to be at risk from flooding as a result of seiche or 
tsunami hazards and is not located near any physical or geologic features that would produce a mudflow 
hazard (City of Mendota 2009).  

The Project Site overlies the Delta-Mendota Subbasin of the San Joaquin Valley Groundwater Basin. The 
Delta-Mendota Subbasin was designated a high priority basin under the California Statewide Groundwater 
Elevation Monitoring (CASGEM) and Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) programs 
(County of Fresno 2020). Groundwater in the Delta Mendota Subbasin is characterized by the presence of 
mixed sulfate to bicarbonate types in the northern and central portion with areas of sodium chloride and 
sodium sulfate waters in the central and southern portions, but is generally good for agricultural and 
municipal uses. Shallow, saline groundwater occurs within about 10 feet of the ground surface over a large 
portion of the Subbasin, with localized areas of elevated concentrations of pollutants such as iron, fluoride, 
nitrate, and boron (County of Fresno 2020).  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 51 

 

 

The SWRCB has adopted the comprehensive Cannabis Cultivation Policy – Principles and Guidelines for 
Cannabis Cultivation (Cannabis Policy) and General Waste Discharge Requirements and Waiver of Waste 
Discharge Requirements for Discharges of Waste Associated with Cannabis Cultivation Activities 
(Cannabis General Order), which include principles and guidelines for cannabis cultivation within the state 
(SWRCB 2019). The general requirements and prohibitions included in the Cannabis Policy address a wide 
range of issues related to water and water quality, including riparian setbacks and compliance with state 
and local permits. The Cannabis General Order also includes regulations on the use of pesticides, 
rodenticides, herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, disinfectants, and fertilizers. The law requires that 
cannabis cultivators provide evidence of compliance with the Water Boards’ Requirements (or certification 
by the appropriate Water Board that a permit is not necessary) as part of their application for a CDFA 
cannabis cultivation license. CDFA regulation that governs the Project and addresses potential impacts on 
hydrology and water quality is also included under California Code of Regulations Sections 8102(p), 
8102(v), 8102(w), 8102(dd), 8107(b), 8216, 8304(a and b), and 8307 which generally include evidence of 
enrollment in an order of waste discharge requirements, identification of the water source, adherence to 
lake or streambed alteration requirements, avoidance of impacted watersheds, compliance with section 
13149 of the Water Code, compliance with conditions requested by CDFW or SWRCB, and compliance 
with pesticide use requirements. Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project 
impacts to hydrology and water quality to less than significant. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise 
substantially degrade surface or ground water quality? 

Less than Significant. Project construction and operational activities required to support cannabis 
cultivation would have potential for ground disturbance, runoff, and contamination generated from 
machinery and sediments. The introduction of sediment or pollutants to surface and groundwater sources 
during construction could occur through site grading; spoil sites; and leaks of petroleum products or other 
chemicals associated with cannabis activities (e.g., tractors, excavators). During Project operation, the 
introduction of sediment or pollutants could occur from the following sources: soils, fertilizers, pesticides, 
herbicides, and rodenticides; trash associated with cannabis cultivation or associated manufacturing; 
human waste; and spills or leaks of petroleum products or other chemicals associated with pumps and 
cultivation equipment. 

The Applicant would therefore be required to comply with Waste Discharge Requirements (WDRs) of the 
CVRWQCB as a standard Condition of Approval, as well as a Storm Water Permit. Additionally, the Project 
would be required to meet Fresno County Environmental Health Division requirements and standards for 
water and wastewater systems, including the review and approval of a water supply source plan as well as 
a sewage disposal site plan/evaluation report. Test results that show that the water supply for domestic 
uses meets water quality and quantity standards shall be submitted to Environmental Health Division. 
Consistent with the requirements of the Clean Water Act Section 402 National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) Program General Construction Permit Program, a Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan for the Project would also be submitted to City Engineering staff, and includes 
consideration for cumulative projects in the vicinity that are subject to the same requirements. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 52 

 

 

The Project is not expected to directly result in runoff that would potentially impact water quality standards. 
The Project would utilize BMPs and other required measures for proper onsite water system management 
and sewage disposal to prevent possible storm water pollution. Given implementation of these measures, 
Project operations would not be expected to result in any form of runoff where pollutants could be mobilized 
into nearby surface and ground water sources and exceed water quality standards. The Project would not 
be expected to substantially degrade surface and/or groundwater, and impacts would be considered less 
than significant.  

b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater 
recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the 
basin? 

Less than Significant. The Project’s projected water demand is estimated to be 100 to 150 AFY. An 
additional 1-2 AFY of potable water is anticipated for municipal uses onsite associated with typical business 
operations (restrooms, bathrooms, sinks, etc.). New infrastructure would be constructed to support 
municipal uses such as restrooms, hand wash stations, and drinking water. A new pipeline is proposed 
extending along Belmont Avenue. The Project would utilize the City municipal water supply via a connection 
to the transmission main network. The City sources high-quality, potable water from three primary 
production groundwater wells located on a private well field approximately 3.5 miles northeast of the City, 
near the San Joaquin River, and has two emergency backup wells off Bass Avenue (City of Mendota 2009). 

Under a lease agreement with the well field property owners, the City obtains higher-quality groundwater 
for domestic consumption in exchange for lower-quality water suitable for crop irrigation that is pumped 
from City-operated groundwater wells located west of the Fresno Slough. Per the existing lease agreement, 
the City pays a flat annual rate to pump up to 2,000 AFY before additional rent must be paid to the property 
owner. Pumping over 2,000 AFY requires additional annual rent in increments of 100 AFY. As of the 2017-
18 fiscal year, the City pumped approximately 1,800 AFY to meet its water demand of 1,485 AFY. With 
consideration for cumulative projects, City water demand is projected to increase with anticipated future 
development to an estimated 2,200 AFY by 2025.  

The City provided a Will Serve letter to the Applicant on August 18, 2020. The letter states that the Project 
will utilize water supplies delivered by the City in accordance with the City’s Lease Agreement with the 
outside water provider, which is subject to regulatory actions beyond the City’s control such as required 
measures under the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act. These measures may include reductions 
in water supply during periods such as a drought that would be proportionate to those required of other City 
rate payers; and disproportionate reductions in water supply would not be imposed on the Project. Finally, 
due to the relatively small area that would be improved with impervious surfaces, in addition to the proposed 
onsite catch basins, the Project is not anticipated to reduce overall groundwater recharge capabilities. With 
these measures in place and complying with the requirements of the Will Serve letter and groundwater 
agreement, the Project would have less than significant impacts on groundwater supplies.  

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through 
the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious 
surfaces, in a manner which would: 

i) Result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site; 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 53 

 

 

ii) Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result 
in flooding on- or offsite; 

iii) Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff;  

iv) Impede or redirect flood flows? 

Less than Significant. Development of the Project would create approximately 68,000 sf (1.6 acres) of 
new impermeable surfaces. Runoff generated from new impervious surfaces would generally flow to the 
northeast in overland sheet flow similar to existing conditions, into proposed stormwater retention basins to 
be constructed in the northern part of the Project Site. Using the Rational Method Equation for calculating 
runoff, development of the Project would potentially capture up to 21.9 AFY of stormwater rainfall 
throughout the year, dependent on intensity of rain and capacity of the basins. The proposed stormwater 
retention basins would be covered to prevent water evaporation, through the use of a physical covering or 
shade balls. Additional runoff from the cultivation operation and other onsite stormwater would largely 
percolate within the Project Site or otherwise be directed towards the onsite stormwater basins and subject 
to the required implementation of BMPs discussed below.  

Construction of the Project would be required to comply with City Engineering Standards, and CVRWQCB 
Storm Water Permit program that would require BMPs to address storm water quality, erosion, and 
sediment control on- and offsite. Given the Project would disturb more than one acre, the Applicant would 
also be required to obtain a General Construction Activity Storm Water Permit from the CVRWQCB for 
stormwater discharges. Consistent with the requirements of the Clean Water Act Section 402 National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Program General Construction Permit Program, a 
SWPPP for the Project would also be submitted to City Engineering staff to eliminate or substantially reduce 
potential for generation of polluted runoff and associated degradation of downstream water quality. 

Compliance with applicable permits and new infrastructure onsite would minimize flooding and erosion. 
Based on the anticipated slight increase in runoff and proposed drainage infrastructure on the Project Site, 
the increase in stormwater runoff generated by new impervious surfaces under the Project would be 
minimal. Finally, the Project proposes minimal impervious surfaces and structures that would impede flood 
flows or increase runoff. Therefore, impacts to flood flows and runoff would be minimal and impacts would 
be less than significant.  

d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project 
inundation? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site is not in an area subject to seiche or tsunami hazards. However, 
it is located inside a 500-year flood plain as indicated by FEMA. In the unlikely event of a 100- or 500-yr 
storm event, the inundation zones indicate areas that could potentially be flooded, with greater threat to 
developed areas located within proximity to the Fresno Slough and San Joaquin River and less threat to 
City’s developed and surrounding agricultural areas in the flat expanses of the Central Valley. The SWRCB 
has adopted the comprehensive Cannabis Cultivation Policy – Principles and Guidelines for Cannabis 
Cultivation (Cannabis Policy) and General Waste Discharge Requirements and Waiver of Waste Discharge 
Requirements for Discharges of Waste Associated with Cannabis Cultivation Activities (Cannabis General 
Order), which include principles and guidelines for cannabis cultivation within the state. The general 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 54 

 

 

requirements and prohibitions included in the Cannabis Policy address a wide range of issues, from 
compliance with State and local permits to riparian setbacks. The Cannabis General Order also includes 
regulations on the use of pesticides, rodenticides, herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, disinfectants, and 
fertilizers. The law requires that cannabis cultivators provide evidence of compliance with the Water Boards’ 
Requirements (or certification by the appropriate Water Board stating a permit is not necessary) as part of 
their application for a CDFA cannabis cultivation license. These regulations would mitigate the release of 
pollutants in the case of flood inundation. Development of the Project would also not result in increased 
exposure of adjacent nearby development and populations to significant loss, injury, or death from flooding 
in the event of extreme flooding. Therefore, impacts are considered less than significant. 

e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable 
groundwater management plan? 

Less than Significant. As discussed above, the Project Site lies within the Delta-Mendota Subbasin of 
the San Joaquin Valley Basin. Though the City of Mendota is its own Groundwater Sustainability Agency 
(GSA), it is subject to the Delta-Mendota Subbasin Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). The Delta-
Mendota Subbasin is designated a high-priority basin under the CASGEM and SGMA programs, with the 
County of Fresno serving as the GSA. Project water demands on the City’s municipal sources would 
generally be consistent with the forecast for the Delta Mendota Subbasin GSP and the City would be 
responsible for participating in actions to improve basin sustainability such as groundwater recharge.    

The cannabis waste discharge requirements described above include measures that would protect water 
quality. The Project relies on municipal water supplies provided by the City, and the City provided a Will 
Serve letter, described above. The Project would not install a well onsite that would tie directly to the 
underlying groundwater basin. Therefore, the Project would not have direct impacts on the GSP and would 
be subject to the requirements of the City’s Lease Agreement regarding water supply, resulting in less than 
significant impacts.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 55 

 

 

 Land Use and Planning 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Physically divide an established community?     

b. Cause a significant environmental impact due 
to a conflict with any land use plan, policy or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding 
or mitigating an environmental effect? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project is located within the City of Mendota, near the eastern edge of the City boundary approximately 
one mile east of the downtown area and one mile north of SR-180. The property is surrounded by other 
agricultural and industrial uses. Land use in the City is governed by the Mendota General Plan – particularly 
the Land Use Element. Land Use maps and policies define boundary lines and characterize the intensity 
of development in the City. The City’s General Plan also guides the physical development of the City, 
establishes a pattern of land utilization, and also sets out standards for both the density of population and 
the intensity of development for each of the defined land use classifications. The Project is located on land 
designated under the Public/Quasi-Public Facilities land use in the General Plan and zoned P-F with the 
Commercial Cannabis Overlay District.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Physically divide an established community? 

No Impact. The Project Site is located on vacant land abutting the City’s WWTP, an operative PV facility, 
and an inoperative biomass power plant and is proximal to ongoing agricultural activities. The facilities and 
uses proposed would be similar in nature and intensity to nearby uses and would not present a barrier to 
access, visibility, or operations, or function of existing or future facilities. Therefore, the Project would not 
physically divide an established community. 

b) Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any applicable land use 
plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 
environmental effect? 

Less than Significant. The Project proposes an amendment to the existing General Plan Land Use and 
the existing zoning of the site to allow for its lawful operation. Therefore, with the Project’s proposed General 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 56 

 

 

Plan Amendment and implementation, the Project would be compliant with the General Plan and zoning 
and impacts would be less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 57 

 

 

 Mineral Resources 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Result in the loss of availability of a known 
mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state? 

    

b. Result in the loss of availability of a locally 
important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on a local general plan, specific 
plan or other land use plan?  

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is not located within any identified area of significant aggregate deposits, as classified by 
the California Department of Conservation. Most aggregate resources near the City are located in the 
Fresno Production-Consumption Region, the boundary of which is approximately 5 miles west of the Project 
Site (CDC 2020). 

DISCUSSION 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state?; and 

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan? 

No Impact. Implementation of the Project would result in development of land that is currently vacant for 
cannabis cultivation and fallow area and would not result in the loss of any known mineral resources. The 
Project would not result in any impacts to known mineral resources.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 58 

 

 

 Noise 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project result in: 

a. Generation of a substantial temporary or 
permanent increase in ambient noise levels in 
the vicinity of the project in excess of 
standards established in the local general 
plan or noise ordinance, or of applicable 
standards of other agencies? 

    

b. Generation of excessive ground borne 
vibration or ground borne noise levels?     

c. For a project located within the vicinity of a 
private airstrip or an airport land use plan area 
or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 
within two miles of a public airport or a public 
use airport, would the project expose people 
residing or working in the project area to 
excessive noise levels? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

Noise levels can be presented in several ways. The standard unit of measurement of the loudness of sound 
is the decibel (dB). Since the human ear is not equally sensitive to sound at all frequencies, the A-weighted 
decibel scale (dBA) compensates for the difference in humans’ ability to hear perceive various soundwave 
frequencies by discriminating against frequencies in a manner approximating the human ear. Averaged 
noise levels over a 24-hour or annual period can be depicted using Community Noise Equivalent Level 
(CNEL) measurements. CNEL measurements incorporate a penalty for noises occurring during the late 
night and early morning (7:00PM to 7:00 AM). Studies have indicated that a noise level increase of 3 dBA 
is barely perceptible to most people, a 5 dBA increase is readily noticeable, and a difference of 10 dBA 
would be perceived as a doubling of loudness (California Department of Transportation 1998).  

The City of Mendota Code of Ordinances, Chapter 9.05 – Noise Control, states that no person or property 
owner can produce noise in excess of the adopted sound limits (Table 9). 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 59 

 

 

Table 9. Mendota Noise Regulations 

Sound Level Limits   

Daytime 7:00am – 7:00pm 55 dBA 
Evening 7:00pm – 10:00pm 50 dBA 
Nighttime 10:00pm – 7:00am 45 dBA 

Source: City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 9.05, Section 9.05.040 

The proposed Project is located approximately 0.5 miles west of a residential neighborhood. Vehicle trips 
along roadways are the primary sources of continuous noise generation in the Project vicinity, and farming 
activities such as operation of heavy equipment or trucks can also generate periodic high noise levels. The 
General Plan shows noise levels ranging at approximately 60-65 CNEL throughout the City at major street 
intersections (City of Mendota 2009).   

The Project is separated from sensitive receptors such as residential area and churches approximately 0.6 
mile away by intervening features such as the PV facility, Belmont Avenue, and William Robert Johnson 
Municipal Airport. The entire Project Site and vicinity is zoned for Public Facilities, and Industrial to the 
south.  

The City’s Noise Control Ordinance (Mendota Code of Ordinances Chapter 9.05) specifies standards for 
sources of excessive noise affecting sensitive receptors such as residences, schools, hospitals, churches, 
and libraries. Sources causing exterior noise levels in sensitive areas to exceed 55 dBA daytime (7am-
7pm), 50 dBA evening (7pm-10pm), or 45 dBA nighttime (10pm-7am) are prohibited by the ordinance, with 
specific exceptions for construction activities in line with the Municipal Code. Finally, the Project is also 
subject to CDFA regulation that address potential impacts from noise under California Code of Regulations 
Sections 8304(e) and 8306 which generally include requirements for generators and generator use. 
Compliance with these regulations would help reduce potential project noise impacts to less than significant. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the 
vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise 
ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies? 

Less than Significant. Project development could generate both short-term construction and incremental 
long-term operational noise increases in the Project vicinity. Major Project construction activities would be 
audible at nearby uses, including the municipal airport, agricultural operations, Covanta Energy, and the 
adjacent PV facility, although the later two uses are generally unoccupied. More distant residential uses, 
which generally lie more than 0.5 mile to the west, may experience incremental distant increases in noise, 
but noise attenuation of this large distance would assure that noise standards would not be exceeded.  
Increased vehicular trips from construction crew commuting and the transport of construction equipment 
and materials to the Project Site would incrementally increase noise levels on Belmont Avenue and SR-
180. While heavy trucks passing residences could create peak noise events of 86 decibels at 50 feet 
(Caltrans 2013a), such effects would be brief, similar to the operation of typical farm equipment used in the 
region, and would not affect day time or evening ambient noise levels. Second, noise would be generated 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 60 

 

 

from removal of existing site debris, grading of level pads, and construction of commercial buildings. The 
Zoning Ordinance exempts construction from basic noise regulation on the times and days when 
construction activities are allowed. While occasional intermittent noise impacts from construction equipment 
would exceed maximum allowed ambient noise levels at the border of the adjacent agriculture site, they 
would be similar to noise associated with ongoing agricultural activities at and near the Project Site and 
would not substantially increase average operational noise.  

Long-term  noise sources from Project operation would include those from onsite agricultural activities  (e.g., 
tractor operation) and from mobile sources such as transport vehicles (e.g., Sprinter vans) for deliveries to 
and from the site up to five times a day during an 8-hour operational period, as well as site access for 
employees and delivery vehicles during typical farming hours of operation from an estimated 6:00A.M. to 
6:00P.M. Monday through Friday. Noise levels from this Project generated traffic would not exceed 40 dBA 
at 50 feet (Caltrans 2013a). Mobile noise from standard farm machinery such as pickup trucks would also 
be generated. Stationary noise sources would come from fertigation systems, air compressors, agricultural 
well pumps, chippers, and other machinery commonly used in farming activities. Cannabis processing 
operations would be located within enclosed structures and would not generate substantial increases in 
noise levels for adjacent land uses. Therefore, noise impacts from operations would be considered less 
than significant. 

b) Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels? 

No Impact. Groundborne vibration levels may be measured similar to noise in vibration decibels (VdB). 
Typical construction vibration levels range from 58 VdB at 25 feet for a small bulldozer and up to 112 VdB 
for a pile driver (Caltrans 2013b). However there would be no pile driver used for the construction of this 
Project and any vibration caused at or near the site would not impact the nearest sensitive receptors and 
residential areas over 0.5 miles from the Project Site opposite the existing airport. Therefore, vibrations that 
could occur on the Project Site as a result of Project construction or operation would have no significant 
impact on adjacent communities.   

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 
where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to 
excessive noise levels? 

Less than Significant. The Project is located within 0.5 miles of the Airport to the west of the Project Site. 
However, as the runway runs from north to south parallel to the Project Site, most noise impacts would be 
experienced by users directly north and south of the Airport, as shown in the Fresno County Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan (Fresno Council of Governments 2018). The Site is outside the 60, 65, 70, and 75 
CNEL future noise contours. In addition, parcels to the north, south, and east of the Project Site are used 
for agriculture. Therefore, the Project expose minimal people within the Project Site to excessive noise 
levels, would not contribute significant ambient noise to the area, and impacts would be less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 61 

 

 

 Population and Housing 

 
Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less than 
Significant 
with 
Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Induce substantial unplanned population 
growth in an area, either directly (for example, 
by proposing new homes and businesses) or 
indirectly (for example, through extension of 
roads or other infrastructure)? 

    

b. Displace substantial numbers of existing 
people or housing, necessitating the 
construction of replacement housing 
elsewhere? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is located within the City and is largely surrounded by rural agricultural areas on P-F zoned 
land currently undeveloped. The nearest residential community to the Project Site in the City is located 
approximately 0.5-mile west and the nearest community outside the City is the City of Firebaugh 
approximately 8.5 miles northwest.  A report generated by the Fresno County Council of Governments in 
2017 predicted that the population of Mendota in 2020 would be 11,920 people, and that there would 
be 2,670 total households. The report projected 900 total jobs in the City, with 160 in agriculture (Fresno 
Council of Governments 2017). Over the past three years, the unemployment rate for the City’s 
population has exceeded 9 percent and as high as 18 percent, which is above the state average of 
approximately 4 percent (U.S. Census Bureau 2020). 

DISCUSSION 

a) Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (e.g., by 
proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (e.g., through extension of roads 
or other infrastructure)? 

Less than Significant. The proposed Project is estimated to result in the employment of 20 full-time 
employees and up to 40 additional employees during cultivation periods (i.e. planting, harvesting), for a 
total of 60 employees during peak periods. With consideration for the City’s employment rate, full-time 
employment positions offered by the Project are expected to be filled by existing residents of the City or 
surrounding communities as part of the area’s agricultural economy. While the Project would extend a 
paved road east onto the Project Site, and introduce limited water supply infrastructure, these facilities 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 62 

 

 

would not extend beyond the City limits, with bordering uses outside the City all designated for agricultural 
use and not planned for residential uses. Further, the Project Site is well separated from much in the City, 
and the City’s Sphere of Influence does not extend beyond the City limits in this area. Therefore, the Project 
would not result in substantial direct or indirect growth inducement, and impacts would be less than 
significant. 

b) Displace a substantial number of existing people or housing units, necessitating the 
construction of replacement housing elsewhere? 

Less than Significant. There are no existing onsite residences located within the Project Site. The Project 
would not displace any existing housing units or existing residents and is not expected to substantially 
increase the population or require construction of new or replacement housing. All new employees for the 
Project are anticipated to reside within the City or nearby unincorporated communities within Fresno 
County. Therefore, the Project would not contribute substantially towards the local population growth or 
demand for housing and impacts would be less than significant. 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 63 

 

 

 Public Services 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically 
altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which 
could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service rations, response times or 
other performance objectives for any of the following public services: 

a. Fire protection?     

b. Police protection?     

c. Schools?     

d. Parks?     

e. Other public facilities?      

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Fresno County Fire Protection District (FCFPD), the governing body responsible for administration of 
fire protection services at the Project Site, is staffed 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The closest office to 
the Project Site is located at 101 McCabe Avenue, approximately 1.3 miles from the Project Site, or a 2-
mile, 5-minute drive. The daily emergency response staffing for the entire fire district is 48 personnel. This 
staffing includes seven Battalion Chiefs, thirteen 2 – 3 Person Engine Companies, one 3-Person Truck 
Company, one Medium Rescue Unit, Water Tenders and Patrols housed in 13 full time fire stations (FCFPD 
2020).  

Law enforcement within the City is provided by the Mendota Police Department (MPD), with the City’s police 
station located approximately 0.5 mile to the west of the Project Site. By car the route is approximately 1.3 
miles, or 4 minutes away. The MPD employs a total of 19 personnel, including 12 sworn Police Officers and 
six volunteer Reserve Police Officers. The City’s police station is staffed 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 
Dispatch is located 8 miles north of the City in the City of Firebaugh. Mendota and Firebaugh Police Officers 
operate jointly on one dispatch ratio channel (City of Mendota 2020). Additional dispatch from the County 
Sheriff’s department may be involved in emergency response throughout the City (Sergeant Jorge Urbieta 
2020). 

There are no schools, parks, or libraries located within proximity of the Project Site. The nearest such 
facilities are located between approximately 1.0 and 1.5 miles to the west of the Project Site. Facilities 
closest to the Project include Mendota High School (1.0 mile), Mendota Elementary School (1.0 mile), and 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 64 

 

 

the Mendota Branch Library (1.4 miles). Other nearby public facilities of regional importance include the 
William Robert Johnston Municipal Airport (0.5 mile) and Mendota City Hall (1.1 miles). The closest park is 
Veteran’s Park, located 0.8 miles west of the Project Site.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Fire protection? 

Less than Significant. Construction and operation of the Project would incrementally increase the 
demand for emergency response service, including for fire protection and emergency medical services. 
According to Fire District staff, FCFPD has enough staff to service the site (Eric Watkins 2020). Backup fire 
protection and emergency medical response services are available from the Tranquillity fire station south 
of the City of Mendota, and from the City of Firebaugh. The Project must have a system in place to allow 
FCFPD access through the entrance gate in case of emergency. Pending review from the District, the 
Project would be compatible with all fire regulations (Eric Watkins 2020).  

The Project would comply with all applicable fire codes, including provision of fire suppression equipment 
and onsite water supply, as required by the FCFPD. Additional improvements required by FCFPD would 
be accommodated within the site as needed within currently undeveloped areas (e.g., compaction, all-
weather access, hammerhead turnaround, etc.; see Figure 3). Project construction would be conditioned to 
ensure an adequate onsite water supply is secured for fire-fighting purposes, as approved by the FCFPD. 
The Project would include a fire tank and pump located on the northern portion of the Site near the Storm 
Water Retention Catch Basin. This water would be available for both irrigation and emergency purposes. 
Mandatory employee training would include fire prevention and extinguishment. Prior to issuance of 
required building permits, the City would require the Applicant to remit any applicable impact fees. The 
FCFPD would also review the site plans (e.g. primary/secondary access, turning radii for fire equipment) to 
ensure access for fire trucks is provided throughout the Project Site. Implementation of City and FCFPD 
conditions and standard development requirements relating to fire protection measures (e.g., payment of 
development impact fees), as well as implementation of construction standards that meet current building 
and fire codes, would minimize impacts to fire protection services. Therefore, the change in demand for fire 
services would not require the provision of new or physically altered fire facilities and impacts would be less 
than significant. 

b) Police protection? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site would continue to be served by the Mendota Police Department. 
Currently, MPD’s employees and facilities are considered sufficient to meet current and expected demand 
for law enforcement (Sergeant Jorge Urbieta 2020). 

Added employment at the site and the potential for theft and intrusion at the Project Site would potentially 
increase the need for local law enforcement services. The Applicant includes a Site Security Plan in 
compliance with state cannabis regulation that identifies policies, protocols, and other mechanisms to 
address the potential for criminal activity. The Security Plan includes utilization of a security fence, motion 
sensors, and surveillance. These security measures are considered to reduce potential for theft, vandalism, 
or intrusion and would serve to reduce demand for local law enforcement services. While MPD resources 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 65 

 

 

are currently adequate to address City law enforcement needs, onsite security measures would reduce 
further potential for vandalism and would not substantially increase the need for additional police protection 
services or facilities, therefore resulting in less than significant impacts to police protection services. 

c) Schools? 
d) Parks? 
e) Other public facilities? 

Less than Significant. The employment of 20 full-time employees and up to 40 seasonal employees is 
anticipated to be fulfilled from the City and surrounding communities (see Section XIV, Population and 
Housing), and so is not anticipated to generate an increase of new residents to the area. Therefore, the 
Project would not introduce an influx of employees and residents that would require additional schools, 
parks, or other public facilities such as libraries, hospitals, or satellite City offices that may result in 
additional environmental impacts. Prior to receiving any required building or operation permits, the Applicant 
would remit any applicable impact fees to address increased demand for these resources (e.g., parks, 
schools). Impacts would be considered less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 66 

 

 

 Recreation 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Increase the use of existing 
neighborhood and regional parks or 
other recreational facilities such that 
substantial physical deterioration of the 
facility would occur or be accelerated? 

    

b. Include recreational facilities or require 
the construction or expansion of 
recreational facilities which might have 
an adverse physical effect on the 
environment? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The Project Site is located in a rural agricultural area and would involve the construction of agricultural, 
processing, and distribution support facilities on a parcel currently designated and zoned for public facilities. 
There are no recreational facilities on or within the vicinity of the Project Site. The nearest parks and 
recreational facilities consist of the three City owned facilities including Veteran’s Park, Jess Gill Park, and 
Rojas Pierce Park, located between approximately 1.0 and 1.5 miles to the west. In addition to resources 
provided by the City, the Mendota State Wildlife Area is located approximately three miles to the south of 
the City, offering miles of recreation facilities and nearly 12,000 acres of wildlife habitat (City of Mendota 
2009).  

DISCUSSION 

a) Increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational 
facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be 
accelerated?; and 

b) Include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational 
facilities that might have an adverse physical effect on the environment? 

Less than Significant. The Project would not require the construction of additional recreational facilities 
nor substantially increase the use of existing recreational facilities. As discussed in Section XIV, 
Population and Housing, the majority of future employees are anticipated to currently live within the 
City or in nearby surrounding communities within Fresno County , which are linked to the City by SR 33 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 67 

 

 

and SR 180. Therefore, demand for or use of recreational facilities is not expected to increase, nor require 
the construction or expansion of recreational facilities that may detrimentally impact the environment, and 
associated impacts would be considered less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 68 

 

 

 Transportation 

 
Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less than 
Significant 
with 
Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Conflict with a program, plan, 
ordinance or policy addressing 
the circulation system, 
including transit, roadway, 
bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities? 

    

b. Would the project conflict or be 
inconsistent with CEQA 
Guidelines section 15064.3, 
subdivision (b)? 

    

c. Substantially increase hazards 
due to a geometric design 
feature (e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or 
incompatible uses (e.g., farm 
equipment)? 

    

d. Result in inadequate 
emergency access? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

A Traffic Memo (Appendix D) was prepared for this Project by KD Anderson & Associates, Inc., and was 
used to inform the environmental document analysis. 

Existing Roadway Network 

The Project Site is located east of State Route 180 beyond the Union Pacific Railroad (UPRR) and Mendota 
airfield. Entrance to the Project Site would be provided by a paved road from the end of Belmont Avenue, 
and compacted earth roads would be present for circulation within the Site. The following streets and 
intersections serve the area of the Project.   

State Route 180 (Oller Street) is the primary arterial through the City of Mendota. SR 180 provides access 
to the City of Fresno to the east and terminates at the intersection with SR 33 in the northwest corner of 
Mendota. The highway has two lanes in each direction within Mendota, from Belmont Avenue (W) north to 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 69 

 

 

SR 33. The roadway narrows to a two-
lane facility south of Belmont Avenue 
(W). Caltrans’ Transportation Concept 
Report (TCR) for the highway indicates 
that the ultimate plan for both segments 
is a four-lane expressway.  A Route 
Adoption Study was completed in 
March 2013 that analyzed a plan line to 
connect SR 180 to I-5. In 2002, the 
policy board of the Council of Fresno 
County Governments (COFCG) 
supported the Caltrans District 6 
proposal to add SR 180-West between 
Route 99 and I-5, to the National 
Highway System (NHS) routes.  

The most recent traffic volume data 
reported by the California Department 
of Transportation (Caltrans) indicates that in 2018 SR 180 carried an Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) 
volume of 10,600 vehicles per day south of the SR 33 junction, 6,700 north of the Belmont Avenue (W) 
intersection and 7,300 AADT south of Belmont Avenue (W).  Caltrans data indicates that trucks comprise 
9% of the daily traffic on SR 180. 

Belmont Avenue is an east-west Arterial street that runs along the south side of Mendota. Today the western 
segment of Belmont Avenue extends west from a “tee” intersection on SR 180 across SR 33 and into Rural 
Fresno County. The portion of Belmont Avenue west of SR 180 is a two-lane roadway with continuous Two-
Way Left-Turn lane and Class 2 Bike lanes. The Mendota General Plan indicate that this roadway carried 
peak hour volumes that were equivalent to roughly 3,000 vehicles per day (vpd) when that document was 
prepared. 

Belmont Avenue (E) also extends easterly beyond SR 180 and would provide access to the Project Site.  
This segment is designated a two-lane Industrial Collector street in the circulation element and originates 
at a “tee” intersection with SR 180 roughly 800 feet to the south of the Belmont Avenue (W) intersection.  
From that point the road crosses the UPRR and turns northerly along the east side of the airport. The 
portion of Belmont Avenue from SR 180 to the UPRR is a four-lane facility but narrows to a two-lane 
roadway through the Marie Street intersection about 100 feet east of the railroad. The paved two-lane 
section continues for about 0.5 mile and ends roughly 320 feet south of the existing PV facility. Based on 
interpolation of the weekday peak hour traffic volume counts collected for this study, the daily traffic volume 
on Belmont Avenue east of SR 180 is estimated to be roughly 500 vpd.   

Marie Street and Guillan Park Drive are local streets that intersect Belmont Avenue in the area east of the 
UPRR.  Marie Street extends north along the west side of the railroad to an intersection on 9th Street near 
its UPRR crossing and continues its northern terminus at 2nd Street. Guillan Park Drive intersects Belmont 
Avenue (E) about 375 feet north of Marie Street and extends easterly.   

 
Intersection of Belmont Avenue and SR 180. This would be the 

main entrance to the Project Site’s access roadway. Source: 
Google Maps 2020.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 70 

 

 

The SR 180 / Belmont Avenue (E) intersection is a “tee” controlled by a stop sign on the westbound Belmont 
Avenue approach.  The SR 180 approaches have single lanes, and no left turn lane is available on the state 
highway.  The Belmont Avenue approach has separate left turn and right turn lanes, and the intersection is 
wide enough to accommodate truck turns.  Streetlights exist on the northeast and southwest corners. No 
crosswalks are striped at this intersection.  

The SR 180 / Belmont Avenue (E) intersection provides the only access to the Project Site. New weekday 
a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic counts were conducted in January 2020 at this location to establish the 
current Level of Service.  Based on the methods contained in the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) 
the westbound approach at this location operates LOS B. Based on methods contained in the Manual of 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) current peak hour traffic volumes fall far below the level that 
would justify an all-way stop or traffic signal. 

The UPRR Crossing on Belmont Avenue (E) is equipped with cantilevered flashing-light signals combined 
with automatics gates. Warning signs and crossing pavement markings exist on both approaches. 

Other Transportation Options 

Fresno County Rural Transit Agency (FCRTA) services are currently available to the elderly (60 yrs+), 
disabled, low-income, and general public patrons within 13 incorporated cities of Fresno County. Limited 
service is available to neighboring counties, and there are no transit stops within 0.5 mile of the Project 
Site. Currently, the FCRTA has 18 transit subsystems that are offered on a demand responsive and/or 
scheduled, fixed route basis. Scheduled, multiple roundtrips, intercity service is provided to Mendota 
through Kerman to the Fresno-Clovis Metropolitan Area and to Firebaugh, Monday through Friday, by the 
Westside Transit system. Demand responsive services are also available Monday through Friday. 

The Fresno County Regional Active Transportation Plan (ATP) describes facilities in Mendota.  Pedestrian 
circulation is currently provided by the 45.4 miles sidewalk system in residential and commercial 
neighborhoods throughout the City. There are no Class I bike paths in Mendota, but 1.2 miles of Class II 
bike lanes exist.  The closest bike lanes are on Belmont Avenue west of SR 180.   

The City of Mendota is bisected by a branchline of the UPRR that is operated by the San Joaquin Valley 
Railroad Company. Movement between the western and eastern portions of the City is severely restricted 
by the railroad line. The only crossing within the central portion of the City is via 9th Street. One additional 
crossing occurs in the northwest where SR 33 crosses the tracks and provides access via the intersection 
with Bass Avenue.  

DISCUSSION 

a) Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, 
including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

 
Less than Significant. The proposed Project would generate both short-term construction increases in 
traffic and long-term operational increases. The City of Mendota General Plan describes the traffic operating 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 71 

 

 

conditions on City streets and at intersections in terms of Level of Service, and policy C 1.2 describes City 
goals for the operation of its streets. 

POLICY C-1.2 Seek to maintain operations on all roadways and intersections at Level of Service 
C or better at all times, including peak travel times, unless maintaining this Level of Service would, 
in the City's judgment, be infeasible and/or conflict with the achievement of other goals. Congestion 
in excess of Level of Service C may be accepted in these cases, provided that provisions are made 
to improve traffic flow and/or promote non-vehicular transportation as part of a development project 
or a City-initiated project. 

The Caltrans SR 180 Transportation Concept Report, 2014 (SR 180 TCR) indicates that SR 180 north of 
Belmont Avenue (W) operates at LOS C and is expected to continue to operate at LOS C into the 
foreseeable future. The two-lane segment south from Belmont Avenue to Panoche Road is reported to 
operate at LOS D and was projected to operate at LOS E in the Year 2035. 

The Mendota General Plan EIR described current traffic operations at major intersections and roadway 
segments during peak hours. The Level of Service at SR 180 / Belmont Avenue (W) intersection was LOS 
B.  The Level of Service on Belmont Avenue west of SR 180 was LOS B in the a.m. peak hour and LOS C 
in the p.m. peak hour. East of SR 180, the roadway provides LOS C in the a.m. peak hour and LOS B in 
the p.m. peak hour. 

Project construction would require construction employee vehicle trips as well as haul, material delivery 
and concrete truck trips associated with site preparation, grading, and building construction.  Construction 
would be completed over a 6-month period. Construction would involve the use of several large flatbed 
trucks to deliver heavy equipment and building materials, haul trucks to remove debris or deliver gravel, 
and concrete trucks to pour foundations. Construction traffic would intermittently peak during periods of 
material delivery and debris removal with periods of lower levels of traffic trips for general construction of 
the onsite structures and associated facilities. The construction vehicle trips would occur on roadways with 
efficient level of service, would be short term associated with the smaller building sizes, and would not 
obstruct existing adopted programs addressing circulation.  

The Project would generate automobile and truck traffic as a result of employee commute activities as well 
as from deliveries to and from the site by truck and van. The Project is expected to employ 60 persons 
during harvest, while the number employed at the site on a regular basis outside of harvest would be less. 
Truck activities would occur at various times. Delivery schedules for nutrients and general supplies to the 
site could occur once every week or two. Nutrients are typically shipped via a single-unit truck. State 
mandated cannabis waste pick-up typically occurs every two months, and single unit trucks would also be 
used for this purpose. It is anticipated there could be up to three (3) deliveries on a weekday should all 
schedules coincide, not including general mail delivery from the U.S. Postal Service. It is anticipated there 
would be days with no deliveries. Outdoor cultivation of cannabis is proposed to occur year-round, with one 
or two harvests anticipated to occur each year. Distribution operations would involve delivery/loading of 
cannabis product up to 5 times using single unit trucks or vans during an 8-hour operational period each 
day. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 72 

 

 

The amount of vehicle traffic associated with the Project is described in terms of vehicle “trips”. Each 
roundtrip consists of one vehicle trip in and one vehicle trip out or two trips total.  For this Project, the 
number of trips would vary from day to day based on the level of delivery and shipment activity that occurs 
on a particular day. 

To provide a “worst case” assessment of daily traffic, the following assumptions have been made: 

• All 60 peak-season employees would generate trips that are “new” to the site 

• All weekly deliveries to the site occur on the same day 

• All five shipments from the site occur on the “worst case” day 

As noted in Table 10, on a “worst case” basis the Project could generate 140 daily vehicle trips in the peak 
season, of which 16 would be trucks or vans and 124 would be automobiles. 

Table 10. Trip Generation Estimate 

Activity Quantity Schedule Trip Rate 
per Day 

Daily Trips PM  
Peak 
Hour 
Trips 

Total Trucks 
and Vans 

Cars In Out 

Employee 
Commute 

60 Daily 2 per 
employee 

120 0 120 0 30 

Miscellaneous 
Deliveries 

2 Daily 2 per 
delivery 

4 0 4 1 1 

Deliveries to the 
Site 

3 Weekly 2 per 
delivery 

6 6 0 1 1 

Shipments from 
the Site 

5 Daily during 
harvest 

2 per 
shipment 

10 10 0 1 1 

Total 140 16 124 3 33 

 

A portion of the Project’s daily traffic may fall within typical peak commute hours that are the subject of 
traffic analysis under Fresno County traffic study guidelines (i.e., 7:00 to 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 to 6:00 p.m.).  
Typically, employee commute activity constitutes the majority of peak hour trips. For this analysis it was 
assumed that the share of the daily traffic accompanying cannabis facilities falling in peak hours would be 
similar to the share identified for other employment related businesses (see Appendix D for full analysis).   

The Mendota General Plan EIR described current traffic operations at major intersections and roadway 
segments during peak hours. The Level of Service at SR 180 / Belmont Avenue (W) intersection was LOS 
B. The Level of Service on Belmont Avenue west of SR 180 was LOS B in the a.m. peak hour and LOS C 
in the p.m. peak hour. East of SR 180, the roadway provides LOS C in the a.m. peak hour and LOS B in 
the p.m. peak hour. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 73 

 

 

The SR 180 / Belmont Avenue (E) intersection provides the only access to the Project Site. New weekday 
a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic counts were conducted in January 2020 (Appendix D) at this location to 
establish the current Level of Service. Based on the methods contained in the 2010 Highway Capacity 
Manual (HCM), the westbound approach at this location operates LOS B. Based on methods contained in 
the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) current peak hour traffic volumes fall far below the 
level that would justify an all-way stop or traffic signal. 

As previously discussed, Project generated short-term construction and long-term operational trips would 
access the site primarily from via SR 180. Construction traffic would be intermittent and short-term and is 
not anticipated to impact the LOS or long-term operational characteristics or levels of congestion on area 
roads, or to create long-term impacts to the operation of any intersections, streets, highways or freeways 
(see safety discussion below). As there are no pedestrian and bicycle paths or mass transit facilities in the 
Project vicinity, no impacts to such facilities from the Project would occur. Project traffic would not conflict 
with an applicable plan, ordinance or policy establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance of 
the circulation system. 

Ultimately, the proposed Project would not conflict with an applicable program, plan, ordinance or policy 
addressing the circulation system. This takes into account mass transit as well as bicycle and pedestrian 
modes of transportation. It also includes but is not limited to intersections, streets, highways and freeways, 
pedestrian and bicycle paths, and mass transit. Impacts of the Project would be less than significant. 

b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, 
subdivision (b)?  

Less than Significant. SB 743 requires lead agencies to move from a Level of Service based analysis under 
CEQA to an approach that is based on regional Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT). The CEQA Guidelines and the 
California Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR) document Technical Advisory on Evaluating 
Transportation Impacts in CEQA encourage all public agencies to develop and publish thresholds of 
significance to assist with determining when a project would have significant transportation impacts based on 
the new metric of VMT, rather than operating Level of Service (LOS). The CEQA Guidelines generally state 
that projects that decrease VMT can be assumed to have a less than significant transportation impact. The 
CEQA Guidelines do not provide any specific criteria on how to determine what level of project VMT would be 
considered a significant impact.  

Fresno County and the City of Mendota have not yet adopted methods for estimating regional VMT or 
significance criteria for evaluating impacts based on VMT. However, the Fresno Council of Governments 
(FCOG) has published draft guidelines that make use of the Fresno County regional travel demand forecasting 
model and expand upon OPR guidance. Those guidelines recommend that a project first be subject to a 
screening analysis to determine the extent of VMT analysis that is necessary.  That screening identifies projects 
that can be reasonably assumed to have less than significant VMT impacts based on criteria such as: 

• Projects in low-VMT generating areas 

• Project along high quality transit corridors 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 74 

 

 

• Locally serving retail projects 

• Project with low trip generation 

• Affordable housing projects 

Of the screening criteria, the low trip generation measure is applicable to this Project.  FCOG guidelines suggest 
that projects generating 500 or fewer daily trips be considered less than significant. The Project’s seasonal 
daily trip generation estimate of 140 daily trips falls below that level, and as a result, the Project’s impact to 
regional VMT is not significant. 

c) Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?  

Less than Significant. Roads providing access to the Project Site are flat, straight roads with no line-of-
sight issues or large amounts of traffic. Sight distance along local roads exceeds 1,000 feet. There are no 
safety or design hazards associated with SR 180 or Belmont Ave that would be exasperated as a result of 
implementation of the Project. Though uses in the vicinity of the Project include commercial agricultural 
operations and larger, slower-moving farm equipment is likely to be encountered along Belmont Avenue 
and Guillan Park Drive, the frequency of vehicles interacting with larger equipment is considered low given 
the existing and proposed volume of traffic along this roadways. As the Project would involve development 
and operation of a compatible use with surrounding commercial agricultural uses, roadway safety impacts 
associated with incompatible uses would be less than significant. 

d) Result in inadequate emergency access? 

Less than Significant. The Project would not result in inadequate emergency access to and from the area. 
As discussed above, the Project Site would be accessed from the point where the pavement currently ends 
at Belmont Avenue. From that point an approximately 24-foot-wide paved road would run notherly, then 
easterly and adjacent to the north side of the PV facility and along the north Project boundary to the Site, 
and would be constructed in compliance with fire access requirements. The internal roadway and parking 
areas would be provided adjacent to the constructed buildings. Impacts to emergency access would be 
less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 75 

 

 

 Tribal Cultural Resources 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in 
Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California 
Native American tribe, and that is: 

a. Listed or eligible for listing in the 
California Register of Historical 
Resources, or in a local register of 
historical resources as defined in 
Public Resources Code section 
5020.1(k), or 

    

b. A resource determined by the lead 
agency, in its discretion and 
supported by substantial evidence, 
to be significant pursuant to criteria 
set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code Section 5024.1. In 
applying the criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources 
Code Section 5024.1, the lead 
agency shall consider the 
significance of the resource to a 
California Native American tribe. 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The main Native American tribe present in the San Joaquin Valley were the Northern Valley Yokuts. The 
tribe was severely impacted by Spanish settlement in the early 1800’s, when disease and later the influx of 
people during the American conquest of California drove the Northern Valley Yokuts from their lands 
(Appendix C).  

AB 52, which went into effect on July 1, 2015, established a consultation process with all California Native 
American Tribes on the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) List and required consideration of 
Tribal Cultural Values in the determination of project impacts and mitigation. AB 52 established a new class 
of resources, tribal cultural resources, defined as a site feature, place, cultural landscape, sacred place or 
object, which is of cultural value to a Tribe. Tribal cultural resources are either: (1) on or eligible for the 
California Historic Register or a local historic register; or (2) treated by the lead agency, at its discretion, as 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 76 

 

 

a traditional cultural resource per Public Resources Code (PRC) 21074 (a)(1)(A)-(B). SB 18, which requires 
consultation for a General Plan Amendment, was also conducted in compliance with PRC 65352.3, which 
gives the local respondents 90 days in which to request a consultation. 

A search of the Native American Heritage Commission’s (NAHC’s) Sacred Lands File was requested on 
December 4, 2019, and conducted on December 10, 2019 to determine the presence of any Native 
American cultural resources within the proposed Project Site and general vicinity. The NAHC indicated that 
no known Native American cultural sites are present within the proposed Project Site. The NAHC identified 
13 Native American contacts, both tribes and individuals, who would potentially have specific knowledge 
as to whether cultural resources are identified in the proposed Project Site (Appendix C). 

Consistent with AB 52 and SB 18, on between January 17 and January 23, 2020, the City contacted 
representatives with traditional territory in the region to request consultation regarding tribal cultural 
resources in the Project Site. Of the 13 identified Native American contacts, the only response received 
within the 30-day comment period for AB 52 or the 90-day comment period for SB 18 was from Dirk Charley 
of the Dunlap Band of Mono Indians, expressing goodwill towards the City and the Project, but noting that 
the Project Site is far outside his Tribe’s area of concern or interest. 

A Phase 1 archaeological survey (i.e., an intensive, pedestrian ground surface survey) of the proposed 
Project Site to assess the presence/absence of cultural resources was conducted on December 18 and 19, 
2019 (Appendix C). The archaeological survey was conducted using 10- to 15-meter (33- to 49-foot) parallel 
transects. As discussed further in Section V, Cultural Resources, no previously unrecorded resources were 
identified during the survey. The survey of the entire Project Site provided an opportunity to evaluate the 
absence of cultural resources on the ground surface as well as throughout topsoils where archaeological 
materials would be expected. Based on the negative records search results and the absence of tribal 
resources noted during the Phase 1 archaeological survey, the potential for unknown, intact cultural 
resources within the proposed Project Site is considered remote. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register or Historical Resources, or in a local 
register of historical resources as defined in the Public Resources Code section 5020.1(k). 

No Impact. As discussed in Section V, Cultural Resources, the Project Site is currently utilized for 
agricultural cultivation and is not recognized as an historical resource. There are no recognized historical 
resources near the Project Site, and no previously unrecorded historic resources were identified during 
the intensive Phase 1 archeological survey. Therefore, the Project is not expected to result in impacts 
to historic resources with cultural value to a California Native American tribe.   

b) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial 
evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to 
a California Native American tribe. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 77 

 

 

Less than Significant. As discussed above, there are no known cultural resources near the Project Site, 
and a cultural monitor would not be needed. While no known archaeological, cultural, or tribal resources 
are anticipated to exist within the Project Site, there remains the possibility for undiscovered resources to 
be unearthed during construction. Adherence to California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 
California Public Resources Code Sections 5097.94 and 5079.98, which would address impacts associated 
with inadvertent discoveries and requiring the implementation of appropriate protocols in the event that 
unanticipated resources are discovered, would address potential impacts. Therefore, impacts of the Project 
on unanticipated tribal resources are considered less than significant.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 78 

 

 

 Utilities and Service Systems 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the Project: 

a. Require or result in the relocation or 
construction of new or expanded water, 
wastewater treatment or storm water 
drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 
telecommunications facilities, the 
construction or relocation of which could 
cause significant environmental effects? 

    

b. Have sufficient water supplies available 
to serve the project and reasonably 
foreseeable future development during 
normal, dry and multiple dry years?  

    

c. Result in a determination by the 
wastewater treatment provider which 
serves or may serve the project that it 
has adequate capacity to serve the 
project’s projected demand in addition to 
the provider’s existing commitments? 

      

d. Generate solid waste in excess of State 
or local standards, or in excess of the 
capacity of local infrastructure, or 
otherwise impar the attainment of solid 
waste reduction goals? 

    

e. Comply with federal, state and local 
management and reduction statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

Electrical and Natural Gas 

PG&E provides the City’s existing residential and commercial facilities with natural gas and electrical 
services. Subterranean PG&E utility access is located along Belmont Avenue to the southwest of the 
Project Site. The Project Site would be serviced by above-ground utility poles from PG&E power. Diesel or 
gasoline generators would be available for use in case of power outages.  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 79 

 

 

Water and Wastewater 

The Project Site is located on undeveloped land and is not served by public water or wastewater services. 
Under a lease agreement with the well field property owners, the City obtains higher-quality groundwater 
for domestic consumption in exchange for lower-quality water suitable for crop irrigation that is pumped 
from City-operated groundwater wells located west of the Fresno Slough. Per the existing lease agreement, 
the City pays a flat annual rate to pump up to 2,000 AFY before additional rent must be paid to the property 
owner. Pumping over 2,000 AFY requires additional annual rent in increments of 100 AFY. As of the 2017-
18 fiscal year, the City currently pumps approximately 1,800 AFY to meet its water demand of 1,485 AFY. 
City water demand is projected to increase with anticipated future development to an estimated 2,200 AFY 
by 2025 (Appendix E).  

Wastewater for the City is handled by the City’s wastewater treatment plant.2 The 120-acre plant is located 
directly northwest of the Project site and consists of aerated and facultative lagoons, percolation ponds, 
and 57 acres of shallow basins for wastewater treatment and disposal. Permitted treatment capacity of the 
plant is 2.0 million gallons per day (MGD) with a disposal capacity of 1.12 MGD. Annual total treatment at 
the plant in 2019 totaled 380.38 million gallons, averaging to 1.04 MGD. Dry weather flows from July through 
September average approximately 1.017 MGD, reflecting the slightly lower amount of wastewater that 
requires treatment during that period of the year, and indicating there is remaining capacity at the plant. 

Solid Waste 

Consistent with CalCannabis Licensing Program requirements, existing cannabis operations shall utilize a 
designated composting area for non-usable cannabis plant material. This compost is then reintroduced as 
an organic soil amendment to be applied at the cannabis cultivation area. The organic soil mixture used for 
cannabis cultivation is also amended for re-use. All remaining municipal waste would be placed in trash 
enclosures located near the proposed structures and regularly hauled to Mid Valley Disposal Inc., a locally 
permitted solid waste disposal facility. The Mid Valley Disposal facility is permitted to collect 1,500 tons per 
day with a maximum capacity of 49,000 cubic yards of municipal waste (Mid Valley Disposal 2020). In 
compliance with California’s Integrated Waste Management Act (AB 939), the City enacted the Construction 
and Demolition (C&D) Ordinance in 2007 (Mendota Municipal Code Chapter 8.16.040) requiring the 
construction, demolition, and renovation projects to dispose of job site waste in an environmentally 
responsible manner. The C&D Ordinance requires debris associated with construction, demolition, and/or 
renovation or green houses to be routed to the County Integrated Waste Management Division’s waste 
disposal facilities (e.g., Mid Valley Disposal). 

Finally, the Project is also subject to CDFA regulation that address potential impacts on utilities and service 
systems under California Code of Regulations Sections 8102(s), 8305, and 8306 which generally include 
heating and cooling power source identification and consideration, adhering to renewable energy 

 

2 Information on the City’s wastewater treatment plant verified by Provost & Pritchard Senior Civil Engineer via phone 
call October 30, 2020. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 80 

 

 

requirements, and compliance with generator requirements. Compliance with these regulations would help 
reduce potential project impacts to utilities and service systems to less than significant. 

DISCUSSION 

a) Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater 
treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications 
facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental 
effects? 

Less than Significant. The Project would require new infrastructure to supply water to the site. Irrigation 
water to be used for agricultural purposes would be supplied by the City, as well as municipal uses such as 
restrooms, hand wash stations, and drinking. The Project would include the trenching of new pipeline 
infrastructure extending along Belmont Avenue within previously disturbed areas to a connection point in 
the north-central region of the Project Site. The Project also proposes to construct a stormwater retention 
basin or basins to capture stormwater conveyed from buildings and impervious surfaces onsite, which could 
potentially supplement the Project’s water supplies.  

Wastewater for the property would be conveyed via a new sewer connection to the City’s existing 
wastewater sewer infrastructure and wastewater treatment plant. The Project is conservatively estimated 
to generate no more than 893 to 1,785 gallons per day of wastewater from municipal uses onsite associated 
with typical business operations (restrooms, bathrooms, sinks, etc.) (Appendix E). Considering the 
wastewater treatment plant’s permitted capacity of 2.0 MGD, disposal capacity of 1.12 MGD, and average 
throughput of approximately 1.04 MGD, the plant has capacity to accommodate the Project’s potential 
generated wastewater. Therefore, integration of this system would not result in the required expansion of 
City sewer treatment infrastructure, and result in less than significant impacts.  

Development of the Project may result in minimal changes in on- and offsite drainage patterns. As discussed 
in Section IX, Hydrology and Water Quality, the increase in impervious surfaces is anticipated to be 
approximately 68,000 sf (1.6 acres), which would only slightly increase runoff and would be mitigated by 
the proposed onsite basins. These improvements would be subject to standard development/permitting 
requirements (e.g., storm water permit) by the County and CVRWQCB to reduce on and offsite impacts.   

The Project is expected to increase onsite electricity demand. Project construction will include a new 
connection to the site, and would require a Will Serve Letter from PG&E. Given sufficient regional electricity 
production, this increase in demand is not anticipated to require the construction or expansion of regional 
electrical generation and/or transmission facilities. The implementation of power lines to the connection 
point along Belmont Avenue would occur within previously disturbed areas and would not result in additional 
environmental impacts. While the Project would not utilize natural gas supplies for operation of the Project, 
the Project would use small-scale propane such as for the purposes of heating sink water for employee 
breakrooms.  

Environmental effects associated with onsite construction/expansion of the water and sewer systems 
would be located within the footprint of development under the proposed Project, consisting of trenching 
and minor grading. Offsite activities associated with the expansion of these facilities would similarly require 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 81 

 

 

trenching, though would occur within previously disturbed areas and within City right of way. The Project 
would also result in minimal increases in demand of electricity, gas, or telecommunications services. 
Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. 

b) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the Project and reasonably foreseeable 
future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years?  

Less than Significant. The Applicant estimates Project water demand to be 100-150 AFY, supported by 
the City’s Will Serve Letter administered in 2020. The letter states that the Project will utilize water supplies 
delivered by the City in accordance with the City’s Lease Agreement with the outside water provider, which 
is subject to regulatory actions beyond the City’s control such as required measures under the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act. These measures may include reductions in water supply during periods 
such as a drought that would be proportionate to those required of other City rate payers; and 
disproportionate reductions in water supply would not be imposed on the Project. The Delta-Mendota 
Subbasin that would supply the site is designated a high priority basin under the CASGEM and SGMA 
programs. Project water demands on the City’s municipal sources, with consideration for the Project Site’s 
current public facility designation, proposed update to light manufacturing use, and regional agricultural 
use, would generally be consistent with the forecast for the Delta Mendota Subbasin GSP and the City 
would be responsible for participating in actions to improve basin sustainability such as water conservation 
and groundwater recharge initiatives. Finally, due to the relatively small area that would be improved with 
impervious surfaces, in addition to the proposed onsite catch basins, the Project is not anticipated to reduce 
overall groundwater recharge capabilities. With these measures in place and complying with the 
requirements of the Will Serve letter and applicable groundwater agreement, the Project would have less 
than significant impacts on water supplies available for the foreseeable future. The Applicant has sufficient 
entitlement of water to serve the Project, and the Project would not require new or expanded water 
entitlements to serve the Project beyond those required by the City’s Lease Agreement. Impacts would 
be less than significant.  

c) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may serve 
the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand in 
addition to the provider’s existing commitments? 

Less than Significant. The Project Site would be served by the City’s wastewater treatment facility for 
domestic wastewater discharge. In compliance with Zoning Code 13.08.030, the Applicant would obtain a 
permit to connect to the municipal sewer system. By participating in the permitting process, the sewer 
demand of the Project would be evaluated by the City prior to permit issuance. As discussed above, the 
City’s wastewater treatment facility has capacity to accommodate the Project’s generated wastewater. 
Assuming permit issuance, impacts to the sewer system would be less than significant.  

d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of 
local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

e) Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 82 

 

 

Less than Significant. Solid waste generated from agricultural operations would include waste from 
gardening materials (e.g., used plastic seedling pots, plastic fertilizer/pesticide bags), general trash 
generated by site personnel, and unusable plant (green) wastes and soils. Onsite solid waste generation 
by the Project is estimated to be less than 350 pounds per day (CalRecycle 2020),3 and existing facilities 
in Fresno County can adequately accommodate this quantity (Mid Valley Disposal 2020). In compliance 
with the City’s C&D Ordinance, debris generated from Project construction would be routed to the County 
Integrated Waste Management Division’s waste disposal facilities. During operation, the Project would chip 
and compost organic waste generated from cannabis cultivation and processing onsite as necessary. This 
compost would be reintroduced as organic soil amendment for the cannabis cultivation area. Other waste 
generated from the Project such as gardening materials and general trash would be regularly collected and 
hauled to a local permitted solid waste disposal facility such as the Mid Valley Disposal facility. The Project 
would comply with federal, State, and local waste management and reduction statutes, and impacts to local 
and regional solid waste disposal facilities would be less than significant.  

 

3 Assumes similar agricultural/commercial/industrial uses of ~5 lbs/1000sf/day, extrapolated to the project’s 
development area, for ~340 lbs per day, and that plant material would be largely composted or otherwise processed 
for delivery onsite. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 83 

 

 

 Wildfire 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, would the  
project: 

a. Substantially impair an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan? 

    

b. Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other 
factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 
expose project occupants to, pollutant 
concentrations from a wildfire or the 
uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? 

 

    

c. Require the installation or maintenance of 
associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel 
breaks, emergency water sources, power 
lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire 
risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing 
impacts to the environment? 

    

d. Expose people or structures to significant 
risks, including downslope or downstream 
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, 
post-fire slope instability, or drainage 
changes? 

    

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

As discussed in Section  IX, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, the Project Site is not located in a 
designated Fire Hazard Severity Zone (CAL FIRE 2020). Additionally, the Project is located approximately 
17 miles away from the nearest state responsibility area boundary. The Project is located in a predominantly 
agricultural area with substantial areas of irrigated farmland, further reducing risk of fires.  

a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

No Impact. As discussed in Section IX, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, the Project would have a 
minimal impact on emergency response and evacuation routing. Project construction and operation  
would contribute nominally to existing traffic along SR 33 and SR 180, and would not interfere with 
emergency response and evacuation along this roadway (see Section XVII, Transportation). Therefore, 
impacts to emergency response and evacuation in the result of a wildfire would be less than significant. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 84 

 

 

b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 
expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled 
spread of a wildfire? 

No Impact. The Project Site is located over 17 miles away from the nearest state responsibility area 
boundary and is not located in a designated Fire Hazard Severity Zone. Therefore, wildfire risks are 
considered negligible, and no impact would occur.  

c) Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel 
breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire 
risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

No Impact. As discussed in Section XIX, Utilities and Service Systems, the only utility infrastructure to be 
expanded as a result of the Project are those for extension of new water and wastewater sewer lines to the 
Project Site, with minor additional improvements (e.g., extension and connection) of electrical and 
telecommunication lines to exclusively serve proposed development. These would be subject to standard 
development/permitting requirements, would not require the regional increase of associated facilities, and 
would not be expected to exacerbate fire risks or result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment. 
Therefore, there would be no impact. 

d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream 
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes? 

No Impact. The Project Site is not located within a state responsibility area boundary and is not located in 
a designated Fire Hazard Severity Zone. Therefore, there is very low probability of exposure to significant 
risk as a result of runoff, post-fire instability, or drainage changes resulting from fires, and there would be 
no impacts to people or structures. 

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 85 

 

 

 Mandatory Findings of Significance 

 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

a. Does the project have the potential to 
substantially degrade the quality of the 
environment, substantially reduce the habitat 
of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or 
wildlife population to drop below self-
sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant 
or animal community, substantially reduce the 
number or restrict the range of rare or 
endangered plants or animals, or eliminate 
important examples of the major periods of 
California history or prehistory? 

    

b. Does the project have impacts that are 
individually limited, but cumulatively 
considerable? ("Cumulatively considerable" 
means that the incremental effects of a 
project are considerable when viewed in 
connection with the effects of past projects, 
the effects of other current projects, and the 
effects of probable future projects)? 

     

c. Does the project have environmental effects 
that will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

      

DISCUSSION 

a) Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 
substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife 
population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal 
community, substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of rare or endangered 
plants or animals, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California 
history or prehistory? 

Less than Significant with Mitigation. As described in Section IV, Biological Resources, the Project Site 
is located within an area with moderate potential to contain sensitive wildlife species. Impacts to the 
environment have been determined to be less than significant with implementation of MM BIO-1. Sections 
V, Cultural Resources and XVIII, Tribal Cultural Resources, describe the potential for cultural or significant 
paleontological resources to be encountered due to the proposed Project; however, due to the low potential 
for unanticipated onsite resources, adherence to California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 86 

 

 

California Public Resources Code Sections 5097.94 and 5079.98 would address impacts associated with 
cultural resources and ensure impacts to California history or prehistory would be less than significant.  

b) Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
"Cumulatively considerable" means that the incremental effects of a project are 
considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of 
other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects; and 

c) Does the project have environmental effects that will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

Less than Significant. Based on the analysis provided in this IS/MND and cumulative projects anticipated 
by the City, the proposed Project would not result in any significant impacts on an individual or cumulative 
level and would not result in any significant adverse effects on human beings. The Project would provide a 
beneficial impact for employment within the City. The Project would not impact the visual aesthetics of any 
nearby projects and would be consistent in nature and use with the surrounding agricultural environment.  

Cumulative construction impacts related to the proposed Project and other development projects has the 
potential to result in cumulative air quality, GHG, noise, and temporary traffic safety and circulation impacts. 
There is the potential for future projects (existing or not yet existing) in the vicinity of the proposed site to 
undergo construction simultaneously with the Project, resulting in temporarily adverse impacts; however, 
such impacts would be short-term due to the temporary nature of construction. Cumulative construction 
impacts therefore would be temporarily adverse but less than significant.  

Operation of the Project in combination with cumulative projects would incrementally increase demand on 
City public services and utilities, as well as surface and groundwater supplies; however, as described in 
Sections XV, Public Services and Section XIX, Utilities and Service Systems, the Project would result in 
manageable increases in demand for regional services or utility supplies due to provision of services onsite 
or due to the negligible increase in need for additional City infrastructure beyond what is proposed under 
the Project. Regarding potential cumulative impacts of other pending or approved projects, the City supports 
a variety of commercial and industrial land uses where changes to or expansion of existing uses or potential 
new future proposed uses may affect long-term utility and service system demand over time. However, 
adopted City policy for and required review of additional pending development projects, including cannabis 
projects decrease the potential for cumulative impacts. In addition, the potential for additional cannabis 
projects in the vicinity is limited by both state and City regulations. As discussed in Section XI, Land Use 
and Planning, and addressed via the General Plan, the City includes a Commercial Cannabis Overlay 
District that encourages additional cannabis businesses within the City limits that will increase the potential 
for cannabis-related projects and potential cumulative associated impacts. For instance, as of December 
15, 2020, the Mendota Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. PC 18-01, which authorized the 
renovation of an existing cold storage packing facility into an industrial center for cannabis cultivation and 
processing on a parcel located approximately 0.75 miles to the southwest of the Project Site. Cumulatively, 
while additional cannabis cultivation projects or other agriculturally related projects would contribute to the 
potential for increased services and utilities, construction and operation of the Project would not be 
considered cumulatively considerable due to adherence to the local GSP, capacity of the existing utilities 
to accommodate the project, and application of mitigation measures.   



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 87 

 

 

Operation of the Project would not individually, nor in combination with cumulative projects, result in 
significant impacts to operations and safety along SR 180 or other local City or County roads (see Section 
XVII, Transportation). Therefore, cumulative impacts and impacts to human beings from the proposed 
Project are considered less than significant. 

REQUIRED MITIGATION MEASURES 

MM BIO-1 would apply.  

  



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 88 

 

 

References 
Branum, D., R. Chen, and C. Wills. 2016. “Earthquake Shaking Potential for California.” 
CalFire. 2020. “FHSZ Viewer.” 2020. https://egis.fire.ca.gov/FHSZ/. 
California Air Resources Board (CARB). 2020. “GHG Current California Emission Inventory Data.” 2020. 

http://www.arb.ca.gov/ghg-inventory-data. 
California Department of Conservation. 2020. “Fault Activity Map of California.” 2020. 

https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/fam/. 
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 1998. “Technical Noise Supplement.” 

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/Technical%20Noise%20Supplement.pdf. 
California State Parks. 2020a. “California Historic Landmarks by County - Fresno.” 2020. 

https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=21418. 
———. 2020b. “California Historical Resources.” 2020. 

https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/ListedResources/?view=county&criteria=10. 
CalRecycle. 2020. “Estimated Solid Waste Generation Rates.” 2020. 

https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/WasteCharacterization/General/Rates#:~:text=Solid%20waste%2
0generation%20rates%20estimate,or%20disposed%20in%20a%20landfill. 

Caltrans. 2013a. “Technical Noise Supplement to the Traffic Noise Analysis Protocol.” California 
Department of Transportation. 2013. 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/TeNS_Sept_2013B.pdf. 

———. 2013b. “Transportation and Construction Vibration Guidance Manual.” September 2013. 
https://www.placer.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/8273/Caltrans-2013-Transportation-and-
Construction-Vibration-Guidance-Manual-PDF. 

CARB. 2014. “Assembly Bill 32 - California Global Warming Solutions Act.” 2014. 
http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/ab32/ab32.htm. 

———. 2016. “California’s Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory.” 2016. 
http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/data.htm. 

CDC. 2020. “Mineral Land Classification.” 2020. 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/informationwarehouse/mlc/. 

City of Mendota. 2009. “City of Mendota General Plan Update 2005-2025.” http://ci.mendota.ca.us/wp-
content/uploads/2014/06/City-of-Mendota-General-Plan-Update.pdf. 

———. 2020. “Police Department.” 2020. http://ci.mendota.ca.us/police-department/#1521561856286-
03c2ff1c-2aac. 

County of Fresno. 2000a. “County of Fresno General Plan Update 2000.” 
https://www.co.fresno.ca.us/home/showdocument?id=13736. 

———. 2000b. “County of Fresno General Plan EIR - Seismic and Geologic Hazards.” 
http://www2.co.fresno.ca.us/4510/4360/General_Plan/GP_Final_EIR/EIR/seisgeo413.pdf. 

———. 2020. “Groundwater Sustainability Plan County of Fresno GSA.” 
file:///C:/Users/GINA~1.SAW/AppData/Local/Temp/Fresno%20County%20Management%20Area
%20A&B%20GSP_FINAL_withAppendices.pdf. 

County of Yolo. 2009a. “2030 Countywide General Plan EIR.” https://www.yolocounty.org/general-
government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/general-plan/final-
environmental-impact-report-eir. 

———. 2009b. “2030 Countywide General Plan.” 
Denver Environmental Health. 2016. “Frequently Asked Questions - Nuisance Odor Provisions Update.” 
Eric Watkins. 2020. Phone Call with Fire District. 
FCFPD. 2020. “District Operations.” 2020. https://www.fresnocountyfire.org/stations-and-

functions/#district-operations. 
FEMA. 2020. “Flood Zones.” 2020. https://floodpartners.com/flood-zones/. 



 

City of Mendota                                                               Valley Agricultural Holdings, Application No. 20-23 
December 2020  Initial Study 
 89 

 

 

Fresno Council of Governments. 2017. “Fresno County 2050 Growth Projections.” 
https://www.fresnocog.org/wp-
content/uploads/publications/RTP/2018_RTP/Fresno_COG_2050_Projections_Final_Report_050
417.pdf. 

———. 2018. “Fresno County Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan.” 
https://www.fresnocog.org/project/airport-land-use-commission-fresno-county/. 

Mid Valley Disposal. 2020. “Mid Valley Disposal.” 2020. http://www.midvalleydisposal.com/index.php. 
National Park Service. 2020. “National Register Database and Research.” 2020. 

https://www.nps.gov/subjects/nationalregister/database-research.htm. 
NRCS. 2018. “Web Soil Survey - Yolo County.” 2018. 

https://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx. 
———. 2020. “Soil Data Access (SDA) Prime and Other Important Farmlands.” 2020. 

https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcseprd1338623.html. 
PG&E. 2019. “Where Your Electricity Comes From.” https://www.pge.com/pge_global/common/pdfs/your-

account/your-bill/understand-your-bill/bill-inserts/2019/1019-Power-Content-Label.pdf. 
Sergeant Jorge Urbieta. 2020. Phone Call with Police Department. 
SJVAPCD. 2015. “Air Quality Thresholds of Significance - Criteria Pollutants.” 

http://www.valleyair.org/transportation/0714-GAMAQI-Criteria-Pollutant-Thresholds-of-
Significance.pdf. 

———. 2020a. “Air Monitoring.” 2020. http://valleyair.org/aqinfo/air-monitoring.htm. 
———. 2020b. “Air Quality Thresholds of Significance – Toxic Air Contaminants.” 

http://www.valleyair.org/transportation/0714-GAMAQI-TACs-Thresholds-of-Significance.pdf. 
———. 2020c. “Ambient Air Quality Standards & Valley Attainment Status.” 2020. 

http://www.valleyair.org/aqinfo/attainment.htm. 
———. 2020d. “Current District Rules and Regulations.” 2020. http://www.valleyair.org/rules/1ruleslist.htm. 
———. 2020e. “District Advisory: Cannabis Operations.” 2020. 

http://www.valleyair.org/busind/pto/cannabis-operations.htm. 
SWRCB. 2019. “Cannabis Cultivation Policy.” 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/cannabis/docs/policy/final_cannabis_poli
cy_with_attach_a.pdf. 

U.S. Census Bureau. 2020. “U.S. Census Bureau Quickfacts - Fresno County - Mendota - Employment.” 
2020. 
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/all?q=Mendota%20city,%20California%20Employment&g=050000
0US06019. 

USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS]. 2020. “Web Soil Survey.” 2020. 
https://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx. 

Western Regional Climate Center. 2020. “Western Regional Climate Center - Prevailing Wind Direction - 
California - Station - Fresno Air Terminal, CA.” 2020. 
https://wrcc.dri.edu/Climate/comp_table_show.php?stype=wind_dir_avg. 

 



City of Mendota 
 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
Responses to Comments on the Draft Initial Study Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
1 

Mitigated Negative Declaration 
December 2020 

 
 

Responses to Comments on the Draft Initial 
Study Mitigated Negative Declaration 

This section includes comments received during the circulation of the Draft Initial Study Mitigated 
Negative Declaration (IS/MND) prepared for the Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
(Project). 

The Draft IS/MND was circulated for a 30-day public review period that began on November 13, 
2020 and ended on December 14, 2020. The City of Mendota received two comment letters on 
the Draft IS/MND during this period. The commenters and the page number on which each 
commenter’s letter appear are listed below. 

Letter No. and Commenter 

Comment Set/ 
Number of Comments Name of Commenter Date Received 

1 1.1 – 1.2 Fresno County Fire Protection District November 16, 2020 

2 2.1 – 2.3 California Department of Food & Agriculture (CDFA) December 8, 2020 

The comment letters and responses follow. The comment letters have been numbered 
sequentially and each separate issue raised by the commenter, if more than one, has been 
assigned a number. The responses to each comment identify first the number of the comment 
letter, and then the number assigned to each issue (Response 1.1, for example, indicates that the 
response is for the first issue raised in comment Letter 1). Edits made to the IS/MND between the 
Draft and Final Draft manifest in a strikeout and underline format to identify removed and added 
text, respectively. 

  



Honor, Integrity, Cooperation & Professionalism  

Rev. 7/10/2020  

                            FRESNO COUNTY FIRE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
November 16, 2020 

 
Jeffrey O’Neal, AICP – City Planner 
City of Mendota 
c/o Provost & Pritchard Consulting Group 
286 W. Cromwell Ave 
Fresno, CA 93711-6162 
 
Transmitted by Email to:     joneal@ppeng.com     
 
RE:      Application Reference #:AP#20-23   
 Name of Applicant: VALLEY AG HOLDINGS  

 Address of Project: W. BELMONT AVE  

 City, State & Zip of Project: MENDOTA, CA   
 
 

Fresno County Fire Protection District (FCFPD) has received notice of the project and will 
continue to review the project for its potential impacts on the FCFPD.   
 
     Application Types 

 
            Site Plan Review (SPR)   Initial Study Application (ISA) 

Director Review Application (DRA) Variance Application (VA) 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP)  General Plan Application (GPA) 

Tentative Parcel Map (TPM, TPMW) Tentative Tract Map (TTM) 

  Pre-Application for Certificate of Compliance (PCOC) 

 

All application types stated above SHALL comply with California Code of Regulations Title 24 
– Fire Code.  Prior to receiving your FCFPD conditions of approval for your project, you must 
submit construction plans to the County of Fresno Public Works and Planning and FCFPD for 
review.  It is the Applicants Responsibility to deliver a minimum of two (2) sets of plans to the 
FCFPD. 
 

      
 
 
 
 
 

PROTECTION DISTRICT                                            210 South Academy Avenue 

 Sanger, California 93657 

Telephone: (559) 493-4300 

Fax: (559) 875-7451 

www.fresnocountyfire.org  

 

http://www.fresnocountyfire.org/
matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
1.1

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
Comment Letter 1



 
AP#20-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

Your Project/Development may be required to annex into the into Community 
Facilities District No. 2010-01 of the Fresno County Fire Protection District.  
Project/Developments included:  Single Family Residential (SFR), SFR Properties 
subdivided into three (3) or more housing units, Multi-Family Residential (MFR) 
Property, Commercial Property, Industrial Property, and/or Office Property.   
                   
Project/Developments will be subject to the requirements of the current Fire Code and 
Building Code when a building permit or certificate of occupancy is sought.   
 
Before plans are submitted to the Fresno County Fire Protection District, please visit 
our website at www.fresnocountyfire.org and complete the Fire Permit Application to 
submit with your plans.   
 
Please Note – requirements for your project may include but are not limited to: 

 
Water Flow Requirements    Fire Hydrants 

Water Storage Requirements    Fire Sprinklers Systems 

Fire Pumps      Fire Alarm Systems 

Road Access      Premises Identification 

 
Please contact the FCFPD at (559) 493-4359 to schedule an over the counter meeting 
to receive specific requirements for your project.  Failure to schedule an appointment 
with the FCFPD will affect your ability to obtain final approval for your project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
MARK A. JOHNSON 
District Fire Chief 
 
By 

 
JIM McDOUGALD, DIVISION CHIEF 
Fire Prevention  

  

http://www.fresnocountyfire.org/
matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
1.1



City of Mendota 
 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
Responses to Comments on the Draft Initial Study Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
4 

Mitigated Negative Declaration 
December 2020 

 
 

Letter 1 
Commenter: Mark A. Johnson, District Fire Chief, Fresno County Fire Protection District (FCFPD) 

Date: November 16, 2020 

Response 1.1 
The commenter states that the Project is required to submit site plans for FCFPD review. The 
commenter states the Project will be subject to the requirements of the current Fire Code and Building 
Code when a building permit is sought. 

The text on pages 61 and 62 identifies improvement requirements of FCFPD and required adherence 
to fire codes. The IS/MND notes that FCFPD would review the site plans (e.g. primary/secondary 
access, turning radii for fire equipment, ensuring access for fire trucks), and that the Project is subject 
to development requirements relating to fire protection measures. The commenter’s input regarding 
FCFPD review is noted and will be included in decision-maker consideration. 

 
  



 
 
December 08, 2020 
 
 
Jeffrey O’Neal, City Planner 
City of Mendota 
643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640 
joneal@ppeng.com 
 
Subject: Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (SCH No. 2020110237) – 

Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
 
 
Dear Mr. O’Neal: 
 
Thank you for providing the California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) 
CalCannabis Cultivation Licensing Division (CalCannabis) the opportunity to comment 
on the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) (SCH No. 20200110237) 
prepared by the City of Mendota for the proposed Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
(Proposed Project). 

CDFA has jurisdiction over the issuance of licenses to cultivate, propagate and 
process commercial cannabis in California. CDFA issues licenses to outdoor, indoor, 
and mixed-light cannabis cultivators, cannabis nurseries and cannabis processor 
facilities, where the local jurisdiction authorizes these activities. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
26012(a)(2).) All commercial cannabis cultivation within California requires a 
cultivation license from CDFA. For a complete list of all license requirements, including 
CalCannabis Licensing Program regulations, please visit: 
https://static.cdfa.ca.gov/MCCP/document/CDFA%20Final%20Regulation%20Text_0
1162019_Clean.pdf. 

CDFA expects to be a Responsible Agency for this project because the project will 
need to obtain an annual cultivation license from CDFA. In order to ensure that the 
IS/MND is sufficient for CDFA’s needs at that time, CDFA requests that a copy of the 
IS/MND, revised to respond to the comments provided in this letter, and a signed 
Notice of Determination be provided to the applicant, so the applicant can include them 
with the application package it submits to CDFA. This should apply not only to this 
Proposed Project, but to all future CEQA documents related to cannabis cultivation 
applications in the City of Mendota. 



2 

 

Comments and Recommendations 

CDFA offers the following comments concerning the IS/MND. 

Comment 1: Acknowledgement of CDFA Regulations 

CDFA appreciates that the IS/MND acknowledges CDFA’s role as the state agency for 
cannabis cultivation licensing and regulation, as defined in the Medicinal and Adult-Use 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (MAUCRSA) and CDFA regulations related to 
cannabis cultivation (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 26103(a)). Although the document cites CDFA 
regulations on certain topics (e.g. energy, waste), the IS/MND’s analysis would also 
benefit from discussion of the additional protections for environmental resources provided 
by CDFA’s regulations. In particular, the impact analysis would be further supported by 
an explicit identification of the state regulations that reduce the severity of impacts on the 
following resource topics: 

• Aesthetics (See 3 California Code of Regulations § 8304(c); § 8304(g).) 
• Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (See § 8102(s); § 8304(e); § 8305; § 

8306.) 
• Biological Resources (See § 8102(w); § 8102(dd); § 8216; § 8304(a-c); § 8304(g).) 
• Cultural Resources (See § 8304(d).) 
• Hazards and Hazardous Materials (See § 8102(q); § 8102(aa); § 8106(a)(3); § 

8304(f); § 8307.) 
• Hydrology and Water Quality (See § 8102(p); § 8102(v); § 8102(w); § 8102(dd); § 

8107(b); § 8216; § 8304(a and b); § 8307.) 
• Noise (See § 8304(e); § 8306.) 
• Utilities and Service Systems (See § 8102(s); § 8108; § 8308.) 
• Energy (See §8102(s); § 8305; § 8306.) 
• Cumulative Impacts (related to the above topics). 

Comment 2: Evaluation of Cumulative Impacts 

It is important for CEQA analysis to consider the cumulative impacts of cannabis 
cultivation in the City of Mendota. Of particular importance are topics for which the impacts 
of individual projects may be less than significant, but where individual projects may make 
a considerable contribution to a significant cumulative impact. These topics include, but 
are not limited to: 

matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
2.1

matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
2.2



3 

• cumulative impacts from groundwater diversions on the health of the underlying 
aquifer, including impacts on other users and impacts on stream-related resources 
connected to the aquifer; 

• cumulative impacts related to transportation; and 
• cumulative impacts related to air quality and objectionable odors. 

The IS/MND would be improved by acknowledging and analyzing the potential for 
cumulative impacts resulting from the Proposed Project coupled with other cannabis 
cultivation projects being processed by the City, and any other reasonably foreseeable 
projects in Mendota that could contribute to cumulative impacts similar to those of the 
Proposed Project. 

Comment 3: Project-specific Plans and Supporting Documentation 

The IS/MND references several project-specific plans and studies, including a 
Biological Study, Phase I Archaeological Survey; Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment; Transportation Analysis Memo, Water Supply Feasibility Study, Odor 
Nuisance Review; Odor Monitoring Plan, Nitrogen Management Plan, Safety Plan, 
Water Supply Source Plan, Sewage Disposal Site Plan, and Site Security Plan. To 
ensure that CDFA has supporting documentation for the IS/MND, CDFA requests that 
the City advise applicants to provide copies of all project-specific plans and supporting 
documentation with their state application package for an annual cultivation license to 
CDFA.  

Conclusion 

CDFA appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on the IS/MND for the Proposed 
Project. If you have any questions about our comments or wish to discuss them, please 
contact Kevin Ponce, Senior Environmental Scientist Supervisor, at (916) 576-4161 or 
via e-mail at kevin.ponce@cdfa.ca.gov.  

Sincerely, 

 

Lindsay Rains 
Licensing Program Manager 

 

Lindsay Rains
Digitally signed by Lindsay 
Rains 
Date: 2020.12.09 07:44:36 
-08'00'

matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
2.2

matthew.buggert
Line

matthew.buggert
Typewritten text
2.3



City of Mendota 
 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
Responses to Comments on the Draft Initial Study Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
8 

Mitigated Negative Declaration 
December 2020 

 
 

Letter 2 
Commenter: Lindsay Rains, Licensing Program Manager, California Department of Food & 

Agriculture (CDFA) 

Date: December 8, 2020 

Response 2.1 
The commenter states that though the IS/MND acknowledges CDFA’s role as the state agency for 
cannabis cultivation licensing and regulation, the IS/MND analysis would also benefit from discussion 
of the additional protections for environmental resources provided by CDFA’s regulations. Specifically, 
the commenter states that the impact analysis would be further strengthened with the explicit 
identification of state regulations that reduce the severity of impacts on the document’s resource areas.  

As noted by the commenter, the IS/MND accurately reflects CDFA’s role in the cannabis licensing and 
regulatory process. The IS/MND identifies specific CDFA regulations, reference to CDFA compliance, 
or required project approval through CDFA on pages 1, 35, 50, and 52. With input from the commenter, 
the IS/MND has been updated to include specific reference to those regulations suggested by the 
commenter on pages 6, 16, 27, 32, 34, 42, 45, 50, 58, and 78. 

Response 2.2 
The commenter states that the IS/MND would be improved with additional discussion related to 
potential cumulative impacts. Specifically, the commenter requests additional analysis related to, but 
not limited to: cumulative acts from groundwater diversions on the health of the underlying aquifer, 
including impacts on other users and impacts on stream-related resources connected to the aquifer; 
cumulative impacts related to transportation; and cumulative impacts related to air quality and 
objectionable odors. The commenter requests additional discussion that considers other cannabis 
projects or other foreseeable projects in the City.  

The IS/MND identifies and discusses potential impacts to groundwater, surface water and air quality, 
as well as potential cumulative impacts. The text on page 84 of the IS/MND is primarily focused on 
discussion of cumulative impacts, and includes consideration for air quality, GHG, noise, safety, and 
circulation, including the potential for future, currently unknown, projects. The IS/MND text on page 50 
additionally includes consideration for regional services and utility supplies, and the utilities and 
hydrology analysis include consideration for cumulative impacts to surface waters in the Fresno 
Slough from neighboring properties (page 49) and developed areas within proximity to the Slough 
(page 52). Additionally, the IS/MND considers impacts on City water supply from three production 
groundwater wells and two emergency backup wells north of the City. The project, in accordance with 
the City’s Lease Agreement with B&B Ranch for provision of groundwater to the City, is subject to the 
adopted Groundwater Sustainability Plan which addresses drought and/or water supply conditions. 
However, to more fully address the commenter’s concerns, additional analysis has been included on 
page 84 of the IS/MND to expand on the potential impacts that can occur to groundwater supplies and 
the underlying aquifer if additional cumulative projects occur in the vicinity. For instance, since the 
Public Draft IS/MND was made available during public review, a resolution (Resolution No. PC 18-01) 
was adopted by the City Planning Commission on December 15, 2020, to authorize the renovation of 
an existing cold storage packing facility located approximately 0.75 miles to the southwest of the 
Project Site into an industrial center for cannabis cultivation and processing. This additional approved 
project would incrementally increase the potential for cumulative impacts (e.g. odor, water, electricity 



City of Mendota 
 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
Responses to Comments on the Draft Initial Study Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Mendota Valley Agricultural Holdings Project 
9 

Mitigated Negative Declaration 
December 2020 

 
 

demand). However, this additional cumulative project would be located in an existing cold storage 
packing facility with a long history of operation and associated impacts due to electric and water 
demand, odor and noise generation, etc. Such potential increases in cumulative impacts would 
therefore be largely consistent with the historic environmental baseline in the City and would be further 
limited due to City and utility service operator regulatory requirements. These would include state 
regulations such as those of CDFA, the Bureau of Cannabis Control, State Water Resources Control 
Board, and the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, among others as stated on pages 1 and 2 
of the IS/MND, in addition to conditions imposed by the City of Mendota. Ultimately, the scale of the 
Project and required regulatory requirements for Project approval limit the potential for cumulative 
impacts and would continue to be less than significant. However, additional discussion has been 
added to pages 51, 52, and 86 of the IS/MND to address such potential concerns. 

Response 2.3 
The commenter states that the City should advise the applicant to provide copies of all project-specific 
plans and studies (appendices to the IS/MND) and include this supporting documentation with state 
application packages for an annual cultivation license to CDFA.  

The commenter’s input regarding supporting documentation for CDFA annual cultivation licenses from 
the applicant is noted and will be included in decision-maker consideration.  



1 
 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE       RESOLUTION NO. 21-01 
CITY OF MENDOTA ADOPTING A MITIGATED 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION PURSUANT TO THE 
CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT  
IN THE MATTER OF APPLICATION NO. 20-23,  
THE VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, LLC,  
COMMERCIAL CANNABIS PROJECT (PORTION  
OF APN 013-030-68ST) 
 
 WHEREAS, at a regular meeting on January 12, 2021 the Mendota City Council 
considered Application No. 20-23, submitted by Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC, said 
application proposing to develop approximately 59 acres of Assessor’s Parcel No. 013-
030-68ST with a commercial cannabis facility; and 
 

WHEREAS, to facilitate said development, the applicant has requested that the 
City undertake various processes, said processes to include: 

1. An amendment to the General Plan Land Use Designation of the Project Site 
from Public/Quasi-Public Facilities. 

2. An amendment to the zoning of the site from P-F/CO (Public Facilities with the 
Commercial Cannabis Overlay District) to M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing with 
the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District). 

3. A conditional use permit. 
4. A development agreement; and 

WHEREAS, on or around October 22, 2019, the City of Mendota (“City”) entered 
into a purchase and sale agreement with Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC and The Axiom 
Group regarding the conveyance of a 59-acre portion of Assessor’s Parcel No. 013-030-
68ST, owned in fee by the City, to Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC; and 

 
WHEREAS, the requested processes and the resulting physical development of 

the Project Site, individually and collectively, constitute a “project” pursuant to the 
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), Public Resources Code section 21000, et 
seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California Code of Regulations, title 14, chapter 3, section 
15000, et seq.; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21080.3.1, on January 
23, 2020 the City provided notice of the Project to the Santa Rosa Rancheria Tachi Yokut 
Tribe, and received no response therefrom; and 

 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City has prepared an initial study pursuant to the provisions of 

CEQA and made a preliminary determination that approval of the Project, with mitigation 



2 
 

incorporated, would not result in any significant impacts to the environment, and 
accordingly adoption of a mitigated negative declaration would be appropriate; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 13, 2020 the City published a notice of intent to adopt 

a mitigated negative declaration in The Business Journal, said notice indicating that the 
initial study and proposed mitigated negative declaration (IS/MND) would be available for 
public review starting on November 13, 2020 and ending on December 14, 2020; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 13, 2020 the City filed the IS/MND and accompanying 

support documents with the State Clearinghouse pursuant to Governor’s Executive 
Orders N-80-20 and N-54-20, which in pertinent part conditionally suspend CEQA’s local 
filing requirements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the IS/MND was assigned the State Clearinghouse Number 

2020110237; and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 13, 2020 the City also provided copies of said IS/MND 

to various local entities for review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, comments were received from the Fresno County Fire 
Department/CAL FIRE, the California Department of Food & Agriculture, and the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife; and 
 
 WHEREAS, comments received from the commenting agencies have been 
incorporated into the IS/MND and Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, incorporation of said comments served only to clarify statements and 
information already contained within the IS/MND and does not constitute new information, 
new mitigation, new potentially significant effects, or other change in circumstances of the 
Project that would necessitate recirculation of the IS/MND pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
section 15073.5; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that it cannot be fairly argued, nor is there any 
substantial evidence in the record, that the project could have a significant effect on the 
environment, either directly or indirectly; and 

 
WHEREAS, based upon the initial study and mitigated negative declaration and 

the record, the project will not individually or cumulatively have an adverse impact on 
environmental resources; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Mendota is the custodian of the documents and other 
materials that constitute the record of the proceedings upon which the City Council’s 
decision is based, and Mendota City Hall, 643 Quince Street, Mendota, CA is the location 
of this record; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Mendota City Council takes the 
following actions: 



3 
 

1. Finds that the initial study and mitigated negative declaration prepared for the 
project comply with provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act and the 
CEQA Guidelines, and affirm that, with incorporation of mitigation, the project will 
not have a significant effect on the environment; and 

2. Adopts the mitigated negative declaration and mitigation monitoring & reporting 
program as contained in Exhibit “A” and Exhibit “B” hereto, respectively; and  

3. Directs the City Manager or his designee to file a notice of determination with the 
Fresno County Clerk within five (5) business days following approval of the Project.  

        
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a regular 
meeting of said Council held at Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of January 2021, by the 
following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       ______________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 
 



Exhibit “A” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 
 
LEAD AGENCY: City of Mendota 
   643 Quince Street 
   Mendota, CA 93640   
 
PROJECT TITLE: Application No. 20-23 – Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC Commercial Cannabis Project 
 
STATE CLEARINGHOUSE: 2020110237         
 
ADDRESS/LOCATION:  No address; Project Site is a 59-acre portion of Fresno County APN 013-030-68ST, 
located approximately 0.25-mile east of Belmont Avenue and 0.5-mile north of Guillan Park Drive.  
 
PROJECT APPLICANT: Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC    
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: The Project proposes to develop a 59-acre commercial cannabis facility including 
cultivation, processing, and distribution.  The Project includes a general plan amendment, rezoning, conditional use 
permit, and a development agreement along with various State approvals for cannabis licensing. 
  
CONTACT PERSON: Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager; 559.655.3291      
 
The City Council of the City of Mendota has reviewed the proposed Project described herein along with the initial study 
prepared pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), and has found that this Project will have no 
significant impact on the environment for the following reasons: 
 
1. The project does not have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of 

a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate 
a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or 
eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. 

 
2. The project does not have the potential to achieve short-term environmental goals to the disadvantage of long-term 

environmental goals. 
 
3. The project does not have possible environmental effects which are individually limited but cumulatively 

considerable; “cumulatively considerable” means that the incremental effects of an individual project are 
considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and 
the effects of probable future projects. 

 
4. The environmental effects of a project will not cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or 

indirectly. 
 
5. Mitigation measures   were,   were not made a condition of the approval of the project. 
 

On January 12, 2021, based upon a recommendation from staff, the Mendota Planning City Council adopted Resolution 
No. 21-01, determining that with mitigation the above Project would have no significant effect on the environment.  
Copies of the documents relating to the Project, including the initial study, may be examined by interested parties at 
Mendota City Hall, 643 Quince Street, Mendota, CA 93640. 
 
 
 
Dated: January 12, 2021   Attest:        
       Hon. Rolando Castro, Mayor  



Exhibit “B” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

 MENDOTA VALLEY AGRICULTURAL 
HOLDINGS PROJECT 

MITIGATION MONITORING 
AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

PURPOSE 
This section of the Final Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) provides the 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) that would be used to monitor the 
implementation of the mitigation measures adopted for the Mendota Valley Agricultural 
Holdings Project (Project). 
INTRODUCTION 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires the adoption of feasible mitigation 
measures to reduce the severity and magnitude of potentially significant environmental impacts 
associated with development projects. However, simply adopting these measures in not adequate 
under state law. Lead agencies are also required to adopt a program that will be used to ensure 
that the mitigation measures are, in fact, implemented. The requirements for mitigation 
monitoring or reporting are codified in Section 15097 of the State CEQA Guidelines. 
The Final IS/MND for the Project identifies project‐specific mitigation measures to reduce the 
potentially significant impacts of the project as proposed. Following adoption of the Final 
IS/MND and approval of this MMRP by the City of Mendota, the project‐specific mitigation 
measures identified in the Final IS/MND would be implemented and monitored as described in 
this MMRP. 
LIST OF MITIGATION MEASURES 
The mitigation measures adopted for the Project are listed in the following table along with the 
action required, the timing for implementation of each measure, the parties responsible for 
monitoring the mitigation measure and the parties responsible for implementing the mitigation 
measure. 
MONITORING TABLE 
For each mitigation measure, Table 1 identifies 1) the full text of the mitigation measure; 2) the 
action(s) required by the mitigation measure; 3) applicable timing; and 4) the entity responsible 
for monitoring the action and verifying compliance.  



Exhibit “B” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

Table 1. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Mitigation Measure Action Required Timing Monitoring Responsibility 
Air Quality  
AQ-1: Odor Monitoring Plan (OMP). To 
reduce potential effects of nuisance odors to the 
extent feasible, the permit issued for the Project 
shall have an OMP, subject to approved by the 
City. The requirements of this mitigation are 
designed to be flexible, to balance the 
protection of sensitive resources with active 
monitoring. The approved OMP shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following elements to 
address issues from nuisance odors: 

• The name and telephone number of a 
designated individual who is responsible 
for logging in and responding to odor 
complaints, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week; 

• Include an enforceable process to require 
operational changes to mitigate odors in 
the case that the site generates recurring 
odor emissions that have been 
documented to be persistent, intrusive, or 
pervasive by nearby sensitive receptors, 
such as the installation of odor control 
mechanisms on head houses (e.g., 
filtration systems, HVAC, etc); 

• Providing property owners and residents of 
property within a 0.25-mile radius of the 
cannabis facility with the contact 
information of the individual responsible for 
responding to odor complaints; 

• Policies and procedures describing the 
actions to be taken when an odor 
complaint is received, including the 
training provided to the staff on how to 
respond; 

• Description of potential methods for 
reducing odors; 

• Require the designated individual to report 
all odor complaints to the appropriate City 
department within a reasonable time frame 
and to record and report the steps they 
took to resolve the issue, including a 
record-keeping system to track these 
actions;  

• Contingency measures to curtail odor 
emissions in the event of a potential 
continuous public nuisance; and 

• Description of agricultural practices that 
can be shown to be effective in controlling 

• The applicant shall prepare 
and submit an Odor 
Monitoring Plan (OMP) to 
the City, adhering to the 
mitigation’s requirements.  

Prior to 
issuance of 
the building 
permit. 

During project 
operation. 

City shall determine the 
site adheres to the 
mitigation measure and 
ensures continued 
compliance. 



Exhibit “B” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

Table 1. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Mitigation Measure Action Required Timing Monitoring Responsibility 
odors (e.g., changes in cultivation 
practices). 

Biological Resources 

BIO-1: Pre-construction Survey, Worker 
Awareness Training, and Avoidance 
Measures. The Project Site contains 
habitat that can be used by CDFW Species 
of Special Concern. Surveys prior to 
initiation of construction-related activities 
shall be undertaken on the Project Site to 
determine the presence/ absence of the 
following species according to accepted agency 
protocols and the types of actions undertaken 
to avoid impacts to CDFW Species of Special 
Concern consistent with CDFW requirements: 

• Burrowing owl 
o Adhere to Burrowing Owl Survey Protocol 

and Mitigation Guidelines; if onsite, 
exclusion measures, one-way trap use if 
relocating outside of nesting season 

• Swainson’s hawk 
o Adhere to Swainson’s Hawk Survey 

Protocols, Impact Avoidance, and 
Minimization Measures; determine 
presence onsite, protect foraging habitat, 
provide habitat management land as 
necessary 

• Giant garter snake 
o Adhere to Standard Avoidance and 

Minimization Measures During 
Construction Activities for the Giant Garter 
Snake; determine presence, use silt 
fencing, protective mats, prevent runoff, 
avoid and/or minimize construction within 
200 feet of banks of associated aquatic 
habitat  

• Western pond turtle 
o Determine presence within 100 feet of 

suitable aquatic habitat; if species is 
present, contact CDFW and cease work 
within 100 feet of suitable aquatic habitat, 
determine action within 14 days, which 
may include relocation by a qualified 
biological monitor 

• American badger 
o Identify any badger holes or trails, 

determine setback from location and 
determine action for avoidance, which may 
include relocation by a qualified biological 
monitor and/or refining the project 
schedule 

• Pre-construction surveys 
and worker awareness 
training shall be conducted 
prior to the start of Project 
Site soil disturbance. 

• Avoidance measures 
determined during the pre-
construction surveys shall 
be adhered to during 
Project implementation, in 
accordance with accepted 
CDFW and associated 
agency protocols. 

Prior to start 
of Project Site 
soil 
disturbance. 

The City shall monitor 
results of the pre-
construction surveys, 
review the required 
avoidance measures, 
coordinate with CDFW 
and the applicant, and 
obtain evidence of the 
worker awareness 
training. 



Exhibit “B” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

Table 1. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Mitigation Measure Action Required Timing Monitoring Responsibility 
• San Joaquin kit fox 

o Adhere to Standard Kit Fox CEQA 
Mitigation Measures; determination of 
presence or evidence of species onsite, 
include maximum 25 mph speed limit 
during construction, remove food-related 
trash from project site, cease construction 
if species discovered onsite and contact 
CDFW, determine action within 14 days, 
which may include obtaining appropriate 
federal and state permits 

• Blunt-nosed leopard lizard 
o Determine evidence onsite, limit 

construction activities near sensitive 
habitat for the blunt-nosed leopard lizard 
between early November through March; if 
construction scheduled for this time, 
include additional survey within 7 days of 
construction to determine presence and a 
qualified biological monitor shall 
thoroughly search for and capture all 
individuals found in or immediately 
adjacent to potentially disturbed areas for 
relocation 

• Fresno kangaroo rat 
o Adhere to CDFW Approved Survey 

Methodologies for Sensitive Species: 
Fresno Kangaroo Rat; determine evidence 
onsite, include additional surveys as 
applicable during active period (April 
through June), establish protection 
measures, which may include habitat 
management, setbacks, or trapping and 
relocation as determined by a qualified 
biological monitor 

• Nesting birds 

Surveys shall cover areas of suitable habitat as 
defined in the Biological Resources Technical 
Report (Appendix H). In the event that special-
status species are identified within the 
proposed basin site, the following would occur: 
1) the appropriate agencies shall be notified; 2) 
the construction site shall be monitored by a 
qualified biologist who oversees all construction 
activities affecting sensitive habitat; 3) the site 
shall be relocated, if necessary; and/or 4) non-
disturbance buffers shall be implemented. Pre-
construction surveys shall conform to the 
appropriate CDFW and/or USFWS-approved 
survey and monitoring protocols and guidelines 
for protection of threatened and endangered 



Exhibit “B” 
Resolution No. 21-01 

 
 

Table 1. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Mitigation Measure Action Required Timing Monitoring Responsibility 
species. Contractor education regarding 
sensitive species that have the potential to 
occur on and adjacent to the site shall also be 
conducted. Results of these surveys, 
avoidance measures, and worker awareness 
training shall be reported to the City. As 
indicated above, coordination with CDFW 
regarding species-specific mitigation to ensure 
accordance with accepted agency protocols 
shall continue throughout the Project approval 
and construction process. 

 
 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL       RESOLUTION NO. 21-02 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPROVING 
AN AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE 
ELEMENT OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA’S 
GENERAL PLAN UPDATE 2005–2025 IN 
THE MATTER OF APPLICATION NO. 20-23, 
THE VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, 
LLC, COMMERCIAL CANNABIS PROJECT 
(APN 013-030-68ST) 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020 the City of Mendota received Application No. 20-
23, submitted by Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC, proposing the construction and 
operation of commercial cannabis facilities on approximately 59 acres of Fresno Co. APN 
013-030-68ST, said APN currently owned in fee by the City of Mendota; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the project site is designated Public/Quasi-Public Facilities by the City 
of Mendota General Plan Update 2005–2025 (General Plan) and is zoned P-F/CO (Public 
Facilities/Commercial Cannabis Overlay District); and 
 
 WHEREAS, General Plan Policy LU-13.1 states that the Public/Quasi-Public 
Facilities Land Use designation is intended for land owned by public or institutional 
agencies and is to be used for educational, governmental, and public safety purposes; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the incompatibility of the proposed use with the 
underlying General Plan Land Use designation, Application No. 20-23 proposes to amend 
the Land Use designation of the project site to Light Industrial and amend the zoning to 
M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing/ Commercial Cannabis Overlay District), which combination 
of land use designation and zoning would accommodate the proposed Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65353, if a city has a planning 

commission authorized to make recommendations regarding an amendment to a general 
plan, said planning commission shall conduct at least one public hearing on the matter 
before forwarding a recommendation to the city council; and 

 
WHEREAS, at a special meeting on December 29, 2020 the Planning Commission 

conducted a duly-noticed public hearing and adopted Resolution No. PC 20-08 by a vote 
of 5-0, recommending that the City Council approves the proposed amendment to the 
General Plan; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65355, prior to amending a 

general plan, the City Council shall conduct at least one public hearing; and 
 



 2 

WHEREAS, on or before January 1, 2021 a notice of public hearing before the City 
Council was published in The Business Journal, similar notices were individually mailed 
to property owners within 300 feet of the project site, and a copy of the notice was posted 
in the Mendota City Hall bulletin window; and 

 
WHEREAS, at a regular meeting on January 12, 2021 the City Council did conduct 

a public hearing at which it considered testimony regarding the project, including the 
recommendation of the Planning Commission; and 

 
WHEREAS, approval of the project consists of a “lease, permit, license, certificate, 

or other entitlement for use” and involves an amendment to the General Plan that may 
have a reasonably foreseeable indirect effect on the environment, and is therefore a 
“project” pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), Public Resources 
Code Section 21000, et seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California Code of Regulations 
Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15000, et seq.; and 

 
WHEREAS, as the agency primarily responsible for carrying out or approving said 

project, the City of Mendota assumes the role of lead agency pursuant to CEQA; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted Resolution No. 21-01 determining that, 

with mitigation incorporated, the activities proposed within Application No. 20-23 will not 
have a significant effect on the environment and, consistent with CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, has adopted a mitigated negative declaration and mitigation monitoring & 
reporting program.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the General Plan land use 
designation for APN 013-30-68T is hereby amended from Public/Quasi-Public Facilities 
to Light Industrial as illustrated in Exhibit “A” hereto, said amendment constituting the first 
(1st) amendment to the Land Use Element of the General Plan in Calendar Year 2021.  
 
  
       ______________________________ 
       Rolando Castro, Mayor  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 I, Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk of the City of Mendota, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing resolution was duly adopted and passed by the City Council at a regular 
meeting of said Council held at Mendota City Hall on the 12th day of January 2021, by the 
following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       ______________________________ 

Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 



 
 

EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION NO. 21-02 
GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT 

Page 3 of 3  

 

 



 1 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL   ORDINANCE NO. 21-02 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA AMENDING 
THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE CITY 
OF MENDOTA IN THE MATTER OF APPLICATION 
NO. 20-23, THE VALLEY AGRICULTURAL 
HOLDINGS, LLC, COMMERCIAL CANNABIS 
PROJECT (APN 013-030-68ST) 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020 the City of Mendota received Application No. 20-
23, submitted by Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC and proposing the construction and 
operation of commercial cannabis facilities on approximately 59 acres of Fresno Co. APN 
013-030-68ST, said APN currently owned in fee by the City of Mendota; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the project site is designated Public/Quasi-Public Facilities by the City 
of Mendota General Plan Update 2005–2025 (General Plan) and is zoned P-F/CO (Public 
Facilities/Commercial Cannabis Overlay District); and 
 
 WHEREAS, General Plan Policy LU-13.1 states that the Public/Quasi-Public 
Facilities land use designation is intended for land owned by public or institutional 
agencies and is to be used for educational, governmental, and public safety purposes; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the proposed activity’s incompatibility with the 
underlying General Plan Land Use designation, Application No. 20-23 proposes to amend 
the Land Use designation of the project site to Light Industrial and amend the zoning to 
M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing/ Commercial Cannabis Overlay District), which combination 
of land use designation and zoning would accommodate the proposed Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, via Resolution No. 21-02, the City Council has amended the Land 

Use Element of the General Plan to reflect APN 013-030-68ST as Public/Quasi-Public 
Facilities; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65854, the Planning 

Commission shall conduct at least one public hearing on a proposal to amend the zoning 
ordinance before forwarding a recommendation to the City Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, at a special meeting on December 29, 2020 the Planning Commission 

conducted a duly-noticed public hearing and adopted Resolution No. PC 20-08 by a vote 
of 5-0, recommending that the City Council approves the proposed amendment to the 
zoning map; and  

 



 2 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65856, upon receipt of a 
recommendation from the Planning Commission regarding a change of zone, the City 
Council shall conduct a public hearing; and 

 
WHEREAS, on or before January 1, 2021 a notice of public hearing before the City 

Council was published in The Business Journal, similar notices were individually mailed 
to property owners within 300 feet of the project site, and a copy of the notice was posted 
in the Mendota City Hall bulletin window; and 

 
WHEREAS, at a regular meeting on January 12, 2021 the City Council did conduct 

a public hearing at which it considered testimony regarding the project, including the 
recommendation of the Planning Commission; and 

 
WHEREAS, approval of the project consists of a “lease, permit, license, certificate, 

or other entitlement for use” and involves an amendment to zoning that may have a 
reasonably foreseeable indirect effect on the environment, and is therefore a “project” 
pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), Public Resources Code 
Section 21000, et seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California Code of Regulations Title 
14, Chapter 3, Section 15000, et seq.; and 

 
WHEREAS, as the agency primarily responsible for carrying out or approving said 

project, the City of Mendota assumes the role of lead agency pursuant to CEQA; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted Resolution No. 21-01 determining that, 

with mitigation incorporated, the activities proposed within Application No. 20-23 will not 
have a significant effect on the environment and, consistent with CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, has adopted a mitigated negative declaration and mitigation monitoring & 
reporting program.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Mendota hereby ordains as 
follows: 
 
SECTION 1. The Recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and by this reference 
made an operative part hereof. 
 
SECTION 2. The zone district of APN 013-030-68ST is hereby amended from P-F/CO 
(Public Facilities/Commercial Cannabis Overlay District) to M-1/CO (Light Manufacturing/ 
Commercial Cannabis Overlay District) as illustrated in Exhibit “A” hereto. 
 
SECTION 3.  Severability. If any part of this Ordinance is held to be invalid for any reason, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance, and 
the City Council hereby declares that it would have passed the remainder of this 
Ordinance, as if such invalid portion thereof had been deleted. 
 
SECTION 6.  This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its passage. 
 
SECTION 7.  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage of this 
Ordinance and will see that it is published and posted in the manner required by law.  



 3 

 
* * * * * * * * * * 

 
The foregoing ordinance was introduced on the 12th day of January 2021 and duly passed 
and adopted by the City Council of the City of Mendota at a regular meeting thereof held 
on the 26th day of January 2021, by the following vote:  
 
  
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:       ______________________________  
        Rolando Castro, Mayor  
ATTEST:  
 
 
______________________________  
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 
  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
______________________________  
John Kinsey, City Attorney



 
 

EXHIBIT “A” TO ORDINANCE NO. 21-02 
REZONE 

Page 4 of 4  

 



1 
 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNCIL    ORDINANCE NO. 21-03 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPROVING 
A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS BY AND 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF MENDOTA AND 
VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, LLC, 
IN THE MATTER OF APPLICATION NO. 20-23, 
THE VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, 
LLC COMMERCIAL CANNABIS PROJECT 
(PORTION OF APN 013-030-68ST) 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 9, 2015, Governor Jerry Brown signed three bills into 
law (Assembly Bill 266, Assembly Bill 243, and Senate Bill 643) which are collectively 
referred to as the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MCRSA”). MCRSA 
establishes a statewide regulatory system for the cultivation, processing, transportation, 
testing, manufacturing, and distribution of medical marijuana to qualified patients and 
their primary caregivers; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 8, 2016, California voters enacted Proposition 64, the 
Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, also known as the Adult Use of 
Marijuana Act (“AUMA”), which establishes a comprehensive system to legalize, control, 
and regulate the cultivation, processing, manufacture, distribution, testing, and sale of 
nonmedical cannabis, including cannabis products, for use by adults 21 years and 
older, and to tax the growth and retail sale of cannabis for nonmedical use; and 

 WHEREAS, on June 27, 2017, Governor Jerry Brown signed into law the 
Medicinal and Adult- Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), which 
creates a single regulatory scheme for both medicinal and adult-use cannabis 
businesses. MAUCRSA retains the provisions in MCRSA and AUMA that granted local 
jurisdictions control over whether businesses engaged in commercial cannabis activity 
may operate in a particular jurisdiction; and 

 WHEREAS, to strengthen the public planning process, encourage private 
participation in comprehensive planning and reduce the economic risk of development, 
the Legislature of the State of California adopted Government Code sections 65864 et 
seq. (the “Development Agreement Statute”) which authorizes cities to enter into 
agreements for the development of real property with any person having a legal or 
equitable interest in such property in order to establish certain development rights in 
such property; and 

 WHEREAS, on September 12, 2017, the City Council of Mendota (“City Council”) 
adopted Ordinance No. 17-13 establishing zoning limitations and requirements for all 



2 
 

cannabis businesses, including the proposed cannabis facility to be located on a portion 
of APN 0136-030-68ST. 

 WHEREAS, since September 12, 2017, the City Council of the City of Mendota 
has adopted additional regulations for administration of commercial cannabis 
operations, which regulations are codified in Chapters 8.37 and 17.99 of the Mendota 
Municipal Code; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Mendota (“City”) has received an application from Valley 
Agricultural Holdings, LLC (“Developer”), to develop a cannabis business for the 
cultivation, manufacturing, and distribution of cannabis and cannabis products (“the 
Project”); and 

 WHEREAS, the City and Developer seek to enter into Development Agreement 
Nos. 2021-01 and 2021-02 (the “Development Agreements”) to: (i) facilitate the orderly 
development of the Site in general and specifically to ensure that such development is 
consistent with Title 17 of the Mendota Municipal Code; (ii) create a physical 
environment that is consistent with, complements, and promotes the purposes and 
intent of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District and the regulations adopted 
therewith; (iii) protect natural resources from adverse impacts; and (vi) reduce the 
economic risk of development of the Site to both City and Developer; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65867.5, the City Council 
finds that the provisions of the Development Agreements are consistent with the City’s 
general plan and any applicable specific plan; and 

 WHEREAS, prior to this approval, the City’s planning commission has found that 
the proposed development plan meets all the requirements under Mendota Municipal 
Code section 17.84.050; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed Development Agreements will have a positive impact 
on the City by generating significant revenues that would support transportation, parks 
and recreation, law enforcement, and fire protection in the City. 

WHEREAS, approval of the project consists of a “lease, permit, license, 
certificate, or other entitlement for use” and involves an amendment to the General Plan 
that may have a reasonably foreseeable indirect effect on the environment, and is 
therefore a “project” pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), 
Public Resources Code Section 21000, et seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California 
Code of Regulations Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15000, et seq.; and 

WHEREAS, as the agency primarily responsible for carrying out or approving 
said project, the City of Mendota assumes the role of lead agency pursuant to CEQA; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted Resolution No. 21-01 determining that, 
with mitigation incorporated, the activities proposed within the Project will not have a 
significant effect on the environment and, consistent with the CEQA and the CEQA 



3 
 

Guidelines, has adopted a mitigated negative declaration and mitigation monitoring & 
reporting program.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Based upon the findings, as referenced in the recitals above, the 
Development Agreements attached hereto as Exhibits 1 and 2 and incorporated herein 
by reference by and between the City of Mendota, and Valley Agricultural Holdings, 
LLC, is hereby approved. 

SECTION 2. Each and every term and condition of the Development Agreements 
approved in Section 1 of this Ordinance shall be and is made a part of the Mendota 
Municipal Code and any appendices thereto. The City Council of the City of Mendota 
finds that public necessity, public convenience, and general welfare require that any 
provision of the Mendota Municipal Code or appendices there inconsistent with the 
provisions of these Development Agreements, to the extent of such inconsistencies and 
no further, be repealed or modified to make fully effective the provisions of the 
Development Agreements.  

SECTION 3.  Any provision of the Mendota Municipal Code or appendices thereto, 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies 
and no further, are hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this 
Ordinance is held for any reason to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any 
court  of  competent  jurisdiction,  such  decision  shall  not  affect  the  validity  of  the 
remaining portions of the Ordinance.  The City Council of the City of Mendota hereby 
declares that it would have adopted this Ordinance and each section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, phrase or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more 
sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases or portions be declared invalid or 
unconstitutional. 

SECTION 5.  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage of this 
Ordinance and will see that it is published and posted in the manner required by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 
 

* * * * * * * * * * 

 The foregoing ordinance was introduced on the 12th day of January 2021 and 
duly passed and adopted by the City Council of the City of Mendota at a regular 
meeting thereof held on the 26th day of January 2021 by the following vote: 

AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

        __________________________ 
        Rolando Castro, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
John Kinsey, City Attorney 

 



Page 1 of 31  

 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE 
Recording Fee Exempt per Government Code §6103 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 
_____ day of ________________, 2020, by and between the CITY OF MENDOTA, a municipal 
corporation of the State of California (“City”), VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, LLC, 
a California limited liability company (“Developer”), and INDUSTRIAL INTEGRITY 
SOLUTIONS, a New Mexico limited liability company (“IIS”). City, Developer or IIS may be 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties.” There are no other parties 
to this Agreement. 
  

RECITALS 

A. On October 9, 2015, Governor Jerry Brown signed three bills into law (Assembly Bill 
266, Assembly Bill 243, and Senate Bill 643) which are collectively referred to as the Medical 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MCRSA”). MCRSA establishes a statewide regulatory 
system for the cultivation, processing, transportation, testing, manufacturing, and distribution of 
medical marijuana to qualified patients and their primary caregivers. 

 
B. On November 8, 2016, California voters enacted Proposition 64, the Control, 

Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, also known as the Adult Use of Marijuana Act 
(“AUMA”), which establishes a comprehensive system to legalize, control, and regulate the 
cultivation, processing, manufacture, distribution, testing, and sale of nonmedical cannabis, 
including cannabis products, for use by adults 21 years and older, and to tax the growth and retail 
sale of cannabis for nonmedical use. 

 
C. On June 27, 2017, Governor Jerry Brown signed into law the Medicinal and Adult- 

Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), which creates a single regulatory scheme 
for both medicinal and adult-use cannabis businesses. MAUCRSA retains the provisions in MCRSA 
and AUMA that granted local jurisdictions control over whether businesses engaged in Commercial 
Cannabis Activity, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, may operate in a particular 
jurisdiction. 

 
D. Government Code section 65865 requires an applicant for a development agreement 

 
 
 
 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL 
TO: 

 

 
 



Page 2 of 31  

to hold a legal or equitable interest in the real property that is the subject of the development 
agreement. On or about October 22, 2019 the City and Developer entered into that certain Purchase 
and Sale Agreement to purchase that certain real property  located approximately one-quarter mile 
east of W. Belmont Avenue, and  approximately one-half mile north of Guillan Park Drive, in the 
City of Mendota, County of Fresno, State of California, Assessor’s Parcel Number 013-030-68ST 
(the “Site”), as more particularly described in the legal description attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
depicted on the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

 
E. Developer has two corporate members, IIS, which holds a sixty percent (60%) share 

in Developer’s assets, including the Property, and The Axiom Group, LLC, a California limited 
liability company (“Axiom”), which holds a forty percent (40%) share in Developer’s assets, 
including the Property. 

 
F. Prior to close of escrow on Developer’s purchase of the Property, Developer shall 

submit an application to the City to sub-divide the Property into two (2) separate legal parcels, with 
the first parcel being approximately sixty percent (60%) of the Property, or approximately thirty-five 
(35) acres, to be operated by IIS (“IIS Parcel”), and the second parcel being approximately forty 
percent (40%) of Property, or approximately twenty-four (24) acres, to be operated by Axiom 
(“Axiom Parcel”). The IIS Parcel is more particularly described in the legal description attached 
hereto as Exhibit C and depicted on the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit D.    

 
G. Developer and/or IIS proposes to improve, develop, and use the Property as a guard-

gated and secure Cannabis Cultivation Facility for cultivation, manufacturing, and distribution of 
Cannabis and Cannabis Products, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, in strict accordance 
with California Cannabis Laws, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, as they may be amended 
from time to time, and the Municipal Code of the City of Mendota as it existed on the Effective Date 
(the “Project”). Developer and/or IIS intends to develop the Project in two distinct phases, 
specifically: (1) the first phase of the Project will consist of land development and the construction 
of “Outdoor-Mixed Light Cultivation” structures as defined in Section 1.4 of this agreement, located 
in various areas throughout the Site (“Phase I”), and (2) the second phase of the Project may consist 
of the construction of a “headhouse” used for the processing of harvested cannabis, administrative 
offices, employee breakroom(s), restrooms, and other ancillary Project needs (“Phase 2”).  

 
H. To strengthen the public planning process, encourage private participation in 

comprehensive planning, and reduce the economic risk of development, the California Legislature 
adopted Government Code section 65864 et seq. (the “Development Agreement Statute”), which 
authorizes City and an individual with an interest in real property to enter into a development 
agreement that establishes certain development rights in real property that is subject to a 
development agreement application. 

 
I. On September 12, 2017, the City Council of Mendota (“City Council”) adopted 

Ordinance No. 17-13, creating the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District and establishing zoning 
limitations and requirements for all cannabis businesses located therein, including the proposed 
cannabis facility to be located at the Site. 

 
J. On June 11, 2019, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 19-06, establishing 

additional requirements for the operation and entitlement of commercial cannabis businesses 



Page 3 of 31  

operating within the City.  
 
K. Prior to the City’s adoption of Ordinance No. 19-06, Developer submitted a request 

to the City for consideration of a development agreement for the Project pursuant to the requirements 
of Chapter 17.99 of the Mendota Municipal Code.  

 
L. On September 8, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 20-16, establishing 

additional requirements for the operation and entitlement of commercial cannabis businesses 
operating within the City. 

 
M. Government Code § 65867 requires the Planning Commission to hold a public 

hearing to review an application for a development agreement. 
 

N. On December 29, 2020, after a duly noticed and held meeting in accordance with 
Government Code § 65867, the City’s Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of 
Developer’s application for a development agreement for the Project. 

 
O. On January 12, 2021, the City Council, in a duly noticed public hearing, introduced 

and conducted the first reading of Ordinance No. 21-XX, an Ordinance to Approve a Development 
Agreement by and Between the City of Mendota and Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC.  

 
P. Pursuant to Government Code section 65867.5, on January 26, 2021, the City Council 

reviewed, considered, adopted, and entered into this Agreement pursuant to Ordinance No. 21-XX. 
 
Q. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the Development Agreement Statute and 

the Mendota Municipal Code. 
 
R. City, Developer, and IIS desire to enter into this Agreement to: (i) facilitate the 

orderly development of the Site in general and specifically to ensure that such development is 
consistent with Title 17 of the Mendota Municipal Code; (ii) create a physical environment that is 
consistent with, complements, and promotes the purposes and intent of the Commercial Cannabis 
Overlay District and the regulations adopted therewith; (iii) protect natural resources from adverse 
impacts; and (vi) reduce the economic risk of development of the Site to both City, Developer, and 
IIS. 

 
S. The Parties intend through this Agreement to allow Developer and/or IIS to develop 

and manage the Project in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
T. The City Council has determined that this Agreement is consistent with City’s 

General Plan and have conducted all necessary proceedings in accordance with City’s Municipal 
Code for the approval of this Agreement. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 
 
 



Page 4 of 31  

AGREEMENT 

ARTICLE 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1.1. Findings. City hereby finds and determines that entering into this Agreement furthers 
the public health, safety, and general welfare and is consistent with City’s General Plan, including 
all text and maps in the General Plan. 
 
Section 1.2. Recitals. The Recitals above are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into and 
made a part of this Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency between the Recitals and the 
provisions of Articles 1 through 10 of this Agreement, the provisions of Articles 1 through 10 shall 
prevail. 
 
Section 1.3. Exhibits. The following “Exhibits” are attached to and incorporated into this 
Agreement: 
 
 

Designation Description 

Exhibit A Legal Description (Entire Site) 
Exhibit B Site Map (Entire Site) 

 Exhibit C Legal Description (IIS Parcel) 
Exhibit D Site Map (IIS Parcel) 
Exhibit E Notice of Non-performance Late Fee 
Exhibit F Notice of Termination 
Exhibit G Assignment and Assumption Agreement 

 
Section 1.4. Definitions. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms below 
have the following meaning: 
 

(a) “Additional Insureds” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 
 

(b) “Additional License” means a state license to operate a cannabis business pursuant 
to the California Cannabis Laws that is not an Authorized License. 
 

(c) “Adult-Use Cannabis” means a product containing cannabis, including, but not 
limited to, concentrates and extractions, intended for use by adults 21 years of age or over in 
California pursuant to the California Cannabis Laws. 
 

(d) “Agreement” means this Development Agreement, inclusive of all Exhibits attached 
hereto. 
 

(e) “Application” means the application for a development agreement submitted by 
Developer to the City. 
 

(f) “Assignment and Assumption Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1. 



Page 5 of 31  

 
(g) “AUMA” means the Adult Use of Marijuana Act (Proposition 64) approved by 

California voters on November 8, 2016. 
 

(h) “Authorized License” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3. 
 

(i) “Bureau” means the Bureau of Cannabis Control within the Department of 
Consumer Affairs, formerly named the Bureau of Marijuana Control, the Bureau of Medical 
Cannabis Regulation, and the Bureau of Medical Marijuana Regulation. 
 

(j) “California Building Standards Codes” means the California Building Code, as 
amended from time to time, in Part 2, Volumes 1 and 2, as part of Title 24 of the California Code of 
Regulations, as may be adopted by the Mendota Municipal Code. 

 
(k) “California Cannabis Laws” includes AUMA, MAUCRSA, CUA, the Medical 

Marijuana Program Act of 2004 codified as Health and Safety Code sections 11362.7 through 
11.62.83, and any other applicable state laws that may be enacted or approved. 
 

(l) “Cannabis” means all parts of the plant Cannabis sativa Linnaeus, Cannabis indica, 
or Cannabis ruderalis, whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; the resin, whether crude or purified, 
extracted from any part of the plant; and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or 
preparation of the plant, its seeds, or resin. “Cannabis” also means the separated resin, whether crude 
or purified, obtained from cannabis. “Cannabis” does not include the mature stalks of the plant, fiber 
produced from the stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, any other compound, 
manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the mature stalks (except the resin extracted 
therefrom), fiber, oil, or cake, or the sterilized seed of the plant which is incapable of germination. 
For the purpose of this division, “cannabis” does not mean “industrial hemp” as defined by Section 
11018.5 of the Health and Safety Code. Cannabis and the term “marijuana” may be used 
interchangeably. 
 

(m) “Cannabis Business” means a cannabis business operating pursuant to an 
Authorized License. 
 

(n) “Cannabis Product” means cannabis that has undergone a process whereby the plant 
material has been transformed into a concentrate, including, but not limited to, concentrated 
cannabis, or an edible or topical product containing cannabis or concentrated cannabis and other 
ingredients. 
 

(o) “CEQA” means the California Environmental Quality Act, as set forth in Division 
13 (Commencing with Section 21000) of the California Public Resources Code, and the CEQA 
Guidelines as set forth in Title 14 (Commencing with Section 15000) of the California Code of 
Regulations. 
 

(p) “City” means the City of Mendota, a municipal corporation having general police 
powers. 
 

(q) “City Council” means the City of Mendota City Council. 
 



Page 6 of 31  

(r) “City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Mendota, or his or her 
designee. 
 

(s) “Charged Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 
 

(t) “Charging Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 
 
(u) “Commercial Cannabis Activity” means to cultivate, manufacture, distribute, or test 

a cannabis product provided for by Division 10 (commencing with Section 26000) of the Business 
and Professions Code. 

 
(v) “Conditional Use Permit” means a conditional use permit for the Project issued by 

the City pursuant to Mendota Municipal Code Chapter 17.08.050. 
 

(w)   “Contribution Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 

(x) “CUA” means the Compassionate Use Act (Proposition 215) approved by California 
voters on November 5, 1996. 
 

(y) “Developer” means Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC and its assignees or 
successors as allowed herein. Developer also has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 

 
(z) “Developed Portions of the Property” means the portions of the Site that contain 

buildings, structures, greenhouses and the like, or have otherwise been improved.  For example, the 
Developed Portions of the Property shall include all structures used by Developer or Axiom for 
Commercial Cannabis Activity. 
  

(aa) “Development Agreement Statute” has the meaning set forth in Recital H. 
 

(bb) “Exhibits” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3. 
 

(cc) “Outdoor and Mixed Light Cultivation” means a Type 2B and Type 3B license 
classification as set forth in Business and Professions code 26061 (a) (7) and 26061 (a) (10). 

 
(dd)   “Gross Receipts” shall mean total revenue received or receivable by the Developer 

and/or IIS from any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Property or from operation of the Project 
on the Property, including: all sales; the total amount of compensation received or receivable for the 
performance of any act or service, of whatever nature it may be, for which a charge is made or credit 
whether or not such act or service is done as part of or in connection with the sale of materials, goods, 
wares, or merchandise; and gains realized from trading in stocks or bonds, interest discounts, rents, 
royalties, fees, commissions, dividends, or other remunerations, however designated. Included in 
"Gross Receipts" shall be all receipts, cash, credits, and property of any kind or nature, without any 
deduction therefrom on account of the cost of the materials used, labor or service costs, interest paid 
or payable, or losses or other expenses whatsoever, except that the following shall be excluded 
therefrom:  

 
(1) Cash discounts allowed and taken on Commercial Cannabis Activity sale; 



Page 7 of 31  

 
(2) Any tax required by law to be included in or added to the purchase price of 

Commercial Cannabis Activity and collected from the consumer or purchaser; 
 
(3) Such part of the sale price of property returned by purchasers in any 

Commercial Cannabis Activity upon rescission of a contract of sale as is 
refunded either in cash or by credit; and 

 
(4) Receipts of refundable deposits in any Commercial Cannabis Activity, except 

that such deposits when forfeited and taken into income of the business shall 
not be excluded.  

 
The intent of this definition is to ensure that in calculating the payments required 
under Section 17.99.070(A) of the Mendota Municipal Code, all sales related to 
Commercial Cannabis Activity or any other cannabis and cannabis products at the 
Property or through the Project are captured. This definition shall therefore be given 
the broadest possible interpretation consistent with this intent. 
 

(ee) “Major Amendment” means an amendment that shall have a material effect on the 
terms of the Agreement. Major Amendments shall require approval by the City Council. 

 
(ff) “Marijuana” has the same meaning as cannabis and those terms may be used 

interchangeably. 
 
(gg) “MAUCRSA” means the Medicinal and Adult-Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety 

Act, codified as Business and Professions Code section 26000 et seq. 
 
(hh) “MCRSA” has the meaning set forth in Recital A. 
 
(ii) “Ministerial Fee” or “Ministerial Fees” have the meanings set forth in Section 4.1. 
 
(jj) “Minor Amendment” means a clerical amendment to the Agreement that shall not 

materially affect the terms of the Agreement (e.g., change of notice address) and any amendment 
described as minor herein. 

 
(kk) “Mortgage” has the meaning set forth in Article 7. 
 
(ll) “Non-Performance Late Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3. 
 
(mm) “Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 

4.3. 
 

(nn)   “Notice of Termination” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1. 
 

(oo)   “Processing Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.11. 
 
(pp) “Project” has the meaning set forth in Recital G. 
 



Page 8 of 31  

(qq) “Project Litigation” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.6. 
 
(rr) “Public Benefit Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 
(ss) “Site” has the meaning set forth in Recital D. 
 
(tt) “State Cannabis Manufacturing Regulations” means the regulations related to 

cannabis manufacturing issued by a State Licensing Authority in accordance with Chapter 13 
(commencing with Section 26130) of Division 10 of the Business and Professions Code, which may 
be amended from time to time. 

 
(uu) “State Licensing Authority” means the state agency responsible for the issuance, 

renewal, or reinstatement of a state cannabis license, or the state agency authorized to take 
disciplinary action against a business licensed under the California Cannabis Laws. 

 
(vv) “State Taxing Authority” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 
(ww) “Subsequent City Approvals” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1. 
 
(xx) “Term” has the meaning described in Section 1.7. 

 
Section 1.5. Project is a Private Undertaking. The Parties agree that the Project is a private 
development and that City has no interest therein, except as authorized in the exercise of its 
governmental functions. City shall not for any purpose be considered an agent, partner, or joint 
venturer of Developer, IIS, or the Project. 
 
Section 1.6. Effective Date of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon the date 
that the ordinance approving this Agreement becomes effective and title to the Site is vested in the 
Developer (the “Effective Date”). 
 
Section 1.7. Term. The “Term” of this Agreement is twenty (20) years from the Effective Date, 
unless terminated or extended earlier, as set forth in this Agreement. 
 

(a) Government Tolling or Termination. City may provide written notice to 
Developer and/or IIS to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, upon which Developer and/or IIS 
shall immediately comply, only if City is specifically required to comply with federal or state law 
and such federal or state law requires cessation of Cannabis Cultivation Activities. If City 
temporarily halts this Agreement to comply with federal or state law, this Agreement shall be tolled 
for an equivalent period of time (the “Tolling Period”). Developer and/or IIS shall not accrue or be 
liable to City for any Ministerial Fees or Public Benefit Amount during the Tolling Period. Developer 
and/or IIS shall resume paying any applicable fees after the Tolling Period ends. City and Developer 
and/or IIS shall discuss in good faith the termination of this Agreement if the Tolling Period exceeds 
one (1) calendar year. 

(b) Developer/IIS Tolling or Termination. Neither Developer nor IIS may 
temporarily halt or suspend this Agreement for any purpose without causing a default of this 



Page 9 of 31  

Agreement, except as otherwise allowed by this Agreement. 

(c) Developer/IIS Termination. Developer and/or IIS may provide written notice to 
City of intent to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, if Developer and/or IIS are required, 
directed, or believes, in their sole and absolute discretion, they must temporarily halt or terminate 
Commercial Cannabis Activity. In such an event, Developer’s and/or IIS’s obligations under this 
Agreement shall terminate. Any resumption of Commercial Cannabis Activity shall be subject to 
approval by the City Manager. 

Section 1.8. Priority of Enactment. In the event of conflict between the various land use documents 
referenced in this Agreement, the Parties agree that the following sequence of approvals establishes 
the relative priority of the approvals, each approval superior to the approvals listed thereafter: (a) 
General Plan, (b) Agreement, (c) Conditional Use Permit, and (d) Subsequent City Approvals, as 
defined in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. 
 
Section 1.9. Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement shall be amended only by mutual consent 
of the Parties. All amendments shall be in writing. The City Council hereby expressly authorizes the 
City Manager to approve a Minor Amendment to this Agreement, upon notification of the City 
Council. A Major Amendment to this Agreement shall be approved by the City Council. The City 
Manager shall, on behalf of City, have sole discretion for City to determine if an amendment is a 
Minor Amendment or a Major Amendment. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as 
requiring a noticed public hearing, unless required by law. 
 
Section 1.10. Recordation of Development Agreement. The City Clerk shall cause a copy of this 
Agreement to be recorded against the title of the Site within ten (10) business days of the Effective 
Date. 
 
Section 1.11. Funding Agreement for Processing Costs. Developer has deposited fifteen thousand 
dollars ($15,000) with City to pay for the Application, all actual fees and expenses incurred by City 
that are related to the preparation, processing and annual review of this Agreement, including 
recording fees, publishing fees, staff time, consultant and attorney fees and costs (collectively, 
“Processing Costs”). The Processing Costs are refundable solely to the extent of non-expended 
Processing Costs. Developer shall be entitled to a refund of available Processing Costs only after 
City determines all financial obligations associated with the Project have been received and paid by 
City. 
 

(a) Apportionment of Processing Costs. If the amount deposited for purposes of 
Processing Costs is insufficient to cover all Processing Costs, City shall provide notice to Developer, 
and Developer shall deposit with City such additional funds necessary to pay for all Processing Costs 
within thirty (30) calendar days. The failure to timely pay any such additional amounts requested by 
City shall be considered a material default of this Agreement and City may immediately terminate 
this Agreement and all entitlements associated with the Project. 
 

(b) Accounting. Developer may request, and City shall issue within two (2) weeks, an 
accounting and written acknowledgement of Processing Costs paid to City. 

 
 



Page 10 of 31  

 
 

ARTICLE 2 
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY 

 
Section 2.1. Vested Right of Developer/IIS. During the Term, in developing the Site consistent 
with the Project described herein, Developer and IIS are assured that the development rights, 
obligation terms, and conditions specified in this Agreement, including, without limitation, the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in the Exhibits, are fully vested in Developer and IIS and may 
not be modified or terminated by City except as set forth in this Agreement or with Developer’s or 
IIS’s written consent. 
 
Section 2.2. Vested Right to Develop. In accordance with Section 2.1, Developer and/or IIS shall 
have the vested right to develop and use the Project consistent with this Agreement, the existing City 
regulations and codes, the Conditional Use Permit, and Subsequent City Approvals. Developer and 
IIS hereby acknowledge and agree that a condition of approval for the Conditional Use Permit will 
be that this Agreement remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Term and that any 
assignment or transfer of Developer’s or IIS’s interests under this Agreement may be made only with 
the City’s consent in accordance with Section 10.1 herein.  
 
Section 2.3. Permitted Uses and Development Standards. Developer and/or IIS shall be 
authorized to develop, construct, and use the Site for Commercial Cannabis Activity consistent with 
the following license types (the “Authorized License”): 
 

License Description State License Type(s) 
Cultivation Indoor 1A/2A/3A 
Cultivation Outdoor and Mixed 
Light 

1B/2B/3B 

Cultivation Nursery 4 
Manufacturing 1 6 
Manufacturing 2 7 
Laboratory Testing 8 
Distribution 11 
Transportation 12 
Cultivation Processor C-P 

 
Developer and/or IIS or their tenants or assignees shall be permitted to use the Site consistent with 
the Authorized License for the Term of this Agreement and during the time Developer and/or IIS, or 
their tenants or assignees, are applying for the Authorized License with the applicable State 
Licensing Authority. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer and/or IIS, or their tenants or 
assignees, are required to apply for and obtain the Authorized License from the State of California. 
If the State Licensing Authority does not grant the Authorized License to Developer and/or IIS or 
their tenants or assignees, Developer and/or IIS or their tenants or assignees shall immediately cease 
Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site. Developer and/or IIS or their tenants or assignees shall 
also, within ten (10) calendar days of receiving notice from the State Licensing Authority, notify 
City of the State Licensing Authority’s denial or rejection of any license. If the Authorized License 



Page 11 of 31  

is not granted by the State of California, Developer and/or IIS, or their tenants or assignees, shall 
immediately cease operations. In this situation, this Agreement shall terminate immediately. The 
Parties intend for this Agreement and the Conditional Use Permit to serve as the definitive and 
controlling documents for all subsequent actions, discretionary or ministerial, relating to 
development of the Site and Project.  
 
Section 2.4. Major Amendment to Permitted Uses. Developer and/or IIS may request to add one 
or more of the license types then authorized by the California Cannabis Laws to the Authorized 
License. If City Council allows any Additional Licenses, City Council shall make a finding of 
whether Developer’s and/or IIS’s, or their tenants’ or assignees’, Additional Authorized Licenses 
will have any additional impact on City neighborhoods, infrastructure, or services. Developer and/or 
IIS shall be required to compensate City for all additional impacts on City infrastructure or services 
associated with any Additional Licenses and the Public Benefit Fee amount shall be revised 
accordingly. This process shall be a Major Amendment to this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.5. Development Permit. By entering into this Agreement, City understands and 
acknowledges that prior to Developer and/or IIS commencing any development or construction 
activities on the Site, or the operation of any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site, Developer 
and/or IIS are required to obtain from the City a Conditional Use Permit and any applicable 
Subsequent City Approvals. Developer and/or IIS shall be required to comply with all provisions of 
the Mendota Municipal Code and any other City rules and administrative guidelines associated with 
implementation of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
construed as limiting the ability of City to amend the Mendota Municipal Code or issue rules or 
administrative guidelines associated with implementation of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay 
District or Developer’s and/or IIS’s obligation to strictly comply with the same. 
 
Section 2.6. Subsequent Entitlements, Approvals, and Permits. Successful implementation of the 
Project shall require Developer and/or IIS to obtain additional approvals and permits from City and 
other local and state agencies. City shall comply with CEQA in the administration of all Subsequent 
City Approvals. In acting upon any Subsequent City Approvals, City’s exercise of discretion and 
permit authority shall conform to this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the course of 
taking action on the Subsequent City Approvals, City will exercise discretion in adopting mitigation 
measures as part of the Conditional Use Permit. Any entitlements and/or development standards 
required by the City that are not contemplated in the Conditional Use Permit shall, to the extent 
practicable, be consistent with the County of Fresno’s development standards for “Exclusive 
Agricultural” uses as set forth in the Fresno County Ordinance Code - Division 6, Zoning Ordinance. 
The exercise of this discretion is not prohibited by this Agreement, but the exercise of that discretion 
must be reasonable and consistent with this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude 
the evaluation of impacts or consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, as required by 
CEQA. 
 
Section 2.7.  No Commitment to Project Approval.  Developer understands and acknowledges 
that City shall be under no obligation whatsoever to approve or to issue to Developer any 
development entitlement, including, but not limited to, a Conditional Use Permit or any applicable 
Subsequent City Approvals, related to Developer’s and/or IIS’s development or construction 
activities on the Site, or the operation of any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site. City will 
conduct environmental review of the relevant activity or activities in accordance with the 



Page 12 of 31  

requirements of CEQA prior to granting any approval associated with the Development Entitlements. 
Developer acknowledges and agrees that, in accordance with Seller’s obligations under CEQA, City 
may, after conducting appropriate environmental review, decide not to approve some or all of the 
required development entitlements, or may approve some or all of the development entitlements 
subject to conditions. The Parties expressly intend that nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted 
as a commitment by City to grant any development entitlements to Developer prior to City’s 
completion of appropriate environmental review in accordance with CEQA, or as an abrogation of 
the City’s obligation to exercise its independent judgement in deciding whether to grant any 
development entitlement or whether to impose conditions on any development entitlement.  
 
Section 2.8. Initiatives and Referenda. If any City ordinance, rule, or regulation, or addition to the 
Mendota Municipal Code is enacted or imposed by a citizen-sponsored initiative or referendum after 
the Effective Date that would conflict with this Agreement, an associated Conditional Use Permit, 
Subsequent City Approvals, or reduce the development rights or assurances provided to Developer 
and IIS in this Agreement, such Mendota Municipal Code changes shall not be applied to the Site or 
Project; provided, however, the Parties acknowledge that City’s approval of this Agreement is a 
legislative action subject to referendum. City shall cooperate with Developer and/or IIS and shall 
undertake such reasonable actions as may be appropriate to ensure this Agreement remains in full 
force and effect and is implemented in accordance with its terms to the fullest extent permitted by 
state or federal law. 
 
Section 2.9. Regulation by Other Government Entities. Developer and IIS acknowledge that City 
does not have authority or jurisdiction over any other government entities’ ability to grant 
governmental approvals or permits or to impose a moratorium or other limitations that may 
negatively affect the Project or the ability of City to issue a permit to Developer and/or IIS or comply 
with the terms of this Agreement. Any moratorium imposed by another government entity, including 
the State Licensing Authority, on City shall not cause City to be in breach of this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.10. Developer’s Right to Rebuild. Developer and/or IIS may renovate portions of the 
Site or the IIS Parcel any time within the Term of this Agreement consistent with the Mendota 
Municipal Code. Any such renovation or rebuild shall be subject to all design, building code, and 
other requirements imposed on the Project by this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.11. Changes in California Building Standards Codes. Notwithstanding any provision 
of this Agreement to the contrary, development of the Project shall be subject to changes occurring 
from time to time to the California Building Standards Codes. 
 
Section 2.12. Changes Mandated by Federal or State Law. The Site and Project shall be subject 
to subsequently enacted state or federal laws or regulations that may preempt the Mendota Municipal 
Code, or mandate the adoption or amendment of local regulations, or are in conflict with this 
Agreement or local rules or guidelines associated with the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. 
As provided in Section 65869.5 of the Development Agreement Statute, in the event state or federal 
laws or regulations enacted after the Effective Date prevent or preclude compliance with one or more 
provisions of this Agreement, such provisions shall be modified or suspended as may be necessary 
to comply with such state or federal laws or regulations. Upon discovery of a subsequently enacted 
federal or state law meeting the requirements of this Section, City, Developer, and/or IIS shall 
provide the other Parties with written notice of the state or federal law or regulation, and a written 



Page 13 of 31  

statement of the conflicts thereby raised with the provisions of the Mendota Municipal Code or this 
Agreement. Promptly thereafter, City, Developer, and/or IIS shall meet and confer in good faith in a 
reasonable attempt to modify this Agreement, as necessary, to comply with such federal or state law 
or regulation provided City shall not be obligated to agree to any modification materially increasing 
its obligations or materially adversely affecting its rights and benefits hereunder. In such discussions, 
City, Developer and/or IIS will attempt to preserve the terms of this Agreement and the rights of 
Developer and IIS derived from this Agreement to the maximum feasible extent while resolving the 
conflict. If City, in its judgment, determines it necessary to modify this Agreement to address such 
conflict, City shall have the right and responsibility to do so, and shall not have any liability to 
Developer and/or IIS for doing so or be considered in breach or default of this Agreement. City also 
agrees to process, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, Developer’s or IIS’s 
proposed changes to the Project that are necessary to comply with such federal or state law and that 
such proposed changes shall be conclusively deemed to be consistent with this Agreement without 
further need for any amendment to this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.13. Health and Safety Emergencies. In the event that any future public health and safety 
emergencies arise with respect to the development contemplated by this Agreement, City agrees that 
it shall attempt, if reasonably possible as determined by City in its discretion, to address such 
emergency in a way that does not have a material adverse impact on the Project. If City determines, 
in its discretion, that it is not reasonably possible to so address such health and safety emergency so 
as not to have a material adverse impact on the Project, to select that option for addressing the 
situation which, in City’s discretion, minimizes, so far as reasonably possible, the impact on 
development and use of the Project in accordance with this Agreement, while still addressing such 
health and safety emergency in a manner acceptable to City. 
 

ARTICLE 3 
ENTITLEMENT AND PERMIT PROCESSING, INSPECTIONS 

 
Section 3.1. Subsequent City Approvals. City has the authority to permit the development, 
construction, and conditionally permitted use contemplated in this Agreement. City agrees to timely 
review, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code as it existed on the 
Effective Date, and applicable law, any Subsequent City Approvals reasonably necessary to 
complete the goals, objectives, policies, standards, and plans described in this Agreement. 
Subsequent City Approvals include any applications, permits, and approvals required to complete 
the improvements necessary to develop the Site, in general accordance with this Agreement 
(“Subsequent City Approvals”). Nothing herein shall require City to provide Developer and/or IIS 
with Subsequent City Approvals prior to, or without complying with, all of the requirements in this 
Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code as it existed on the Effective Date, and any applicable law. 
 
Section 3.2. Timely Processing. City shall use its reasonable best efforts to process, within a 
reasonable time, any Subsequent City Approvals or environmental review requested by Developer 
during the Term of this Agreement. 
 
Section 3.3. Cooperation between City and Developer/IIS. Consistent with the terms set forth 
herein, City agrees to cooperate with Developer and/or IIS, on a timely basis, in securing all permits 
or licenses that may be required by City or any other government entity with permitting or licensing 
jurisdiction over the Project. 



Page 14 of 31  

 
Section 3.4. Further Consistent Discretionary Actions. The exercise of City’s authority and 
independent judgment is recognized under this Agreement, and nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted as limiting City’s discretion or obligation to hold legally required public hearings. Except 
as otherwise set forth herein, such discretion and action taken by City shall, however, be consistent 
with the terms of this Agreement and not prevent, hinder, or compromise development or use of the 
Site as contemplated by the Parties in this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 4 
PUBLIC BENEFIT, PROCESSING, AND OVERSIGHT 

 
Section 4.1. Processing Fees and Charges. Developer shall pay to City those processing, 
inspection, plan checking, and monitoring fees and charges required by City which are in force and 
effect at the time those fees and charges are incurred (including any post-Effective Date increases in 
such fees and charges) for processing applications and requests for building permits, inspections, 
other permits, approvals and actions, and monitoring compliance with any permits issued or 
approvals granted or the performance of any conditions (each a “Ministerial Fee” and collectively, 
the “Ministerial Fees”). 
 
Section 4.2. Public Benefit. 
 

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement confers substantial private 
benefits upon Developer and IIS that will place burdens upon City infrastructure, services, and 
neighborhoods. Accordingly, the Parties intend to provide consideration to City to offset these 
impacts that is commensurate with the private benefits conferred on Developer and IIS (the “Public 
Benefit Fee”). Developer and IIS acknowledge that the Public Benefit Fees provided for herein are 
greater than the annual fee provided for in Mendota Municipal Code section 17.99.070 and, despite 
this fact, voluntarily agree to pay the fees contemplated herein, acknowledging that the private 
benefits conferred are of equal or greater consideration to the fees, and waives any right to challenge 
said fees as a violation of any law. In consideration of the foregoing, Developer shall remit to City: 

 
(1)  A one-time Public Contribution Payment in the amount of ONE HUNDRED 

AND TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($120,000) (the “Contribution Payment”) within thirty 
(30) days of Developer closing escrow on that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint 
Escrow Instructions entered into by and between Developer and City on or about October 22, 2019, 
and thereby, Developer obtaining fee title interest to the Property. City acknowledges that 
Developer’s obligation to remit the Contribution Payment to the City, or any portion thereof, is 
strictly conditioned on (a) the Agreement having obtained final City approval, (b) Developer having 
obtained the Conditional Use Permit as discussed in Section 2.5 above, (c) Developer having 
obtained any and all “Subsequent Entitlements, Approvals, and Permits” as discussed in Section 2.6 
above, and (d) Developer having obtained any and all “Subsequent City Approvals” as discussed in 
Section 3.1 above.   
 

(2) As described in Section 17.99.070 of the Mendota Municipal Code, and for 
so long as the Developed Portions of the Property are less than eight hundred thousand (800,000) 
square feet, an annual “Public Benefit Fee” in the greater of the following amounts)  

 



Page 15 of 31  

(i) SIX HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($600,000); or 

(ii) FIVE DOLLARS ($5.00) per square foot for so long as the 
Developed Portions of the Property are less than two hundred thousand (200,000) square feet; or  

(iii) FOUR DOLLARS ($4.00) per square foot for so long as the 
Developed Portions of the Property are between two hundred thousand (200,000) square feet and 
four hundred ninety-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine (499,999) square feet; or 

(iv) THREE DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS ($3.50) per square foot for 
so long as the Developed Portions of the Property are between five hundred thousand (500,000) 
square feet and seven hundred ninety-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine (799,999) square 
feet; or 

(v) Four percent (4%) of the Project’s annual Gross Receipts, as defined 
in Section 1.4.  

To the extent that Section 4.2(a)(2) is applicable for the calculation of the Public Benefit Fee, said 
fee will be adjusted pursuant to the Consumer Price Index for the Fresno/Clovis metropolitan area 
(All Urban Consumers) published by the United Stated Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor and 
Statistics (“Index”). The adjustment shall be made based on the first Index published in the year for 
which the Public Benefit Fee is paid and shall be subject to a maximum increase of 2% in any 
given year.   
 

(3) The annual Public Benefit Fee described in Section 4.2, above, shall be paid 
in quarterly installments on the first (1st) business day of every third (3rd) month (“Quarterly 
Payment”). 
 

(b) Developer shall remit the Contribution Payment and the Public Benefit Fee 
as applicable, to City as described in subdivisions (a.1) and (a.2) of this Section. Failure to remit the 
Contribution Payment and Public Benefit Fee, as applicable, is a material breach of this Agreement 
and shall be sufficient grounds for revocation of all entitlements associated with the Project. For 
purposes of clarity and avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree and acknowledge that Developer’s 
obligation to commence making the Public Benefit Fee payment to the City shall commence on the 
first day of Project operation and not prior to that date. 

 
Section 4.3. Reporting. Developer and/or IIS shall provide City with copies of any reports provided 
to a State Licensing Authority or a State Taxing Authority within forty-five (45) calendar days of 
that submission. Failure or refusal of Developer and/or IIS to (a) provide any such report to City, 
State Licensing Authority, or the State Taxing Authority within the time required by that entity, or 
(b) pay the Public Benefit Amount or amount due to a State Licensing Authority or State Taxing 
Authority when the same are due and payable, shall constitute full and sufficient grounds for the 
revocation or suspension of the Conditional Use Permit and all entitlements associated with the 
Project.  
 
Section 4.4. Records. Subsequent tenants or assignees shall keep records of all Commercial 
Cannabis Activity in accordance with Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 26160) of Division 10 



Page 16 of 31  

of the Business and Professions Code and the State Retail Cannabis Regulations. All records required 
by this Article 4 shall be maintained and made available for City’s examination and duplication 
(physical or electronic) at the Site or at an alternate facility as approved in writing by the City 
Manager or his or her designee. Upon request, Developer and/or IIS shall make all records relating 
to this Article 4 available to City within three (3) calendar days. 
 
Section 4.5. Late Fee. Developer and IIS acknowledge that, to ensure proper compliance with the 
terms of this Agreement and any applicable laws, City must engage in costly compliance review, 
inspections, and, if necessary, enforcement actions to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its 
residents. Liquidated damages and interest provisions are necessary to assist City in compliance 
review and enforcement actions. If Developer or IIS fail to make any payment when due as required 
by this Agreement, including the Public Benefit Amount, City may impose a “Non-Performance 
Late Fee.” A Non-Performance Late Fee of one percent (1%) shall be applied to all past due 
payments. City shall deliver to Developer and/or IIS a “Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee,” 
attached hereto as Exhibit C. Payment of the Non-Performance Late Fee shall be in a single 
installment due on or before a date fifteen (15) calendar days following delivery of the Notice of 
Non-Performance Late Fee. The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the sums payable under 
this Section 4.5 shall constitute liquidated damages and not penalties and are in addition to all other 
rights of the City, including the right to call a default. The Parties further acknowledge that (i) the 
amount of loss or damages likely to be incurred is incapable or is difficult to precisely estimate, (ii) 
the amounts specified herein bear a reasonable relationship to, and are not plainly or grossly 
disproportionate to, the probable loss likely to be incurred in connection with any failure by 
Developer or IIS to remit payment as required by this Agreement, (iii) one of the reasons for the 
Parties’ agreement as to such amounts was the uncertainty and cost of litigation regarding the 
question of actual damages, and (iv) the Parties are sophisticated business parties and have been 
represented by sophisticated and able legal counsel and negotiated this Agreement at arm’s length. 
 
Section 4.6. Interest on Unpaid Non-Performance Late Fee. If Developer and/or IIS fail to pay 
the Non-Performance Late Fee after City has delivered the Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee, 
then, in addition to the principal amount of the Non-Performance Late Fee, Developer and/or IIS 
shall pay City interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, computed on the principal 
amount of the Non-Performance Late Fee, from a date fifteen (15) calendar days following delivery 
of the Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee. 
 
Section 4.7. Exempt from City Tax. For the Term of this Agreement, Developer and IIS shall be 
exempt from any City tax on commercial cannabis businesses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Developer and/or IIS and Project shall be subject to any and all taxes, assessments, or similar charges 
or fees of general applicability enacted by the federal government, state government, or County of 
Fresno, including any tax applicable to an area greater than the City limits to which City may be a 
party (i.e., county tax sharing agreement). In the event that the City applies a new tax on commercial 
cannabis businesses during the term of this Agreement, the City shall refund or credit the amount 
owed by Developer pursuant to the Public Benefit Fee by an equal amount to any new tax on 
commercial cannabis businesses.  
 
Section 4.8. Employing City Residents. Developer and/or IIS agree to use their best efforts to 
promote the hiring and employment of local City residents to construct, if necessary, and operate the 
business(es) within the Project. As part of such efforts, Developer and/or IIS agree to include in any 



Page 17 of 31  

lease, license, or other conveyance of any right to use the Project such language that any transferee 
of such interest shall use its best efforts to hire and employ local City residents for its business.  
 
Section 4.9. Contracting with Local Businesses. Developer and/or IIS agree to use their best efforts 
to promote the contracting of local businesses to construct, if necessary, and operate the business(es) 
within the Project. As part of such efforts, Developer and/or IIS agree to include in any lease, license, 
or other conveyance of any right to use the Project such language that any transferee of such interest 
shall use its best efforts to contract with local City businesses for its business.  
 
Section 4.10. Manner of Payment. All payments required to be made to City pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be paid by Developer and/or IIS via check, ACH payment, or wire transfer through 
a bank licensed and in good standing with all appropriate regulatory bodies. No payment required 
pursuant to this Agreement may be made in cash. Developer and IIS understand and agree that any 
failure to comply with this Section 4.10 shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.  
 
Section 4.11.  Development Incentive. To provide an incentive for Developer’s development of the 
Property and construction of the Project, and to facilitate Developer’s prompt performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement in a manner that will maximize the financial benefit to City over 
the Term of this Agreement, City shall, within the first year of the Project’s operation, recognize a 
$50,000 credit in Developer’s favor to be applied to any liability of Developer to the City. The 
liability or liabilities to which the credit is applied shall be determined by the City Manager in 
consultation with Developer.   
 

ARTICLE 5 
PUBLIC FACILITIES, SERVICES, AND UTILITIES 

 
Section 5.1. City Use of Public Benefit Fee. City shall use the Public Benefit Amount to pay for 
the impact on and maintenance or improvement of City neighborhoods, for the general welfare of 
the residents of Mendota, and the existing level of service of City infrastructure and services to 
accommodate for the Project. 
 

ARTICLE 6 
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

 
Section 6.1. Insurance. Developer and/or IIS shall require all persons doing work on the Project, 
including their contractors and subcontractors (collectively, “Developer” for purposes of this Article 
6 only), to obtain and maintain insurance of the types and in the amounts described in this Article 
with carriers reasonably satisfactory to City. 
 

(a) General Liability Insurance. Developer and/or IIS shall maintain commercial 
general liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) (or as otherwise approved, in writing, by City) per claim and Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000) each occurrence. Such insurance shall also: 
 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as “Additional Insureds” by endorsement with 
respect to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the 



Page 18 of 31  

scope of its protection afforded to the above-listed additional insured. 
 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 
 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 
 

(b) Automotive Liability Insurance. Developer and/or IIS shall maintain business 
automobile liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for each accident. Such insurance shall include coverage for owned, hired, and non-
owned automobiles. Such insurance shall also: 
 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as Additional Insureds by endorsement with respect 
to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope of 
its protection afforded to the above-listed Additional Insureds. 
 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 
 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 
 

(c) Workers’ Compensation Insurance. Developer and/or IIS shall take out and 
maintain during the Term of this Agreement, workers’ compensation insurance for all of Developer’s 
and/or IIS’s employees employed at or on the Project, and in the case any of the work is 
subcontracted, Developer and/or IIS shall require any general contractor or subcontractor similarly 
to provide workers’ compensation insurance for such contractor’s or subcontractor’s employees, 
unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded by Developer and/or IIS. In case any 
class of employee engaged in work on the Project is not protected under any workers’ compensation 
law, Developer and/or IIS shall provide and shall cause each contractor and subcontractor to provide 
adequate insurance for the protection of employees not otherwise protected. Developer and IIS 
hereby indemnify City for any damage resulting from failure of Developer and/or IIS, their agents, 
employees, contractors, or subcontractors to take out or maintain such insurance. Workers’ 
compensation insurance with statutory limits and employer’s liability insurance with limits of not 
less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for each accident shall be maintained. 
 
Section 6.2. Other Insurance Requirements. Developer and/or IIS shall do all of the following: 
 

(a) Prior to taking any actions under this Agreement, furnish City with properly 
executed certificates of insurance that clearly evidence all insurance required in this Article, 
including evidence that such insurance will not be canceled, allowed to expire, or be materially 
reduced in coverage without thirty (30) days prior written notice to City. 

(b) Provide to City, upon request, and within seven (7) calendar days of said request, 
certified copies of endorsements and policies, and properly executed certificates of insurance 
evidencing the insurance required herein. 

(c) Replace or require the replacement of certificates, policies, and endorsements for 



Page 19 of 31  

any insurance required herein expiring prior the termination of this Agreement. 

(d) Maintain all insurance required herein from the Effective Date of this Agreement to 
the earlier of the expiration of the Term or the mutual written termination of this Agreement. 

(e) Place all insurance required herein with insurers licensed to do business in California 
with a current Best’s Key Rating Guide reasonably acceptable to City. 
 
Section 6.3. Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Developer and/or IIS shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless City and its agents, elected and appointed officials, officers, 
employees, consultants, and volunteers (collectively, “City’s Agents”) from any and all liability 
arising out of a claim, action, or proceeding against City, or City’s Agents, to attack, set aside, void, 
or annul an approval concerning the Project, this Agreement, any applicable Conditional Use Permit, 
or Subsequent City Approvals. 
 
Upon receiving notice of a claim, action, or proceeding, Developer and/or IIS shall assume the 
defense of the claim, action, or proceeding through the prompt payment of all attorneys’ fees and 
costs, incurred in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable discretion, of City’s counsel in 
defending such an action. City shall have the absolute and sole authority to control the litigation and 
make litigation decisions, including, but not limited to, selecting counsel to defend City and 
settlement or other disposition of the matter. The City’s remedies are limited to that portion of the 
Project that is in breach of this Section 6.3. 
 
Section 6.4. Failure to Indemnify; Waiver. Failure to indemnify City, when required by this 
Agreement, shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and of any applicable Conditional 
Use Permit and Subsequent City Approvals, which shall entitle City to all remedies available under 
law, including, but not limited to, specific performance and damages. Failure to indemnify City shall 
constitute grounds upon which City may rescind its approval of any applicable Conditional Use 
Permit or entitlements associated with the Project. Developer’s and/or IIS’s failure to indemnify City 
shall be a waiver by Developer and/or IIS of any right to proceed with the Project, or any portion 
thereof, and a waiver of Developer’s and/or IIS’s right to file a claim, action, or proceeding against 
City or City’s Agents based on City’s rescission or revocation of any Conditional Use Permit, 
Subsequent City Approvals, or City’s failure to defend any claim, action, or proceeding based on 
Developer’s and/or IIS’s failure to indemnify City. 
 
Section 6.5. Waiver of Damages. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the 
Parties acknowledge that City would not have entered into this Agreement had it been exposed to 
liability for damages from Developer and/or IIS and, therefore, Developer and/or IIS hereby waive 
all claims for damages against City for breach of this Agreement. Developer and/or IIS further 
acknowledges that under the Development Agreement Statute, land use approvals (including 
development agreements) must be approved by the City Council and that, under law, the City 
Council’s discretion to vote in any particular way may not be constrained by contract. Developer 
and IIS therefore waive all claims for damages against City in the event that this Agreement or any 
Project approval is: (1) not approved by the City Council or (2) is approved by the City Council, but 
with new changes, amendments, conditions, or deletions to which Developer and/or IIS is opposed. 
Developer and IIS further acknowledge that, as an instrument which must be approved by ordinance, 
a development agreement is subject to referendum; and that, under law, the City Council’s discretion 



Page 20 of 31  

to avoid a referendum by rescinding its approval of the underlying ordinance may not be constrained 
by contract, and Developer and IIS waive all claims for damages against City in this regard. 
 

ARTICLE 7 
MORTGAGEE PROTECTION 

 
Section 7.1. Supremacy Over Liens. This Agreement, once executed and recorded, shall be 
superior and senior to any lien placed upon the Site or any portion thereof following recording of 
this Agreement, including the lien of any deed of trust or mortgage (“Mortgage”). Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, no breach hereof shall defeat, render invalid, diminish, or impair the lien of any 
Mortgage made in good faith and for value. This Agreement shall be deemed in default and terminate 
as to an interest in the Site or Project upon the foreclosure or transfer of that interest, whether by 
operation of law or any other method of interest change or transfer, unless the City Manager has 
authorized such change or transfer in advance, in writing, which such authorization shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or conditioned. 
 

ARTICLE 8 
DEFAULT 

 

Section 8.1. General Provisions. 
 

(a) Subject only to any extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, or as otherwise 
provided herein, the failure or delay by any Party to perform in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a default. Any Party alleging a default or breach of this 
Agreement (“Charging Party”) shall give the other Party (“Charged Party”) not less than thirty (30) 
calendar days’ written notice, which shall specify the nature of the alleged default and the manner in 
which the default may be cured. During any such thirty (30) calendar day period, the Charged Party 
shall not be considered in default for purposes of termination of this Agreement or institution of legal 
proceedings for the breach of this Agreement. 
 

(b) After expiration of the thirty (30) calendar day period, if such default has not been 
cured or is not in the process of being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, or if the 
breach cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) calendar days, the Charging Party may, at its 
option, institute legal proceedings pursuant to this Agreement or give notice of its intent to terminate 
this Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65868. In the event City is the Charging Party, 
City may, in its sole discretion, give notice, as required by law, to the Charged Party of its intent to 
revoke or rescind any operable Conditional Use Permit or other entitlement related to or concerning 
the Project. 
 

(c) Prior to the Charging Party giving notice to the Charged Party of its intent to 
terminate, or prior to instituting legal proceedings, the matter shall be scheduled for consideration 
and review by City in the manner set forth in Government Code sections 65865, 65867, and 65868 
or the comparable provisions of the Mendota Municipal Code within thirty (30) calendar days from 
the expiration of the thirty (30) day notice period. 
 

(d) Following consideration of the evidence presented and said review before City, and 
after providing the Charged Party an additional five (5) calendar day period to cure, the Charging 



Page 21 of 31  

Party may institute legal proceedings against the Charged Party or may give written notice of 
termination of this Agreement to the Charged Party. 
 

(e) Evidence of default may arise in the course of a regularly scheduled periodic review 
of this Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65865.1, as set forth in Section 8.2. If any 
Party determines that another Party is in default following the completion of the normally scheduled 
periodic review, without reference to the procedures specified in Section 8.1(c), said Party may give 
written notice of termination of this Agreement, specifying in the notice the alleged nature of the 
default and potential actions to cure said default where appropriate. If the alleged default is not cured 
in thirty (30) calendar days or within such longer period specified in the notice or the defaulting 
Party is not diligently pursuing a cure or if the breach cannot reasonably be cured within the period 
or the defaulting party waives its right to cure such alleged default, this Agreement may be 
terminated by the non-defaulting Party by giving written notice. 
 

(f) In the event Developer and/or IIS are in default under the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement, no permit application shall be accepted by City nor will any permit be issued to 
Developer and/or IIS until the default is cured, or the Agreement is terminated. 

 
(g) In the event that a person or entity other than the Developer and/or IIS are in default, 

Developer and/or IIS shall use commercially reasonable efforts to bring the person or entity in default 
into compliance.  The City shall provide the Developer and/or IIS with notice and opportunity to 
cure as provided for in paragraph (a) through (e) above, except that the time periods in paragraphs 
(a), (b), (c), and (e) shall be ninety (90) days. 
 
Section 8.2. Annual Review. City shall, at least every twelve (12) months during the Term of this 
Agreement, review the extent of good faith, substantial compliance of Developer and/or IIS and City 
with the terms of this Agreement. Such periodic review by City shall be limited in scope to 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement pursuant to California Government Code section 
65865.1. City shall deposit in the mail or fax to Developer and/or IIS a copy of all staff reports and, 
to the extent practical, related exhibits concerning this Agreement or the Project’s performance, at 
least seven (7) calendar days prior to such periodic review. Developer and/or IIS shall be entitled to 
appeal a determination of City or City Manager to the City Council. Any appeal must be filed within 
ten (10) calendar days of the decision of City or the City Manager, respectively. Developer and/or 
IIS shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally or in writing regarding its performance under 
this Agreement before City, the City Manager, or City Council, as applicable. 
 
Section 8.3. Estoppel Certificates. City shall, with at least twenty (20) calendar days’ prior written 
notice, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Developer and/or IIS, Developers’ and/or IIS’s lender, 
potential investors, or assignees an Estoppel Certificate in writing which certifies that this Agreement 
is in full force and effect, that there are no breaches or defaults under the Agreement, and that the 
Agreement has not been modified or terminated and is enforceable in accordance with its terms and 
conditions. 
 

(a) At Developer’s and/or IIS’s option, City’s failure to deliver such Estoppel 
Certificate within the stated time period shall be conclusive evidence that the Agreement is in full 
force and effect, that there are no uncured breaches or defaults in Developer’s and/or IIS’s 
performance of the Agreement or violation of any City ordinances, regulations, and policies 



Page 22 of 31  

regulating the use and development of the Site or the Project subject to this Agreement. 
 
 
Section 8.4. Default by City. In the event City does not accept, review, approve, or issue any permits 
or approvals in a timely fashion, as defined by this Agreement, or if City otherwise defaults under 
the terms of this Agreement, City agrees that Developer and/or IIS shall not be obligated to proceed 
with or complete the Project, and shall constitute grounds for termination or cancellation of this 
Agreement by Developer and/or IIS. 
 
Section 8.5. Cumulative Remedies of Parties. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City, 
Developer, and/or IIS may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy any 
default, enforce any covenant, or enjoin any threatened or attempted violation of the provisions of 
this Agreement, so long as any such action conforms to Section 8.1(c) of this Agreement.  
 
Section 8.6. Enforced Delay, Extension of Times of Performance. Delays in performance, by 
either Party, shall not be deemed a default if such delays or defaults are due to war, insurrection, 
strikes, walkouts, riots, floods, earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, governmental restrictions 
imposed where mandated by governmental entities other than City, enactment of conflicting state or 
federal laws or regulations, new or supplementary environmental regulations enacted by the state or 
federal government, litigation, or other force majeure events. An extension of time for such cause 
shall be in effect for the period of forced delay or longer, as may be mutually agreed upon. 
 

ARTICLE 9 TERMINATION 
 
Section 9.1. Termination Upon Completion of Development. This Agreement shall terminate 
upon the expiration of the Term, unless it is terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. Upon termination of this Agreement, City shall record a notice of such termination in 
substantial conformance with the “Notice of Termination” attached hereto as Exhibit D, and this 
Agreement shall be of no further force or effect except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 
 
Section 9.2. Effect of Termination on Developer/IISs’ Obligations. Termination of this 
Agreement shall eliminate any further obligation of Developer and/or IIS to comply with this 
Agreement, or some portion thereof, if such termination relates to only part of the Site or Project. 
Termination of this Agreement, in whole or in part, shall not, however, eliminate the rights of 
Developer and/or IIS to seek any applicable and available remedies or damages based upon acts or 
omissions occurring before termination. 
 
Section 9.3. Effect of Termination on City’s Obligations. Termination of this Agreement shall 
eliminate any further obligation of City to comply with this Agreement, or some portion thereof. 
Termination of this Agreement shall not, however, eliminate the rights of City to seek any applicable 
and available remedies or damages based upon acts or omissions occurring before termination. 
 
Section 9.4. Survival After Termination. The rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this 
Section 9.4, Section 2.9, Section 6.3, Section 10.3, Section 10.4, Section 10.5, Section 10.7, and any 
right or obligation of the Parties in this Agreement which, by its express terms or nature and context 
is intended to survive termination of this Agreement, will survive any such termination. 
 
 



Page 23 of 31  

 
 
 

ARTICLE 10 
OTHER GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 10.1. Assignment and Assumption. The rights granted to Developer and/or IIS under this 
Agreement are personal to Developer and/or IIS and neither Developer nor IIS shall not have the 
right to sell, assign, or transfer all or any part of its rights, title, and interests in all or a portion of 
Site, or Project, subject to or a part of this Agreement, to any person, firm, corporation, or entity 
during the Term of this Agreement without the advance written consent of the City Manager.   
 
 (a) The City Manager’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned; 
however, Developer and IIS hereby acknowledge and agree that in no event shall it be unreasonable 
for the City Manager to withhold or condition consent if the proposed assignee or transferee cannot: 
 
  (i) Demonstrate financial resources in the form of a financial statement, balance 
sheet, or tax returns that attest to the assignee or transferee’s financial health and ability to finance 
and operate the proposed business for a minimum of twelve (12) months; and 
 
  (ii) Demonstrate technical expertise through utilization of a substantial portion of 
the Project’s existing management team or through a detailed description of the transferee’s 
experience in operating the same or similar type of project. 
 
 (b) Upon City’s receipt of written notice that Developer and/or IIS propose to assign or 
transfer any of its rights or interests under this Agreement, the City Manager shall, within thirty (30) 
days of receiving all requested information regarding the proposal from Developer and/or IIS, notify 
Developer and/or IIS in writing whether the City intends to withhold or condition its consent 
pursuant to this Section 10.1 and the reasons therefor.  
 
 (c) If the City Manager notifies Developer and/or IIS that the City intends to withhold 
consent pursuant to this Section 10.1, the Parties shall meet and confer in good faith to determine 
whether, in lieu of withholding consent, the City’s concerns can be adequately addressed by 
imposing appropriate conditions on the City’s consent.    
 
 (d) If the Parties are unable to reach agreement regarding the proposed assignment or 
transfer, Developer and/or IIS may, within ten (10) days after meeting and conferring pursuant to 
subdivision (c) above, appeal the City Manager’s decision to the City Council.  In such event, the 
City Council shall finally determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, whether the withholding or 
conditioning of consent to the proposed assignment or transfer is reasonable. 
 
 (e) Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 10.1 will be automatically void 
and will be considered an immediate, material breach of this Agreement such that City may elect to 
immediately terminate this Agreement. If the City Manager approves an assignment or transfer of 
any interest detailed in this Section 10.1, City, Developer and IIS shall execute an “Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement” in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E. Nothing in this Section 10.1 
applies to the Developer’s and/or IIS’s capitalization or ownership provisions. 



Page 24 of 31  

 
 
 
Section 10.2. Covenants Running with the Land. For so long as this Agreement is in full force 
and effect, all of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns, representatives, lessees, and all other persons acquiring 
all or a portion of interest in the Site or Project, whether by operation of law or in any manner 
whatsoever. All of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be enforceable as equitable 
servitudes and shall constitute covenants running with the land pursuant to California law, including 
California Civil Code section 1468. Each covenant herein to act or refrain from acting is for the 
benefit of or a burden upon the Project, as appropriate, runs with the Site, and is binding upon 
Developer and IIS. 
 
Section 10.3. Notices. Any notice or communication required hereunder between City and 
Developer and/or IIS must be in writing, and may be given either personally, by facsimile (with 
original forwarded by regular U.S. Mail), by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), 
or by Federal Express, UPS, or other similar couriers providing overnight delivery. If personally 
delivered, a notice shall be deemed to have been given when delivered to the Party to whom it is 
addressed. If given by facsimile transmission, a notice or communication shall be deemed to have 
been given and received upon actual physical receipt of the entire document by the receiving Party’s 
facsimile machine. Notices transmitted by facsimile after 5:00 p.m. on a normal business day, or on 
a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday shall be deemed to have been given and received on the next normal 
business day. If given by registered or certified mail, such notice or communication shall be deemed 
to have been given and received on the first to occur of (i) actual receipt by any of the addressees 
designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent, or (ii) five (5) days after a registered 
or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage prepaid, is deposited in 
the United States mail. If given by Federal Express or similar courier, a notice or communication 
shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date delivered, as shown on a receipt issued 
by the courier. Any Party hereto may at any time, by giving ten (10) days written notice to the other 
Party hereto, designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication shall be given. Such notices or communications shall be given to the Parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 
 
If to City:  City of Mendota 

643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640  
Attention: Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager 

 
And to:  Wanger Jones Helsley PC 

265 E. River Park Circle, Suite 310 
Fresno, California 93720 
Attention: John P. Kinsey, Esq. 

 
If to Developer: Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 222 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Richard Munkvold 



Page 25 of 31  

 
And to:  Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 114 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Steven B. Imhoof, Esq. 

 
If to IIS:  Industrial Integrity Solutions, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 222 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Richard Munkvold 

 
And to:  Industrial Integrity Solutions, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 114 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Steven B. Imhoof, Esq. 

Section 10.4. Governing Law and Binding Arbitration. The validity, interpretation, and 
performance of this Agreement shall be controlled by and construed pursuant to the laws of the State 
of California. Any dispute, claim, or controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the 
breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation, or validity thereof, including the determination of 
the scope or applicability of this Agreement to arbitrate, shall be determined by binding arbitration 
in Fresno, California, before one arbitrator. The arbitration shall proceed pursuant to the 
Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Proceedings of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation 
Services. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

Section 10.5. Invalidity of Agreement/Severability. If this Agreement in its entirety is determined 
by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, this Agreement shall automatically terminate as of the date 
of final entry of judgment. If any term or provision of this Agreement shall be determined by a court 
to be invalid and unenforceable, or if any term or provision of this Agreement is rendered invalid or 
unenforceable according to the terms of any federal or state statute, any provisions that are not invalid 
or unenforceable shall continue in full force and effect and shall be construed to give effect to the 
intent of this Agreement. The Parties expressly agree that each Party is strictly prohibited from failing 
to perform any and all obligations under this Agreement on the basis that this Agreement is invalid, 
unenforceable, or illegal. By entering into this Agreement, each Party disclaims any right to tender 
an affirmative defense in any arbitration or court of competent jurisdiction, that performance under 
this Agreement is not required because the Agreement is invalid, unenforceable, or illegal. 
 
Section 10.6. Cumulative Remedies. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City, Developer 
and/or IIS may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy any default, to 
specifically enforce any covenant or agreement herein, or to enjoin any threatened or attempted 
violation of the provisions of this Agreement. The prevailing party in any such action shall be entitled 
to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this 
Agreement, in the event of City default under this Agreement, Developer and IIS agree that neither 
Developer nor IIS may seek, and shall forever waive any right to, monetary damages against City, 
but excluding therefrom the right to recover any fees or charges paid by Developer and/or IIS in 
excess of those permitted hereunder. 
 



Page 26 of 31  

Section 10.7. Third Party Legal Challenge. In the event any legal action or special proceeding is 
commenced by any person or entity challenging this Agreement or any associated entitlement, 
permit, or approval granted by City to Developer and/or IIS for the Project (collectively, “Project 
Litigation”), the Parties agree to cooperate with each other as set forth herein. City may elect to 
tender the defense of any lawsuit filed and related in whole or in part to Project Litigation with legal 
counsel selected by City. Developer and/or IIS will indemnify, hold City harmless from, and defend 
City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit, including, but not limited 
to, damages, attorneys’ fees, and expenses of litigation awarded to the prevailing party or parties in 
such litigation. Developer and/or IIS shall pay all litigation fees to City, within thirty (30) days of 
receiving a written request and accounting of such fees and expenses, from City. Notwithstanding 
the aforementioned, City may request, and Developer and/or IIS will provide to City within seven 
(7) days of any such request, a deposit to cover City’s reasonably anticipated Project Litigation fees 
and costs. 
 
Section 10.8. Constructive Notice and Acceptance. Every person who after the Effective Date and 
recording of this Agreement owns or acquires any right, title, or interest to any portion of the Site is 
and shall be conclusively deemed to have consented and agreed to every provision contained herein, 
whether or not any reference to this Agreement is contained in the instrument by which such person 
acquired an interest in the Site, and all rights and interests of such person in the Site shall be subject 
to the terms, requirements, and provisions of this Agreement. 
 
Section 10.9. Statute of Limitations and Laches. City, Developer, and IIS agree that each Party 
will undergo a change in position in detrimental reliance upon this Agreement from the time of its 
execution and subsequently. The Parties agree that section 65009(c)(1)(D) of the California 
Government Code, which provides for a ninety (90) day statute of limitations to challenge the 
adoption of this Agreement, is applicable to this Agreement. In addition, any person who may 
challenge the validity of this Agreement is hereby put on notice that, should the legality or validity 
of this Agreement be challenged by any third party in litigation, which is filed and served more than 
ninety (90) days after the execution of this Agreement, City, Developer, and/or IIS shall each assert 
the affirmative defense of laches with respect to such challenge, in addition to all other available 
defenses. This Section in no way limits the right of a Party, claiming that the other Party breached 
the terms of this Agreement, to bring a claim against the other Party within the four (4) year statute 
of limitations set forth in Section 337 of the California Civil Code. 
 
Section 10.10. Change in State Regulations. In no event shall Developer or IIS operate the Project 
in violation of the Agreement, or any applicable regulations issued pursuant to the California 
Cannabis Laws, as may be amended from time to time. 
 
Section 10.11. Standard Terms and Conditions. 
 

(a) Venue. Venue for all legal proceedings shall be in the Superior Court of California 
in and for the County of Fresno. 
 

(b) Waiver. A waiver by any Party of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition 
herein contained or a waiver of any right or remedy of such Party available hereunder, at law or in 
equity, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant, or condition herein contained or of any continued or subsequent right to the same right or 



Page 27 of 31  

remedy. No Party shall be deemed to have made any such waiver unless it is in writing and signed 
by the Party so waiving. 
 
 

(c) Completeness of Instrument. This Agreement, together with its specific 
references, attachments, and Exhibits, constitutes all of the agreements, understandings, 
representations, conditions, warranties, and covenants made by and between the Parties hereto. 
Unless set forth herein, no Party to this Agreement shall be liable for any representations made, 
express or implied. 
 

(d) Supersedes Prior Agreement. It is the intention of the Parties hereto that this 
Agreement shall supersede any prior agreements, discussions, commitments, or representations, 
written, electronic, or oral, between the Parties hereto with respect to the Site and the Project. 
 

(e) Captions. The captions of this Agreement are for convenience and reference only 
and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify, or aid in the 
interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

(f) Number and Gender. In this Agreement, the neutral gender includes the feminine 
and masculine, and the singular includes the plural, and the word “person” includes corporations, 
partnerships, firms, or associations, wherever the context requires. 
 

(g) Mandatory and Permissive. “Shall” and “will” and “agrees” are mandatory. “May” 
or “can” are permissive. 
 

(h) Term Includes Extensions. All references to the Term of this Agreement shall 
include any extensions of such Term. 
 

(i) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously and in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument. 
 

(j) Other Documents. The Parties agree that they shall cooperate in good faith to 
accomplish the objectives of this Agreement and, to that end, agree to execute and deliver such other 
instruments or documents as may be necessary and convenient to fulfill the purposes and intentions 
of this Agreement. 
 

(k) Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence in this Agreement in each covenant, 
term, and condition herein. 
 

(l) Authority. All Parties to this Agreement warrant and represent that they have the 
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the names, titles, and capacities herein stated 
on behalf of any entities, persons, states, or firms represented or purported to be represented by such 
entities, persons, states, or firms and that all former requirements necessary or required by state or 
federal law in order to enter into this Agreement had been fully complied with. Further, by entering 
into this Agreement, no Party hereto shall have breached the terms or conditions of any other contract 
or agreement to which such Party is obligated, which such breach would have a material effect 
hereon. 



Page 28 of 31  

 
(m) Document Preparation. This Agreement will not be construed against the Party 

preparing it, but will be construed as if prepared by all Parties. 
 

(n) Advice of Legal Counsel. Each Party acknowledges that it has reviewed this 
Agreement with its own legal counsel and, based upon the advice of that counsel, freely entered into 
this Agreement. 
 

(o) Attorney’s Fees and Costs. If any action at law or in equity, including action for 
declaratory relief, is brought to enforce or interpret provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing Party 
shall be entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, which may be set by the court in the same 
action or in a separate action brought for that purpose, in addition to any other relief to which such 
Party may be entitled. 
 

(p) Calculation of Time Periods. All time referenced in this Agreement shall be 
calendar days, unless the last day falls on a legal holiday, Saturday, or Sunday, in which case the last 
day shall be the next business day. 
 

(q) Confidentiality. Both Parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the other 
Party’s “Confidential Information” under this Agreement and shall not disclose such information to 
third parties. “Confidential Information” shall include, but not be limited to, business plans, trade 
secrets, and industry knowledge. Confidential Information shall not apply to information that: (i) is 
in the public domain at the time of disclosures or (ii) is required to be disclosed pursuant to a court 
order, governmental authority, or existing state law. 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 



Page 29 of 31  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been entered into by and between Developer, 
IIS, and City as of the Effective Date of the Agreement, as defined above. 
 
 
 
 

“CITY” 

Date: _______________, 2021 

CITY OF MENDOTA,  
a California Municipal Corporation 
 
 
      
By: Cristian Gonzalez 
Its: City Manager  

Attest: 

      
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia 
City Clerk 
 
Approved to as Form: 
 
 

   
John P. Kinsey 
City Attorney 

“DEVELOPER” 
 
Date: _______________, 2021   

VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, 
LLC, a California limited liability company 
 
 
      
By: 
Its: 
 
“IIS” 
 
Date: _______________, 2021 
 
 
INDUSTRIAL INTEGRITY SOLUTIONS, 
LLC, a California limited liability company 
 
 
      
By: 
Its: 
 



Page 30 of 31  

 

California All-Purpose Acknowledgment 
 

 
State of California ) 

) 
County of  ) 
 
 
On  , before me  , a Notary 

Public, personally appeared    who proved 

to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 

the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 

authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 
 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
 
 

(Signature) 
 
 

(Seal) 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 



Page 31 of 31  

 

California All-Purpose Acknowledgment 
 

 
State of California ) 

) 
County of  ) 
 
 
On  , before me  , a Notary 

Public, personally appeared    who proved 

to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 

the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 

authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 
 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
 
 

(Signature) 
 
 

(Seal) 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 



Page 1 of 31  

 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE 
Recording Fee Exempt per Government Code §6103 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 
_____ day of ________________, 2020, by and between the CITY OF MENDOTA, a municipal 
corporation of the State of California (“City”), VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, 
LLC, a California limited liability company  (“Developer”), and THE AXIOM GROUP, LLC, a 
California limited liability company (“Axiom”). City, Developer or Axiom may be referred to 
herein individually as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties.” There are no other parties to this 
Agreement. 
  

RECITALS 

A. On October 9, 2015, Governor Jerry Brown signed three bills into law (Assembly 
Bill 266, Assembly Bill 243, and Senate Bill 643) which are collectively referred to as the Medical 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MCRSA”). MCRSA establishes a statewide regulatory 
system for the cultivation, processing, transportation, testing, manufacturing, and distribution of 
medical marijuana to qualified patients and their primary caregivers. 

 
B. On November 8, 2016, California voters enacted Proposition 64, the Control, 

Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, also known as the Adult Use of Marijuana Act 
(“AUMA”), which establishes a comprehensive system to legalize, control, and regulate the 
cultivation, processing, manufacture, distribution, testing, and sale of nonmedical cannabis, 
including cannabis products, for use by adults 21 years and older, and to tax the growth and retail 
sale of cannabis for nonmedical use. 

 
C. On June 27, 2017, Governor Jerry Brown signed into law the Medicinal and Adult- 

Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), which creates a single regulatory 
scheme for both medicinal and adult-use cannabis businesses. MAUCRSA retains the provisions in 
MCRSA and AUMA that granted local jurisdictions control over whether businesses engaged in 
Commercial Cannabis Activity, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, may operate in a 
particular jurisdiction. 

 
D. Government Code section 65865 requires an applicant for a development agreement 

 
 
 
 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL 
TO: 

 

 
 



Page 2 of 31  

to hold a legal or equitable interest in the real property that is the subject of the development 
agreement. On or about October 22, 2019 the City and Developer entered into that certain Purchase 
and Sale Agreement to purchase that certain real property  located approximately one-quarter mile 
east of W. Belmont Avenue, and  approximately one-half mile north of Guillan Park Drive, in the 
City of Mendota, County of Fresno, State of California, Assessor’s Parcel Number 013-030-68ST 
(the “Site”), as more particularly described in the legal description attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and depicted on the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

 
E. Developer has two corporate members, Axiom, which holds a forty percent (40%) 

share in Developer’s assets, including the Property, and Odyssey Insights, LLC, a California 
limited liability company (“Odyssey”), which holds a sixty percent (60%) share in Developer’s 
assets, including the Property. 

 
F. Prior to close of escrow on Developer’s purchase of the Property, Developer shall 

submit an application to the City to sub-divide the Property into two (2) separate legal parcels, with 
the first parcel being approximately sixty percent (60%) of the Property, or approximately thirty-
five (35) acres, to be operated by Odyssey (“Odyssey Parcel”), and the second parcel being 
approximately forty percent (40%) of Property, or approximately twenty-four (24) acres, to be 
operated by Axiom (“Axiom Parcel”). The Axiom Parcel is more particularly described in the legal 
description attached hereto as Exhibit C and depicted on the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit 
D.    

 
G. Developer and/or Axiom proposes to improve, develop, and use the Property as a 

guard-gated and secure Cannabis Cultivation Facility for cultivation, manufacturing, and 
distribution of Cannabis and Cannabis Products, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, in 
strict accordance with California Cannabis Laws, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, as 
they may be amended from time to time, and the Municipal Code of the City of Mendota as it 
existed on the Effective Date (the “Project”). Developer and/or Axiom intends to develop the 
Project in two distinct phases, specifically: (1) the first phase of the Project will consist of land 
development and the construction of “Outdoor-Mixed Light Cultivation” structures as defined in 
Section 1.4 of this agreement, located in various areas throughout the Site (“Phase I”), and (2) the 
second phase of the Project may consist of the construction of a “headhouse” used for the 
processing of harvested cannabis, administrative offices, employee breakroom(s), restrooms, and 
other ancillary Project needs (“Phase 2”).  

 
H. To strengthen the public planning process, encourage private participation in 

comprehensive planning, and reduce the economic risk of development, the California Legislature 
adopted Government Code section 65864 et seq. (the “Development Agreement Statute”), which 
authorizes City and an individual with an interest in real property to enter into a development 
agreement that establishes certain development rights in real property that is subject to a 
development agreement application. 

 
I. On September 12, 2017, the City Council of Mendota (“City Council”) adopted 

Ordinance No. 17-13, creating the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District and establishing zoning 
limitations and requirements for all cannabis businesses located therein, including the proposed 
cannabis facility to be located at the Site. 

 



Page 3 of 31  

J. On June 11, 2019, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 19-06, establishing 
additional requirements for the operation and entitlement of commercial cannabis businesses 
operating within the City.  

 
K. Prior to the City’s adoption of Ordinance No. 19-06, Developer submitted a request 

to the City for consideration of a development agreement for the Project pursuant to the 
requirements of Chapter 17.99 of the Mendota Municipal Code.  

 
L. On September 8, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 20-16, establishing 

additional requirements for the operation and entitlement of commercial cannabis businesses 
operating within the City. 

 
M. Government Code § 65867 requires the Planning Commission to hold a public 

hearing to review an application for a development agreement. 
 

N. On December 29, 2020, after a duly noticed and held meeting in accordance with 
Government Code § 65867, the City’s Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of 
Developer’s application for a development agreement for the Project. 

 
O. On January 12, 2021, the City Council, in a duly noticed public hearing, introduced 

and conducted the first reading of Ordinance No. 21-XX, an Ordinance to Approve a Development 
Agreement by and Between the City of Mendota and Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC.  

 
P. Pursuant to Government Code section 65867.5, on January 26, 2021, the City 

Council reviewed, considered, adopted, and entered into this Agreement pursuant to Ordinance No. 
21-XX. 

 
Q. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the Development Agreement Statute and 

the Mendota Municipal Code. 
 
R. City, Developer, and Axiom desire to enter into this Agreement to: (i) facilitate the 

orderly development of the Site in general and specifically to ensure that such development is 
consistent with Title 17 of the Mendota Municipal Code; (ii) create a physical environment that is 
consistent with, complements, and promotes the purposes and intent of the Commercial Cannabis 
Overlay District and the regulations adopted therewith; (iii) protect natural resources from adverse 
impacts; and (vi) reduce the economic risk of development of the Site to both City, Developer, and 
Axiom. 

 
S. The Parties intend through this Agreement to allow Developer and/or Axiom to 

develop and manage the Project in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
T. The City Council has determined that this Agreement is consistent with City’s 

General Plan and have conducted all necessary proceedings in accordance with City’s Municipal 
Code for the approval of this Agreement. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 



Page 4 of 31  

 
AGREEMENT 

ARTICLE 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1.1. Findings. City hereby finds and determines that entering into this Agreement furthers 
the public health, safety, and general welfare and is consistent with City’s General Plan, including 
all text and maps in the General Plan. 
 
Section 1.2. Recitals. The Recitals above are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into and 
made a part of this Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency between the Recitals and the 
provisions of Articles 1 through 10 of this Agreement, the provisions of Articles 1 through 10 shall 
prevail. 
 
Section 1.3. Exhibits. The following “Exhibits” are attached to and incorporated into this 
Agreement: 
 
 

Designation Description 

Exhibit A Legal Description (Entire Site) 
Exhibit B Site Map (Entire Site) 

 Exhibit C Legal Description (Axiom Parcel) 
Exhibit D Site Map (Axiom Parcel) 
Exhibit E Notice of Non-performance Late Fee 
Exhibit F Notice of Termination 
Exhibit G Assignment and Assumption Agreement 

 
Section 1.4. Definitions. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms below 
have the following meaning: 
 

(a) “Additional Insureds” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 
 

(b) “Additional License” means a state license to operate a cannabis business pursuant 
to the California Cannabis Laws that is not an Authorized License. 
 

(c) “Adult-Use Cannabis” means a product containing cannabis, including, but not 
limited to, concentrates and extractions, intended for use by adults 21 years of age or over in 
California pursuant to the California Cannabis Laws. 
 

(d) “Agreement” means this Development Agreement, inclusive of all Exhibits 
attached hereto. 
 

(e) “Application” means the application for a development agreement submitted by 
Developer to the City. 



Page 5 of 31  

 
(f) “Assignment and Assumption Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 

10.1. 
 

(g) “AUMA” means the Adult Use of Marijuana Act (Proposition 64) approved by 
California voters on November 8, 2016. 
 

(h) “Authorized License” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3. 
 

(i) “Bureau” means the Bureau of Cannabis Control within the Department of 
Consumer Affairs, formerly named the Bureau of Marijuana Control, the Bureau of Medical 
Cannabis Regulation, and the Bureau of Medical Marijuana Regulation. 
 

(j) “California Building Standards Codes” means the California Building Code, as 
amended from time to time, in Part 2, Volumes 1 and 2, as part of Title 24 of the California Code 
of Regulations, as may be adopted by the Mendota Municipal Code. 

 
(k) “California Cannabis Laws” includes AUMA, MAUCRSA, CUA, the Medical 

Marijuana Program Act of 2004 codified as Health and Safety Code sections 11362.7 through 
11.62.83, and any other applicable state laws that may be enacted or approved. 
 

(l) “Cannabis” means all parts of the plant Cannabis sativa Linnaeus, Cannabis indica, 
or Cannabis ruderalis, whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; the resin, whether crude or 
purified, extracted from any part of the plant; and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, 
mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or resin. “Cannabis” also means the separated resin, 
whether crude or purified, obtained from cannabis. “Cannabis” does not include the mature stalks 
of the plant, fiber produced from the stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, any other 
compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the mature stalks (except the 
resin extracted therefrom), fiber, oil, or cake, or the sterilized seed of the plant which is incapable 
of germination. For the purpose of this division, “cannabis” does not mean “industrial hemp” as 
defined by Section 11018.5 of the Health and Safety Code. Cannabis and the term “marijuana” 
may be used interchangeably. 
 

(m) “Cannabis Business” means a cannabis business operating pursuant to an 
Authorized License. 
 

(n) “Cannabis Product” means cannabis that has undergone a process whereby the 
plant material has been transformed into a concentrate, including, but not limited to, concentrated 
cannabis, or an edible or topical product containing cannabis or concentrated cannabis and other 
ingredients. 
 

(o) “CEQA” means the California Environmental Quality Act, as set forth in Division 
13 (Commencing with Section 21000) of the California Public Resources Code, and the CEQA 
Guidelines as set forth in Title 14 (Commencing with Section 15000) of the California Code of 
Regulations. 
 

(p) “City” means the City of Mendota, a municipal corporation having general police 



Page 6 of 31  

powers. 
 

(q) “City Council” means the City of Mendota City Council. 
 

(r) “City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Mendota, or his or her 
designee. 
 

(s) “Charged Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 
 

(t) “Charging Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 
 
(u) “Commercial Cannabis Activity” means to cultivate, manufacture, distribute, or 

test a cannabis product provided for by Division 10 (commencing with Section 26000) of the 
Business and Professions Code. 

 
(v) “Conditional Use Permit” means a conditional use permit for the Project issued by 

the City pursuant to Mendota Municipal Code Chapter 17.08.050. 
 

(w)   “Contribution Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 

(x) “CUA” means the Compassionate Use Act (Proposition 215) approved by 
California voters on November 5, 1996. 

 
(y) “Developed Portions of the Property” means the portions of the Site that contain 

buildings, structures, greenhouses and the like, or have otherwise been improved.  For example, the 
Developed Portions of the Property shall include all structures used by Developer or Axiom for 
Commercial Cannabis Activity. 
 

(z) “Developer” means Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC and its assignees or 
successors as allowed herein. Developer also has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 
 

(aa) “Development Agreement Statute” has the meaning set forth in Recital H. 
 

(bb) “Exhibits” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3. 
 

(cc) “Outdoor and Mixed Light Cultivation” means a Type 2B and Type 3B license 
classification as set forth in Business and Professions code 26061 (a) (7) and 26061 (a) (10). 

 
(dd) “Gross Receipts” shall mean total revenue received or receivable by the Developer 

and/or Axiom from any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Property or from operation of the 
Project on the Property, including: all sales; the total amount of compensation received or 
receivable for the performance of any act or service, of whatever nature it may be, for which a 
charge is made or credit whether or not such act or service is done as part of or in connection with 
the sale of materials, goods, wares, or merchandise; and gains realized from trading in stocks or 
bonds, interest discounts, rents, royalties, fees, commissions, dividends, or other remunerations, 
however designated. Included in "Gross Receipts" shall be all receipts, cash, credits, and property 
of any kind or nature, without any deduction therefrom on account of the cost of the materials 



Page 7 of 31  

used, labor or service costs, interest paid or payable, or losses or other expenses whatsoever, except 
that the following shall be excluded therefrom:  

 
(1) Cash discounts allowed and taken on Commercial Cannabis Activity sale; 
 
(2) Any tax required by law to be included in or added to the purchase price of 

Commercial Cannabis Activity and collected from the consumer or 
purchaser; 

 
(3) Such part of the sale price of property returned by purchasers in any 

Commercial Cannabis Activity upon rescission of a contract of sale as is 
refunded either in cash or by credit; and 

 
(4) Receipts of refundable deposits in any Commercial Cannabis Activity, 

except that such deposits when forfeited and taken into income of the 
business shall not be excluded. 

 
The intent of this definition is to ensure that in calculating the payments required 
under Section 17.99.070(A) of the Mendota Municipal Code, all sales related to 
Commercial Cannabis Activity or any other cannabis and cannabis products at the 
Property or through the Project are captured. This definition shall therefore be given 
the broadest possible interpretation consistent with this intent. 

 
(ee) “Major Amendment” means an amendment that shall have a material effect on the 

terms of the Agreement. Major Amendments shall require approval by the City Council. 
 
(ff) “Marijuana” has the same meaning as cannabis and those terms may be used 

interchangeably. 
 
(gg) “MAUCRSA” means the Medicinal and Adult-Use Cannabis Regulation and 

Safety Act, codified as Business and Professions Code section 26000 et seq. 
 
(hh) “MCRSA” has the meaning set forth in Recital A. 
 
(ii) “Ministerial Fee” or “Ministerial Fees” have the meanings set forth in Section 4.1. 
 
(jj) “Minor Amendment” means a clerical amendment to the Agreement that shall not 

materially affect the terms of the Agreement (e.g., change of notice address) and any amendment 
described as minor herein. 

 
(kk) “Mortgage” has the meaning set forth in Article 7. 
 
(ll) “Non-Performance Late Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3. 
 
(mm) “Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 

4.3. 
 



Page 8 of 31  

(nn)   “Notice of Termination” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1. 
 

(oo)   “Processing Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.11. 
 
(pp) “Project” has the meaning set forth in Recital G. 
 
(qq) “Project Litigation” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.6. 
 
(rr) “Public Benefit Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 
(ss) “Site” has the meaning set forth in Recital D. 
 
(tt) “State Cannabis Manufacturing Regulations” means the regulations related to 

cannabis manufacturing issued by a State Licensing Authority in accordance with Chapter 13 
(commencing with Section 26130) of Division 10 of the Business and Professions Code, which 
may be amended from time to time. 

 
(uu) “State Licensing Authority” means the state agency responsible for the issuance, 

renewal, or reinstatement of a state cannabis license, or the state agency authorized to take 
disciplinary action against a business licensed under the California Cannabis Laws. 

 
(vv) “State Taxing Authority” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 
(ww) “Subsequent City Approvals” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1. 
 
(xx) “Term” has the meaning described in Section 1.7. 

 
Section 1.5. Project is a Private Undertaking. The Parties agree that the Project is a private 
development and that City has no interest therein, except as authorized in the exercise of its 
governmental functions. City shall not for any purpose be considered an agent, partner, or joint 
venturer of Developer, Axiom, or the Project. 
 
Section 1.6. Effective Date of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon the date 
that the ordinance approving this Agreement becomes effective and title to the Site is vested in the 
Developer (the “Effective Date”). 
 
Section 1.7. Term. The “Term” of this Agreement is twenty (20) years from the Effective Date, 
unless terminated or extended earlier, as set forth in this Agreement. 
 

(a) Government Tolling or Termination. City may provide written notice to 
Developer and/or Axiom to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, upon which Developer and/or 
Axiom shall immediately comply, only if City is specifically required to comply with federal or 
state law and such federal or state law requires cessation of Cannabis Cultivation Activities. If City 
temporarily halts this Agreement to comply with federal or state law, this Agreement shall be 
tolled for an equivalent period of time (the “Tolling Period”). Developer and/or Axiom shall not 
accrue or be liable to City for any Ministerial Fees or Public Benefit Amount during the Tolling 



Page 9 of 31  

Period. Developer and/or Axiom shall resume paying any applicable fees after the Tolling Period 
ends. City and Developer and/or Axiom shall discuss in good faith the termination of this 
Agreement if the Tolling Period exceeds one (1) calendar year. 

(b) Developer/Axiom Tolling or Termination. Neither Developer nor Axiom may 
temporarily halt or suspend this Agreement for any purpose without causing a default of this 
Agreement, except as otherwise allowed by this Agreement. 

(c) Developer/Axiom Termination. Developer and/or Axiom may provide written 
notice to City of intent to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, if Developer and/or Axiom are 
required, directed, or believes, in their sole and absolute discretion, they must temporarily halt or 
terminate Commercial Cannabis Activity. In such an event, Developer’s and/or Axiom’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall terminate. Any resumption of Commercial Cannabis 
Activity shall be subject to approval by the City Manager. 

Section 1.8. Priority of Enactment. In the event of conflict between the various land use 
documents referenced in this Agreement, the Parties agree that the following sequence of approvals 
establishes the relative priority of the approvals, each approval superior to the approvals listed 
thereafter: (a) General Plan, (b) Agreement, (c) Conditional Use Permit, and (d) Subsequent City 
Approvals, as defined in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. 
 
Section 1.9. Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement shall be amended only by mutual 
consent of the Parties. All amendments shall be in writing. The City Council hereby expressly 
authorizes the City Manager to approve a Minor Amendment to this Agreement, upon notification 
of the City Council. A Major Amendment to this Agreement shall be approved by the City 
Council. The City Manager shall, on behalf of City, have sole discretion for City to determine if an 
amendment is a Minor Amendment or a Major Amendment. Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
construed as requiring a noticed public hearing, unless required by law. 
 
Section 1.10. Recordation of Development Agreement. The City Clerk shall cause a copy of this 
Agreement to be recorded against the title of the Site within ten (10) business days of the Effective 
Date. 
 
Section 1.11. Funding Agreement for Processing Costs. Developer has deposited fifteen 
thousand dollars ($15,000) with City to pay for the Application, all actual fees and expenses 
incurred by City that are related to the preparation, processing, and annual review of this 
Agreement, including recording fees, publishing fees, staff time, consultant and attorney fees and 
costs (collectively, “Processing Costs”). The Processing Costs are refundable solely to the extent of 
non-expended Processing Costs. Developer shall be entitled to a refund of available Processing 
Costs only after City determines all financial obligations associated with the Project have been 
received and paid by City. 
 

(a) Apportionment of Processing Costs. If the amount deposited for purposes of 
Processing Costs is insufficient to cover all Processing Costs, City shall provide notice to 
Developer, and Developer shall deposit with City such additional funds necessary to pay for all 
Processing Costs within thirty (30) calendar days. The failure to timely pay any such additional 
amounts requested by City shall be considered a material default of this Agreement and City may 
immediately terminate this Agreement and all entitlements associated with the Project. 



Page 10 of 31  

 

(b) Accounting. Developer may request, and City shall issue within two (2) weeks, an 
accounting and written acknowledgement of Processing Costs paid to City. 

 
ARTICLE 2 

DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY 
 
Section 2.1. Vested Right of Developer/Axiom. During the Term, in developing the Site 
consistent with the Project described herein, Developer and Axiom are assured that the 
development rights, obligation terms, and conditions specified in this Agreement, including, 
without limitation, the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in the Exhibits, are fully vested 
in Developer and Axiom and may not be modified or terminated by City except as set forth in this 
Agreement or with Developer’s or Axiom’s written consent. 
 
Section 2.2. Vested Right to Develop. In accordance with Section 2.1, Developer and/or Axiom 
shall have the vested right to develop and use the Project consistent with this Agreement, the 
existing City regulations and codes, the Conditional Use Permit, and Subsequent City Approvals. 
Developer and Axiom hereby acknowledge and agree that a condition of approval for the 
Conditional Use Permit will be that this Agreement remain in full force and effect for the duration 
of the Term and that any assignment or transfer of Developer’s or Axiom’s interests under this 
Agreement may be made only with the City’s consent in accordance with Section 10.1 herein.  
 
Section 2.3. Permitted Uses and Development Standards. Developer and/or Axiom shall be 
authorized to develop, construct, and use the Site for Commercial Cannabis Activity consistent 
with the following license types (the “Authorized License”): 
 

License Description State License Type(s) 
Cultivation Indoor 1A/2A/3A 
Cultivation Outdoor and Mixed 
Light 

1B/2B/3B 

Cultivation Nursery 4 
Manufacturing 1 6 
Manufacturing 2 7 
Laboratory Testing 8 
Distribution 11 
Transportation 12 
Cultivation Processor C-P 

 
Developer and/or Axiom or their tenants or assignees shall be permitted to use the Site consistent 
with the Authorized License for the Term of this Agreement and during the time Developer and/or 
Axiom, or their tenants or assignees, are applying for the Authorized License with the applicable 
State Licensing Authority. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer and/or Axiom, or their 
tenants or assignees, are required to apply for and obtain the Authorized License from the State of 
California. If the State Licensing Authority does not grant the Authorized License to Developer 
and/or Axiom or their tenants or assignees, Developer and/or Axiom or their tenants or assignees 
shall immediately cease Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site. Developer and/or Axiom or 



Page 11 of 31  

their tenants or assignees shall also, within ten (10) calendar days of receiving notice from the 
State Licensing Authority, notify City of the State Licensing Authority’s denial or rejection of any 
license. If the Authorized License is not granted by the State of California, Developer and/or 
Axiom, or their tenants or assignees, shall immediately cease operations. In this situation, this 
Agreement shall terminate immediately. The Parties intend for this Agreement and the Conditional 
Use Permit to serve as the definitive and controlling documents for all subsequent actions, 
discretionary or ministerial, relating to development of the Site and Project.  
 
Section 2.4. Major Amendment to Permitted Uses. Developer and/or Axiom may request to add 
one or more of the license types then authorized by the California Cannabis Laws to the 
Authorized License. If City Council allows any Additional Authorized Licenses, City Council shall 
make a finding of whether Developer’s and/or Axiom’s, or their tenants’ or assignees’, Additional 
Authorized Licenses will have any additional impact on City neighborhoods, infrastructure, or 
services. Developer and/or Axiom shall be required to compensate City for all additional impacts 
on City infrastructure or services associated with any Additional Licenses and the Public Benefit 
Fee amount shall be revised accordingly. This process shall be a Major Amendment to this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 2.5. Development Permit. By entering into this Agreement, City understands and 
acknowledges that prior to Developer and/or Axiom commencing any development or construction 
activities on the Site, or the operation of any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site, Developer 
and/or Axiom are required to obtain from the City a Conditional Use Permit and any applicable 
Subsequent City Approvals. Developer and/or Axiom shall be required to comply with all 
provisions of the Mendota Municipal Code and any other City rules and administrative guidelines 
associated with implementation of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. Nothing in this 
Agreement shall be construed as limiting the ability of City to amend the Mendota Municipal Code 
or issue rules or administrative guidelines associated with implementation of the Commercial 
Cannabis Overlay District or Developer’s and/or Axiom’s obligation to strictly comply with the 
same. 
 
Section 2.6. Subsequent Entitlements, Approvals, and Permits. Successful implementation of 
the Project shall require Developer and/or Axiom to obtain additional approvals and permits from 
City and other local and state agencies. City shall comply with CEQA in the administration of all 
Subsequent City Approvals. In acting upon any Subsequent City Approvals, City’s exercise of 
discretion and permit authority shall conform to this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in 
the course of taking action on the Subsequent City Approvals, City will exercise discretion in 
adopting mitigation measures as part of the Conditional Use Permit. Any entitlements and/or 
development standards required by the City that are not contemplated in the Conditional Use 
Permit shall, to the extent practicable, be consistent with the County of Fresno’s development 
standards for “Exclusive Agricultural” uses as set forth in the Fresno County Ordinance Code - 
Division 6, Zoning Ordinance. The exercise of this discretion is not prohibited by this Agreement, 
but the exercise of that discretion must be reasonable and consistent with this Agreement. Nothing 
in this Agreement shall preclude the evaluation of impacts or consideration of mitigation measures 
or alternatives, as required by CEQA. 
 
Section 2.7.  No Commitment to Project Approval.  Developer understands and acknowledges 
that City shall be under no obligation whatsoever to approve or to issue to Developer any 



Page 12 of 31  

development entitlement, including, but not limited to, a Conditional Use Permit or any applicable 
Subsequent City Approvals, related to Developer’s and/or Axiom’s development or construction 
activities on the Site, or the operation of any Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site. City will 
conduct environmental review of the relevant activity or activities in accordance with the 
requirements of CEQA prior to granting any approval associated with the Development 
Entitlements. Developer acknowledges and agrees that, in accordance with Seller’s obligations 
under CEQA, City may, after conducting appropriate environmental review, decide not to approve 
some or all of the required development entitlements, or may approve some or all of the 
development entitlements subject to conditions. The Parties expressly intend that nothing in this 
Agreement shall be interpreted as a commitment by City to grant any development entitlements to 
Developer prior to City’s completion of appropriate environmental review in accordance with 
CEQA, or as an abrogation of the City’s obligation to exercise its independent judgement in 
deciding whether to grant any development entitlement or whether to impose conditions on any 
development entitlement.  
 
Section 2.8. Initiatives and Referenda. If any City ordinance, rule, or regulation, or addition to 
the Mendota Municipal Code is enacted or imposed by a citizen-sponsored initiative or referendum 
after the Effective Date that would conflict with this Agreement, an associated Conditional Use 
Permit, Subsequent City Approvals, or reduce the development rights or assurances provided to 
Developer and Axiom in this Agreement, such Mendota Municipal Code changes shall not be 
applied to the Site or Project; provided, however, the Parties acknowledge that City’s approval of 
this Agreement is a legislative action subject to referendum. City shall cooperate with Developer 
and/or Axiom and shall undertake such reasonable actions as may be appropriate to ensure this 
Agreement remains in full force and effect and is implemented in accordance with its terms to the 
fullest extent permitted by state or federal law. 
 
Section 2.9. Regulation by Other Government Entities. Developer and Axiom acknowledge that 
City does not have authority or jurisdiction over any other government entities’ ability to grant 
governmental approvals or permits or to impose a moratorium or other limitations that may 
negatively affect the Project or the ability of City to issue a permit to Developer and/or Axiom or 
comply with the terms of this Agreement. Any moratorium imposed by another government entity, 
including the State Licensing Authority, on City shall not cause City to be in breach of this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 2.10. Developer’s Right to Rebuild. Developer and/or Axiom may renovate portions of 
the Site or the Axiom Parcel any time within the Term of this Agreement consistent with the 
Mendota Municipal Code. Any such renovation or rebuild shall be subject to all design, building 
code, and other requirements imposed on the Project by this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.11. Changes in California Building Standards Codes. Notwithstanding any provision 
of this Agreement to the contrary, development of the Project shall be subject to changes occurring 
from time to time to the California Building Standards Codes. 
 
Section 2.12. Changes Mandated by Federal or State Law. The Site and Project shall be subject 
to subsequently enacted state or federal laws or regulations that may preempt the Mendota 
Municipal Code, or mandate the adoption or amendment of local regulations, or are in conflict with 
this Agreement or local rules or guidelines associated with the Commercial Cannabis Overlay 



Page 13 of 31  

District. As provided in Section 65869.5 of the Development Agreement Statute, in the event state 
or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Effective Date prevent or preclude compliance with 
one or more provisions of this Agreement, such provisions shall be modified or suspended as may 
be necessary to comply with such state or federal laws or regulations. Upon discovery of a 
subsequently enacted federal or state law meeting the requirements of this Section, City, 
Developer, and/or Axiom shall provide the other Parties with written notice of the state or federal 
law or regulation, and a written statement of the conflicts thereby raised with the provisions of the 
Mendota Municipal Code or this Agreement. Promptly thereafter, City, Developer, and/or Axiom 
shall meet and confer in good faith in a reasonable attempt to modify this Agreement, as necessary, 
to comply with such federal or state law or regulation provided City shall not be obligated to agree 
to any modification materially increasing its obligations or materially adversely affecting its rights 
and benefits hereunder. In such discussions, City, Developer, and/or Axiom will attempt to 
preserve the terms of this Agreement and the rights of Developer and Axiom derived from this 
Agreement to the maximum feasible extent while resolving the conflict. If City, in its judgment, 
determines it necessary to modify this Agreement to address such conflict, City shall have the right 
and responsibility to do so, and shall not have any liability to Developer and/or Axiom for doing so 
or be considered in breach or default of this Agreement. City also agrees to process, in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement, Developer’s or Axiom’s proposed changes to the Project 
that are necessary to comply with such federal or state law and that such proposed changes shall be 
conclusively deemed to be consistent with this Agreement without further need for any amendment 
to this Agreement. 
 
Section 2.13. Health and Safety Emergencies. In the event that any future public health and 
safety emergencies arise with respect to the development contemplated by this Agreement, City 
agrees that it shall attempt, if reasonably possible as determined by City in its discretion, to address 
such emergency in a way that does not have a material adverse impact on the Project. If City 
determines, in its discretion, that it is not reasonably possible to so address such health and safety 
emergency so as not to have a material adverse impact on the Project, to select that option for 
addressing the situation which, in City’s discretion, minimizes, so far as reasonably possible, the 
impact on development and use of the Project in accordance with this Agreement, while still 
addressing such health and safety emergency in a manner acceptable to City. 
 

ARTICLE 3 
ENTITLEMENT AND PERMIT PROCESSING, INSPECTIONS 

 
Section 3.1. Subsequent City Approvals. City has the authority to permit the development, 
construction, and conditionally permitted use contemplated in this Agreement. City agrees to 
timely review, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code as it existed 
on the Effective Date, and applicable law, any Subsequent City Approvals reasonably necessary to 
complete the goals, objectives, policies, standards, and plans described in this Agreement. 
Subsequent City Approvals include any applications, permits, and approvals required to complete 
the improvements necessary to develop the Site, in general accordance with this Agreement 
(“Subsequent City Approvals”). Nothing herein shall require City to provide Developer and/or 
Axiom with Subsequent City Approvals prior to, or without complying with, all of the 
requirements in this Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code as it existed on the Effective Date, 
and any applicable law. 
 



Page 14 of 31  

Section 3.2. Timely Processing. City shall use its reasonable best efforts to process, within a 
reasonable time, any Subsequent City Approvals or environmental review requested by Developer 
during the Term of this Agreement. 
 
Section 3.3. Cooperation between City and Developer/Axiom. Consistent with the terms set 
forth herein, City agrees to cooperate with Developer and/or Axiom, on a timely basis, in securing 
all permits or licenses that may be required by City or any other government entity with permitting 
or licensing jurisdiction over the Project. 
 
Section 3.4. Further Consistent Discretionary Actions. The exercise of City’s authority and 
independent judgment is recognized under this Agreement, and nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted as limiting City’s discretion or obligation to hold legally required public hearings. 
Except as otherwise set forth herein, such discretion and action taken by City shall, however, be 
consistent with the terms of this Agreement and not prevent, hinder, or compromise development 
or use of the Site as contemplated by the Parties in this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 4 
PUBLIC BENEFIT, PROCESSING, AND OVERSIGHT 

 
Section 4.1. Processing Fees and Charges. Developer shall pay to City those processing, 
inspection, plan checking, and monitoring fees and charges required by City which are in force and 
effect at the time those fees and charges are incurred (including any post-Effective Date increases 
in such fees and charges) for processing applications and requests for building permits, inspections, 
other permits, approvals and actions, and monitoring compliance with any permits issued or 
approvals granted or the performance of any conditions (each a “Ministerial Fee” and collectively, 
the “Ministerial Fees”). 
 
Section 4.2. Public Benefit. 
 

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement confers substantial 
private benefits upon Developer and Axiom that will place burdens upon City infrastructure, 
services, and neighborhoods. Accordingly, the Parties intend to provide consideration to City to 
offset these impacts that is commensurate with the private benefits conferred on Developer and 
Axiom (the “Public Benefit Fee”). Developer and Axiom acknowledge that the Public Benefit Fees 
provided for herein are greater than the annual fee provided for in Mendota Municipal Code 
section 17.99.070 and, despite this fact, voluntarily agree to pay the fees contemplated herein, 
acknowledging that the private benefits conferred are of equal or greater consideration to the fees, 
and waives any right to challenge said fees as a violation of any law. In consideration of the 
foregoing, Developer shall remit to City: 

 
(1) A one-time Public Contribution Payment in the amount of EIGHTY  

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($80,000) (the “Contribution Payment”) within thirty (30) days of 
Developer closing escrow on that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow 
Instructions entered into by and between Developer and City on or about October 22, 2019, and 
thereby, Developer obtaining fee title interest to the Property. City acknowledges that Developer’s 
obligation to remit the Contribution Payment to the City, or any portion thereof, is strictly 
conditioned on (a) the Agreement having obtained final City approval, (b) Developer having 



Page 15 of 31  

obtained the Conditional Use Permit as discussed in Section 2.5 above, (c) Developer having 
obtained any and all “Subsequent Entitlements, Approvals, and Permits” as discussed in Section 
2.6 above, and (d) Developer having obtained any and all “Subsequent City Approvals” as 
discussed in Section 3.1 above.   
 

(2) As described in Section 17.99.070 of the Mendota Municipal Code, and for 
so long as the Developed Portions of the Property are less than eight hundred thousand (800,000) 
square feet, an annual “Public Benefit Fee” in the greater of the following amounts)  

 
(i) FOUR HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($400,000); or 

(ii) FIVE DOLLARS ($5.00) per square foot for so long as the 
Developed Portions of the Property are less than two hundred thousand (200,000) square feet; or  

(iii) FOUR DOLLARS ($4.00) per square foot for so long as the 
Developed Portions of the Property are between two hundred thousand (200,000) square feet and 
four hundred ninety-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine (499,999) square feet; or 

(iv) THREE DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS ($3.50) per square foot 
for so long as the Developed Portions of the Property are between five hundred thousand 
(500,000) square feet and seven hundred ninety-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety-nine 
(799,999) square feet; or 

(v) Four percent (4%) of the Project’s annual Gross Receipts, as defined 
in Section 1.4.  

To the extent that Section 4.2(a)(2) is applicable for the calculation of the Public Benefit Fee, said 
fee will be adjusted pursuant to the Consumer Price Index for the Fresno/Clovis metropolitan area 
(All Urban Consumers) published by the United Stated Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor and 
Statistics (“Index”). The adjustment shall be made based on the first Index published in the year for 
which the Public Benefit Fee is paid and shall be subject to a maximum increase of 2% in any 
given year. 
 

(3) The annual Public Benefit Fee described in Section 4.2, above, shall be paid 
in quarterly installments on the first (1st) business day of every third (3rd) month (“Quarterly 
Payment”). 
 

(b) Developer shall remit the Contribution Payment and the Public Benefit Fee as 
applicable, to City as described in subdivisions (a.1) and (a.2) of this Section. Failure to remit the 
Contribution Payment and Public Benefit Fee, as applicable, is a material breach of this Agreement 
and shall be sufficient grounds for revocation of all entitlements associated with the Project. For 
purposes of clarity and avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree and acknowledge that Developer’s 
obligation to commence making the Public Benefit Fee payment to the City shall commence on the 
first day of Project operation and not prior to that date. 

 
Section 4.3. Reporting. Developer and/or Axiom shall provide City with copies of any reports 
provided to a State Licensing Authority or a State Taxing Authority within forty-five (45) calendar 



Page 16 of 31  

days of that submission. Failure or refusal of Developer and/or Axiom to (a) provide any such 
report to City, State Licensing Authority, or the State Taxing Authority within the time required by 
that entity, or (b) pay the Public Benefit Amount or amount due to a State Licensing Authority or 
State Taxing Authority when the same are due and payable, shall constitute full and sufficient 
grounds for the revocation or suspension of the Conditional Use Permit and all entitlements 
associated with the Project.  
 
Section 4.4. Records. Subsequent tenants or assignees shall keep records of all Commercial 
Cannabis Activity in accordance with Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 26160) of Division 
10 of the Business and Professions Code and the State Retail Cannabis Regulations. All records 
required by this Article 4 shall be maintained and made available for City’s examination and 
duplication (physical or electronic) at the Site or at an alternate facility as approved in writing by 
the City Manager or his or her designee. Upon request, Developer and/or Axiom shall make all 
records relating to this Article 4 available to City within three (3) calendar days. 
 
Section 4.5. Late Fee. Developer and Axiom acknowledge that, to ensure proper compliance with 
the terms of this Agreement and any applicable laws, City must engage in costly compliance 
review, inspections, and, if necessary, enforcement actions to protect the health, safety, and welfare 
of its residents. Liquidated damages and interest provisions are necessary to assist City in 
compliance review and enforcement actions. If Developer or Axiom fail to make any payment 
when due as required by this Agreement, including the Public Benefit Amount, City may impose a 
“Non-Performance Late Fee.” A Non-Performance Late Fee of one percent (1%) shall be applied 
to all past due payments. City shall deliver to Developer and/or Axiom a “Notice of Non-
Performance Late Fee,” attached hereto as Exhibit C. Payment of the Non-Performance Late Fee 
shall be in a single installment due on or before a date fifteen (15) calendar days following delivery 
of the Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee. The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the 
sums payable under this Section 4.5 shall constitute liquidated damages and not penalties and are 
in addition to all other rights of the City, including the right to call a default. The Parties further 
acknowledge that (i) the amount of loss or damages likely to be incurred is incapable or is difficult 
to precisely estimate, (ii) the amounts specified herein bear a reasonable relationship to, and are not 
plainly or grossly disproportionate to, the probable loss likely to be incurred in connection with any 
failure by Developer or Axiom to remit payment as required by this Agreement, (iii) one of the 
reasons for the Parties’ agreement as to such amounts was the uncertainty and cost of litigation 
regarding the question of actual damages, and (iv) the Parties are sophisticated business parties and 
have been represented by sophisticated and able legal counsel and negotiated this Agreement at 
arm’s length. 
 
Section 4.6. Interest on Unpaid Non-Performance Late Fee. If Developer and/or Axiom fail to 
pay the Non-Performance Late Fee after City has delivered the Notice of Non-Performance Late 
Fee, then, in addition to the principal amount of the Non-Performance Late Fee, Developer and/or 
Axiom shall pay City interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, computed on the 
principal amount of the Non-Performance Late Fee, from a date fifteen (15) calendar days 
following delivery of the Notice of Non-Performance Late Fee. 
 
Section 4.7. Exempt from City Tax. For the Term of this Agreement, Developer and Axiom shall 
be exempt from any City tax on commercial cannabis businesses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 



Page 17 of 31  

Developer and/or Axiom and Project shall be subject to any and all taxes, assessments, or similar 
charges or fees of general applicability enacted by the federal government, state government, or 
County of Fresno, including any tax applicable to an area greater than the City limits to which City 
may be a party (i.e., county tax sharing agreement). In the event that the City applies a new tax on 
commercial cannabis businesses during the term of this Agreement, the City shall refund or credit 
the amount owed by Developer pursuant to the Public Benefit Fee by an equal amount to any new 
tax on commercial cannabis businesses.  
 
Section 4.8. Employing City Residents. Developer and/or Axiom agree to use their best efforts to 
promote the hiring and employment of local City residents to construct, if necessary, and operate 
the business(es) within the Project. As part of such efforts, Developer and/or Axiom agree to 
include in any lease, license, or other conveyance of any right to use the Project such language that 
any transferee of such interest shall use its best efforts to hire and employ local City residents for 
its business.  
 
Section 4.9. Contracting with Local Businesses. Developer and/or Axiom agree to use their best 
efforts to promote the contracting of local businesses to construct, if necessary, and operate the 
business(es) within the Project. As part of such efforts, Developer and/or Axiom agree to include 
in any lease, license, or other conveyance of any right to use the Project such language that any 
transferee of such interest shall use its best efforts to contract with local City businesses for its 
business.  
 
Section 4.10. Manner of Payment. All payments required to be made to City pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be paid by Developer and/or Axiom via check, ACH payment, or wire transfer 
through a bank licensed and in good standing with all appropriate regulatory bodies. No payment 
required pursuant to this Agreement may be made in cash. Developer and Axiom understand and 
agree that any failure to comply with this Section 4.10 shall constitute a material breach of this 
Agreement.  
 
Section 4.11.  Development Incentive. To provide an incentive for Developer’s development of 
the Property and construction of the Project, and to facilitate Developer’s prompt performance of 
its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that will maximize the financial benefit to City 
over the Term of this Agreement, City shall, within the first year of the Project’s operation, 
recognize a $50,000 credit in Developer’s or Axiom’s favor to be applied to any liability of 
Developer to the City. The liability or liabilities to which the credit is applied shall be determined 
by the City Manager in consultation with Developer.   
 

ARTICLE 5 
PUBLIC FACILITIES, SERVICES, AND UTILITIES 

 
Section 5.1. City Use of Public Benefit Fee. City shall use the Public Benefit Amount to pay for 
the impact on and maintenance or improvement of City neighborhoods, for the general welfare of 
the residents of Mendota, and the existing level of service of City infrastructure and services to 
accommodate for the Project. 
 
 



Page 18 of 31  

ARTICLE 6 
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

 
Section 6.1. Insurance. Developer and/or Axiom shall require all persons doing work on the 
Project, including their contractors and subcontractors (collectively, “Developer” for purposes of 
this Article 6 only), to obtain and maintain insurance of the types and in the amounts described in 
this Article with carriers reasonably satisfactory to City. 
 

(a) General Liability Insurance. Developer and/or Axiom shall maintain commercial 
general liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) (or as otherwise approved, in writing, by City) per claim and Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000) each occurrence. Such insurance shall also: 
 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as “Additional Insureds” by endorsement with 
respect to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the 
scope of its protection afforded to the above-listed additional insured. 
 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 
 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 
 

(b) Automotive Liability Insurance. Developer and/or Axiom shall maintain 
business automobile liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000) for each accident. Such insurance shall include coverage for owned, hired, 
and non-owned automobiles. Such insurance shall also: 
 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as Additional Insureds by endorsement with 
respect to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the 
scope of its protection afforded to the above-listed Additional Insureds. 
 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 
 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 
 

(c) Workers’ Compensation Insurance. Developer and/or Axiom shall take out and 
maintain during the Term of this Agreement, workers’ compensation insurance for all of 
Developer’s and/or Axiom’s employees employed at or on the Project, and in the case any of the 
work is subcontracted, Developer and/or Axiom shall require any general contractor or 
subcontractor similarly to provide workers’ compensation insurance for such contractor’s or 
subcontractor’s employees, unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded by 
Developer and/or Axiom. In case any class of employee engaged in work on the Project is not 
protected under any workers’ compensation law, Developer and/or Axiom shall provide and shall 
cause each contractor and subcontractor to provide adequate insurance for the protection of 
employees not otherwise protected. Developer and Axiom hereby indemnify City for any damage 



Page 19 of 31  

resulting from failure of Developer and/or Axiom, their agents, employees, contractors, or 
subcontractors to take out or maintain such insurance. Workers’ compensation insurance with 
statutory limits and employer’s liability insurance with limits of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for each accident shall be maintained. 
 
Section 6.2. Other Insurance Requirements. Developer and/or Axiom shall do all of the 
following: 
 

(a) Prior to taking any actions under this Agreement, furnish City with properly 
executed certificates of insurance that clearly evidence all insurance required in this Article, 
including evidence that such insurance will not be canceled, allowed to expire, or be materially 
reduced in coverage without thirty (30) days prior written notice to City. 

(b) Provide to City, upon request, and within seven (7) calendar days of said request, 
certified copies of endorsements and policies, and properly executed certificates of insurance 
evidencing the insurance required herein. 
 

(c) Replace or require the replacement of certificates, policies, and endorsements for 
any insurance required herein expiring prior the termination of this Agreement. 
 

(d) Maintain all insurance required herein from the Effective Date of this Agreement 
to the earlier of the expiration of the Term or the mutual written termination of this Agreement. 
 

(e) Place all insurance required herein with insurers licensed to do business in 
California with a current Best’s Key Rating Guide reasonably acceptable to City. 
 
Section 6.3. Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Developer and/or Axiom shall 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City and its agents, elected and appointed officials, officers, 
employees, consultants, and volunteers (collectively, “City’s Agents”) from any and all liability 
arising out of a claim, action, or proceeding against City, or City’s Agents, to attack, set aside, 
void, or annul an approval concerning the Project, this Agreement, any applicable Conditional Use 
Permit, or Subsequent City Approvals. 
 
Upon receiving notice of a claim, action, or proceeding, Developer and/or Axiom shall assume the 
defense of the claim, action, or proceeding through the prompt payment of all attorneys’ fees and 
costs, incurred in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable discretion, of City’s counsel in 
defending such an action. City shall have the absolute and sole authority to control the litigation 
and make litigation decisions, including, but not limited to, selecting counsel to defend City and 
settlement or other disposition of the matter. The City’s remedies are limited to that portion of the 
Project that is in breach of this Section 6.3. 
 
Section 6.4. Failure to Indemnify; Waiver. Failure to indemnify City, when required by this 
Agreement, shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and of any applicable Conditional 
Use Permit and Subsequent City Approvals, which shall entitle City to all remedies available under 
law, including, but not limited to, specific performance and damages. Failure to indemnify City 
shall constitute grounds upon which City may rescind its approval of any applicable Conditional 
Use Permit or entitlements associated with the Project. Developer’s and/or Axiom’s failure to 
indemnify City shall be a waiver by Developer and/or Axiom of any right to proceed with the 



Page 20 of 31  

Project, or any portion thereof, and a waiver of Developer’s and/or Axiom’s right to file a claim, 
action, or proceeding against City or City’s Agents based on City’s rescission or revocation of any 
Conditional Use Permit, Subsequent City Approvals, or City’s failure to defend any claim, action, 
or proceeding based on Developer’s and/or Axiom’s failure to indemnify City. 
 
Section 6.5. Waiver of Damages. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the 
Parties acknowledge that City would not have entered into this Agreement had it been exposed to 
liability for damages from Developer and/or Axiom and, therefore, Developer and/or Axiom 
hereby waive all claims for damages against City for breach of this Agreement. Developer and/or 
Axiom further acknowledges that under the Development Agreement Statute, land use approvals 
(including development agreements) must be approved by the City Council and that, under law, the 
City Council’s discretion to vote in any particular way may not be constrained by contract. 
Developer and Axiom therefore waive all claims for damages against City in the event that this 
Agreement or any Project approval is: (1) not approved by the City Council or (2) is approved by 
the City Council, but with new changes, amendments, conditions, or deletions to which Developer 
and/or Axiom is opposed. Developer and Axiom further acknowledge that, as an instrument which 
must be approved by ordinance, a development agreement is subject to referendum; and that, under 
law, the City Council’s discretion to avoid a referendum by rescinding its approval of the 
underlying ordinance may not be constrained by contract, and Developer and Axiom waive all 
claims for damages against City in this regard. 
 

ARTICLE 7 
MORTGAGEE PROTECTION 

 
7.1. Supremacy Over Liens. This Agreement, once executed and recorded, shall be superior and 
senior to any lien placed upon the Site or any portion thereof following recording of this 
Agreement, including the lien of any deed of trust or mortgage (“Mortgage”). Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, no breach hereof shall defeat, render invalid, diminish, or impair the lien of any 
Mortgage made in good faith and for value. This Agreement shall be deemed in default and 
terminate as to an interest in the Site or Project upon the foreclosure or transfer of that interest, 
whether by operation of law or any other method of interest change or transfer, unless the City 
Manager has authorized such change or transfer in advance, in writing, which such authorization 
shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned. 
 

ARTICLE 8 
DEFAULT 

 

Section 8.1. General Provisions. 
 

(a) Subject only to any extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, or as 
otherwise provided herein, the failure or delay by any Party to perform in accordance with the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a default. Any Party alleging a default or 
breach of this Agreement (“Charging Party”) shall give the other Party (“Charged Party”) not less 
than thirty (30) calendar days’ written notice, which shall specify the nature of the alleged default 
and the manner in which the default may be cured. During any such thirty (30) calendar day 
period, the Charged Party shall not be considered in default for purposes of termination of this 
Agreement or institution of legal proceedings for the breach of this Agreement. 
 



Page 21 of 31  

(b) After expiration of the thirty (30) calendar day period, if such default has not been 
cured or is not in the process of being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, or if the 
breach cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) calendar days, the Charging Party may, at its 
option, institute legal proceedings pursuant to this Agreement or give notice of its intent to 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65868. In the event City is the 
Charging Party, City may, in its sole discretion, give notice, as required by law, to the Charged 
Party of its intent to revoke or rescind any operable Conditional Use Permit or other entitlement 
related to or concerning the Project. 
 

(c) Prior to the Charging Party giving notice to the Charged Party of its intent to 
terminate, or prior to instituting legal proceedings, the matter shall be scheduled for consideration 
and review by City in the manner set forth in Government Code sections 65865, 65867, and 65868 
or the comparable provisions of the Mendota Municipal Code within thirty (30) calendar days from 
the expiration of the thirty (30) day notice period. 
 

(d) Following consideration of the evidence presented and said review before City, 
and after providing the Charged Party an additional five (5) calendar day period to cure, the 
Charging Party may institute legal proceedings against the Charged Party or may give written 
notice of termination of this Agreement to the Charged Party. 
 

(e) Evidence of default may arise in the course of a regularly scheduled periodic 
review of this Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65865.1, as set forth in Section 
8.2. If any Party determines that another Party is in default following the completion of the 
normally scheduled periodic review, without reference to the procedures specified in Section 
8.1(c), said Party may give written notice of termination of this Agreement, specifying in the notice 
the alleged nature of the default and potential actions to cure said default where appropriate. If the 
alleged default is not cured in thirty (30) calendar days or within such longer period specified in 
the notice or the defaulting Party is not diligently pursuing a cure or if the breach cannot 
reasonably be cured within the period or the defaulting party waives its right to cure such alleged 
default, this Agreement may be terminated by the non-defaulting Party by giving written notice. 
 

(f) In the event Developer and/or Axiom are in default under the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement, no permit application shall be accepted by City nor will any permit be issued to 
Developer and/or Axiom until the default is cured, or the Agreement is terminated. 

 
(g) In the event that a person or entity other than the Developer and/or Axiom are in 

default, Developer and/or Axiom shall use commercially reasonable efforts to bring the person or 
entity in default into compliance.  The City shall provide the Developer and/or Axiom with notice 
and opportunity to cure as provided for in paragraph (a) through (e) above, except that the time 
periods in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), and (e) shall be ninety (90) days. 
 
Section 8.2. Annual Review. City shall, at least every twelve (12) months during the Term of this 
Agreement, review the extent of good faith, substantial compliance of Developer and/or Axiom 
and City with the terms of this Agreement. Such periodic review by City shall be limited in scope 
to compliance with the terms of this Agreement pursuant to California Government Code section 
65865.1. City shall deposit in the mail or fax to Developer and/or Axiom a copy of all staff reports 
and, to the extent practical, related exhibits concerning this Agreement or the Project’s 



Page 22 of 31  

performance, at least seven (7) calendar days prior to such periodic review. Developer and/or 
Axiom shall be entitled to appeal a determination of City or City Manager to the City Council. Any 
appeal must be filed within ten (10) calendar days of the decision of City or the City Manager, 
respectively. Developer and/or Axiom shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally or in 
writing regarding its performance under this Agreement before City, the City Manager, or City 
Council, as applicable. 
 
Section 8.3. Estoppel Certificates. City shall, with at least twenty (20) calendar days’ prior 
written notice, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Developer and/or Axiom, Developers’ and/or 
Axiom’s lender, potential investors, or assignees an Estoppel Certificate in writing which certifies 
that this Agreement is in full force and effect, that there are no breaches or defaults under the 
Agreement, and that the Agreement has not been modified or terminated and is enforceable in 
accordance with its terms and conditions. 
 

(a) At Developer’s and/or Axiom’s option, City’s failure to deliver such Estoppel 
Certificate within the stated time period shall be conclusive evidence that the Agreement is in full 
force and effect, that there are no uncured breaches or defaults in Developer’s and/or Axiom’s 
performance of the Agreement or violation of any City ordinances, regulations, and policies 
regulating the use and development of the Site or the Project subject to this Agreement. 
 
Section 8.4. Default by City. In the event City does not accept, review, approve, or issue any 
permits or approvals in a timely fashion, as defined by this Agreement, or if City otherwise 
defaults under the terms of this Agreement, City agrees that Developer and/or Axiom shall not be 
obligated to proceed with or complete the Project, and shall constitute grounds for termination or 
cancellation of this Agreement by Developer and/or Axiom. 
 
Section 8.5. Cumulative Remedies of Parties. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City, 
Developer, and/or Axiom may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy 
any default, enforce any covenant, or enjoin any threatened or attempted violation of the provisions 
of this Agreement, so long as any such action conforms to Section 8.1(c) of this Agreement.  
 
Section 8.6. Enforced Delay, Extension of Times of Performance. Delays in performance, by 
either Party, shall not be deemed a default if such delays or defaults are due to war, insurrection, 
strikes, walkouts, riots, floods, earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, governmental restrictions 
imposed where mandated by governmental entities other than City, enactment of conflicting state 
or federal laws or regulations, new or supplementary environmental regulations enacted by the 
state or federal government, litigation, or other force majeure events. An extension of time for such 
cause shall be in effect for the period of forced delay or longer, as may be mutually agreed upon. 
 

ARTICLE 9 TERMINATION 
 
Section 9.1. Termination Upon Completion of Development. This Agreement shall terminate 
upon the expiration of the Term, unless it is terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. Upon termination of this Agreement, City shall record a notice of such termination in 
substantial conformance with the “Notice of Termination” attached hereto as Exhibit D, and this 
Agreement shall be of no further force or effect except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 



Page 23 of 31  

Section 9.2. Effect of Termination on Developer/Axioms’ Obligations. Termination of this 
Agreement shall eliminate any further obligation of Developer and/or Axiom to comply with this 
Agreement, or some portion thereof, if such termination relates to only part of the Site or Project. 
Termination of this Agreement, in whole or in part, shall not, however, eliminate the rights of 
Developer and/or Axiom to seek any applicable and available remedies or damages based upon 
acts or omissions occurring before termination. 
 
Section 9.3. Effect of Termination on City’s Obligations. Termination of this Agreement shall 
eliminate any further obligation of City to comply with this Agreement, or some portion thereof. 
Termination of this Agreement shall not, however, eliminate the rights of City to seek any 
applicable and available remedies or damages based upon acts or omissions occurring before 
termination. 
 
Section 9.4. Survival After Termination. The rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this 
Section 9.4, Section 2.9, Section 6.3, Section 10.3, Section 10.4, Section 10.5, Section 10.7, and 
any right or obligation of the Parties in this Agreement which, by its express terms or nature and 
context is intended to survive termination of this Agreement, will survive any such termination. 
 

ARTICLE 10 
OTHER GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 10.1. Assignment and Assumption. The rights granted to Developer and/or Axiom under 
this Agreement are personal to Developer and/or Axiom and neither Developer nor Axiom shall 
not have the right to sell, assign, or transfer all or any part of its rights, title, and interests in all or a 
portion of Site, or Project, subject to or a part of this Agreement, to any person, firm, corporation, 
or entity during the Term of this Agreement without the advance written consent of the City 
Manager.   
 
 (a) The City Manager’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned; 
however, Developer and Axiom hereby acknowledge and agree that in no event shall it be 
unreasonable for the City Manager to withhold or condition consent if the proposed assignee or 
transferee cannot: 
 
  (i) Demonstrate financial resources in the form of a financial statement, balance 
sheet, or tax returns that attest to the assignee or transferee’s financial health and ability to finance 
and operate the proposed business for a minimum of twelve (12) months; and 
 
  (ii) Demonstrate technical expertise through utilization of a substantial portion 
of the Project’s existing management team or through a detailed description of the transferee’s 
experience in operating the same or similar type of project. 
 
 (b) Upon City’s receipt of written notice that Developer and/or Axiom propose to 
assign or transfer any of its rights or interests under this Agreement, the City Manager shall, within 
thirty (30) days of receiving all requested information regarding the proposal from Developer 
and/or Axiom, notify Developer and/or Axiom in writing whether the City intends to withhold or 
condition its consent pursuant to this Section 10.1 and the reasons therefor.  
 



Page 24 of 31  

 (c) If the City Manager notifies Developer and/or Axiom that the City intends to 
withhold consent pursuant to this Section 10.1, the Parties shall meet and confer in good faith to 
determine whether, in lieu of withholding consent, the City’s concerns can be adequately addressed 
by imposing appropriate conditions on the City’s consent.    
 
 (d) If the Parties are unable to reach agreement regarding the proposed assignment or 
transfer, Developer and/or Axiom may, within ten (10) days after meeting and conferring pursuant 
to subdivision (c) above, appeal the City Manager’s decision to the City Council.  In such event, 
the City Council shall finally determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, whether the 
withholding or conditioning of consent to the proposed assignment or transfer is reasonable. 
 
 (e) Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 10.1 will be automatically 
void and will be considered an immediate, material breach of this Agreement such that City may 
elect to immediately terminate this Agreement. If the City Manager approves an assignment or 
transfer of any interest detailed in this Section 10.1, City, Developer and Axiom shall execute an 
“Assignment and Assumption Agreement” in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E. Nothing in 
this Section 10.1 applies to the Developer’s and/or Axiom’s capitalization or ownership provisions. 
 
Section 10.2. Covenants Running with the Land. For so long as this Agreement is in full force 
and effect, all of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns, representatives, lessees, and all other persons 
acquiring all or a portion of interest in the Site or Project, whether by operation of law or in any 
manner whatsoever. All of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be enforceable as 
equitable servitudes and shall constitute covenants running with the land pursuant to California 
law, including California Civil Code section 1468. Each covenant herein to act or refrain from 
acting is for the benefit of or a burden upon the Project, as appropriate, runs with the Site, and is 
binding upon Developer and Axiom. 
 
Section 10.3. Notices. Any notice or communication required hereunder between City and 
Developer and/or Axiom must be in writing, and may be given either personally, by facsimile 
(with original forwarded by regular U.S. Mail), by registered or certified mail (return receipt 
requested), or by Federal Express, UPS, or other similar couriers providing overnight delivery. If 
personally delivered, a notice shall be deemed to have been given when delivered to the Party to 
whom it is addressed. If given by facsimile transmission, a notice or communication shall be 
deemed to have been given and received upon actual physical receipt of the entire document by the 
receiving Party’s facsimile machine. Notices transmitted by facsimile after 5:00 p.m. on a normal 
business day, or on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday shall be deemed to have been given and 
received on the next normal business day. If given by registered or certified mail, such notice or 
communication shall be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of (i) actual 
receipt by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent, or 
(ii) five (5) days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, 
with postage prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail. If given by Federal Express or similar 
courier, a notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date 
delivered, as shown on a receipt issued by the courier. Any Party hereto may at any time, by giving 
ten (10) days written notice to the other Party hereto, designate any other address in substitution of 
the address to which such notice or communication shall be given. Such notices or 
communications shall be given to the Parties at their addresses set forth below: 



Page 25 of 31  

 
If to City:  City of Mendota 

643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640  
Attention: Cristian Gonzalez, City Manager 

 
And to:  Wanger Jones Helsley PC 

265 E. River Park Circle, Suite 310 
Fresno, California 93720 
Attention: John P. Kinsey, Esq. 

 
If to Developer: Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 222 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Richard Munkvold 

 
And to:  Valley Agricultural Holdings, LLC 

2151 E. Convention Center Way, Suite 114 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Attention: Steven B. Imhoof, Esq. 

 
If to Axiom:  The Axiom Group, LLC 

1201 K Street, Suite 920 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
Attention: Dustin Moore 

 
And to:  Dickinson Wright 

150 E. Gay Street 
Suite 2400 
Columbus OH 43215 
Attention: Benton B. Bodamer 

Section 10.4. Governing Law and Binding Arbitration. The validity, interpretation, and 
performance of this Agreement shall be controlled by and construed pursuant to the laws of the 
State of California. Any dispute, claim, or controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement 
or the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation, or validity thereof, including the 
determination of the scope or applicability of this Agreement to arbitrate, shall be determined by 
binding arbitration in Fresno, California, before one arbitrator. The arbitration shall proceed 
pursuant to the Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Proceedings of the Judicial Arbitration and 
Mediation Services. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having 
jurisdiction thereof. 

Section 10.5. Invalidity of Agreement/Severability. If this Agreement in its entirety is 
determined by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, this Agreement shall automatically terminate 
as of the date of final entry of judgment. If any term or provision of this Agreement shall be 
determined by a court to be invalid and unenforceable, or if any term or provision of this 
Agreement is rendered invalid or unenforceable according to the terms of any federal or state 



Page 26 of 31  

statute, any provisions that are not invalid or unenforceable shall continue in full force and effect 
and shall be construed to give effect to the intent of this Agreement. The Parties expressly agree 
that each Party is strictly prohibited from failing to perform any and all obligations under this 
Agreement on the basis that this Agreement is invalid, unenforceable, or illegal. By entering into 
this Agreement, each Party disclaims any right to tender an affirmative defense in any arbitration 
or court of competent jurisdiction, that performance under this Agreement is not required because 
the Agreement is invalid, unenforceable, or illegal. 
 
Section 10.6. Cumulative Remedies. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City, Developer 
and/or Axiom may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy any default, 
to specifically enforce any covenant or agreement herein, or to enjoin any threatened or attempted 
violation of the provisions of this Agreement. The prevailing party in any such action shall be 
entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other 
provision of this Agreement, in the event of City default under this Agreement, Developer and 
Axiom agree that neither Developer nor Axiom may seek, and shall forever waive any right to, 
monetary damages against City, but excluding therefrom the right to recover any fees or charges 
paid by Developer and/or Axiom in excess of those permitted hereunder. 
 
Section 10.7. Third Party Legal Challenge. In the event any legal action or special proceeding is 
commenced by any person or entity challenging this Agreement or any associated entitlement, 
permit, or approval granted by City to Developer and/or Axiom for the Project (collectively, 
“Project Litigation”), the Parties agree to cooperate with each other as set forth herein. City may 
elect to tender the defense of any lawsuit filed and related in whole or in part to Project Litigation 
with legal counsel selected by City. Developer and/or Axiom will indemnify, hold City harmless 
from, and defend City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit, 
including, but not limited to, damages, attorneys’ fees, and expenses of litigation awarded to the 
prevailing party or parties in such litigation. Developer and/or Axiom shall pay all litigation fees to 
City, within thirty (30) days of receiving a written request and accounting of such fees and 
expenses, from City. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, City may request, and Developer and/or 
Axiom will provide to City within seven (7) days of any such request, a deposit to cover City’s 
reasonably anticipated Project Litigation fees and costs. 
 
Section 10.8. Constructive Notice and Acceptance. Every person who after the Effective Date 
and recording of this Agreement owns or acquires any right, title, or interest to any portion of the 
Site is and shall be conclusively deemed to have consented and agreed to every provision 
contained herein, whether or not any reference to this Agreement is contained in the instrument by 
which such person acquired an interest in the Site, and all rights and interests of such person in the 
Site shall be subject to the terms, requirements, and provisions of this Agreement. 
 
Section 10.9. Statute of Limitations and Laches. City, Developer, and Axiom agree that each 
Party will undergo a change in position in detrimental reliance upon this Agreement from the time 
of its execution and subsequently. The Parties agree that section 65009(c)(1)(D) of the California 
Government Code, which provides for a ninety (90) day statute of limitations to challenge the 
adoption of this Agreement, is applicable to this Agreement. In addition, any person who may 
challenge the validity of this Agreement is hereby put on notice that, should the legality or validity 
of this Agreement be challenged by any third party in litigation, which is filed and served more 
than ninety (90) days after the execution of this Agreement, City, Developer, and/or Axiom shall 



Page 27 of 31  

each assert the affirmative defense of laches with respect to such challenge, in addition to all other 
available defenses. This Section in no way limits the right of a Party, claiming that the other Party 
breached the terms of this Agreement, to bring a claim against the other Party within the four (4) 
year statute of limitations set forth in Section 337 of the California Civil Code. 
 
Section 10.10. Change in State Regulations. In no event shall Developer or Axiom operate the 
Project in violation of the Agreement, or any applicable regulations issued pursuant to the 
California Cannabis Laws, as may be amended from time to time. 
 
Section 10.11. Standard Terms and Conditions. 
 

(a) Venue. Venue for all legal proceedings shall be in the Superior Court of California 
in and for the County of Fresno. 
 

(b) Waiver. A waiver by any Party of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition 
herein contained or a waiver of any right or remedy of such Party available hereunder, at law or in 
equity, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant, or condition herein contained or of any continued or subsequent right to the same right 
or remedy. No Party shall be deemed to have made any such waiver unless it is in writing and 
signed by the Party so waiving. 
 

(c) Completeness of Instrument. This Agreement, together with its specific 
references, attachments, and Exhibits, constitutes all of the agreements, understandings, 
representations, conditions, warranties, and covenants made by and between the Parties hereto. 
Unless set forth herein, no Party to this Agreement shall be liable for any representations made, 
express or implied. 
 

(d) Supersedes Prior Agreement. It is the intention of the Parties hereto that this 
Agreement shall supersede any prior agreements, discussions, commitments, or representations, 
written, electronic, or oral, between the Parties hereto with respect to the Site and the Project. 
 

(e) Captions. The captions of this Agreement are for convenience and reference only 
and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify, or aid in the 
interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

(f) Number and Gender. In this Agreement, the neutral gender includes the feminine 
and masculine, and the singular includes the plural, and the word “person” includes corporations, 
partnerships, firms, or associations, wherever the context requires. 
 

(g) Mandatory and Permissive. “Shall” and “will” and “agrees” are mandatory. 
“May” or “can” are permissive. 
 

(h) Term Includes Extensions. All references to the Term of this Agreement shall 
include any extensions of such Term. 
 

(i) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously and in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 



Page 28 of 31  

 
(j) Other Documents. The Parties agree that they shall cooperate in good faith to 

accomplish the objectives of this Agreement and, to that end, agree to execute and deliver such 
other instruments or documents as may be necessary and convenient to fulfill the purposes and 
intentions of this Agreement. 
 

(k) Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence in this Agreement in each covenant, 
term, and condition herein. 
 

(l) Authority. All Parties to this Agreement warrant and represent that they have the 
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the names, titles, and capacities herein stated 
on behalf of any entities, persons, states, or firms represented or purported to be represented by 
such entities, persons, states, or firms and that all former requirements necessary or required by 
state or federal law in order to enter into this Agreement had been fully complied with. Further, by 
entering into this Agreement, no Party hereto shall have breached the terms or conditions of any 
other contract or agreement to which such Party is obligated, which such breach would have a 
material effect hereon. 
 

(m) Document Preparation. This Agreement will not be construed against the Party 
preparing it, but will be construed as if prepared by all Parties. 
 

(n) Advice of Legal Counsel. Each Party acknowledges that it has reviewed this 
Agreement with its own legal counsel and, based upon the advice of that counsel, freely entered 
into this Agreement. 
 

(o) Attorney’s Fees and Costs. If any action at law or in equity, including action for 
declaratory relief, is brought to enforce or interpret provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing 
Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, which may be set by the court in the 
same action or in a separate action brought for that purpose, in addition to any other relief to which 
such Party may be entitled. 
 

(p) Calculation of Time Periods. All time referenced in this Agreement shall be 
calendar days, unless the last day falls on a legal holiday, Saturday, or Sunday, in which case the 
last day shall be the next business day. 
 

(q) Confidentiality. Both Parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the other 
Party’s “Confidential Information” under this Agreement and shall not disclose such information to 
third parties. “Confidential Information” shall include, but not be limited to, business plans, trade 
secrets, and industry knowledge. Confidential Information shall not apply to information that: (i) is 
in the public domain at the time of disclosures or (ii) is required to be disclosed pursuant to a court 
order, governmental authority, or existing state law. 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 



Page 29 of 31  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been entered into by and between 
Developer, Axiom, and City as of the Effective Date of the Agreement, as defined above. 
 
 
 
 

“CITY” 

Date: _______________, 2021 

CITY OF MENDOTA,  
a California Municipal Corporation 
 
      
By: Cristian Gonzalez 
Its: City Manager  

Attest: 

      
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia 
City Clerk 
 

Approved to as Form: 

   
John P. Kinsey 
City Attorney 

“DEVELOPER” 
 
Date:  , 2021   
 
 
VALLEY AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS, 
LLC, a California limited liability company 
 
                 
 By: 
Its: 
 
 
“AXIOM” 
 
Date:                                                    , 2021 
 
THE AXIOM GROUP, LLC, a California 
limited liability company 
 
                                                              
By: 
Its: 
 



Page 30 of 31  

 

California All-Purpose Acknowledgment 
 

 
State of California ) 

) 
County of  ) 
 
 
On  , before me  , a Notary 

Public, personally appeared    who proved 

to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 

the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 

authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 
 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
 
 

(Signature) 
 
 

(Seal) 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



Page 31 of 31  

 

California All-Purpose Acknowledgment 
 

 
State of California ) 

) 
County of  ) 
 
 
On  , before me  , a Notary 

Public, personally appeared    who proved 

to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 

the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 

authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 
 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
 
 

(Signature) 
 
 

(Seal) 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



1 

 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 

TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM: JEFFREY O’NEAL, AICP, CITY PLANNER 

VIA: CRISTIAN GONZALEZ, CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: APPLICATION NO. 20-24, THE LEFT MENDOTA 1, LLC COMMERCIAL CANNABIS PROJECT 

DATE: JANUARY 12, 2021 
  

ISSUE 
In the matter of Application No. 20-24, the Left Mendota 1, LLC Commercial Cannabis Project, 
shall the City Council introduce and waive the first reading of Ordinance No. 21-03 amending 
Development Agreement No. 2018-01? 
 
BACKGROUND 
The State of California’s Medical and Adult Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act 
(MAUCRSA) is the primary statute that regulates personal, medicinal, and commercial cannabis 
activity in the state.  In addition to MAUCRSA, Chapters 8.37 (Commercial Cannabis Businesses) 
and 17.99 (Commercial Cannabis Overlay District) of the Mendota Municipal Code (MMC) 
provide regulations applicable to non-personal cannabis activities at the local level.  Pursuant to 
these local regulations, an applicant wishing to undertake commercial cannabis activities must 
meet certain location criteria, receive approval of a conditional use permit, and enter into a 
development agreement with the City.  On January 24, 2018, the Planning Commission adopted 
Resolution No. PC 18-01, which authorized the then-applicant to renovate and convert the existing 
structures and facilities at 1269 Marie Street (APN 013-280-15) for cannabis cultivation and 
processing uses consistent with the City’s commercial cannabis ordinance.  On March 13, 2018 
the City Council entered into Development Agreement No. 2018-01 with Marie Street 
Development, LLC that provided for cultivation, manufacturing, distribution, and testing of 
cannabis products. 
 
On December 4, 2020 the Planning Department received an application for a modification to the 
existing commercial cannabis facility to allow delivery services and authorize installation of 
approximately 2.0 acres of greenhouses on the site.  At a regular meeting on December 15, 2020, 
the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider an exemption from the California 
Environmental Quality Act and approval of a modifications to the conditional use permit.  The 
Commission also made a recommendation to the City Council regarding the proposed amendments 
to the agreement.  
 

Owner:  Marie Street Development, LLC  
Applicant:  Left Mendota 1, LLC  
Representative: Chris Lefkovitz  



2 

 

Location: 1269 Marie Street; APNs 013-280-15 and 013-280-22S1 
 See attached map and photo 
Site Size:  Approximately 14.61 acres 
General Plan:  Light Industrial  
Zoning: M-1/CO, Light Manufacturing/Commercial Cannabis Overlay 

District 
Existing Use:  Commercial cannabis operation 
Surrounding Uses: North – Airport, vacant; P-F, M-1/CO 

East – Idle biomass plant; M-2/CO 
South – Tow yard, concrete plant, agriculture; M-1 

   West – Materials storage, vacant; M-1 
Street Access: Marie Street 

 
The project site currently supports an approximately-100,000-square-foot (SF) main building 
along with a number of outbuildings and covered areas and was historically used for cold storage 
and produce packing.  No changes to building footprints, landscaping, or hardscaped area were 
proposed or have subsequently occurred. Ingress and egress occur at several locations: a main 
drive approach with guard hut located approximately central to the Marie Street frontage, a second 
approach approximately 100 feet to the northwest that enters the main parking area, and two 
nearly-adjoining drive approaches on Marie Street at the northern end of the site.  A fourth point 
of access could be provided via and existing (but closed) approach on APN 013-280-22S at the far 
south end of the project areas. In addition to paved access, circulation, and loading areas, the site 
currently supports approximately 144 delineated parking spaces. Two abandoned rail spurs extend 
from Marie Street easterly into the site.  Portions of the site are enclosed with six-foot chain-link 
fence topped with barbed wire.  
 
ANALYSIS 
Application No. 20-24 proposes construct approximately two (2.0) acres of greenhouses for indoor 
cultivation of cannabis (site plan attached).  The greenhouses will be constructed within an 
approximately-2.64-acre area in the southern portion of APN 013-280-15 and may result in the 
removal of several thousand square feet of existing buildings and covered areas, 10,000 SF of 
parking area, and the abandoned rail spurs. No other changes to the site or the previously-approved 
operation are proposed. 
 
Although paved area currently considered to be part of the parking lot would be removed, no actual 
parking spaces would be lost; further, 144 parking spaces is an excessive number for the proposed 
use and if any were to be removed, the site would still be amply parked.  Once the applicant has 
determined the exact location of the greenhouses, the site plan will be updated to accurately depict 
the proposed improvements and other site characteristics pursuant to City, State, and/or other 
regulatory agency requirements. 
 
The development agreement, the draft version of which is attached, is largely a contract document 
but also contains provisions for site development and use related to project entitlements, 

 
1 APNs 013-162-14S, 013-280-19, and 013-280-21S are under the same ownership but are not proposed for 
development with cannabis-related uses. 



3 

 

operations, and allowable license types, along with discussion of financial considerations. The 
term of the agreement is 30 years.  During that time, the applicant will pay various public benefit 
fees to the City: 

 
1. Non-Storefront Payment. An annual payment of $85,000 for each non-storefront retailer 

operating on the site. The agreement account for up to nine (9) such retailers onsite. 
2. Quarterly Payment. An annual payment of $210,000 made in quarterly installments.  This 

is intended to function as a minimum fee payable even if there is no activity on the site and 
may be modified by No. 3 below. 

3. Square Foot Charge. $8.00 per square foot of active cannabis activity.  This fee would be 
paid instead of the quarterly fee if the applicant and/or its operators are actively engaged 
in cannabis operations. 

4. Greenhouse Payment. $0.50 per square foot of canopy space in any structure used for 
mixed-light cultivation. 

 
The Square Foot Charge would be subject to a five (5) percent increase every ten years. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
The first step in complying with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) is to determine 
whether the activity in question constitutes a “project” as defined by CEQA, Public Resources 
Code Section 21000, et seq. and the CEQA Guidelines, California Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
Chapter 3, Section 15000, et seq.  A “project” consists of the whole of an action (i.e. not the 
individual pieces or components) that may have a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect effect 
on the environment.  The second step is to determine whether the project is subject to or exempt 
from the statute.  This proposal qualifies as a project under CEQA because it involves the issuance 
to a person of a “lease, permit, license, certificate, or other entitlement for use” as described in 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15378. 
 
After consideration, since the proposed activities constitute an incremental increase to activities 
already occurring on the site, staff supports a finding consistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 
15061(b)(3).  Under this “common sense” rule, if it can be shown with certainty that the project 
does not have the potential to have a significant effect on the environment, it is not subject to 
further environmental review. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
A notice of public hearing was published in the January 1, 2021 edition of The Business Journal, 
was individually mailed to property owners within 300 feet of the project site, and was posted at 
City Hall. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVALS 
In addition to forwarding a recommendation to the City Council regarding amendments to the 
development agreement, the Planning Commission also adopted Resolution No. PC 20-03, which 
made a determination of exemption from the California Environmental Quality Act and amended 
the conditional use permit originally approved as part of Application No. 17-43. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 



4 

 

Review and processing of the planning applications, engineering plans, and building plans are paid 
for by the applicant, and the project is responsible for payment of development impact fees.  As 
discussed, the project will be responsible for payment of various public benefit fees that can 
amount to hundreds of thousands of dollars or more annually. Building fees will be determined 
when a building permit is requested. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council introduces and waives the first reading of Ordinance No. 
21-04, which would enact modifications to Development Agreement No. 2018-01, and sets the 
public hearing for January 26, 2021. 
 
Attachment(s): 

1. Aerial photo 
2. Assessor’s Parcel Map 
3. Site Plan 
4. Ordinance No. 21-04 

 



AERIAL PHOTO 

5 

 



ASSESSOR’S PARCEL MAP 

6 

 



SITE PLAN 

7 

 

 



BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE 

CITY OF MENDOTA, COUNTY OF FRESNO 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNCIL    ORDINANCE NO. 21-04 
OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA APPROVING 
AMENDMENTS TO DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT NO. 2018-01 IN THE MATTER 
OF APPLICATION NO. 20-24, THE LEFT 
MENDOTA 1, LLC COMMERCIAL CANNABIS 
PROJECT (APNs 013-280-15 & 22S) 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 9, 2015, Governor Jerry Brown signed three bills into 
law (Assembly Bill 266, Assembly Bill 243, and Senate Bill 643) which are collectively 
referred to as the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MCRSA”). MCRSA 
establishes a statewide regulatory system for the cultivation, processing, transportation, 
testing, manufacturing, and distribution of medical marijuana to qualified patients and 
their primary caregivers; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 8, 2016, California voters enacted Proposition 64, the 
Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, also known as the Adult Use of 
Marijuana Act (“AUMA”), which establishes a comprehensive system to legalize, control, 
and regulate the cultivation, processing, manufacture, distribution, testing, and sale of 
nonmedical cannabis, including cannabis products, for use by adults 21 years and 
older, and to tax the growth and retail sale of cannabis for nonmedical use; and 

 WHEREAS, on June 27, 2017, Governor Jerry Brown signed into law the 
Medicinal and Adult- Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), which 
creates a single regulatory scheme for both medicinal and adult-use cannabis 
businesses. MAUCRSA retains the provisions in MCRSA and AUMA that granted local 
jurisdictions control over whether businesses engaged in commercial cannabis activity 
may operate in a particular jurisdiction; and 

 WHEREAS, to strengthen the public planning process, encourage private 
participation in comprehensive planning and reduce the economic risk of development, 
the Legislature of the State of California adopted Government Code sections 65864 et 
seq. (the “Development Agreement Statute”) which authorizes cities to enter into 
agreements for the development of real property with any person having a legal or 
equitable interest in such property in order to establish certain development rights in 
such property; and 

 WHEREAS, on September 12, 2017, the City Council of Mendota (“City Council”) 
adopted Ordinance No. 17-13 establishing zoning limitations and requirements for all 
cannabis businesses, including the proposed cannabis facility to be located on APNs 
013-280-15 and 22S. 



 WHEREAS, since September 12, 2017, the City Council of the City of Mendota 
has adopted additional regulations for administration of commercial cannabis 
operations, which regulations are codified in Chapters 8.37 and 17.99 of the Mendota 
Municipal Code; and 

 WHEREAS, on or about March 13, 2018 the City and Marie Street Development, 
LLC entered into Development Agreement No. 2018-01 (the “Development Agreement”) 
to: (i) facilitate the orderly development of the Site in general and specifically to ensure 
that such development is consistent with Title 17 of the Mendota Municipal Code; (ii) 
create a physical environment that is consistent with, complements, and promotes the 
purposes and intent of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District and the regulations 
adopted therewith; (iii) protect natural resources from adverse impacts; and (vi) reduce 
the economic risk of development of the Site to both City and Developer; and  

 WHEREAS, the Development Agreement authorized development of a cannabis 
business for the cultivation, manufacturing, distribution, and testing of cannabis and 
cannabis products (“the Project”) and provided for certain financial considerations; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Mendota (“City”) has received an application from Left 
Mendota 1, LLC (“Developer”) to augment the Project via the addition of approximately 
2.0 acres of greenhouses and to include delivery services for cannabis and cannabis 
products (hereinafter “the Project”); and 

 WHEREAS, the City and Developer seek to amend the Development Agreement 
to accommodate the proposed changes to the facility, the operations, and the financial 
considerations; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65867.5, the City Council 
finds that the provisions of the Development Agreement are consistent with the City’s 
general plan and any applicable specific plan; and 

 WHEREAS, prior to this approval, the City’s planning commission has found that 
the proposed development plan meets all the requirements under Mendota Municipal 
Code section 17.84.050; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed Development Agreement will have a positive impact 
on the City by generating significant revenues that would support transportation, parks 
and recreation, law enforcement, and fire protection in the City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENDOTA, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Based upon the findings, as referenced in the recitals above, the 
Development Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by 
reference by and between the City of Mendota, and Left Mendota 1, LLC, is hereby 
approved. 



SECTION 2. Each and every term and condition of the Development Agreement 
approved in Section 1 of this Ordinance shall be and is made a part of the Mendota 
Municipal Code and any appendices thereto. The City Council of the City of Mendota 
finds that public necessity, public convenience, and general welfare require that any 
provision of the Mendota Municipal Code or appendices there inconsistent with the 
provisions of this Development Agreement, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no 
further, be repealed or modified to make fully effective the provisions of the 
Development Agreement.  

SECTION 3.  Any provision of the Mendota Municipal Code or appendices thereto, 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies 
and no further, are hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this 
Ordinance is held for any reason to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any 
court  of  competent  jurisdiction,  such  decision  shall  not  affect  the  validity  of  the 
remaining portions of the Ordinance.  The City Council of the City of Mendota hereby 
declares that it would have adopted this Ordinance and each section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, phrase or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more 
sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases or portions be declared invalid or 
unconstitutional. 

SECTION 5. This approval is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”), Public Resources Code section 21000, et seq., as the approvals at issue 
simply contemplate an incremental modification to an existing operation at an existing 
facility and a land use authorized under the Mendota Municipal Code and, as a result, 
there is no possibility the activity in question may have a significant effect on the 
environment, (CEQA Guidelines section 15061(b)(3)). 

SECTION 6.  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage of this 
Ordinance and will see that it is published and posted in the manner required by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



* * * * * * * * * * 

 The foregoing ordinance was introduced on the 12th day of January 2021 and 
duly passed and adopted by the City Council of the City of Mendota at a regular 
meeting thereof held on the 26th day of January 2021 by the following vote: 

AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

        __________________________ 
        Rolando Castro, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
John Kinsey, City Attorney 

 



1 
 

 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE 
Recording Fee Exempt per Government Code §6103 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into on 
this _________________, day of ___________________, 2020, by and between the CITY OF 
MENDOTA, a municipal corporation of the State of California ("City"), and LEFT 
MENDOTA I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Developer"). City or Developer may 
be referred to herein individually as a “Party” or collectively as the "Parties." There are no other 
parties to this Agreement. 

RECITALS 

A. On October 9, 2015, Governor Jerry Brown signed three bills into law (Assembly 
Bill 266, Assembly Bill 243, and Senate Bill 643) which are collectively referred to as the Medical 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act ("MCRSA"). MCRSA establishes a statewide regulatory 
system for the cultivation, processing, transportation, testing, manufacturing, and distribution of 
medical marijuana to qualified patients and their primary caregivers. 

B. On November 8, 2016, California voters enacted Proposition 64, the Control, 
Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, also known as the Adult Use of Marijuana Act 
("AUMA"), which establishes a comprehensive system to legalize, control, and regulate the 
cultivation, processing, manufacture, distribution, testing, and sale of nonmedical cannabis, 
including cannabis products, for use by adults 21 years and older, and to tax the growth and retail 
sale of cannabis for nonmedical use. 

C. On June 27, 2017, Governor Jerry Brown signed into law the Medicinal and Adult-
Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act ("MAUCRSA"), which creates a single regulatory 
scheme for both medicinal and adult-use cannabis businesses. MAUCRSA retains the provisions 
in MCRSA and AUMA that granted local jurisdictions control over whether businesses engaged 
in Commercial Cannabis Activity, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, may operate in a 
particular jurisdiction. 

D. Developer proposes to improve, develop, and use real property for the operation 
of Cannabis Businesses that engage in cultivation, manufacturing, distribution, delivery or testing 

 

 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL 
TO: 

 



2 
 

of Cannabis and Cannabis Products, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, in strict 
accordance with California Cannabis Laws, as defined in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, as they 
may be amended from time to time, and the Municipal Code of the City of Mendota as it existed 
on the Effective Date (the "Project"). The Project includes approximately 100,000 square feet of 
buildings for Commercial Cannabis Activity. 

E. To strengthen the public planning process, encourage private participation in 
comprehensive planning, and reduce the economic risk of development, the California Legislature 
adopted Government Code section 65864 et seq. (the "Development Agreement Statute"), which 
authorizes City and an individual with an interest in real property to enter into a development 
agreement that establishes certain development rights in real property that is subject to a 
development agreement application. 

F. Developer has submitted a request to the City for consideration of a development 
agreement. 

G. Government Code section 65865 requires an applicant for a development 
agreement to hold a legal or equitable interest in the real property that is the subject of the 
development agreement. Developer is the fee simple owner or has an equitable interest in the real 
property located at 1269 Marie Street, in the City of Mendota, County of Fresno, State of 
California, Assessor's Parcel Number 013-280-15 (the "Site"), more particularly described in the 
legal description attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

H. On September 12, 2017, the City Council of Mendota ("City Council") adopted 
Ordinance No. 17-13 establishing zoning limitations and requirements for all cannabis businesses, 
including the proposed cannabis facility to be located at the Site. 

I. Government Code section 65867.5 requires the Planning Commission to hold a 
public hearing to review an application for a development agreement. 

J. On February 27, 2018, the City Council, in a duly noticed and conducted public 
hearing, and conducted the first reading of proposed Ordinance No. 18-02. 

K. Pursuant to Government Code section 65867.5, on March 13, 2018, the City 
Council reviewed, considered, adopted, and entered into this Agreement pursuant to Ordinance 
No. 18-02. 

K. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the Development Agreement Statute 
and the Mendota Municipal Code. 

L. City and Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to: (i) facilitate the orderly 
development of the Site in general and specifically to ensure that such development is consistent 
with Title 17 of the Mendota Municipal Code; (ii) create a physical environment that is consistent 
with, complements, and promotes the purposes and intent of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay 
District and the regulations adopted therewith; (iii) protect natural resources from adverse 
impacts; and (vi) reduce the economic risk of development of the Site to both City and Developer. 



3 
 

M. The Parties intend through this Agreement to allow Developer to develop and 
manage the Project in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

N. The City Council has determined that this Agreement is consistent with City's 
General Plan and have conducted all necessary proceedings in accordance with City's Municipal 
Code for the approval of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

ARTICLE 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 1.1. Findings. City hereby finds and determines that entering into this Agreement furthers 
the public health, safety, and general welfare and is consistent with City's General Plan, including 
all text and maps in the General Plan. 

Section 1.2. Recitals. The Recitals above are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into 
and made a part of this Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency between the Recitals and the 
provisions of Articles I through 10 of this Agreement, the provisions of Articles I through 10 shall 
prevail. 

Section 1.3. Exhibits. The following "Exhibits" are attached to and incorporated into this 
Agreement: 

 

Designation Description 

Exhibit A 
 

Legal Description 
 Exhibit B Site Map 

Exhibit C Notice of Non-performance Penalty 

Exhibit D Notice of Termination 

Exhibit E Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
 

Section 1.4. Definitions. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms 
below have the following meaning: 

(a) "Additional Insureds" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 

(b) "Additional License" means a state license to operate a cannabis business pursuant 
to the California Cannabis Laws that is not an Authorized License. 



4 
 

(c) "Adult-Use Cannabis" means a product containing cannabis, including, but not 
limited to, concentrates and extractions, intended for use by adults 21 years of age or over in 
California pursuant to the California Cannabis Laws. 

(d) "Agreement" means this Development Agreement, inclusive of all Exhibits 
attached hereto. 

(e) "Application" means the application for a development agreement submitted by 
Developer to the City. 

(f) "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 
10.1. 

(g) "AUMA" means the Adult Use of Marijuana Act (Proposition 64) approved by 
California voters on November 8, 2016. 

(h) "Authorized License" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3. 

(i) "Bureau" means the Bureau of Cannabis Control within the Department of 
Consumer Affairs, formerly named the Bureau of Marijuana Control, the Bureau of Medical 
Cannabis Regulation, and the Bureau of Medical Marijuana Regulation. 

(j) "California Building Standards Codes" means the California Building Code, as 
amended from time to time, in Part 2, Volumes I and 2, as part of Title 24 of the California Code 
of Regulations, as may be adopted by the Mendota Municipal Code. 

(k) "California Cannabis Laws" includes AUMA, MAUCRSA and its implementing 
regulations, CUA, the Medical Marijuana Program Act of 2004, and any other applicable state 
laws that may be enacted or approved. 

(l) "Cannabis" means all parts of the plant Cannabis sativa Linnaeus, Cannabis indica, 
or Cannabis ruderalis, whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; the resin, whether crude or 
purified, extracted from any part of the plant; and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, 
mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or resin. "Cannabis" also means the separated resin, 
whether crude or purified, obtained from cannabis. "Cannabis" does not include the mature stalks 
of the plant, fiber produced from the stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, any other 
compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the mature stalks (except the 
resin extracted therefrom), fiber, oil, or cake, or the sterilized seed of the plant which is incapable 
of germination. For the purpose of this division, "cannabis" does not mean "industrial hemp" as 
defined by Section 11018.5 of the Health and Safety Code. Cannabis and the term "marijuana" 
may be used interchangeably. 

(m) "Cannabis Business" means a cannabis business operating pursuant to an 
Authorized License. 

(n) "Cannabis Product" means cannabis that has undergone a process whereby the 
plant material has been transformed into a concentrate, including, but not limited to, concentrated 



5 
 

cannabis, or an edible or topical product containing cannabis or concentrated cannabis and other 
ingredients. 

(o) "CEQA" means the California Environmental Quality Act, as set forth in Division 
13 (Commencing with Section 21000) of the California Public Resources Code, and the CEQA 
Guidelines as set forth in Title 14 (Commencing with Section 15000) of the California Code of 
Regulations. 

(p) "City" means the City of Mendota, a municipal corporation having general police 
powers. 

(q) "City Council" means the City of Mendota City Council. 

(r) "City Manager" means the City Manager of the City of Mendota, or his or her 
designee. 

(s) "Charged Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 

(t) "Charging Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1. 

(u) "Commercial Cannabis Activity" means to cultivate, manufacture, distribute, 
process, store, package, label, transport, deliver or test cannabis or cannabis products as provided 
for by Division 10 (commencing with Section 26000) of the Business and Professions Code. 

(v) "Conditional Use Permit" means a conditional use permit for the Project issued by 
the City pursuant to Mendota Municipal Code Chapter 17.08.050. 

(w) "CUA" means the Compassionate Use Act (Proposition 215) approved by 
California voters on November 5, 1996. 

(x) "Developer" means LEFT MENDOTA I, LLC, and as further set forth in Section 
6.1. 

(y) "Development Agreement Statute" has the meaning set forth in Recital E. 

(z) "Exhibits" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3. 

(aa) "Major Amendment" means an amendment that shall have a material effect on the 
terms of the Agreement. Major Amendments shall require approval by the City Council. 

(bb) "Marijuana" has the same meaning as cannabis and those terms may be used 
interchangeably. 

(cc) "MAUCRSA" means the Medicinal and Adult-Use Cannabis Regulation and 
Safety Act, codified as Business and Professions Code section 26000 et seq. and its implementing 
regulations.  

(dd) "MCRSA" has the meaning set forth in Recital A. 



6 
 

(ee) "Ministerial Fee" or "Ministerial Fees" has the meanings set forth in Section 4.1. 

(ff) "Minor Amendment" means a clerical amendment to the Agreement that shall not 
materially affect the terms of the Agreement (e.g., change of notice address) and any amendment 
described as minor herein. 

(gg) "Mortgage" has the meaning set forth in Article 7. 

(hh) “Non-Performance Penalty” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3 

(ii) "Notice of Non-Performance Penalty" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3. 

(jj) "Notice of Termination" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1. 

(kk) "Processing Costs" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.11. 

 (ll) "Project" has the meaning set forth in Recital D 

(mm) "Project Litigation" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.7. 

(nn) "Public Benefit Fees" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 

 (oo) "Public Benefit Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 

(pp)  "Site" has the meaning set forth in Recital G. 

(qq)  "State Cannabis Manufacturing Regulations" means the regulations related to 
cannabis manufacturing issued by a State Licensing Authority in accordance with Chapter 13 
(commencing with Section 26130) of Division 10 of the Business and Professions Code, which 
may be amended from time to time. 

(rr)  "State Licensing Authority" means the state agency responsible for the issuance, 
renewal, or reinstatement of a state cannabis license, or the state agency authorized to take 
disciplinary action against a business licensed under the California Cannabis Laws. 

(ss) "State Taxing Authority" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 

(tt) "Subsequent City Approvals" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1. 

(uu) "Term" has the meaning described in Section 1.7. 

Section 1.5. Project is a Private Undertaking. The Parties agree that the Project is a private 
development and that City has no interest therein, except as authorized in the exercise of its 
governmental functions. City shall not for any purpose be considered an agent, partner, or joint 
venturer of Developer or the Project. 

Section 1.6. Effective Date of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon the date 
that the ordinance approving this Agreement becomes effective and title to the Site is vested in 
the Developer (the "Effective Date"). 



7 
 

Section 1.7. Term. The "Term" of this Agreement is thirty (30) years from the Effective Date, 
unless terminated or extended earlier, as set forth in this Agreement. 

(a) Government Tolling or Termination. City may provide written notice to 
Developer to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, upon which Developer shall immediately 
comply, if City is specifically required to comply with federal or state law and such federal or 
state law requires cessation of Commercial Cannabis Activities. If City temporarily halts this 
Agreement to comply with federal or state law, this Agreement shall be tolled for an equivalent 
period of time (the "Tolling Period"). Developer shall not accrue or be liable to City for any 
Ministerial Fees, Public Benefit Amount, or any other fees contemplated under this Agreement 
during the Tolling Period. Developer shall resume paying any applicable fees after the Tolling 
Period ends. City and Developer shall discuss in good faith the termination of this Agreement if 
the Tolling Period exceeds one (1) calendar year. 

(b) Developer Tolling or Termination. Developer may not temporarily halt or 
suspend this Agreement for any purpose without causing a default of this Agreement, except as 
otherwise allowed by this Agreement. 

(c) Developer Termination. Developer may provide written notice to City of intent 
to cease all Commercial Cannabis Activity, if Developer is required, directed, or believes, in its 
sole and absolute discretion, it must terminate Commercial Cannabis Activity. In such an event, 
Developer obligations under this Agreement shall terminate. Any resumption of Commercial 
Cannabis Activity shall be subject to approval by the City Manager. Notwithstanding anything to 
the contrary herein, temporary termination of Commercial Cannabis Activities to make 
renovations, repairs, or comply with any applicable laws shall not be considered termination of 
Commercial Cannabis Activities.  

Section 1.8. Priority of Enactment. In the event of conflict between the various land use 
documents referenced in this Agreement, the Parties agree that the following sequence of 
approvals establishes the relative priority of the approvals, each approval superior to the approvals 
listed thereafter: (a) General Plan, (b) Agreement, (d) Conditional Use Permit, and (e) Subsequent 
City Approvals, as defined in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. 

Section 1.9. Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement shall be amended only by mutual 
consent of the Parties. All amendments shall be in writing. The City Council hereby expressly 
authorizes the City Manager to approve a Minor Amendment to this Agreement, upon notification 
of the City Council. A Major Amendment to this Agreement shall be approved by the City 
Council. The City Manager shall, on behalf of City, have sole discretion for City to determine if 
an amendment is a Minor Amendment or a Major Amendment. Nothing in this Agreement shall 
be construed as requiring a noticed public hearing, unless required by law. 

Section 1.10. Recordation of Development Agreement. The City Clerk shall cause a copy of 
this Agreement to be recorded against the title of the Site within ten (10) business days of the 
Effective Date. 

Section 1.11. Funding Agreement for Processing Costs. Developer has deposited Seven 
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500) with City to pay for the Application, all actual, 



8 
 

reasonable fees and expenses incurred by City that are related to the preparation, processing and 
annual review of this Agreement, including recording fees, publishing fees, staff time, consultant 
and reasonable attorney fees and costs (collectively, "Processing Costs"). The Processing Costs 
are refundable solely to the extent of non-expended Processing Costs. Developer shall be entitled 
to a refund of available Processing Costs only after City determines all financial obligations 
associated with the Project have been received and paid by City. 

(a) Apportionment of Processing Costs. If the amount deposited for purposes of 
Processing Costs is insufficient to cover all Processing Costs, City shall provide notice to 
Developer, and Developer shall deposit with City such additional funds necessary to pay for all 
Processing Costs within thirty (30) calendar days. The failure to timely pay any such additional 
amounts requested by City shall be considered a material default of this Agreement and City may 
immediately terminate this Agreement. 

(b) Accounting. Developer may request, and City shall issue within a reasonable time, 
an accounting and written acknowledgement of Processing Costs paid to City. 

ARTICLE 2 
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY 

Section 2.1. Vested Right of Developer. During the Term, in developing the Site consistent with 
the Project described herein, Developer is assured that the development rights, obligation terms, 
and conditions specified in this Agreement, including, without limitation, the terms, conditions, 
and limitations set forth in the Exhibits, are fully vested in Developer and may not be modified 
or terminated by City except as set forth in this Agreement or with Developer's written consent. 

Section 2.2. Vested Right to Develop. In accordance with Section 2.1, Developer shall have the 
vested right to develop and use the Project consistent with this Agreement, the existing City 
regulations and codes, the Conditional Use Permit, and Subsequent City Approvals. 

Section 2.3. Permitted Uses and Development Standards. Developer shall be authorized to 
develop, construct, and use the Site for Commercial Cannabis Activity consistent with the 
following license types and uses associated with said license types (the "Authorized License"): 

License Description State License Type(s) 
Cultivation Indoor 1A/2A/3A/5A  
Cultivation Mixed Light 1B/2B/3B/5B 
Cultivation  Processor  
Cultivation Nursery 4 
Manufacturing 1 6 
Manufacturing 2 7 
Laboratory Testing 8 
Distribution 11 
Non-storefront Retailer  9 



9 
 

Developer or its tenants or assignees shall be permitted to use the Site consistent with the 
Authorized License types for the Term of this Agreement and during the time Developer or its 
tenants or assignees is applying for the Authorized License with the applicable State Licensing 
Authority. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer or each of its tenants or assignees is required 
to apply for and obtain an Authorized License from the applicable State Licensing Authority. If 
the State Licensing Authority does not grant the Authorized License to Developer or its tenants 
or assignees, Developer or the tenant or assignee that was denied a license shall immediately cease 
Commercial Cannabis Activity on the Site. Developer or its tenants or assignees shall also, within 
ten (10) calendar days of receiving notice from the State Licensing Authority relating to a denial 
or rejection of a license, notify City of the State Licensing Authority's denial or rejection of any 
license. If the Authorized License is not granted by the State Licensing Authority, Developer or 
its tenants or assignees shall immediately cease operations. In this situation, this Agreement shall 
terminate immediately. For the purposes of clarification, a denial or rejection of Developer’s 
tenants or assignee’s Authorized License shall not result in the termination of this agreement 
provided (x) other Authorized Licenses have been issued to Developer, its tenants or assignees; 
or (y) Developer or its tenants or assignees are in the process of applying for an Authorized 
License.  The Parties intend for this Agreement and the Conditional Use Permit to serve as the 
definitive and controlling documents for all subsequent actions, discretionary or ministerial, 
relating to development of the Site and Project. 

Section 2.4. Major Amendment to Permitted Uses. Developer may request to add to the 
Authorized License one or more of the license types then authorized by the California Cannabis 
Laws. If City Council allows any additional Authorized Licenses (“Additional Licenses”), City 
Council shall make a finding of whether Developer's or its tenants' or assignees' Additional 
Licenses will have any additional impact on City neighborhoods, infrastructure, or services. 
Developer shall be required to compensate City for all additional impacts on City infrastructure 
or services associated with any Additional Licenses and the Public Benefit Amount shall be 
revised as mutually agreed by the Parties. This process shall be a Major Amendment to this 
Agreement. 

Section 2.5. Development Permit. Prior to commencing operation of any Commercial Cannabis 
Activity on the Site, Developer shall obtain a Conditional Use Permit and any applicable 
Subsequent City Approvals. Developer shall be required to comply with all provisions of the 
Mendota Municipal Code and any other City rules and administrative guidelines associated with 
implementation of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay District. Nothing in this Agreement shall 
be construed as limiting the ability of City to amend the Mendota Municipal Code or issue rules 
or administrative guidelines associated with implementation of the Commercial Cannabis Overlay 
District or Developer's obligation to strictly comply with the same. 

Section 2.6. Subsequent Entitlements, Approvals, and Permits. Successful implementation of 
the Project shall require Developer to obtain additional approvals and permits from City and other 
local and state agencies. City shall comply with CEQA in the administration of all Subsequent 
City Approvals. In acting upon any Subsequent City Approvals, City's exercise of discretion and 
permit authority shall conform to this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the course of 
taking action on the Subsequent City Approvals, City will exercise discretion in adopting 
mitigation measures as part of the Conditional Use Permit. The exercise of this discretion is not 
prohibited by this Agreement, but the exercise of that discretion must be reasonable and consistent 



10 
 

with this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the evaluation of impacts or 
consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, as required by CEQA. 

Section 2.7. Initiatives and Referenda. If any City ordinance, rule or regulation, or addition to 
the Mendota Municipal Code is enacted or imposed by a citizen-sponsored initiative or 
referendum after the Effective Date that would conflict with this Agreement, an associated 
Conditional Use Permit, Subsequent City Approvals, or reduce the development rights or 
assurances provided to Developer in this Agreement, such Mendota Municipal Code changes shall 
not be applied to the Site or Project and this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect; 
provided, however, the Parties acknowledge that City's approval of this Agreement is a legislative 
action subject to referendum. City shall cooperate with Developer and shall undertake such 
reasonable actions as may be appropriate to ensure this Agreement remains in full force and effect 
and is implemented in accordance with its terms to the fullest extent permitted by state or federal 
law. 

Section 2.8. Regulation by Other Government Entities. Developer acknowledges that City does 
not have authority or jurisdiction over any other government entities' ability to grant governmental 
approvals or permits or to impose a moratorium or other limitations that may negatively affect the 
Project or the ability of City to issue a permit to Developer or comply with the terms of this 
Agreement. Any moratorium imposed by another government entity, including the State 
Licensing Authority, on City shall not cause City to be in breach of this Agreement. 

Section 2.9. Developer's Right to Rebuild. Developer may renovate portions of the Site any time 
within the Term of this Agreement consistent with the Mendota Municipal Code. Any such 
renovation or rebuild shall be subject to all design, building code, and other requirements imposed 
on the Project by this Agreement. 

Section 2.10. Changes in California Building Standards Codes. Notwithstanding any provision 
of this Agreement to the contrary, development of the Project shall be subject to changes occurring 
from time to time to the California Building Standards Codes. 

Section 2.11. Changes Mandated by Federal or State Law. The Site and Project shall be subject 
to subsequently enacted state or federal laws or regulations that may preempt the Mendota 
Municipal Code, or mandate the adoption or amendment of local regulations, or are in conflict 
with this Agreement or local rules or guidelines associated with the Commercial Cannabis 
Overlay District. As provided in Section 65869.5 of the Development Agreement Statute, in the 
event state or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Effective Date prevent or preclude 
compliance with one or more provisions of this Agreement, such provisions shall be modified or 
suspended as may be necessary to comply with such state or federal laws or regulations. Upon 
'discovery of a subsequently enacted federal or state law meeting the requirements of this Section, 
City or Developer shall provide the other Party with written notice of the state or federal law or 
regulation, and a written statement of the conflicts thereby raised with the provisions of the 
Mendota Municipal Code or this Agreement. Promptly thereafter, City and Developer shall meet 
and confer in good faith in a reasonable attempt to modify this Agreement, as necessary, to comply 
with such federal or state law or regulation provided City shall not be obligated to agree to any 
modification materially increasing its obligations or materially adversely affecting its rights and 
benefits hereunder. In such discussions, City and Developer will attempt to preserve the terms of 



11 
 

this Agreement and the rights of Developer derived from this Agreement to the maximum feasible 
extent while resolving the conflict. If City, in its judgment, determines it necessary to modify this 
Agreement to address such conflict, City shall have the right and responsibility to do so, and shall 
not have any liability to Developer for doing so or be considered in breach or default of this 
Agreement. City also agrees to process, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, 
Developer's proposed changes to the Project that are necessary to comply with such federal or 
state law and that such proposed changes shall be conclusively deemed to be consistent with this 
Agreement without further need for any amendment to this Agreement. 

Section 2.12. Health and Safety Emergencies. In the event that any future public health and 
safety emergencies arise with respect to the development contemplated by this Agreement, City 
agrees that it shall attempt, if reasonably possible as determined by City in its discretion, to address 
such emergency in a way that does not have a material adverse impact on the Project. If City 
determines, in its discretion, that it is not reasonably possible to so address such health and safety 
emergency, to select that option for addressing the situation which, in City's discretion, minimizes, 
so far as reasonably possible, the impact on development and use of the Project in accordance 
with this Agreement, while still addressing such health and safety emergency in a manner 
acceptable to City.  

ARTICLE 3 
ENTITLEMENT AND PERMIT PROCESSING, INSPECTIONS 

Section 3.1. Subsequent City Approvals. City shall permit the development, construction, and 
conditionally permitted use contemplated in this Agreement. City agrees to timely grant, pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code as it existed on the Effective Date, 
and any Subsequent City Approvals reasonably necessary to complete the goals, objectives, 
policies, standards, and plans described in this Agreement. The Subsequent City Approvals shall 
include any applications, permits, and approvals required to complete the improvements necessary 
to develop the Site, in general accordance with this Agreement ("Subsequent City Approvals"). 
Nothing herein shall require City to provide Developer with Subsequent City Approvals prior to, 
or without complying with, all of the requirements in this Agreement, the Mendota Municipal Code 
as it existed on the Effective Date, and any applicable state law. 

Section 3.2. Timely Processing. City shall use its reasonable best efforts to process and approve, 
within a reasonable time, any Subsequent City Approvals or environmental review requested by 
Developer during the Term of this Agreement. 

Section 3.3. Cooperation between City and Developer. Consistent with the terms set forth herein, 
City agrees to cooperate with Developer, on a timely basis, in securing all permits or licenses that 
may be required by City or any other government entity with permitting or licensing jurisdiction 
over the Project. 

Section 3.4. Further Consistent Discretionary Actions. The exercise of City's authority and 
independent judgment is recognized under this Agreement, and nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted as limiting City's discretion or obligation to hold legally required public hearings. 
Except as otherwise set forth herein, such discretion and action taken by City shall, however, be 



12 
 

consistent with the terms of this Agreement and not prevent, hinder or compromise development 
or use of the Site as contemplated by the Parties in this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 4 
PUBLIC BENEFIT, PROCESSING, AND OVERSIGHT 

Section 4.1. Processing Fees and Charges. Developer shall pay to City those processing, 
inspection, plan checking, and monitoring fees and charges required by City which are in force and 
effect at the time those fees and charges are incurred (including any post-Effective Date increases 
in such fees and charges) for processing applications and requests for building permits, inspections, 
other permits, approvals and actions, and monitoring compliance with any permits issued or 
approvals granted or the performance of any conditions (each a "Ministerial Fee" and collectively, 
the "Ministerial Fees"). 

Section 4.2. Public Benefit. 

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement confers substantial private 
benefit upon Developer that will l place burdens upon City infrastructure, services, and 
neighborhoods. Accordingly, the Parties intend to provide consideration to City to offset these 
impacts that is commensurate with the private benefits conferred on Developer (the "Public Benefit 
Fees"). Developer acknowledges that the Public Benefit Fees provided for herein are greater than 
the annual fee provided for in Mendota Municipal Code section 17.99.070 and, despite this fact, 
voluntarily agrees to pay the fees acknowledging that the private benefits conferred are of equal or 
greater consideration to the fees, and waives any right to challenge said fees as a violation of any 
law. In consideration of the foregoing, Developer shall remit to City the following payments 
(collectively referred to as the “Public Benefit Amounts”): 

(i) An annual payment of Eighty-Five Thousand Dollars ($85,000) for each 
Non-Storefront Retailer Authorized License actively operating on the Site (“Non-Storefront 
Payment”), that shall be paid on the last business day of each year; and  

(ii) An annual payment of Two Hundred and Ten Thousand Dollars ($210,000) 
paid in equal payments of Fifty-Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($52,500) on the First (1st) 
business day of every Third (3rd) month (“Quarterly Payment”); and 

(iii) $8.00 per square foot (the “Square Foot Charge”) of the existing buildings 
on the premises allocated for Authorized Licenses, which are occupied by tenants and such tenants 
are actually engaging in indoor cultivation, manufacturing, or distribution of cannabis or cannabis 
products less any Quarterly Payments that have been tendered to the City during the applicable 
period. The Square Foot Charge shall be paid to the City on the First (1st) Business Day of every 
6th month throughout the Term. For purposes of clarification, the Square Foot Charge shall only 
become due as to that potion of the Site where the Developer or its tenants or assignees are actively 
engaging in Commercial Cannabis Activities, and with respect to indoor cultivation, the actual 
canopy space where indoor cultivation occurs.  In the event the Developer or its tenants or 
assignees are not actively engaging in Commercial Cannabis Activities on the Site, the City shall 
only receive the Quarterly Payment. In the event the Developer or any of its tenants or assignees 



13 
 

are actively engaging in Commercial Cannabis Activities on the Site, the Square Foot Charge shall 
be reduced by any Quarterly Payments already paid to the City; and 

(iv) Fifty cents ($0.50) per square foot of the canopy space in any structure used 
for mixed light cultivation type of Authorized Licenses, which are occupied by tenants and such 
tenants are actually engaging in mixed-light cultivation of cannabis (“Greenhouse Payment”).  The 
Greenhouse Payment shall be paid to the City on the First (1st) Business Day of every 3rd month 
of the Term.  For the purposes of this Section, the Greenhouse Payment shall mean the actual 
amount of canopy (measured by the aggregate area of vegetative growth of live cannabis plants on 
the premises). 

(b) Developer shall remit the Non-Storefront Payment, Quarterly Payment, Square 
Foot Charge and Greenhouse Payment, as applicable, to City on as described in subdivision (a) of 
this section. Failure to remit the Quarterly Payment, Non-Storefront Payment, and Square Foot 
Charge, and Greenhouse Payment as applicable, is a material breach of this Agreement. 

(c) The Square Foot Charge referred to in n subdivision (a) of this section shall be 
subject to a five percent (5%)  increase at the commencement of the tenth (10th) year of the term 
(“First Adjustment Date”), the twentieth (20th) year of the Term (“Second Adjustment Date”),  
and the thirtieth (30th) year of the Term  (the "Third Adjustment Date").  The Parties hereby agree 
that there shall be no further increases to the Square Foot Charge after the Third Adjustment Date 
for the remainder of the Term.  

(d) Notification. At least thirty (30) days before the adjustment of the Square Foot 
Charge as provided in subdivision (c) of Section 4.2 of this Agreement, City shall notify 
Developer in writing of the amount of the new Square Foot Charge in effect until the next 
adjustment date.  The City’s failure to provide Developer with advance notice of an increased 
Square Foot Charge prior to an adjustment date shall not be deemed a waiver of the City’s right 
and entitlement to receive said increased Square Foot Charge owed by Developer in any way.    

Section 4.3. Reporting. Developer shall provide City with copies of Authorized Licenses issued 
by a State Licensing Authority to Developer and its tenants within forty-five (45) calendar days 
of issuance of such license to a tenant and each annual renewal thereafter (“State Licenses”). 
Developer shall also provide City with a list of tenants that have received a rent credit for 
employing at least fifty percent (50%) of City residents in accordance with Section 4.8 of this 
Agreement within thirty (30) calendar days of each anniversary of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement (“Local Workforce Report”). Failure or refusal of Developer to pay the Public 
Benefit Amount shall constitute full and sufficient grounds for the revocation or suspension of the 
Conditional Use Permit. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, failure to provide copies 
of State Licenses or Local Workforce Report within the applicable time period shall not amount 
to a material default of this Agreement and shall not constitute grounds for the revocation or 
suspension of the Conditional Use Permit.  

Section 4.4. Records. Subsequent tenants or assignees shall keep records of all Commercial 
Cannabis Activity in accordance with Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 26160) of Division 
10 of the Business and Professions Code. All records required by this Article 4 shall be maintained 
and made available for City's examination and duplication (physical or electronic) upon the City 



14 
 

Manager’s request at the Site or at an alternate facility as approved in writing by the City Manager 
or his or her designee. Upon request, Developer shall make all records relating to this Article 4 
available to City within three (3) business days. 

Section 4.5. Penalty. Developer acknowledges that to ensure proper compliance with the terms 
of this Agreement and any applicable laws, City must engage in costly compliance review, 
inspections, and, if necessary, enforcement actions to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its 
residents. Penalty and interest provisions are necessary to assist City in compliance review and 
enforcement actions. If Developer fails to make any payment when due as required by this 
Agreement, including the Public Benefit Amount, and fails to cure such failure within the allotted 
Cure Period, Extended Cure Period, or any extension thereof mutually agreed upon by the Parties 
in writing, the City may impose a "Non-Performance Penalty." A Non-Performance Penalty of 
one percent (1%) shall be applied to all past due payments. City shall deliver to Developer a 
"Notice of Non-Performance Penalty," attached hereto as Exhibit C. Payment of the Non-
Performance Penalty shall be in a single installment due on or before a date fifteen (15) calendar 
days following delivery of the Notice of Non-Performance Penalty. 

Section 4.6. Interest on Unpaid Non-Performance Penalty. If Developer fails to pay the Non-
Performance Penalty after City has delivered the Notice of Non-Performance Penalty, then, in 
addition to the principal amount of the Non-Performance Penalty, Developer shall pay City 
interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, computed on the principal amount of the 
Non-Performance Penalty, from a date fifteen (15) calendar days following delivery of the Notice 
of Non-Performance Penalty. 

Section 4.7. Exempt from City Tax. For the Term of this Agreement, Developer shall be exempt 
from any City tax on commercial cannabis businesses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer 
and Project shall be subject to any and all taxes, assessments, or similar charges or fees of general 
applicability enacted by the federal government, state government, or County of Fresno, including 
any tax applicable to an area greater than the City limits to which City may be a party (i.e., county 
tax sharing agreement). In the event that the City applies a new tax on commercial cannabis 
businesses, the City shall refund or credit the amount owed as Public Benefit Amount by an equal 
amount up to the amount of Public Benefit Amount owed to the Developer and any assuming 
owner proportional to the percentage ownership share of the gross land area of the Site. For the 

purposes of clarification, other than the Public Benefit Amount, the Processing Fees, and any 
other fees contemplated pursuant to this Agreement, Developer shall be exempt from any and all 
City taxes and fees relating to commercial cannabis activity and commercial cannabis businesses 
passed following the execution of this Agreement.   

Section 4.8. Employing City Residents. Developer agrees to use its best efforts to promote the 
hiring and employment of local City residents to construct, if necessary, operate the business(es) 
within the Project, and provide maintenance and security services to the Project, provided 
Developer has control over such hiring and employment. As part of such efforts, Developer agrees 
to include in any lease, license or other conveyance of any right to use the Project such language 
that any transferee of such interest shall use its best efforts to hire and employ local City residents 
for its business. Developer further agrees to provide a four percent (4%) base rent credit to any 
tenant whose workforce consists of at least fifty percent (50%) of local City residents at the end 
of each fiscal year for the period the tenant’s workforce meets the criteria set forth herein.  



15 
 

Section 4.9. Manner of Payment. All payments required to be made to City pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be paid by Developer via check, ACH payment, or wire transfer through a bank 
licensed and in good standing with all appropriate regulatory bodies. No payment required 
pursuant to this Agreement may be made in cash. Developer understands and agrees that any 
failure to comply with this Section 4.9 shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

Section 4.10. Charitable Donation.  Upon the full execution of this Agreement, Developer shall 
make a one-time donation in the amount of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) to a charity or 
program focused on drug education or rehabilitation as selected by the City.   

Section 4.11.  Site Beautification.  Upon the full execution of this Agreement, Developer shall 
spend up to Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) to clean up the vacant land portions of the Site and 
building facades. Developer agrees to use its best efforts to promote the hiring and employment 
of local City residents to complete this work.    

 ARTICLE 5 
PUBLIC FACILITIES, SERVICES, AND UTILITIES 

City shall use the Public Benefit Amount to pay for the impact on and maintenance or 
improvement of City neighborhoods, for the general welfare of the residents of Mendota, and the 
existing level of service of City infrastructure and services to accommodate for the Project. 

ARTICLE 6 
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

Section 6.1. Insurance. Developer shall require all persons doing work on the Project, including 
its contractors and subcontractors (collectively, "Developer" for purposes of this Article 6 only), 
to obtain and maintain insurance of the -types and in the amounts described in this Article with 
carriers reasonably satisfactory to City. 

(a) General Liability Insurance. Developer shall maintain commercial general 
liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) (or as otherwise approved, in writing, by City) per claim and Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000) each occurrence. Such insurance shall also: 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as "Additional Insureds" by endorsement with 
respect to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on 
the scope of its protection afforded to the above-listed additional insured. 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 

(b) Automotive Liability Insurance. Developer shall maintain business, automobile 
liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than One Million Dollars 



16 
 

($1,000,000) for each accident. Such insurance shall include coverage for owned, hired, and non-
owned automobiles. Such insurance shall also: 

(i) Name City, its elected and appointed councils, boards, commissions, 
officers, agents, employees, and representatives as Additional Insureds by endorsement with 
respect to performance of this Agreement. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on 
the scope of its protection afforded to the above-listed Additional Insureds. 

(ii) Be primary with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs 
covering City, its officials, employees, agents, and representatives. 

(iii) Contain standard separation of insured provisions. 

(c) Workers' Compensation Insurance. Developer shall take out and maintain 
during the Term of this Agreement, workers' compensation insurance for all of Developer's 
employees employed at or on the Project, and in the case any of the work is subcontracted, 
Developer shall require any general contractor or subcontractor similarly to provide workers' 
compensation insurance for such contractor's or subcontractor's employees, unless such 
employees are covered by the protection afforded by Developer. In case any class of employee 
engaged in work on the Project is not protected under any workers' compensation law, Developer 
shall provide and shall cause each contractor and subcontractor to provide adequate insurance for 
the protection of employees not otherwise protected. Developer hereby indemnifies City for any 
damage resulting from failure of Developer, its agents, employees, contractors, or subcontractors 
to take out or maintain such insurance. Workers' compensation insurance with statutory limits and 
employer's liability insurance with limits of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for 
each accident shall be maintained. 

Section 6.2. Other Insurance Requirements. Developer shall do all of the following: 

(a) Prior to taking any actions under this Agreement, furnish City with properly 
executed certificates of insurance that clearly evidence all insurance required in this Article, 
including evidence that such insurance will not be canceled, allowed to expire, or be materially 
reduced in coverage without thirty (30) days prior written notice to City. Provide to City, upon 
request, and within seven (7) calendar days of said request, certified copies of endorsements and 
policies, and properly executed certificates of insurance evidencing the insurance required herein. 

(b) Replace or require the replacement of certificates, policies, and endorsements for 
any insurance required herein expiring prior the termination of this Agreement. 

(c) Maintain all insurance required herein from the Effective Date of this Agreement 
to the earlier of the expiration of the Term or the mutual written termination of this Agreement.  

(d) Place all insurance required herein with insurers licensed to do business in 
California with a current Best's Key Rating Guide reasonably acceptable to City. 

Section 6.3. Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Developer shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless City and its agents, elected and appointed officials, officers, 
employees, consultants, and volunteers (collectively, "City's Agents") from any and all liability 



17 
 

arising out of a claim, action, or proceeding against City, or City's Agents, to attack, set aside, 
void, or annul an approval concerning the Project, this Agreement, any applicable Conditional 
Use Permit, or Subsequent City Approvals. 

Upon receiving notice of a claim, action, or proceeding, Developer shall assume the defense of 
the claim, action, or proceeding and the payment of all attorneys' fees and costs, incurred in good 
faith and in the exercise of reasonable discretion, of City's counsel in defending such an action 
prior to Developer’s assumption of such defense. In the event City elects to contract with outside 
counsel, to provide for such a defense, City shall meet and confer with Developer regarding the 
selection of counsel, and Developer shall pay all costs related to retention of such counsel. City 
shall have the absolute and sole authority to control the litigation and make litigation decisions, 
including, but not limited to, approving counsel to defend City and settlement or other disposition 
of the matter, provided the City shall not reject any reasonable good faith settlement. If City does 
reject a reasonable, good faith settlement that is acceptable to Developer, Developer may enter 
into a settlement of the action, as it relates to Developer, and City shall thereafter defend such 
action (including appeals) at its own cost and be solely responsible for any judgment rendered in 
connection with such action.  This Section 6.3 applies exclusively to settlements pertaining to 
monetary damages or damages which are remedial by the payment of monetary compensation. 
The City's remedies are limited to that portion of the Project that is in breach of this Section 6.3. 

Section 6.4. Failure to Indemnify; Waiver. Failure to indemnify City, when required by this 
Agreement and upon receiving proper notice, shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement 
and of any applicable Conditional Use Permit and Subsequent City Approvals, which shall entitle 
City to all remedies available under law, including, but not limited to, specific performance and 
damages. Failure to indemnify shall constitute grounds upon which City may rescind its approval 
of any applicable Conditional Use Permit. Developer's failure to indemnify City shall be a waiver 
by Developer of any right to proceed with the Project, or any portion thereof, and a waiver of 
Developer's right to file a claim, action or proceeding against City or City's Agents based on City's 
rescission or revocation of any Conditional Use Permit, Subsequent City Approvals, or City's 
failure to defend any claim, action, or proceeding based on Developer's failure to indemnify City. 

Section 6.5. Waiver of Damages. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, 
the Parties acknowledge that City would not have entered into this Agreement had it been exposed 
to liability for damages from Developer and, therefore, Developer hereby waives all claims for 
damages against City for breach of this Agreement. Developer further acknowledges that under 
the Development Agreement Statute, land use approvals (including development agreements) 
must be approved by the City Council and that, under law, the City Council's discretion to vote in 
any particular way may not be constrained by contract. Developer therefore waives all claims for 
damages against City in the event that this Agreement or any Project approval is: (l) not approved 
by the City Council or (2) is approved by the City Council, but with new changes, amendments, 
conditions, or deletions to which Developer is opposed. Developer further acknowledges that, as 
an instrument which must be approved by ordinance, a development agreement is subject to 
referendum; and that, under law, the City Council's discretion to avoid a referendum by rescinding 
its approval of the underlying ordinance may not be constrained by contract, and Developer 
waives all claims for damages against City in this regard. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing 
in this Section 6.5 shall amount to a waiver of Developer’s right to exercise any of the 
administrative remedies available to Developer under applicable law and pursue any and all 



18 
 

equitable remedies against the City in the event of the City’s breach of this Agreement, including 
without limitation exercising its right to appeal, filing a Writ of Mandamus, or seeking specific 
performance.    

ARTICLE 7 
MORTGAGEE PROTECTION 

This Agreement, once executed and recorded, shall be superior and senior to any lien placed upon 
the Site or any portion thereof following recording of this Agreement, including the lien of any 
deed of trust or mortgage ("Mortgage"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no breach hereof shall 
defeat, render invalid, diminish, or impair the lien of any Mortgage made in good faith and for 
value. This Agreement shall immediately be deemed in default and immediately terminate upon 
the foreclosure or transfer of any interest in the Site or Project, provided such foreclosure or the 
transfer of interest results in the change of Developer, whether by operation of law or any other 
method of interest change or transfer, unless the City Manager has authorized such change or 
transfer in advance, in writing, which authorization shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

ARTICLE 8  
DEFAULT 

Section 8.1. General Provisions. 

(a) Subject only to any extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, or as otherwise 
provided herein, the failure or delay by any Party to perform in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a default. Subject to Section 8.1(g), any Party 
alleging a default or breach of this Agreement (“Charging Party”) shall give the other Party 
("Charged Party") not less than thirty (30) calendar days written notice, which shall specify the 
nature of the alleged default and the manner in which the default may be cured (“Cure Period”). 
During any such Cure Period, the Charged Party shall not be considered in default for purposes 
of termination of this Agreement or institution of legal proceedings for the breach of this 
Agreement. 

(b) After expiration of the t Cure Period, if such default has not been cured or is not in 
the process of being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, or if the breach cannot 
reasonably be cured within thirty (30) calendar days, the Charging Party may, at its option, 
institute legal proceedings pursuant to this Agreement or give notice of its intent to terminate this 
Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65868. In the event City is the Charging Party, 
City may, in its sole discretion, give notice, as required by law, to the Charged Party of its intent 
to revoke or rescind any operable Conditional Use Permit related to or concerning the Project. 

(c) Prior to the Charging Party giving notice to the Charged Party of its intent to 
terminate, or prior to instituting legal proceedings, the matter shall be scheduled for consideration 
and review by City in the manner set forth in Government Code sections 65865, 65867, and 65868 
or the comparable provisions of the Mendota Municipal Code within thirty (30) calendar days 
from the expiration of the Cure Period. 



19 
 

(d) Following consideration of the evidence presented and said review before City, 
and after providing the Charged Party an additional thirty (30) calendar day period to cure, the 

Charging Party may institute legal proceedings against the Charged Party or may give written 
notice of termination of this Agreement to the Charged Party. 

(e) Evidence of default may arise in the course of a regularly scheduled periodic 
review of this Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 65865.1, as set forth in Section 
8.2. If any Party determines that another Party is in default following the completion of the 
normally scheduled periodic review, without reference to the procedures specified in Section       
8.1(c), said Party may give written notice of termination of this Agreement, specifying in the 
notice the alleged nature of the default and potential actions to cure said default where appropriate. 
If the alleged default is not cured in sixty (60) calendar days or within such longer period specified 
in the notice, or the defaulting Party is not diligently pursuing a cure, or if the breach cannot 
reasonably be cured within the period or the defaulting party waives its right to cure such alleged 
default, this Agreement may be terminated by the non-defaulting Party by giving written notice. 

(f) In the event Developer is in material default under the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, no permit application shall be accepted by City nor will any permit be issued to 
Developer until the default is cured, or the Agreement is terminated. 

(g) In the event that a person or entity other than the Developer is in default, the 
Developer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to bring the person or entity in default into 
compliance. The City shall provide the Developer with notice and opportunity to cure as provided 
for in paragraph (a) through (e) above, except that the time periods in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and 
(e) shall be ninety (90) days (“Extended Cure Period”). 

Section 8.2. Annual Review. City shall, every twelve (12) months during the Term of this 
Agreement, review the extent of good faith, substantial compliance of Developer and City with 
the terms of this Agreement. Such periodic review by City shall be limited in scope to compliance 
with the terms of this Agreement pursuant to California Government Code section 65865.1. City 
shall deposit in the mail or email to Developer a copy of all staff reports and, to the extent practical, 
related exhibits concerning this Agreement or the Project's performance, at least seven (7) 
calendar days prior to such annual review. Developer shall be entitled to appeal a determination 
of City or City Manager to the City Council. Any appeal must be filed within ten (10) calendar 
days of the Developer’s receipt of the written decision of City or the City Manager, respectively. 
Developer shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally or in writing regarding its 
performance under this Agreement before City, the City Manager, or City Council, as applicable. 

Section 8.3. Estoppel Certificates. City shall, with at least twenty (20) calendar days prior written 
notice, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Developer, Developer' lender, potential investors, or 
assignees an Estoppel Certificate in writing which certifies that this Agreement is in full force and 
effect, that there are no breaches or defaults under the Agreement, and that the Agreement has not 
been modified or terminated and is enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions. 

(a) At Developer's option, City's failure to deliver such Estoppel Certificate within the 
stated time period shall be conclusive evidence that the Agreement is in full force and effect, that 
there are no uncured breaches or defaults in Developer's performance of the Agreement or 



20 
 

violation of any City ordinances, regulations, and policies regulating the use and development of 
the Site or the Project subject to this Agreement. 

Section 8.4. Default by City. In the event City does not accept, review, approve, or issue any 
permits or approvals in a timely fashion, as defined by this Agreement, or if City otherwise 
defaults under the terms of this Agreement, City agrees that Developer shall not be obligated to 
proceed with or complete the Project, and shall constitute grounds for termination or cancellation 
of this Agreement by Developer. 

Section 8.5. Cumulative Remedies of Parties. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City 
or Developer may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy any default, 
enforce any covenant, or enjoin any threatened or attempted violation of the provisions of this 
Agreement, so long as any such action conforms to section 8.1 (c) of this Agreement. 

Section 8.6. Enforced Delay, Extension of Times of Performance. Delays in performance, by 
either Party, shall not be deemed a default if such delays or defaults are due to war, insurrection, 
strikes, walkouts, riots, floods, earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, governmental 
restrictions imposed where mandated by governmental entities other than City including in the 
event of a pandemic, enactment of conflicting state or federal laws or regulations, new or 
supplementary environmental regulations enacted by the state or federal government, litigation, 
or other force majeure events. An extension of time for such cause shall be in effect for the period 
of forced delay or longer, as may be mutually agreed upon. 

ARTICLE 9  
TERMINATION 

Section 9.1. Termination Upon Completion of Development. This Agreement shall terminate 
upon the expiration of the Term, unless it is terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. Upon termination of this Agreement, City shall record a notice of such termination in 
substantial conformance with the "Notice of Termination" attached hereto as Exhibit D, and this 
Agreement shall be of no further force or effect except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 

Section 9.2. Effect of Termination on Developer' Obligations. Termination of this Agreement 
shall eliminate any further obligation of Developer to comply with this Agreement, or some 
portion thereof, if such termination relates to only part of the Site or Project. Termination of this 
Agreement, in whole or in part, shall not, however, eliminate the rights of Developer to seek any 
applicable and available remedies or damages based upon acts or omissions occurring before 
termination. 

Section 9.3. Effect of Termination on City's Obligations. Termination of this Agreement shall 
eliminate any further obligation of City to comply with this Agreement, or some portion thereof, 
if such termination relates to only part of the Site or Project. Termination of this Agreement shall 
not, however, eliminate the rights of City to seek any applicable and available remedies or 
damages based upon acts or omissions occurring before termination. 



21 
 

Section 9.4. Survival After Termination. The rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in 
this Section 9.4, Section 2.8, Section 6.3, Section 10.3, Section 10.4, Section 10.5, Section 10.7, 
and any right or obligation of the Parties in this Agreement which, by its express terms or nature 
and context is intended to survive termination of this Agreement, will survive any such 
termination. 

ARTICLE 10 
OTHER GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 10.1. Assignment and Assumption. Developer shall not have the right to sell, assign, or 
transfer all or any part of its rights, title, and interests in all or a portion of Site, or Project, subject 
to or a part of this Agreement, to any person, firm, corporation, or entity during the Term of this 
Agreement without the advance written consent of the City Manager, such consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or conditioned. Any assignment or transfer prohibited by this Agreement 
will be considered an immediate breach of this Agreement and City may elect to immediately 
terminate this Agreement as it applies to the assumed property. If the City Manager approves an 
assignment or transfer of any interest detailed in this Section 10.1, City and Developer shall 
execute an "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E. 
Nothing in this Section 10.1 applies to the Developer's capitalization or ownership provisions. 

Section 10.2. Covenants Running with the Land. All of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and their respective heirs, successors and assigns, 
representatives, lessees, and all other persons acquiring all or a portion of interest in the Site or 
Project, whether by operation of law or in any manner whatsoever. All of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement shall be enforceable as equitable servitudes and shall constitute covenants 
running with the land pursuant to California law, including California Civil Code Section 1468. 
Each covenant herein to act or refrain from acting is for the benefit of or a burden upon the Project, 
as appropriate, runs with the Site, and is binding upon Developer. 

Section 10.3. Notices. Any notice or communication required hereunder between City and 
Developer must be in writing, and may be given either personally, by facsimile or email (with 
original forwarded by regular U.S. Mail), by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), 
or by Federal Express, UPS or other similar couriers providing overnight delivery. If personally 
delivered, a notice shall be deemed to have been given when delivered to the Party to whom it is 
addressed. If given by facsimile or email transmission, a notice or communication shall be deemed 
to have been given and received upon actual physical receipt of the entire document by the 
receiving Party's facsimile machine. Notices transmitted by facsimile or email after 5:00 p.m. on 
a normal business day, or on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday shall be deemed to have been given 
and received on the next normal business day. If given by registered or certified mail, such notice 
or communication shall be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of (i) 
actual receipt by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be 
sent, or (ii) five (5) days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly 
addressed, with postage prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail. If given by Federal 
Express or similar courier, a notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given and 
received on the date delivered, as shown on a receipt issued by the courier. Any Party hereto may 
at any time, by giving ten (10) days written notice to the other Party hereto, designate any other 



22 
 

address in substitution of the address to which such notice or communication shall be given. Such 
notices or communications shall be given to the Parties at their addresses set forth below: 

 
If to City: 

 
City of Mendota 
643 Quince Street 
Mendota, CA 93640 
Attention: City Manager 

 
And to: 

 
Wanger Jones Helsley PC 
265 E. River Park Circle, Suite 310 
Fresno, California 93720 
Attention: John P. Kinsey, Esq. 

 
If to Developer: 

 
Left Mendota I, LLC  
1315 N North Branch St, Suite D 
Chicago, IL 60642 

And to: 

Attention: Chris Lefkovitz  
 
Katchko Vitiello & Karikomi, PC 
11835 W Olympic Blvd 860E 
Los Angeles, California 90064 
Attention: Yelena Katchko, Esq. 

Section 10.4. Governing Law and Binding Arbitration. The validity, interpretation, and 
performance of this Agreement shall be controlled by and construed pursuant to the laws of the 
State of California. Any dispute, claim, or controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement 
or the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation, or validity thereof, including the 
determination of the scope or applicability of this Agreement to arbitrate, shall be determined by 
binding arbitration in Fresno, California, before one arbitrator. The arbitration shall proceed 
pursuant to the Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Proceedings (“Rules”) of the Judicial 
Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”). If the Parties cannot agree on an arbitrator within 
30 days of the first notice by either Party of the need for arbitration, the arbitrator shall be chosen 
in accordance with the then current Rules of JAMS. The arbitrator shall apply California 
substantive law and shall have the power to enforce the rights, remedies, duties, liabilities and 
obligations of discovery by the imposition of the same terms, conditions and penalties as can be 
imposed in like circumstances in a civil action by a court of competent jurisdiction of the State of 
California The arbitrator shall have the power to grant all legal and equitable remedies provided 
by California law and award compensatory damages provided by California law, except that 
punitive damages shall not be awarded.  The arbitration award shall be final and binding upon the 
Parties and may be enforced through an action thereon brought in the Superior Court for the State 
of California in Los Angeles County.  



23 
 

Section 10.5. Invalidity of Agreement/Severability. If this Agreement in its entirety is 
determined by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, this Agreement shall automatically terminate 
as of the date of final entry of judgment. If -any term or provision of this Agreement shall be 
determined by a court to be invalid and unenforceable, or if any term or provision of this 
Agreement is rendered invalid or unenforceable according to the terms of any federal or state 
statute, any provisions that are not invalid or unenforceable shall continue in full force and effect 
and shall be construed to give effect to the intent of this Agreement. The Parties expressly agree 
that each Party is strictly prohibited from failing to perform any and all obligations under this 
Agreement on the basis that this Agreement is invalid, unenforceable, or illegal. By entering into 
this Agreement, each Party disclaims any right to tender an affirmative defense in any arbitration 
or court of competent jurisdiction, that performance under this Agreement is not required because 
the Agreement is invalid, unenforceable, or illegal. 

Section 10.6. Cumulative Remedies. In addition to any other rights or remedies, City and 
Developer may institute legal or equitable proceedings to cure, correct, or remedy any default, to 
specifically enforce any covenant or agreement herein, or to enjoin any threatened or attempted 
violation of the provisions of this Agreement. The prevailing party in any such action shall be 
entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other 
provision of this Agreement, in the event of City default under this Agreement, Developer agrees 
that Developer may not seek, and shall forever waive any right to, monetary damages against City, 
but excluding therefrom the right to recover any fees or charges paid by Developer in excess of 
those permitted hereunder. 

Section 10.7. Third Party Legal Challenge. In the event any legal action or special proceeding 
is commenced by any person or entity challenging this Agreement or any associated entitlement, 
permit, or approval granted by City to Developer for the Project (collectively, "Project 
Litigation"), the Parties agree to cooperate with each other as set forth herein. City may elect to 
tender the defense of any lawsuit filed and related in whole or in part to Project Litigation with 
legal counsel selected by City. Developer will indemnify, hold City harmless from, and defend 
City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit, including, but not limited 
to, damages, attorneys' fees, and expenses of litigation awarded to the prevailing party or parties 
in such litigation. Developer shall pay all litigation fees to City, within thirty (30) days of receiving 
a written request and accounting of such fees and expenses, from City. Notwithstanding the 
aforementioned, City may request, and Developer will provide to City within seven (7) days of 
any such request, a deposit to cover City's reasonably anticipated Project Litigation fees and costs. 

Section 10.8. Constructive Notice and Acceptance. Every person who after the Effective Date 
and recording of this Agreement owns or acquires any right, title, or interest to any portion of the 
Site is and shall be conclusively deemed to have consented and agreed to every provision 
contained herein, whether or not any reference to this Agreement is contained in the instrument 
by which such person acquired an interest in the Site, and all rights and interests of such person 
in the Site shall be subject to the terms, requirements, and provisions of this Agreement. 

Section 10.9. Statute of Limitations and Laches. City and Developer agree that each Party will 
undergo a change in position in detrimental reliance upon this Agreement from the time of its 
execution and subsequently. The Parties agree that section 65009(c)(l)(D) of the California 
Government Code, which provides for a ninety (90) day statute of limitations to challenge the 



24 
 

adoption of this Agreement, is applicable to this Agreement. In addition, any person who may 
challenge the validity of this Agreement is hereby put on notice that, should the legality or validity 
of this Agreement be challenged by any third party in litigation, which is filed and served more 
than ninety (90) days after the execution of this Agreement, City and Developer shall each assert 
the affirmative defense of laches with respect to such challenge, in addition to all other available 
defenses. This Section in no way limits the right of a Party, claiming that the other Party breached 
the terms of this Agreement, to bring a claim against the other Party within the four (4) year statute 
of limitations set forth in Section 337 of the California Civil Code. 

Section 10.10. Change in State Regulations. In no event shall Developer operate the Project in 
violation of the Agreement, or any applicable regulations issued pursuant to the California 
Cannabis Laws, as may be amended from time to time. 

Section 10.11. Standard Terms and Conditions. 

(a) Venue. Venue for all legal proceedings shall be in the Superior Court of California 
in and for the County of Fresno. 

(b) Waiver. A waiver by any Party of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition 
herein contained or a waiver of any right or remedy of such Party available hereunder, at law or 
in equity, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other 
term, covenant, or condition herein contained or of any continued or subsequent right to the same 
right or remedy. No Party shall be deemed to have made any such waiver unless it is in writing 
and signed by the Party so waiving. 

(c) Completeness of Instrument. This Agreement, together with its specific 
references, attachments, and Exhibits, constitutes all of the agreements, understandings, 
representations, conditions, warranties, and covenants made by and between the Parties hereto. 
Unless set forth herein, no Party to this Agreement shall be liable for any representations made, 
express or implied. 

(d) Supersedes Prior Agreement. It is the intention of the Parties hereto that this 
Agreement shall supersede any prior agreements, discussions, commitments, or representations, 
written, electronic, or oral, between the Parties hereto with respect to the Site and the Project. 

(e) Captions. The captions of this Agreement are for convenience and reference only 
and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify, or aid in the 
interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 

(f) Number and Gender. In this Agreement, the neutral gender includes the feminine 
and masculine, and the singular includes the plural, and the word "person" includes corporations, 
partnerships, firms, or associations, wherever the context requires. 

(g) Mandatory and Permissive. "Shall" and "will" and "agrees" are mandatory. 
"May" or "can" are permissive. 

(h) Term Includes Extensions. All references to the Term of this Agreement shall 
include any extensions of such Term. 



25 
 

(i) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously and in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

(j) Other Documents. The Parties agree that they shall cooperate in good faith to 
accomplish the objectives of this Agreement and, to that end, agree to execute and deliver such 
other instruments or documents as may be necessary and convenient to fulfill the purposes and 
intentions of this Agreement. 

(k) Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence in this Agreement in each covenant, 
term, and condition herein. 

(l) Authority. All Parties to this Agreement warrant and represent that they have the 
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the names, titles, and capacities herein stated 
on behalf of any entities, persons, states, or firms represented or purported to be represented by 
such entities, persons, states, or firms and that all former requirements necessary or required by 
state or federal law in order to enter into this Agreement had been fully complied with. Further, 
by entering into this Agreement, no Party hereto shall have breached the terms or conditions of 
any other contract or agreement to which such Party is obligated, which such breach would have 
a material effect hereon.  

(m) Document Preparation. This Agreement will not be construed against the Party 
preparing it, but will be construed as if prepared by all Parties. 

(n) Advice of Legal Counsel. Each Party acknowledges that it has reviewed this 
Agreement with its own legal counsel and, based upon the advice of that counsel, freely entered 
into this Agreement. 

(o) Attorney's Fees and Costs. If any action at law or in equity, including action for 
declaratory relief, is brought to enforce or interpret provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing 
Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs, which may be set by the court in the 
same action or in a separate action brought for that purpose, in addition to any other relief to which 
such Party may be entitled. 

(p) Calculation of Time Periods. Unless expressly stated otherwise, all time 
referenced in this Agreement shall be calendar days, unless the last day falls on a legal holiday, 
Saturday, or Sunday, in which case the last day shall be the next business day. 

(q) Confidentiality. Both Parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the other 
Party's "Confidential Information" under this Agreement and shall not disclose such information 
to third parties. "Confidential Information" shall include, but not be limited to, business plans, 
trade secrets, and industry knowledge. Confidential Information shall not apply to information 
that: (i) is in the public domain at the time of disclosures or (ii) is required to be disclosed pursuant 
to a court order, governmental authority, or existing state law. 

 
[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]  



26 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been entered into by and between 
Developer and City as of the Effective Date of the Agreement, as defined above. 
 
 
 
 

“CITY” 

Date: _______________, 2020 

CITY OF MENDOTA, CA 
a California Municipal Corporation 
 
 
      
By: Cristian Gonzalez 
Its: City Manager  
 
Attest: 

      
Celeste Cabrera-Garcia 
City Clerk 
 
Approved to as Form: 

   
John P. Kinsey 
City Attorney 

“DEVELOPER” 

 
Date: _______________, 2020  

LEFT MENDOTA I, LLC, a Delaware 
Limited Liability Company 
 
 
      
 By: 
Its: 

  



27 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Legal Description  
 

  



28 
 

Exhibit B 
 

Site Map 
 

  



29 
 

Exhibit C 
 

Notice of Non-Performance Penalty 

 Pursuant to Article 4, Section 4.5 of the Development Agreement by and between the City 
of Mendota (“City”) and LEFT MENDOTA I, LLC (“Developer”) for the development of 
property located at 1269 Marie Street, Mendota, California 93640 (“Agreement”), if Developer 
fails to make any payment required by the Agreement, the City may impose a Non-Performance 
Penalty of one percent (1%) to all past due payments.  Pursuant to the Agreement, City shall 
deliver a Notice of Non-Performance Penalty (“Notice”) to Developer, and Developer shall pay 
the Non-Performance Penalty in a single installment due on or before a date fifteen (15) calendar 
days following delivery of the Notice. 

 City hereby informs Developer that Developer has failed to make payment(s) required by 
the Agreement.  The past due amount is _____________.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 4.5 
of the Agreement, a penalty of _____________ (“Penalty Amount”) is hereby imposed.  Please 
remit payment of the Penalty Amount by ______________________.  

 
____________________________  ___________ 
City Manager    Date 
City of Mendota 

 

  



30 
 

Exhibit D 
 

 

 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE 

Recording Fee Exempt per Government Code §6103 

 

Notice of Termination 

 Pursuant to Article 9, Section 9.1 of the Development Agreement by and between the City 
of Mendota (“City”) and LEFT MENDOTA I, LLC (“Developer”) for the development of 
property located at 1269 Marie Street, Mendota, California 93640 (“Agreement”), 
_______________ informs _______________ that the Agreement is hereby terminated, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions as stated therein, pursuant to Article ___, Section ____. 

 In accordance with Article 9, Section 9.1 of the Agreement, City shall record this Notice 
of Termination. 

 

 

____________________________  ___________ 
Title:      Date 
Entity: 

 

  

 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL 
TO: 

643 Quince St 
Mendota, CA 93640 

 
 



31 
 

Exhibit E 

Assignment and Assumption Agreement 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made 
and  entered into this ___ day of ____________, ______, by and between the CITY OF 
MENDOTA, a municipal corporation of the State of California (“City”), LEFT MENDOTA I, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Assignor”), and 
______________________________________, a _____________________________________ 
(“Assignee”).  City, Assignor, or Assignee may be referred to herein individually as a “Party” or 
collectively as the “Parties.”  There are no other parties to this Agreement. 

RECITALS 

A. City and Assignor entered into a development agreement, dated ___________, for 
the development of property located at 1269 Marie Street, in the City of Mendota, County of 
Fresno, State of California, Assessor’s Parcel Number 013-280-15 (“Development Agreement”), 
attached hereto as Exhibit “1” and incorporated herein by this reference; 

B. Pursuant to Article 10, Section 10.1 of the Development Agreement, Assignor may 
transfer all or part of its rights, title, and/or interests in all or a portion of Site, or Project, as those 
terms are defined in the Development Agreement, to any person, firm, corporation, or entity 
during the Term of the Development Agreement only with the advance written consent of the City 
Manager, who shall not unreasonably withhold or condition such consent;  

C. Assignor desires to transfer to Assignee some or all of Assignor’s rights and 
obligations under the Development Agreement, in accordance with Article 10, Section 10.1 of the 
Development Agreement;  

D. Assignee desires to assume some or all of Assignor’s rights and obligations under 
the Development Agreement, in accordance with Article 10, Section 10.1 of the Development 
Agreement;  

E. The City Manager has agreed to permit Assignor’s transfer of some or all of 
Assignor’s rights and obligations under the Development Agreement to Assignee, and to 
Assignee’s assumption of same, subject to the terms and conditions specified in this Agreement; 

F. The Parties intend through this Agreement to allow Assignor to transfer, and 
Assignee to assume, some or all of Assignor’s rights and obligations under the Development 
Agreement, in accordance with Article 10, Section 10.1 of the Development Agreement. 

G. The City Council has conducted all necessary proceedings in accordance with 
City’s Municipal Code for the approval of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 
 



32 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

Section 1.  Assignment.  Assignor hereby assigns to Assignee (all/some) of Assignor’s 
rights and obligations under the Development Agreement.  If Assignor is transferring only some 
of Assignor’s rights and obligations under the Development Agreement, then the specific rights 
and obligations subject to transfer shall be specified in Exhibit “1,” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference.  

 
Section 2.  Assumption.  Assignee hereby accepts and assumes the foregoing transfer or 

assignment of (all/some) of Assignor’s rights and obligations under the Development Agreement. 
 
Section 3.  Consent.  In accordance with Article 10, Section 10.1 of the Development 

Agreement, the City Manager hereby consents to Assignor’s transfer of, and Assignee’s 
assumption of, Assignor’s rights and obligations under the Development Agreement, as specified 
herein, subject to any reasonable terms and conditions the City Manager may require, as set forth 
in Exhibit “2,” attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

 
Section 4.  Conditions of Assignment.  The Parties hereby agree to abide by the terms or 

conditions of assignment, if any, set forth in Exhibit 2, and acknowledge that City’s consent would 
not have been provided but for the Parties’ agreement to abide by the terms or conditions of 
assignment.  

 
Section 4.  Effective Date.  The assignment and assumption of rights and obligations as 

specified herein shall be effective on _________________________. 
 
Section 5.  Terms of the Development Agreement.  The terms of the Development 

Agreement are incorporated herein by this reference.  Assignor acknowledges and agrees that the 
representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and indemnities contained in the Development 
Agreement shall not be superseded hereby but shall remain in full force and effect to the full extent 
provided therein.  

 
Section 6.  Inconsistency.  In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms 

of the Development Agreement and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of the Development 
Agreement shall govern. 

 
Section 7.  Further Actions.  Each of the Parties hereto covenants and agrees, at its own 

expense, to execute and deliver, at the request of the other Parties hereto, such further instruments 
of transfer and assignment and to take such other action as such the other Parties may reasonably 
request to more effectively consummate the assignments and assumptions contemplated by this 
Agreement. 



33 
 

“City” 

Date: _______________, ____ 

CITY OF MENDOTA, CA 
a California Municipal Corporation 
 
      
By: Cristian Gonzalez 
Its: City Manager  

 

Attest: 

      
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Approved to as Form: 

   
John P. Kinsey 
City Attorney 

“Assignor” 
 
Date: _______________, ____  

LEFT MENDOTA I, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company 
 
      
 By: 
Its: 
 
 
“Assignee” 

Date: _______________, _____ 

Name: 
Corporate Status: 
 
      
Title:  
Name:  

 

  



34 
 

Exhibit 1 
(Interest Subject to Transfer) 

 

  



35 
 

Exhibit 2 
(Conditions of Consent) 

 

 



Animal Control
Monthly Report

December 2020

Location Date Type BREED/ DESCRIPTION Sex Owner Impounded Y/N DOG DISPO & DATE Case Dispo Offense Fine
1736 JENNINGS 12/1/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT 2 DOGS UNK N/A NO GONE ON ARRIVAL NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00

618 GAXIOLA 12/1/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT 2 HUSKYS UNK N/A NO GONE ON ARRIVAL NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00
627 LOZANO 12/2/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT NEIGHBOR POISONING CATS UNK UNK NO N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00
1167 PUCHEU 12/8/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT LOOSE DOG CHASED MAILMAN MALE BAUDELIA ACEVES NO RETRIEVED BY OWNER CITED 2ND $50.00
877 BELMONT 12/8/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT DEAD ANIMAL UNK UNK NO PICKED UP AND DISPOSED COMPLETE N/A $0.00

617 DE LA CRUZ 12/9/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT HUSKY IN BACK YARD UNK UNK NO UNABLE TO LOCATE UNABLE TO LOCATE N/A $0.00
250 SAN PEDRO 12/10/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT BIG BLACK DOG UNK UNK NO GONE ON ARRIVAL GONE ON ARRIVAL N/A $0.00
617 DE LA CRUZ 12/10/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT HUSKY IN BACK YARD MALE UNK YES AT DOG POUND NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00

1000 2ND ST 12/11/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT LOOSE BROWN DOG MALE UNK NO GONE ON ARRIVAL NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00
MEPD 12/14/2020 LOST/FOUND ANIMAL QUESTIONS ON DOG POSSIBLY IMPOUNDED UNK LETICIA CARRETO NO UNK NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN N/A $0.00

1125 PUCHEU 12/21/2020 ANIMAL COMPLAINT DEAD CAT UNK UNK NO PICKED UP AND DISPOSED COMPLETE N/A $0.00

TOTAL IMPOUNDED: 1
RETURNED TO OWNER: 0  
VET RESCUE: 0
SLEEP: 0
AT DOG POUND: 3



Code Enforcement
Monthly Report

December 2020

ADDRESS TYPE OF CASE 1ST NOTICE DEADLINE STATUS FINE AMOUNT
MENDOTA PD LOBBY TRAFFIC 12/1/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
611 N KATE VEHICLE CHECK 12/1/2020 N/A CITED/TOWED $50.00

6TH/JUANITA COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/1/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
LOZANO/RIOS MUNICODE VIOLATION/ TRASH 12/1/2020 N/A WARNING $0.00

BASS/ 33 MUNICODE VIOLATION/ DISOBEY TRAFFIC SIGNAL 12/1/2020 N/A CITED $150.00
BASS/ 33 MUNICODE VIOLATION/ DISOBEY TRAFFIC SIGNAL 12/1/2020 N/A CITED $150.00

DIVISADERO/I ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/2/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
636 DE LA CRUZ MUNICODE VIOLATION/ WEEDS 12/2/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00

800 GARCIA VEHICLE CHECK 12/2/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00
HERNANDES/ LOZANO VEHICLE CHECK 12/2/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00

140 LOCUST VEHICLE CHECK 12/2/2020 12/5/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
629 LOZANO PARKING VIOLATION 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
643 LOZANO MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CAR ON LAWN 12/3/2020 N/A CITED(x2) $50.00
669 LOZANO VEHICLE CHECK 12/3/2020 12/6/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
675 LOZANO MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CAR ON LAWN 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $25.00

307 RIOS MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CAR ON LAWN 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $25.00
315 RIOS PARKING VIOLATION 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
319 RIOS MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE/ TRASH 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $150.00
321 RIOS MUNICODE VIOLATION/ MATTRESS 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $150.00

BASS/ 2ND COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/3/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
OLLER/ 11TH PARKING VIOLATION 12/3/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

261 OLLER COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/3/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
6TH/JUANITA SPECIAL DETAIL 12/4/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00

605 BASS PARKING VIOLATION 12/4/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00
655 LOLITA VEHICLE CHECK 12/4/2020 N/A TOWED $0.00

MENDOTA PD LOBBY TRAFFIC 12/7/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
FRESNO MISC. INVESTIGATION 12/7/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00

1161 OLLER VEHICLE CHECK 12/7/2020 12/10/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
NAPLES VEHICLE CHECK 12/7/2020 N/A CITED $100.00
419 LUA PARKING VIOLATION 12/7/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

MENDOTA PD LOBBY TRAFFIC 12/7/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
754 JUANITA PARKING VIOLATION 12/7/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
BASS/ 2ND PARKING VIOLATION 12/7/2020 N/A CITED $100.00

240 K ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/7/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
761 PUCHEU VEHICLE CHECK 12/7/2020 N/A CITED/ TOWED $50.00
RIO FRIO CIR COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/7/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
766 JUANITA PARKING VIOLATION 12/8/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
730 JUANITA VEHICLE CHECK 12/8/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00

MEPD LOBBY TRAFFIC 12/8/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
360 ARNAUDON MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/8/2020 N/A WARNING $0.00

242 TUFT VEHICLE CHECK 12/8/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00
231 GREGG CT MUNICIPAL CODE VIOLATION/ TRUCK NOT ZONED 12/8/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
270 GREGG CT PARKING VIOLATION 12/8/2020 N/A CITED(x2) $100.00
248 ESPINOZA VEHICLE CHECK 12/8/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00

613 DE LA CRUZ MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/8/2020 N/A CITED $150.00
617 DE LA CRUZ MUNICODE VIOLATION/ BOAT 12/8/2020 12/11/2020 WARNING $0.00
RIOS/ GARCIA VEHICLE CHECK 12/8/2020 12/11/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
10TH/ NAPLES PARKING VIOLATION 12/8/2020 N/A CITED $100.00
1266 LOLITA MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/9/2020 N/A CITED(X3) $450.00
CITY HALL COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/9/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00



Code Enforcement
Monthly Report

December 2020

506 KATE VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00
654 KATE VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00
840 KATE VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

DIVISADERO/I ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 12/12/2020 CITED/ RED TAGGED $50.00
585 J ST MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/9/2020 N/A CITED $150.00

647 PEREZ VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 12/12/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
BLANCO/ LOZANO VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 12/2/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00

638 GARCIA VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00
616 GARCIA VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 N/A CITED/ TOWED $50.00

MCCABE/ SORENSON PUBLIC HAZARD/ SELLING SOLARS/ NO MASK 12/9/2020 N/A UNABLE TO LOCATE $0.00
210 FLEMING VEHICLE CHECK 12/9/2020 12/12/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
6TH/JUANITA SPECIAL DETAIL 12/10/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00

MEPD MISC. INVESTIGATION 12/10/2020 N/A NECESSARY ACTION TAKEN $0.00
919 RIO FRIO VEHICLE CHECK 12/10/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

912 MARIE PARKING VIOLATION 12/11/2020 N/A CITED $100.00
305 BLANCO VEHICLE CHECK 12/11/2020 12/14/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00

GOMEZ/GARCIA VEHICLE CHECK 12/11/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00
631 LOZANO PARKING VIOLATION 12/11/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
633 LOZANO PARKING VIOLATION 12/11/2020 N/A CITED $0.00
647 LOZANO MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CAR ON LAWN 12/11/2020 N/A CITED $25.00

AIRPORT/ JUANITA COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/11/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
2ND/ OLLER PARKING VIOLATION 12/14/2020 N/A CITED $100.00

ALLEYWAY OLLER/ 5TH ST COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/14/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
INEZ/ 7TH ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 N/A CITED/ TOWED $50.00

SONORA MARKET MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CELLPHONE STAND/ NO BUSINESS LICENSE 12/21/2020 12/21/2020 WARNING $0.00
902 JENNINGS PARKING VIOLATION 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
903 JENNINGS PARKING VIOLATION 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

ALLEYWAY CITY HALL PARKING VIOLATION 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $100.00
175 ASH MUNICODE VIOLATION/ TRUCK NOT ZONED 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $100.00

295 TUFT VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
9TH/ OLLER MUNICODE VIOLATION/ CELLPHONE STAND/ NO BUSINESS LICENSE 12/21/2020 12/21/2020 CITED $150.00

309 J ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 12/24/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
632 4TH ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 12/24/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
918 2ND ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

402 MENDOZA VEHICLE CHECK 12/21/2020 12/24/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00
221 MCCABE PARKING VIOLATION 12/22/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

MCCABE/ SORENSON VEHICLE CHECK 12/22/2020 N/A CITED $50.00
DIVISADERO/I ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/22/2020 N/A CITED $50.00

585 J ST MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/22/2020 N/A CITED $150.00
2ND ST/ I ST COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/22/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
KATE/ I ST VEHICLE CHECK 12/22/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00
CITY HALL COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/23/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
411 SILVA MUNICODE VIOLATION/ APPLIANCE 12/23/2020 N/A WARNING $0.00

225 MARIE ST COMMUNITY CONTACT 12/23/2020 N/A COMPLETE $0.00
600 BLK LOLITA VEHICLE CHECK 12/23/2020 N/A CHECKS OKAY $0.00

2ND/ OLLER PARKING VIOLATION 12/23/2020 12/26/2020 RED TAGGED $0.00

TOTAL:  $3,375.00



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMEN
DECEMBER 2020

CASE# ADDRESS RPT DATE DAY OF 
WEEK ARREST CRIME TYPE CHARGES

200002695.1 300 RIOS ST 12/1/2020 Tue YES ATTEMPT ARSON PC 664 / 451
200002696.1 611 N KATE ST 12/1/2020 Tue NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002697.1 57 VERA CIR 12/1/2020 Tue NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002698.1 43 VERA CIR 12/1/2020 Tue NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002699.1 9TH ST & QUINCE ST 12/1/2020 Tue YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377
200002700.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/1/2020 Tue NO ERROR
200002701.1 2ND ST & NAPLES ST 12/2/2020 Wed YES OPEN CONTAINER BP 25620
200002702.1 747 DERRICK AV 12/2/2020 Wed NO TRAFFIC COLLISION
200002704.1 9TH ST & MARIE ST 12/2/2020 Wed YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 113764
200002707.1 41 VERA CIR 12/2/2020 Wed NO PETTY THEFT PC  484
200002708.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/2/2020 Wed YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002709.1 647 PEREZ ST 12/2/2020 Wed YES AGGRAVATED ASSAULT (DV) PC 273.5
200002710.1 1100 2ND ST 12/2/2020 Wed NO GRAND THEFT AUTO VC 10851
200002711.1 631 JUANITA ST 12/3/2020 Thu NO ATTEMPT GRAND THEFT AUTO PC 664 / VC 10851
200002712.1 1269 MARIE ST 12/3/2020 Thu NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002716.1 8TH ST & NAPLES ST 12/3/2020 Thu NO FIELD INTERVIEW
200002717.1 9TH ST & MARIE ST 12/3/2020 Thu YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002718.1 1640 9TH ST 12/4/2020 Fri NO VEHICLE BURGLARY PC 459
200002719.1 105 RAMIREZ ST 12/4/2020 Fri NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002720.1 655 LOLITA ST 12/4/2020 Fri NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002723.1 1725 8TH ST 12/4/2020 Fri NO AGGRAVATED ASSAULT (DV) PC 273.5
200002727.1 1709 JENNINGS ST 12/4/2020 Fri NO HIT & RUN VC 20002
200002731.1 157 DERRICK AV 12/5/2020 Sat NO FIELD INTERVIEW
200002732.1 354 OLLER ST 12/5/2020 Sat NO INCIDENT REPORT
200002736.1 329 J ST 12/5/2020 Sat NO REPOSSESSION
200002737.1 9TH ST & LOLITA ST 12/5/2020 Sat NO FIELD INTERVIEW
200002738.1 4TH ST & GUTIERREZ ST 12/5/2020 Sat YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377
200002739.1 1736 JENNINGS ST 12/6/2020 Sun NO DECEASED PERSON Nov-44
200002740.1 207 L ST 12/6/2020 Sun NO RESIDENTIAL BURGLARY PC 459
200002741.1 7TH ST & OLLER ST 12/6/2020 Sun NO TRAFFIC COLLISION
200002742.1 720 OLLER ST 12/6/2020 Sun NO SHOPLIFTING PC 459.5
200002743.1 563 STAMOULES ST 12/6/2020 Sun YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11364, HS 11377, PC 3056
200002744.1 1840 7TH ST 12/7/2020 Mon NO FRAUD PC 476
200002746.1 761 PUCHEU ST 12/7/2020 Mon NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002752.1 842 QUINCE ST 12/8/2020 Tue NO REPOSSESSION
200002753.1 300 RIOS ST #101 12/8/2020 Tue NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002756.1 267 L ST 12/8/2020 Tue NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002757.1 OLLER ST & 9TH ST 12/8/2020 Tue YES PUBLIC INTOXICATION PC 647F
200002758.1 1840 7TH ST 12/8/2020 Tue YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11364, HS 11377, PC 3056
200002759.1 560 DIVISADERO ST 12/8/2020 Tue NO REPOSSESSION
200002760.1 536 QUINCE ST 12/9/2020 Wed NO GRAND THEFT AUTO VC 10851
200002761.1 616 GARCIA ST 12/9/2020 Wed NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMEN
DECEMBER 2020

CASE# ADDRESS RPT DATE DAY OF 
WEEK ARREST CRIME TYPE CHARGES

200002763.1 30440 W WHITESBRIDGE AV 12/9/2020 Wed YES UNLICENSE DRIVER VC 12500
200002764.1 1855 JENNINGS ST 12/9/2020 Wed NO MENTALLY UNSTABLE WI 5150
200002767.1 675 I ST 12/10/2020 Thu NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002769.1 7TH ST & KATE ST 12/10/2020 Thu YES WEAPONS POSSESSION (GUN) PC 29800 A1, HS 11364
200002770.1 1675 4TH ST 12/10/2020 Thu NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002771.1 500 BLACK ST 12/10/2020 Thu NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002772.1 647 PEREZ ST 12/10/2020 Thu NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002773.1 951 2ND ST 12/10/2020 Thu NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002775.1 8TH ST & BELMONT AV 12/11/2020 Fri YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002776.1 431 LOLITA ST 12/11/2020 Fri NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002777.1 180 STRAW ST 12/12/2020 Sat NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002778.1 1267 OLLER ST 12/12/2020 Sat YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002779.1 653 LOZANO ST 12/12/2020 Sat NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002780.1 2ND ST & J ST 12/12/2020 Sat YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002781.1 867 OLLER ST 12/12/2020 Sat YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377
200002782.1 2ND ST & L ST 12/12/2020 Sat NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002783.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/12/2020 Sat NO RO VIOLATION PC 273.6
200002784.1 697 DERRICK AV 12/13/2020 Sun YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11364 
200002785.1 BASS AV & HWY 33 12/13/2020 Sun NO TRAFFIC COLLISION
200002786.1 270 HOLMES ST 12/13/2020 Sun NO TRAFFIC COLLISION
200002789.1 218 OLLER ST 12/13/2020 Sun NO SHOPLIFTING PC 459.5
200002790.1 418 LOLITA ST 12/14/2020 Mon NO VEHICLE BURGLARY PC 459
200002791.1 SORENSEN AV & MCCABE AV 12/14/2020 Mon YES NO BICYCLE LIGHT VC 21201A1
200002792.1 1064 QUINCE ST 12/14/2020 Mon YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166, HS 11364
200002793.1 200 MALDONADO ST 12/14/2020 Mon NO INCIDENT REPORT
200002794.1 1931 6TH ST 12/15/2020 Tue NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002795.1 3123 BASS AV 12/15/2020 Tue NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002627.1 5TH ST & LOLITA ST 12/15/2020 Tue YES AGGRAVATED ASSAULT  PC 245A1
200002797.1 3123 BASS AV 12/15/2020 Tue YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002798.1 750 DERRICK AV 12/15/2020 Tue YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002799.1 647 PEREZ ST 12/16/2020 Wed NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002801.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/17/2020 Thu NO INCIDENT REPORT
200002802.1 8TH ST & UNIDA ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002803.1 1100 UNIDA ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO VEHICLE STORAGE
200002804.1 439 LOLITA ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO PETTY THEFT PC 484
200002805.1 647 PEREZ ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO GRAND THEFT AUTO VC 10851
200002806.1 640 GARCIA ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO FRAUD PC 484G
200002807.1 7TH ST & RIO FRIO ST 12/17/2020 Thu YES BURLGARY TOOLS PC 466, HS 11377A
200002808.1 180 STRAW ST 12/17/2020 Thu NO RO VIOLATION PC 273.6
200002812.1 SORENSEN AV & FLEMING AV 12/18/2020 Fri YES AGGRAVATED ASSAULT (DV) PC 273.5
200002813.1 SORENSEN AV & STRAW ST 12/18/2020 Fri NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002814.1 730 JUANITA ST 12/18/2020 Fri NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002815.1 520 DIVISADERO ST 12/19/2020 Sat NO VEHICLE BURGLARY PC 459



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMEN
DECEMBER 2020

CASE# ADDRESS RPT DATE DAY OF 
WEEK ARREST CRIME TYPE CHARGES

200002816.1 117 RAMIREZ ST 12/19/2020 Sat NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002817.1 8TH ST & RIO FRIO ST 12/20/2020 Sun YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377 & HS 11364
200002818.1 1267 OLLER ST 12/20/2020 Sun YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002819.1 202 I ST 12/20/2020 Sun YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002820.1 654 LOZANO ST #706 12/21/2020 Mon NO GRAND THEFT AUTO VC 10851
200002821.1 7TH ST & INEZ ST 12/21/2020 Mon NO VEHICLE STORAGE VC 22651
200002822.1 7TH ST & LOLITA ST 12/21/2020 Mon YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377
200002824.1 642 PUCHEU ST 12/22/2020 Tue NO INCIDENT REPORT
200002825.1 7TH ST & LOLITA ST 12/22/2020 Tue YES NARCOTICS VIOLATION HS 11377
200002827.1 6TH ST & RIO FRIO ST 12/23/2020 Wed YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002832.1 2ND ST & OLLER ST 12/23/2020 Wed YES PURSUIT VC 2800.2A
200002835.1 MCCABE AV & SORENSEN AV 12/24/2020 Thu NO GTA RECOVERY
200002837.1 5TH ST & OLLER ST 12/25/2020 Fri YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002838.1 506 KATE ST 12/26/2020 Sat YES SIMPLE ASSAULT (DV) PC 243E1
200002839.1 830 TULE ST 12/26/2020 Sat YES CRIMINAL THREAT PC 422
200002840.1 MCCABE AV & SORENSEN AV 12/26/2020 Sat YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002841.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/26/2020 Sat YES DUI ARREST VC 23152
200002842.1 573 SILVA ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002843.1 501 CASTANEDA ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002844.1 573 SILVA ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002845.1 CERVANTES ST & BARAJAS CT 12/27/2020 Sun NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002846.1 485 MARIE ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO SIMPLE ASSAULT PC 242
200002847.1 3RD ST & NAPLES ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO VEHICLE BURGLARY PC 459
200002848.1 127 CERVANTES ST 12/27/2020 Sun NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002849.1 HWY 33 & BASS AV 12/27/2020 Sun NO TRAFFIC COLLISION
200002850.1 6TH ST & LOLITA ST 12/27/2020 Sun YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002851.1 1479 7TH ST 12/27/2020 Sun YES AGGRAVATED ASSAULT (DV) PC 273.5
200002852.1 230 L ST 12/28/2020 Mon NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002853.1 5TH ST & NAPLE ST 12/28/2020 Mon NO MENTALLY UNSTABLE WI 5150
200002854.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/28/2020 Mon NO ERROR
200002855.1 640 GAXIOLA ST 12/28/2020 Mon NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002856.1 61 DIAZ ST 12/29/2020 Tue NO DECEASED PERSON 11-44
200002857.1 59 SEGOVIA ST 12/29/2020 Tue NO VANDALISM PC 594
200002858.1 301 BLANCO ST 12/29/2020 Tue YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002859.1 1741 9TH ST 12/29/2020 Tue NO CRIMINAL THREAT PC 422
200002860.1 ARNADON ST & SORENSEN AV 12/29/2020 Tue NO FIELD INTERVIEW
200002861.1 1000 AIRPORT BLVD 12/30/2020 Wed NO ERROR
200002862.1 111 BELMONT AV 12/30/2020 Wed NO INDECENT EXPOSURE PC 314
200002863.1 842 STAMOULES ST 12/30/2020 Wed NO DECEASED PERSON 11-44
200002868.1 1225 OLLER ST 12/31/2020 Thu NO VEHICLE BURGLARY PC 459
200002874.1 GUILLEN PARKWAY & SAN BENITO AV 12/31/2020 Thu YES WARRANT ARREST PC 166
200002876.1 HWY 33 & BASS AV 12/31/2020 Thu YES DUI ARREST VC 23152



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020 - MAP

ALL CRIMES



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020

CRIME TYPE Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Grand Total
AGGRAVATED ASSAULT  1 1

AGGRAVATED ASSAULT (DV) 1 1 2 4

ATTEMPT ARSON 1 1

ATTEMPT GRAND THEFT AUTO 1 1

BURLGARY TOOLS 1 1

CRIMINAL THREAT 1 1 2

DECEASED PERSON 1 1 1 3

DUI ARREST 1 1 1 4 7

ERROR 1 1 1 3

FIELD INTERVIEW 1 1 2 4

FOUND PROPERTY 1 1

FRAUD 1 1 2

GRAND THEFT AUTO 1 2 1 4

GTA RECOVERY 1 1

HIT & RUN 1 1

INCIDENT REPORT 1 1 1 1 4

INDECENT EXPOSURE 1 1

MENTALLY UNSTABLE 1 1 2

NARCOTICS VIOLATION 3 1 3 1 2 10

NO BICYCLE LIGHT 1 1

OPEN CONTAINER 1 1

PETTY THEFT 3 2 2 1 8

PUBLIC INTOXICATION 1 1

PURSUIT 1 1

REPOSSESSION 2 1 3

RESIDENTIAL BURGLARY 1 1

RO VIOLATION 1 1 2

SHOPLIFTING 2 2

SIMPLE ASSAULT 1 1

SIMPLE ASSAULT (DV) 1 1

TRAFFIC COLLISION 4 1 5

UNLICENSE DRIVER 1 1

VANDALISM 5 2 4 5 3 3 22

VEHICLE BURGLARY 1 1 1 1 1 5

VEHICLE STORAGE 2 1 1 2 1 1 8

WARRANT ARREST 2 1 3 2 2 1 11

WEAPONS POSSESSION (GUN) 1 1

Grand Total 22 13 24 18 22 11 18 128



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020 - ARRESTS

7

3

9

7

5

3

8

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat

ARRESTS PER DAY OF WEEK

DAYS ARRESTS
Sun 7
Mon 3
Tue 9
Wed 7
Thu 5
Fri 3
Sat 8

Grand Total 42



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020 - CITES

2

7 6
8

20

12

4

0

5

10

15

20

25

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thu Fri Sat

CITATIONS PER DAY OF WEEK
CASE# RPT DATE DAY OF WEEK

200002693.1 12/1/2020 Tue
200002694.1 12/1/2020 Tue
200002703.1 12/2/2020 Wed
200002705.1 12/2/2020 Wed
200002706.1 12/2/2020 Wed
200002713.1 12/3/2020 Thu
200002714.1 12/3/2020 Thu
200002715.1 12/3/2020 Thu
200002721.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002722.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002724.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002725.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002726.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002728.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002729.1 12/4/2020 Fri
200002730.1 12/5/2020 Sat
200002733.1 12/5/2020 Sat
200002734.1 12/5/2020 Sat
200002735.1 12/5/2020 Sat
200002745.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002747.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002748.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002749.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002750.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002751.1 12/7/2020 Mon
200002754.1 12/8/2020 Tue
200002755.1 12/8/2020 Tue
200002765.1 12/10/2020 Thu
200002766.1 12/10/2020 Thu

CASE# RPT DATE DAY OF WEEK
200002768.1 12/10/2020 Thu
200002774.1 12/11/2020 Fri
200002787.1 12/13/2020 Sun
200002788.1 12/13/2020 Sun
200002796.1 12/15/2020 Tue
200002800.1 12/16/2020 Wed
200002809.1 12/18/2020 Fri
200002810.1 12/18/2020 Fri
200002811.1 12/18/2020 Fri
200002823.1 12/21/2020 Mon
200002826.1 12/22/2020 Tue
200002828.1 12/23/2020 Wed
200002829.1 12/23/2020 Wed
200002830.1 12/23/2020 Wed
200002831.1 12/23/2020 Wed
200002833.1 12/24/2020 Thu
200002834.1 12/24/2020 Thu
200002836.1 12/25/2020 Fri
200002864.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002865.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002866.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002867.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002869.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002870.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002871.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002872.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002873.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002875.1 12/31/2020 Thu
200002877.1 12/31/2020 Thu
210000001.1 12/31/2020 Thu

DAYS COUNT

Sun 2

Mon 7

Tues 6

Wed 8

Thu 20

Fri 12

Sat 4

Grand Total 59



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020

Dece
mbe

r

Ja
nu

ary

Fe
bru

ary

Marc
h

Apri
l

May
Ju

ne Ju
ly

Aug
us

t

Sep
tem

be
r

Octo
be

r

Nov
em

be
r

Dece
mbe

r

20
20 

Tota
ls

NOV-DEC% 

Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NON-CAL
Rape 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 NON-CAL
Other Sex Offense 0 3 3 3 1 0 1 2 0 0 3 3 1 20 -67%
Robbery 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 1 2 1 0 8 -100%
Aggravated Assault 4 2 2 1 1 3 1 2 3 3 0 3 1 22 -67%
Aggravated Assault (DV) 1 3 3 4 1 3 5 3 0 3 4 3 4 36 33%
Simple Assault 2 4 7 3 2 0 2 4 3 3 1 1 1 31 0%
Simple Assault (DV) 1 0 2 1 3 1 1 3 0 3 0 2 1 17 -50%
Residential Burglary 2 4 0 0 0 4 0 1 2 3 1 2 1 18 -50%
Commercial Burglary 1 2 0 0 1 2 1 6 0 2 0 2 0 16 -100%
Auto Theft 2 1 1 7 5 5 3 4 2 5 6 8 4 51 -50%
Grand Theft 1 2 1 0 2 2 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 11 -100%
Petty Theft 7 10 10 8 3 7 6 10 10 8 12 4 8 96 100%
Vehicle Burglary 8 7 3 2 2 2 4 2 0 4 10 9 5 50 -44%
ID Theft/Fraud 0 3 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 1 2 13 100%
Arson 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 4 -100%
Vandalism 6 13 9 14 16 14 10 9 13 16 12 14 22 162 57%
Hate Crimes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NON-CAL
Possession of Firearm 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 3 NON-CAL
Possession of Knife 1 1 2 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 1 0 0 8 NON-CAL
DUI Arrests 5 7 16 4 1 5 8 8 17 13 11 7 1 98 -86%
Public Intoxication 1 1 3 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 2 7 17 250%
Narcotics Violation 6 12 8 7 9 8 4 14 9 7 9 3 10 100 233%
Parole/Restraining Order Violation 0 9 0 6 0 3 2 1 2 1 4 0 2 30 NON-CAL
Warrant Arrest 24 17 21 17 5 2 8 11 15 15 13 18 11 153 -39%
Mental Health Reports 4 4 2 0 3 7 1 1 3 0 0 1 2 24 100%
Runaway / Missing 1 0 0 1 2 2 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 9 NON-CAL
Trespass 2 5 2 2 1 5 0 3 3 3 1 2 0 27 -100%
TOTALS 81 111 97 82 59 77 61 90 88 96 90 90 84 1025 -63%



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020

VANDALISM:  TOTAL – 22

• 14 – VEHICLES
• 5 – RESIDENCES
• 3 – OTHER

MOST OF THE DAMAGES TO 
VEHICLES WERE BROKEN 
WINDOWS.



MENDOTA POLICE DEPARTMENT
DECEMBER 2020

PETTY:  TOTAL – 8

• 5 – VEHICLES
• 3 – RESIDENCES

LOSS:

• CELL PHONE, 
• SUNGLASSES,
• PURSE/WALLET 
• LICENSE PLATE,
• BICYCLES,
• PACKAGE – FROM PORCH


	12-8-2020 City Council Meeting Minutes
	MINUTES OF MENDOTA
	REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
	Meeting called to order by City Clerk Cabrera-Garcia at 6:02 p.m.

	Roll Call

	PROC 21-01 School Choice Week
	Proclamation No. 21-01
	Declaring the Week of January 24-January 30, 2021 as “School Choice Week” in the City of Mendota

	RESO 21-03 Staff Report
	RESO 21-03 Funding Docs ATPSB1L-5285(022) rev. by WJH (01190515)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTAIN:

	RESO 21-03 Attachment
	RESO 21-04 Authorizing Signature CALRECYCLE rev. by WJH (01190530)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTAIN:

	RESO 21-05 Staff Report
	RESO 21-05 MOU County rev. by WJH (01190535)
	Exhibit A Sheet
	RESO 21-05 Exhibit A - MOU rv. by WJH.docx (01190548)
	SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED
	MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
	THE COUNTY OF FRESNO AND THE CITY OF MENDOTA
	RECITALS:
	AMENDMENT NO. 1
	1. Section 9.1 “Term of MOU” is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
	This RESTATED MOU shall commence as of February 7, 2006 and remain in effect until February 7, 2022, unless terminated prior to that time by mutual agreement of the parties.
	In addition, should all or any portion of this RESTATED MOU be declared invalid or inoperative by a court of competent jurisdiction, or should any party to this RESTATED MOU fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder, or should any party to this...
	APPROVAL:

	RESO 21-07 Staff Report
	RESO 21-07 AQ Monitor rev. by WJH (01190565)
	Exhibit A Sheet
	RESO 21-07 Exhibit A
	RESO 21-06 Staff Report
	RESO 21-06 Board and Subcommittees Appointments rev. by WJH.docx (01190557)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTAIN:

	Exhibit A Sheet
	RESO 21-06 Exhibit A rev. by WJH (01190563)
	ValleyAg_Initial Study-MND_AdminFinal_12.28.20
	ResponsetoComments_ValleyAg_FinalMND_12.28.2020
	RESO 21-01 Valley Ag - MND rev. by WJH.docx (01190508)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTAIN:
	PURPOSE
	INTRODUCTION
	LIST OF MITIGATION MEASURES
	MONITORING TABLE


	RESO 21-02 Valley Ag - GP Update rev. by WJH.docx (01190513)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTAIN:

	ORD 21-02 Valley Ag - Zoning Map rev. by WJH.docx (01190462)
	ORD 21-03 Valley Ag - DA rev. by WJH.docx (01190476-2)
	ORD 21-04 Staff Report
	ORD 21-04 Left Mendota 1 - DA rev. by WJH.docx (01190481)
	Development Agreement (Leftbank for Agenda) 1.8.21 (01190837)
	DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS

	AGREEMENT

	Animal Control
	Sheet1

	Code Enforcement
	Sheet1

	Police Department
	Development Agreement (IIS for Agenda) 1.8.21 (01190834).pdf
	ARTICLE 1
	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE 3
	ARTICLE 4
	Section 4.2. Public Benefit.
	ARTICLE 5
	ARTICLE 6
	INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
	ARTICLE 7
	MORTGAGEE PROTECTION
	ARTICLE 8
	DEFAULT
	Section 8.3. Estoppel Certificates. City shall, with at least twenty (20) calendar days’ prior written notice, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Developer and/or IIS, Developers’ and/or IIS’s lender, potential investors, or assignees an Estoppel Ce...
	ARTICLE 9 TERMINATION
	ARTICLE 10
	Section 10.11. Standard Terms and Conditions.
	[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
	California All-Purpose Acknowledgment
	California All-Purpose Acknowledgment

	Development Agreement (Axiom for Agenda) 1.8.21 (01190832).pdf
	ARTICLE 1
	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE 3
	ARTICLE 4
	Section 4.2. Public Benefit.
	ARTICLE 5
	ARTICLE 6
	INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
	ARTICLE 7
	MORTGAGEE PROTECTION
	ARTICLE 8
	DEFAULT
	Section 8.3. Estoppel Certificates. City shall, with at least twenty (20) calendar days’ prior written notice, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Developer and/or Axiom, Developers’ and/or Axiom’s lender, potential investors, or assignees an Estoppe...
	ARTICLE 9 TERMINATION
	ARTICLE 10
	Section 10.11. Standard Terms and Conditions.
	[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
	California All-Purpose Acknowledgment
	California All-Purpose Acknowledgment


	AGENDA: 


